
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022 at 2.00pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
Members of the public can view the meeting via the webcast but for anyone 
who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic Services on 
07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.ukdemocratic.services@liverpool
cityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

GOVERNANCE 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 To appoint a Chair of the Committee.  

   

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

 To appoint a Vice-Chair of the Committee.  

   

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 30 March 2022.  

  (Pages 1 - 10) 

6. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
ANNUAL REVIEW 2021-22  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer 

  (Pages 11 - 32) 

7. GOVERNMENT RESPONSE - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL 
STANDARDS  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer.  

  (Pages 33 - 58) 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

8. HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021-22  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual 
Report and Opinion for the financial year 2021-22. The report summarises 
the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the year, the key conclusions 
that can be drawn from this, and the overall opinion on the organisation’s 
governance, risk and internal control environment. 

  (Pages 59 - 94) 
 



 

 

9. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 
Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work 
completed in the fourth quarter of 2021-22 and first quarter of 2022-23, in 
accordance with the Internal Audit Plans 2021-22 and 2022-23. 

  (Pages 95 - 192) 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system 
of corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in 
continuing to embed this system during the first quarter of 2022-23. 

  (Pages 193 - 220) 

FINANCE 
 

11. COMBINED AUTHORITY AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM  

 This report provides the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
with details of the external auditors, Mazars, proposed approach to the 
external audit 2021/22 

  (Pages 221 - 262) 

12. COMBINED AUTHORITY DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS  

 This report provides the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
with the Combined Authority's draft statement of accounts for the financial 
year 2021/22 for consideration 

  (Pages 263 - 414) 

13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 30th March, 2022 
the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Edna Finneran 
Chairperson of the Committee  

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillor D Burgess-Joyce  Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Wirral BC 
Councillor P Moloney   Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Liverpool CC 
Councillor G Morgan   Combined Authority   Knowsley MBC 
Councillor M Wharton  Combined Authority    Halton BC 
Martin McDonagh   Independent Member 
Jean Gleave   Independent Member 
 
 APOLOGIES  
 
An apology for absence was received on behalf of Councillor James Hansen. 
 
It was noted that technical difficulties had been experienced which meant that 
Members joining remotely were not able to participate in the meeting (Councillor 
Graham Morgan and Jean Gleave (Independent Member). 
 
41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 
42. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
The minutes of the last meeting held on 19 January 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 
43. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided 
the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee with an overview of the 
internal audit work completed in the fourth quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the 
Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 

 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, presented a report and provided information 
on the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate 
systems, Combined Authority-specific systems and Merseytravel-specific 
systems; 

 Details of work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 An update on the service‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
Laura Williams confirmed that 10 audits had been completed during the reporting 
period but some were still in draft.  

 
The report had highlighted one opinion of Major organisational risk which was the 
Seacombe Landing Stage Capital Project. There were three core issues (1) a 
significant overrun of capital costs on the capital project in the region of 33% on the 
original budget (2) the failure or patchy application of early warning systems to 
provide a view to management in terms of the likelihood of those overruns occurring 
and some patchy application of risk management processes to identify and quantify 
those areas early; and (3) the role of consultants and reliance on consultants rather 
than having appropriate in-house capacity and capability to be able to question the 
work of external consultants on the authority‟s behalf. Although the Director was not 
able to attend the meeting in person, the response from the Director to the 
recommendations had been positive and his comments in respect of the three high 
priority recommendations had been added to the report.  The Combined Authority 
had now put in place Delivery Boards which would each be chaired by an Executive 
Director with representation from across the authority, and these were one of the 
mechanisms for ensuring robust reporting of project performance. 
 
In respect of performance she confirmed that 98% of the plan had been completed or 
was in progress but there were a couple of pieces of work still outstanding and it was 
anticipated that they would be completed in a timely manner.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. 
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to the fact that the Director had not been 
able to attend the meeting and he felt that this was unacceptable as he should have 
been in attendance or sent an appropriate Officer to answer any questions around 
the Seacombe Landing Stage audit report.  
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
(a) the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the report be 

noted; and 
 

(b)  the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 
respect of the Combined Authority be noted. 

 
44. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2022-23  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided 
the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee with the Internal Audit 
Plan of work and Internal Audit Charter for 2022-23. 

 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, presented the report which sought approval of 
the Internal Audit Plan for 2022-23 and the Internal Audit Charter for 2022-23. She 
informed the Committee that some small changes had been made in the approach to 
this in order to develop and modernise the process. The Plan concentrated on areas 
of most significant organisational risk, so as to contribute to the maintenance of an 
effective internal control environment and management of risk. Internal Audit had 

Page 2



also produced an Internal Audit Charter for 2022-23 which highlighted the role of 
internal audit and how it would conduct its work.  

 
The report set out the quality assurance and improvement programme which was 
effectively our performance indicators. A suite of performance indicators had been 
developed to allow for reporting and monitoring the performance and effectiveness of 
the service, so as to provide an assurance of the quality of its work and usage of the 
results of this monitoring to improve continuously the service provided and maintain 
compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

 
The Internal Audit Charter set out the role and the purpose of the authority and the 
ethical framework within which Internal Auditors operated. Staff in the team would 
sign up to those commitments on an annual basis and it set out the framework for 
how the audit team conducted its work.  

 
The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. 
 
Councillor Mike Wharton wondered whether Members of the Committee should be 
involved in some sort of formal training as he felt it was really important that 
Members had a good understanding of all the reports that came to them. He was not 
sure whether any thought had been given as to how Members could be further 
developed in order to become a stronger Committee. Laura Williams confirmed that 
this had been something that had already been considered and she had recently 
engaged someone to provide a training session for the Committee on 19 July 2022. 
Officers had also given a lot of thought as to what the programme of training would 
look like, and the training session would be one element of that. She felt that there 
was a lot that Officers could do to support Members through that and therefore a 
programme of pre-meets prior to the Committee meetings were being considered in 
order to go through some of those areas offline and to discuss the issues more 
informally. Officers were committed to making the Committee more effective and 
therefore an annual review of effectiveness would be undertaken to which Members 
of the Committee would be able to contribute and that would assist in understanding 
where improvements could be made and how Officers could support that 
improvement. Councillor Wharton felt that that would be really helpful to better 
understand the reports brought to Committee.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a) the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 be approved; and 

 
(b)  the Internal Audit Charter 2022-23 be approved. 
 
45. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided an 
update in respect of the system of corporate risk management and the activity that 
had been undertaken in continuing to embed this system during the fourth quarter of 
2021-22. 
 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, presented the report which highlighted the 
following key points: 

 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since 
the last report; and 

Page 3



 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation. 
 

She advised that during this quarter the team had facilitated another review with the 
Executive Leadership Team looking at the Corporate Risk Register in particular. The 
Register in front of Members today was the 2021/22 version and Officers were in the 
process of refreshing that for 2022/23. The team had also been heavily involved in 
facilitating the review of the risks and actions and it was the intention that the Risk 
Register would be in a position where it was very much action planned and focused 
on moving these risks forward. Good progress was being made in this regard.  

 
In the reporting period there had been a few changes to the risks in respect of target 
dates being reviewed or extended. There had been some good progress around the 
environment risk in particular and the comments of the Committee at the last meeting 
had been taken on board. The resilience risk had been updated to reflect the lessons 
learnt as a result of the pandemic and work had been undertaken with the Directors 
to think about some of those mitigating actions moving forward.  

 
The authority had also undertaken a number of other activities to continue to embed 
effective risk management across the organisation such as rolling out training for all 
Officers in the basics of risk management. This was about presenting the basics to 
staff so they understood what they should be doing and what risk management was 
about, and she felt that that had helped to spearhead a corporate improvement.  

 
In terms of the performance indicators the percentage of service areas with a risk 
register that complied with the corporate risk management policy was „amber‟ at 
77%. Once the authority got to a percentage figure of 80% she would consider that to 
be excellent progress.  

 
She confirmed that the Risk Register seen at the next meeting would be a revision of 
this one and that the themes would remain largely the same. She advised that a risk 
around financial sustainability would be included following a comment that had been 
raised at the last meeting but which was also currently a national, global and local 
issue.  

 
The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. 

 
Martin McDonagh, Independent Member, had raised the issue at the last meeting 
about Covid being included under resilience as he felt that most people watching the 
meeting would not know what „resilience‟ meant. He referred to an item in the 
Liverpool Echo which had showed a picture of Steve Rotheram with the new electric 
train and underneath it said the „the cash hit faced by Merseytravel as a result of 
Covid continued to impact plans for the roll out of new trains. This was being felt as a 
result of the pandemic as uncertainty around recovering passenger numbers 
increased. It was going to affect the delays in new rolling stock and the prices had 
gone up.” It went on to add that “the business case had been built around figures 
which were unachievable.”  

 
Laura Williams responded that there were two aspects in respect of risk. Risk was 
about uncertainty and so it would be necessary to ask what the likelihood of 
something happening would be and then what the impact would be if it did happen. 
Therefore prior to the pandemic there could have been a risk on the Risk Register 
which set out what would happen if there was a fatal threat to the authority‟s ability to 
deliver its objectives. The authority would plan on a number of levels for that and 
determine what the impact of that would be. Once the risk had materialised it would 

Page 4



become less about managing a risk and more around managing the impact. The 
authority was now looking at the risk from a resilience perspective in other words 
ensuring that as a local provider of services the Combined Authority could continue 
to operate. In other words had the authority been able to maintain continuity of its 
services and would it be able to continue to do that. The resilience risk had looked at 
the Combined Authority‟s ability, in the event of a major incident which might 
disproportionally affect the organisation‟s performance and that of the City Region‟s 
economy, and whether it would be able to manage and mitigate that risk. Throughout 
the pandemic the authority had continued to maintain its services but that was not to 
say it had not suffered a financial loss, as had many organisations, and it had had to 
bear the brunt of the consequences such as reduced revenue through tunnels. It had 
had to think about the impact on the transport operators and she was aware that 
within the transport risk on the Risk Register those risks had been very well 
articulated and continued to be managed appropriately.  
 
The Risk Register included a set of risk themes that were the highest scoring risks 
and she agreed that the authority had been through a difficult time in respect of Covid 
which had impacted on its business. The focus now was around the continued 
uncertainty and the risks that the pandemic posed moving forward into the future. As 
long as the focus was on building resilience, thinking about the risks around transport 
and transport operators and also assisting the local economy to recover from the 
economic shock and how we could support our communities within the City Region to 
recover. The authority was now in a position where the risk had materialised, and it 
was about thinking about the ongoing mitigations, controls and actions that needed to 
be put in place to address those. Every major organisation had suffered a major 
shock as a result of Covid but what needed to be articulated now was how to move 
forward from that situation and she felt that that had been well-articulated across the 
business.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce said that was a little bit surprised that Managers did 
not undertake risk assessments as a matter of course. If they were going to make a 
serious decision which would have a lasting impact on the reputation of the 
organisation they did not appear to do a risk assessment in the first instance. He also 
had concerns about information that people had taken home when the office had 
been shut and there was now a situation where public information was outside of the 
environs of the buildings or archives. Laura Williams replied that in terms of risk 
assessments the way that had been handled was through Risk Registers. For every 
service, project, programme and on a corporate level there was a system and series 
of Risk Registers that sat at those levels. Any threats to the achievement of the 
Corporate Plan, Directorate Plans or Team Plans would be assessed through that 
Risk Register process. The starting point would be a set of objectives saying what 
the authority was trying to achieve and then articulated against each of those 
objectives were the risks that might threaten the achievement of those objectives. 
Therefore, any decision making should be set against the backdrop of that and 
particularly from a project and programme perspective the Delivery Boards which had 
been developed fed into how that decision making was articulated and linked risk 
management information to that. She was confident that because 77% of the 
organisation had service risk registers which met the standard. This was an 
indication that the basics were in place to enable the authority to say that when a 
decision was made it was cognisant of the relevant risks of the service together with 
any wider implications.  

 
In terms of the second question on data being at home she could not comment on 
whether data had been taken home. She was aware that guidance had been issued 
corporately in terms of how information should be managed in the new working 

Page 5



environment. There were always risks around confidentiality but there had certainly 
been an attempt to mitigate those risks though issuing guidance to staff and the 
Mobile Device Acceptable Use Policy which provided additional levels of guidance to 
staff in terms of what they should and should not do with those devices.  

 
Jill Coule added that in addition to the guidance a series of mandatory training had 
been provided for members of staff around information management and awareness 
and they had yielded quite good results in terms of compliance. She confirmed that 
there had been no incidents reported to the Information Commissioner and this 
Committee did receive a report which covered information management activities. It 
was a risk that the authority was well aware of hybrid working was here to stay and it 
had certainly beefed up the processing arrangements in that regard. She suggested 
that more detail on this subject could be included in the annual report if that was 
acceptable.  

 
Councillor Burgess-Joyce responded that that would be very helpful. The only slight 
concern he had was that it looked like the risk assessments were carried out as a top 
down exercise as opposed to a middle manager and that could have ramifications for 
the organisation. Laura Williams replied that it would be necessary to consider where 
decision making sat within the organisation. Service Risk Registers were pitched at 
the level where decision making would sit. It was not a perfect system and there 
would be people making decisions that the organisation was not always sighted on 
but what had been established was a framework in which that sat.  
 
Councillor Pat Maloney referred to the point raised around data and more specifically 
documents. He would have thought that there was very little information held purely 
on paper and everything should be held electronically which would be backed up on 
the organisation‟s systems, so he asked for comments on that. Laura Williams 
agreed that most documents would be held electronically and that was why security 
around mobile devices was important as that was primarily the place where these 
documents were stored. She was aware of one or two examples where paper 
documents had been held for various legal reasons and training had been delivered 
around those areas, but she could not comment on compliance levels. It might be 
something that could be audited at some point to provide some assurance to the 
Committee. However, it would mostly come down to security around devices and 
protocols in terms of how the IT equipment was used rather than the handling paper.  

   
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a) the updated Corporate Risk Register be noted; and 

 
(b)  the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk management 

into the organisation be noted. 
 
46. THE CONSTITUTION  
 
Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, presented a report which advised 
Members of the Committee of the review of the Constitution and sought views on 
proposed amendments to be considered for the Constitution for the next Municipal 
Year. 

 
Jill Coule advised that quite a comprehensive report had been provided on the 
Constitution and that had come about because the Constitution was a document 
which was kept under permanent review and update. Officers had now looked at the 

Page 6



whole document to ensure that any changes were consistently reflected throughout 
the document.  

 
One of the first things that had been considered was how Motions were handled.  It 
had been realised that there were inconsistencies about how they were referenced, 
handled and the amount of time to be taken when presenting and moving a Motion 
etc. So that element had been tidied up whilst also ensuring that best practice from 
the councils around the constituent authorities had been taken into account. 
Appendix 1 set out the changes that had been made to ensure that they could be 
readily understood.  

 
Work had also been undertaken around the replacement of Members and it could be 
seen that as an organisation the authority had a very large Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee of around 20 Members and consequently there were often a few changes 
throughout the year. The timing of Combined Authority meetings did not necessarily 
align and could cause delays in agreeing any changes to membership of the 
Committee. It had therefore been proposed that the Chief Legal and Monitoring 
Officer should be given delegated authority to handle those changes in membership 
and then to report those to the Combined Authority at the next available meeting.  

 
It was also noted that the Constitution had been silent about cancelling a meeting, 
but it was felt that it would be good to have that provision if needed and that it should 
be made clear and transparent about how that would be handled. It was good 
practice and Members would already have that provision in their constituent 
authorities.   

 
In the past every time the Head of Paid Service went on leave she would write a 
letter setting out that she was going on leave and that that particular person would 
hold her powers over that period. It was therefore decided that as the Executive 
Director team was now in place, together with a Deputy Chief Executive, the letter 
could be dispensed with. The Constitution had therefore been amended to state that 
in the absence of the Head of Paid Service the Deputy Chief Executive should act in 
her position.   

 
Paragraph 3.11 highlighted some areas of forthcoming work which included a piece 
of governance work around how to ensure that our family of subsidiary companies 
and organisations were properly recorded and reporting.  

 
Further work was required to develop that and to make sure that strong governance 
links from our subsidiary companies fed into Audit & Governance Committee, 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and into the Combined Authority itself. She felt 
that this would be a positive improvement on what was now in place. The authority 
was also looking to develop stronger links with the Outside Bodies so at the 
beginning of each annual meeting each year a number of individuals would be 
appointed to represent the Combined Authorities on various Outside Bodies. 
However, currently there was no formal mechanism for reporting back. Going forward 
it was proposed that there should be some sort of receipt of information from those 
Outside Bodies to keep the authority up to date. Proposals had also been included in 
the calendar for the new Municipal Year that the sequence of events for the signing 
off of our Statement of Accounts would be changed. It had to be done by 30 
September each year and the Audit & Governance Committee would be asked to 
take a much more active role in that. So the plan was that the Statement of Accounts 
would be received by the Combined Authority in the middle of September in its draft 
form and then it would be signed off by this Committee going forward in time for that 
deadline of 30 September. It would then be reported back up to the Combined 

Page 7



Authority to say that that had been completed in the relevant timescales. It was felt 
that this would be a more constructive way of signing off the Statement of Accounts.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. There were no questions or comments submitted by Members of the 
Committee.  

 
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a) the contents of the report and the Constitution as currently published be 

noted; 
 

(b) the provisions on motions attached as Appendix 1 be considered and 
approved; 

 
(c) the ongoing review of the Constitution be noted and any comments on the 

areas of review and recommendations for updates be provided; 
 
(d) Appendix 1 be commended to the Combined Authority to update the standing 

Orders upon motions; 
 
(e) recommendations be made for any further areas that that Members consider 

required review or updating before the Constitution was presented at the next 
meeting of the Combined Authority so that the Constitution would be updated 
and ready for the Municipal Year 2022/2023; and 

 
(f)  it be noted that further reports on the Constitution would be presented in the 

new Municipal Year to ensure that the Constitution reflected good practice 
and supported effective governance. 

 
47. MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT PROTOCOL  
 
Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, presented a report which detailed the 
proposed arrangements to be adopted by the Combined Authority for investigating 
and making decisions in relation to allegations made under its Members Code of 
Conduct (“Members Code of Conduct Protocol”). A copy of the proposed draft of the 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol had been included as Appendix 1 to the report. 

 
Jill Coule said that in the capacity of Monitoring Officer she had responsibility to 
ensure that the standards of Members and the process to consider standards of 
Members‟ behaviour was transparent and available for members of the public should 
they wish to complain or indeed if any other Members or staff wished to complain.  

 
The report set out a protocol for how the authority would deal with complaints about 
Member conduct. The Members of the Combined Authority were the Members who 
sat on the Combined Authority meeting. All other Members who joined us and helped 
us with our work remained Members of their constituent authorities and the 
Combined Authority was effectively an Outside Body to those Members. So it was 
the Combined Authority, the Leaders of the six local authorities, the Metro Mayor and 
the non-voting Member who was the Chair of the LEP, that were statutory Members 
of the Combined Authority and it was those eight individuals to which these 
processes and procedures would apply.  

 
Members would recall that when the Member Code of Conduct had been introduced 
previously it had been mentioned that a common approach would be sought across 

Page 8



the constituent authorities in respect of the arrangements for dealing with complaints. 
It had not been possible to achieve that common approach and therefore the 
authority had taken the best bits from all the constituent authorities to make this work. 
The proposed protocol had been attached to the report as an appendix and it was 
noted that this was a draft document as comments or observations were still awaited 
from a couple of authorities. The Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer was therefore 
seeking delegated authority to work with the Chair in case there were any minor 
tweaks or comments required beyond the Committee‟s consideration of this matter.  

 
The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. There were no questions or comments submitted by Members of the 
Committee. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a) the Members Code of Conduct Protocol for adoption by the Combined 

Authority at its meeting on 29 April 2022 be noted and endorsed; and  
 

(b)  it be noted and endorsed that the Monitoring Officer might need to amend the 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol before it was presented to the Combined 
Authority following further consultation with relevant stakeholders. Should that 
prove necessary any such amendments would be considered in consultation 
with the Chair of the Committee. 

 
48. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES 2021/22  
 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director for Finance, presented a report which provided 
the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee with details of the proposed 
accounting policies to be adopted for the closure and preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts 2021/22.  

 
It was noted that this was an annual report and was a review of the accounting 
policies which were applied for the Combined Authority. An annual review was 
undertaken to ensure that our accounting policies were fit for purpose and there were 
a number of considerations that were taken into account when undertaking this 
review. Specifically, whether there had been any changes in accounting standards as 
were enshrined in the CIPFA Code of Practice which was the base upon which the 
accounts were completed. Other things that were taken into account included 
anything that had come out of the previous year‟s audit.  For example, if there were 
any areas that the auditor had highlighted the accounting policies would be looked at 
again to see if they needed to be reflective of that. The authority would also look to 
see if it could simplify, enhance or streamline any of its accounting policies.  

 
A copy of the accounting policies were set out in the appendices to the report. Sarah 
Johnston confirmed that there had been no significant changes and that was broadly 
reflective of the fact that the accounting landscape had not really changed and there 
had been no significant changes to accounting policies. Members might be aware 
that there had been a proposal to make changes in respect of leases and there was 
a decision pending by the accounting body, CIPFA, to defer the introduction of that 
standard. The authority had done the work and it had an accounting policy that could 
be implemented if necessary. But as it stood the accounting policies were being put 
forward on the basis of no change.  
 

Page 9



The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from Members of 
the Committee. 

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked what percentage/number of invoices had 
been paid without a purchase order? Sarah Johnston replied that she did not have 
those figures to hand but she could provide them for Councillor Burgess-Joyce 
outside of the meeting.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a)  the attached accounting polices be noted and any comments provide thereon; 

and 
(b)  the attached accounting policies be approved. 
 
49. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
The Chair noted that this was the last meeting that Martin McDonagh would be 
attending as an Independent Member. His term of office had come to an end and she 
would like to thank him on behalf of the Committee for his role in promoting and 
maintaining high standards of conduct and governance in the Combined Authority.  
 
As this was the last meeting of the year she also thanked the Members of the 
Committee for their attendance and participation over the year. She also thanked the 
Officers for their hard work during another challenging year.  
 
Minutes 41 to 49 be received as a correct record on the 27 day of July 2022. 
 

 
 

Chairperson of the Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 2.50 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 10



 
Report Title 

 
Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 
Committee Annual Review 2021-22  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Approve the Annual Report 2021-22 and agree 
the proposed work programme for the 
scheduled meetings. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

Yes, see recommendations 2 (a) and (b) 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  X 

A Connected City Region  X 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.2 

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Lisa Backstrom, Senior Democratic Services 
Officer – lisa.backstrom@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes –  
Appendix 1 – Annual Report 2021-22 
Appendix 2 – Draft Work Programme 2022-23 
 

Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 12

mailto:lisa.backstrom@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.backstrom@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL 
REVIEW 2021-22  

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee with details of the Annual Review for 2021-22 including Audit and 
Governance activity and key achievements during the year. 
 

1.2 The report also proposes a work programme of activity for 2022-23 to demonstrate 
how the Committee will discharge its functions for consideration and comment. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 

Committee: 
 

a) endorse the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review Report for 
2021-22 at Appendix 1 and delegated authority be granted for any 
amendments/insertions be made in consultation with the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, the Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer; and 

 
b) approve the proposed work programme for the Audit and Governance 

Committee for 2022-23 at Appendix 2 and delegated authority be granted for 
any amendments/insertions be made in consultation with the Chairperson, 
Vice Chairperson, the Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To enable the Audit and Governance Committee to discharge its functions as 

defined in its Terms of Reference in the LCRCA Constitution, the enclosed cycle of 
meetings and provisional work programme of core business is proposed at 
Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 In addition to the activities detailed in Appendix 1, during the year, the Audit and 

Governance Committee may also consider additional items of business within its 
remit, including, but not limited to; 

 

Page 13



a) Reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection agencies and 
their implications for governance, risk management or internal control, where 
appropriate; 

 
b) Review the effectiveness of the Authority’s risk management arrangements, 

Corporate Risk Register and Risk Management Strategy and policies; 
 

c) Review and consider the Authority’s Accounting Policies, Treasury 
Management arrangements and financial performance; 

 
d) Consider revisions to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Code of 

Corporate Governance and Assurance Framework, if required; 
 
e) Consider the Authority’s counter-fraud arrangements; 
 
f) Consider the Authority’s compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS), the CIPFA Local Government Application Note (LGAN) 
and associated guidance and best practice; and 

 
g) Any other business proposed by the Chair, officers or Members of the 

Authority, as appropriate. 
 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 

 
4.2 Legal  
 
 The Combined Authority is required by law to ensure that adequate and effective 

internal audit arrangements are provided for. The Annual Report of Committee 
activities for 2021-22 outlined in Appendix 1 and the proposed work programme 
outlined in Appendix 2 seek to ensure that legal and Constitutional obligations are 
met in respect of these requirements. 

 
  

Page 14



5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1. The LCR Audit and Governance Committee has a duty to ensure that it is fulfilling 

its responsibility for adequate and effective internal control, risk management, and 
governance of its activities. The Annual Report for 2021-22 demonstrates that the 
Committee has continued to play a key role in the maintenance of good internal 
control and governance. 

 
 

JILL COULE 
  Monitoring Officer 

METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM 
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
  

  
 

 
 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – LCR Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 2021-22 
Appendix 2 – Draft Work Programme 2022-23 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



   

  Appendix 1 

 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 

COMMITTEE 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

2 
 

 

 

CONTENTS 
 

Page(s) 

Foreword by the Audit & Governance Committee Chair       
 
 

3 

Audit & Governance Committee Members 2021/22                                           

 
 

4-5 

Audit & Governance Committee Terms of Reference                                        

 
 

6-12 

Audit & Governance Committee Activity 2021/21                                              

 
 

13 

Key Achievements of the Committee during 2021/22 

 
 

14 

                                                                                              

                              

                       

  

Page 18



 

3 
 

 

FOREWORD 

 

Chairperson, Councillor Edna Finneran  

  
Welcome to the 2021/22 Annual Report of the LCR Audit and 
Governance Committee. I am pleased to present this report that 
highlights the work of the Committee over the last twelve months. 
 
I hope that this Annual Report helps to demonstrate the vital role that 
is carried out by the Committee and the contribution that it makes to 
the Combined Authority‟s overall governance. As with all Liverpool 

City Region Combined Authority Committees, scheduled meetings are open to 
members of the public and I would encourage residents within the City Region to 
come along and see the Committee in action. 
 

I would like to thank the team of Officers who have been supportive in providing 
training, explaining all the audit and governance terminology and provided the 
Committee with information and frameworks to assist us in monitoring the audit and 
governance arrangements. 

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow councillors for their attendance and 
commitment to the Committee.  

 

Edna Finneran 

____________________________________ 

Chairperson, Councillor Edna Finneran 

 

 

  

Page 19



 

4 
 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

2021/22 

 
 

 

 

 

Chairperson: Councillor Edna Finneran 

Labour, Halewood South Ward 

Knowsley Borough Council 

 

  
 

Vice-Chairperson: Councillor James Hansen 

Labour, Sudell Ward 

Sefton Borough Council 

 

 
 
Councillor Pat Moloney 

Liberal Democrat, Childwall Ward 

Opposition Group Representative 
Liverpool City Council 

 

 
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce 

Conservative, Greasby, Frankby and Irby Ward 

Opposition Group Representative 
Wirral Borough Council 

Page 20



 

5 
 

 

 
 
 
Councillor Graham Morgan 

Labour, Swanside Ward 

Combined Authority Representative 

Knowsley Borough Council 

 
 

 
 
Councillor Mike Wharton 

Labour,  Ditton, Hale Village and Halebank Ward 

Combined Authority Representative 

Halton Borough Council 

 

 

 

  

Page 21



 

6 
 

 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
1.  Membership  
 
1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as 

follows:- 
 

(a) 6 elected Members from the voting Members of the Combined Authority 
and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  
 

(b) 1 Independent Member.  
 

2 Chair of the Committee  
 
2.1 The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership of 

the Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting of the 
Combined Authority and before proceeding to other business.   

 
3 Appointment.  
 
3.1 The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at 

the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:- 
 

(a) Members appointed from the voting Members of:- 
 
(i) Combined Authority; and 
(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with  
(iii) another elected voting Member as a Substitute Member of the 

Audit and Governance Committee to act in the absence of the 
Member appointed above, in such a manner that the Members of 
the Audit and Governance Committee taken as a whole will 
reflect, so far as reasonably practicable, the balance of political 
parties for the time being prevailing among Members of the 
Constituent Councils when taken together. 

 
(b) at least one Independent Person, to be appointed through the prescribed 

procedure and who:- 
(i) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 

Authority;  
(ii) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 

for which the Combined Authority is the Principal Authority;  
(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph 

(i) or (ii); and  
(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an 

appointment:- 
(1) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 

Authority; or  

Page 22



 

7 
 

(2) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 
for which the Combined Authority is the principal authority; 
and 

 
(c) such non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in 

such manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee 
may decide. 

 
4 Quorum  
 
4.1 No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted 

unless at least two-thirds of the voting Members are present. 
 
5  Meetings and Procedure 
 
5.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
6 Delegation 
 
6.1 The Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, Panels and ad-hoc Task 

and Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 
 
7 Statement of Purpose 
 
7.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to:- 
 

 provide an independent and high level focus on the audit, assurance 
and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 
financial standards; 

 provide independent assurance to Members of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control environment. It 
provides independent review of the Combined Authority‟s governance, 
risk management and control frameworks and oversees internal audit 
and external audit, helping to ensure that efficient and effective 
assurance arrangements are in place; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined 
Authority Members.  
 

8 Functions 
 
8.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance 

Committee, the following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

8 
 

Governance, risk and control 
 
(a)  To review the Combined Authority‟s corporate governance arrangements 

against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework and 
to consider the local code of governance 

 
(b) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s Annual Governance Statement 

properly reflects the risk environment and any actions required to improve it, 
effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s Framework of Governance, risk and 
management control, and demonstrates how governance supports the 
achievements of the Combined Authority‟s objectives; 

 
(c)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s arrangements to secure value for money 

and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these 
arrangements; 

 
(d)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s framework of assurance and ensure that 

it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Combined Authority; 
 
(e)    to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 

Combined Authority; 
 
(f)     to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 

committee; 
 
(g)     to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions; 
 
(h)    to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Combined 

Authority from fraud and corruption; 
 
(i)      to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources; and 
 
(j)    to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
(a)   to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s risk management 
 arrangements and the control environment.  Review the risk profile of the 

organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues, 
including partnerships with other organisations; 

 
(b)     to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including 

arrangements for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined 
Authority‟s exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

 
(c)     to approve the internal audit charter; 
 
(d)    to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit. 
 

Page 24



 

9 
 

(e)   to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers 
of internal audit services and to make recommendations; 

 
(f)    to approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including the internal audit‟s 

resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and 
any work required to place reliance upon those other sources; 

 
(g)    to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the 

effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework; 
 
(h)   to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 

resource requirements; 
 
(i)     to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal 

Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope of resource limitations; 
 
(j)   to oversee internal audit‟s independence, objectivity, performance and 

professionalism 
 
(k)   to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from 

additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of 
Internal Audit.  To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such 
impairments; 

 
(l)    to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit‟s 

performance during the year, including the performance of external providers 
of internal audit services.  These will include:- 

 
• updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 

concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work; 
• regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance & Improvement 

Programme (QAIP); 
• reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform 

to the Public Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local Government 
Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is 
significant enough that it must be included in the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS). 

 
(m)   to consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s annual report:- 

 
•       the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and 

the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate 
the reliability of the conclusions of the internal audit; and 

•     the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined 
Authority‟s framework of governance, risk management and control 
together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will 
assist the committee in reviewing the AGS. 

 
(n) to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
 

Page 25



 

10 
 

(o)    to receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal Audit 
has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the Combined Authority or there are concerns about progress 
with the implementation of agreed actions; 

 
(p)    to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment 

of 
 internal audit that takes place at least once every five years; 
 
(q)    to consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS, 

 where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations; 
 
(r) to provide free and unfettered access to the Audit & Governance Committee 

Chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private 
meeting with the Committee. 

 
External audit 
 
(a) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 

external annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues 
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); 

 
(b)      to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external audit 

and inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk 
management or control, and monitor management action in response to the 
issues raised by external audit; 

 
(c) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 

gives value for money; 
 
(d)      to commission work from internal and external audit; and 
 
(e)      to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 

external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant 
bodies. 

 
Financial reporting 
 
(a)    to review the annual statement of accounts.  Specifically, to consider whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to 
be brought to the attention of the Combined Authority; and  

 
(b)    to consider the external auditor‟s report to those charged with governance on 

issues arising from the audit of the accounts; 
 
Standards 
 
(a)      to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 
 

Page 26



 

11 
 

(b)      to assist Members of the Combined Authority to observe the Combined 
Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 

 
(c)      to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of 

the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined 
Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority 
Members have failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of 
Conduct for Members (“the Authority‟s Arrangements”); 

 
(d)      to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for 

Members and the Authority„s Arrangements; 
 
(e)    to advise, train or arrange to train Members of the Combined Authority to 

observe the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 
(f)      to determine, in accordance with the Authority‟s Arrangements, whether a 

Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct 
for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take in respect of 
the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include:– 

 
•     publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 

Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct; 
•     reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards Committee 

to the Combined Authority for information; 
•    recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be censured; 
•    instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange 

training for the Subject Member; or 
•    recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member 
has been appointed or nominated by the Combined Authority; and 

 
(g)    to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the grant of 

dispensations. 
 
(h) to form an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee for the purposes of the 

Disciplinary Procedure in relation to the Combined Authority‟s Chief Officers, 
as per Part 6, Section F of the Constitution.  

 
Accountability arrangements  
 
(a)      to report to the Combined Authority on the Committee‟s findings conclusions 

and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority‟s governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; 
financial reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions;  

 
(b)      to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in 

relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose; and 

 
(c)      to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee. 

Page 27



 

12 
 

 
 
 
 
Amendments to the Constitution 
 
(a) to consider proposed constitutional amendments. 
 
 
Information Management 
 
(a)   to determine on behalf of the Combined Authority, information management 

policies and procedures and monitor their application; and 
 
(b) to report to the Combined Authority on an annual basis, the up to date 

position regarding information management policies, procedures and their 
application.  

Page 28



 

13 
 

 
 
 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 2021/22 
 

Meeting: 28 July 2021 

Items covered: 
Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 
Internal Audit Update 
Risk Management Update 
Code of Corporate Governance 
Draft Annual Statement of Accounts 2020-21 
External Audit 2020-21 and Audit Strategy 
Cycle of Meetings and Forward Plan 
Insurance Claims Review 
 

Meeting: 22 September 2021 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Update 
Risk Management Update 
Annual Statement of Accounts 2020-21 
Governance Update (Information management – breaches and conduct 
complaints) 
 

Meeting: 24 November 2021 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Update 
Fraud Update 
Risk Management Update 
Appointment of External Auditors 
Members Code of Conduct Update 
 

Meeting: 19 January 2022 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Update 
Risk Management Update 
Chief Officers Disciplinary Procedure 
 

Meeting: 30 March 2022 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Update 
Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 
Risk Management Update 
The Constitution 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol 
LCRCA Accounting Policies 2021-22 
 

 
  

Page 29



 

14 
 

 
 

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE COMMITTEE DURING 2021/22 
 
The consideration of the items of business detailed in the table above has enabled 
the Committee to fulfil its obligations according to its Terms of Reference. 
 
In particular, the level of engagement and scrutiny displayed by members of the 
Committee has been positive in demonstrating the discharge of the Committee‟s 
responsibilities.  The engagement and contribution of the Independent Member of the 
Committee has further emphasised this. All Committee meetings during 2021-22 
were quorate. 
 
Key achievements have been: 
 

 Review of the following counter-fraud protocols:- 
 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol; 
 Anti-Bribery Protocol 
 Money laundering Protocol; 
 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 
 Surveillance Protocol; and 
 Investigation Protocol. 

 

 The updating of the Merseyside Model code of Conduct following collaboration 
with Local Authorities; 

 The review of the process for dealing with Member complaints under the Code of 
Conduct; 

 A fundamental review of the Corporate Risk register alongside alignment with the 
LCRCA Corporate Plan 2021-24; 

 Review and update of the Code of Corporate Governance; 

 Review of the performance of Internal Audit and the role the function plays in the 
system of internal control; 

 Holding officers to account in respect of their response to matters raised in internal 
and external audit reports 

 Review and approval of the Combined Athority‟s financial statements, including 
the Annual Governance Statement, and associated external audit reports 

 Overview of risk management matters including encouraging the continued 
embedding of an effective corporate system of risk management, and approval of 
the Risk Management Policy 

 Review and oversight of matters relating to the organisation‟s response to fraud 
and corruption, and encouraging the embedding of an appropriate system to 
support this; 

 Upholding standards of conduct and good governance by receiving reports 
detailing matters relating to complaints, whistleblowing and information 
management. 

 

Page 30



   

  Appendix 2 

 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Provisional Work Programme for 2022/23 
 
The Committee would like to propose the following provisional work programme for 
2022/23 
 

 
DATES 

 
AGENDA ITEMS 

 
28 September 

2022 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update (inc RM Policy) 
 

Finance 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Accounts 
2021-22 

 External Audit Plan 2021-22 
 

Governance 
 
• Complaint Handling 
• Governance Update (Information Management – 

Breaches, Conduct and Complaints) 
• Health and Safety 
• Insurance Claims 

 

 
30 November 

2022 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update 

 Fraud Update (inc fraud protocols) 

 
 
25 January 2023 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update 
  

22 March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update 

 Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24  
 

Finance 

 Accounting Policies 2022-23 
 

Governance 

 Constitution 
Page 31



2 
 

 Schedule of A&G Committee Dates & Forward Plan  

 Annual Report and Review of effectiveness 

 
Training Programme 
 
A training session took place on 19 July 2022 facilitated by Phil Griffiths of PG 
Business Risk.   
 
The training covered how members of the Committee should seek to exercise their 
roles in respect of the key items in the Terms of Reference of the Committee 
including:- 
 

 Internal Audit 

 External Audit  

 Financial management 

 Risk management 

 Standards 

 Information management 
 
Further training events can be arranged as and when required. 
 
Committee Briefings  
 
It is proposed that a series of briefing sessions will be held at 12.45pm prior to the 
Committee meeting at 2pm to provide information to members on relevant topics and 
assist in the consideration of agenda items. 
 
 
Looking Ahead to 2023/24 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee plays an important role in supporting good 
governance and effective financial management and ensuring there is a sound 
system of internal control and risk management and needs to be as effective as 
possible.  
 
Areas of Focus for 2023/24 
 

 
AREA OF FOCUS 

 Working towards assessing the effectiveness of the committee using the CIPFA 
guidance “the Effective Audit Committee” and reporting on this in the Annual 
Report for 2022-23  

 

 

 

Page 32



 
Report Title 

 
Government Response – Local Government 
Ethical Standards  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, Portfolio Holder 
for Policy, Reform and Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  The Liverpool City Region Audit and 
Governance Committee to note the contents of 
the report. 
 

Is this report exempt? No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

N/A 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1 

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications No  

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 
Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.2 

Contact Officer(s) Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring 
Officer, Tel: 0151 330 1855,  
Email: Jill.Coule@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Sharna Chowdhury, Trainee Solicitor, Tel: 0738 
896 4192,  
Email: Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
 

Appendices Yes 
 

Background Documents No  
 

 
  

Page 34

mailto:Jill.Coule@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee 
 

27 July 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE – LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to highlight to Members the Government‟s response to 

the Committee on Standards in Public Life (“CSPL”) review into Local Government 
Ethical Standards.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee 

note the contents of the report.  
  

 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. At the LCR Audit and Governance Committee meeting on 20 March 2019, Members 

considered the review by the CSPL into Local Government Ethical Standards.  
 
3.2. The review contained 26 recommendations and 15 best practice suggestions. Most 

of the recommendations were directed at central government and many would 
require legislative change to be implemented. 

 
3.3. The LCR Audit and Governance Committee agreed that the report and contents of 

the review be noted, and the actions contained within paragraph 3 in relation to the 
Best Practice recommendations be endorsed. 

 
3.4. As indicated in the Government‟s response, the Government believes that some of 

the recommendations do not need a legislative response but can be more 
appropriately, effectively, and swiftly taken forward by local authorities as best 
practice.  

 
3.5. The Government published its formal response on 18 March 2022. This is 

summarised below with the full text set out in Appendix 1 of this report and runs to 
12 pages.  
 
The Government‟s Response 

 
3.6. In summary, the key points from the Government‟s response are as follows:  

 

Page 35



(Numbering follows the same order as CSPL‟s recommendation numbers as per 
Appendix 1. 

 The response to recommendations 10, 12, 13, 14 and 16 have been grouped 
together.  

 Recommendation 19 is directed to Parish councils to make a response. 
Recommendations 20 and 21 relates to areas with Parish Councils. 
Recommendation 25 is directed to Political groups and National political 
parties to provide a response.  

 Recommendation 26 is directed to the Local Government Association to 
provide a response). 

 

Number Recommendation Key points from 
Government‟s 
Response 

Action by the 
Combined 
Authority 

1 The Local 
Government 
Association 
(“LGA”) should 
create an 
updated model 
code of conduct, 
in consultation 
with 
representative 
bodies of 
councillors and 
officers of all tiers 
of local 
government. 

The LGA 
published the 
updated code of 
conduct in January 
2021. However, it 
remains a local 
decision on 
whether this model 
code is adopted. 

The updated 
LGA model code 
of conduct that 
was published in 
January 2021, a 
locally agreed 
version of the 
Code was 
adopted by the 
Combined 
Authority (“CA”) 
at its meeting on 
4 June 2021. 
The Combined 
Authority 
continues to 
review its code 
and incorporates 
amendments 
accordingly to 
the revisions of 
the locally 
agreed code. 

2 The government 
should ensure 
that candidates 
standing for or 
accepting public 
offices are not 
required publicly 
to disclose their 
home address. 
The Relevant 
Authorities 
(Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interests) 
Regulations 2012 

The Government 
agrees with the 
principle behind 
this 
recommendation – 
which safeguards 
elected 
representatives - 
and considers 
amending the 
Relevant 
Authorities 
(Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interests) 

The Combined 
Authority does 
not conduct the 
election for the 
office of Metro 
Mayor. There is 
therefore no step 
that the 
Combined 
Authority can 
take in response 
to this 
recommendation.   
 

Page 36



should be 
amended to 
clarify that a 
councillor does 
not need to 
register their 
home address on 
an authority‟s 
register of 
interests. 

Regulations 2012 
would be an option 
to achieve it. 
 
Notwithstanding, it 
is important that 
home addresses 
are internally 
registered with 
monitoring officers, 
to help avoid 
conflicts of 
interest. 

3 Councillors 
should be 
presumed to be 
acting in an 
official capacity in 
their public 
conduct, 
including 
statements on 
publicly 
accessible social 
media. Section 
27(2) of the 
Localism Act 
2011 should be 
amended to 
permit local 
authorities to 
presume so when 
deciding upon 
code of conduct 
breaches. 

The Government‟s 
view is that it is for 
individual local 
authorities to 
consider if their 
code of conduct is 
adequate in 
addressing the 
issue of 
inappropriate use 
of social media. 

The Combined 
Authority‟s 
current version of 
the code of 
conduct makes 
adequate 
reference to the 
issue of 
inappropriate use 
of social media.  

4 Section 27(2) of 
the Localism Act 
2011 should be 
amended to state 
that a local 
authority‟s code 
of conduct 
applies to a 
member when 
they claim to act, 
or give the 
impression they 
are acting, in their 
capacity as a 
member or as a 
representative of 
the local 

The Local 
Government 
Association have 
updated their own 
suggested code of 
conduct to state 
that the code 
applies when “[a 
member‟s] actions 
could give the 
impression to a 
reasonable 
member of the 
public with 
knowledge of all 
the facts that [they] 
are acting as a 

The Combined 
Authority‟s 
adopted code of 
conduct has 
been updated to 
incorporate this 
amendment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



authority. [member]”.  
 
It is for individual 
local authorities to 
ensure that their 
codes of conducts 
are regularly 
updated, 
comprehensive 
and fit for purpose.  
 
The Government 
will keep this 
matter under 
review but has no 
immediate plans to 
amend the 
regulations. 

 
 
 
The Combined 
Authority‟s code 
of conduct is 
regularly 
updated, most 
recently changes 
to the code have 
been presented 
to the Audit and 
Governance 
Committee at its 
meeting on 30 
March 2022. 

5 The Relevant 
Authorities 
(Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interests) 
Regulations 2012 
should be 
amended to 
include: unpaid 
directorships; 
trusteeships; 
management 
roles in a charity 
or a body of a 
public nature; and 
membership of 
any organisations 
that seek to 
influence opinion 
or public policy. 

Unpaid roles may 
need to be 
declared if it is 
relevant to council 
business, and 
councillors should 
recuse themselves 
if necessary if 
discussions relate 
to private bodies, 
they are involved 
in.  
 
The Government 
will keep this 
matter under 
review but has no 
immediate plans to 
amend the 
regulations. 

The Combined 
Authority‟s 
current version of 
the code of 
conduct makes 
appropriate 
reference to this.  

6 Local authorities 
should be 
required to 
establish a 
register of gifts 
and hospitality, 
with councillors 
required to record 
gifts and 
hospitality 
received over a 
value of £50 or 
totalling £100 
over a year from 

Local authorities 
have the autonomy 
to set gifts and 
hospitality 
requirements in 
their own codes of 
conduct. The 
Government 
accepts that there 
is merit in best 
practice guidance 
on the thresholds 
for gifts and 
hospitality and 

The Combined 
Authority follows 
best practice 
guidance on 
thresholds for 
gifts and 
hospitality.  
 
The register is 
regularly updated 
and is published 
on the Combined 
Authority‟s 
website. 

Page 38



a single source. 
This requirement 
should be 
included in an 
updated model 
code of conduct. 

agrees that a 
register of gifts and 
hospitality should 
be publicly 
available. 

7 Section 31 of the 
Localism Act 
2011 should be 
repealed, and 
replaced with a 
requirement that 
councils include 
in their code of 
conduct that a 
councillor must 
not participate in 
a discussion or 
vote in a matter 
to be considered 
at a meeting if 
they have any 
interest, whether 
registered or not, 
“if a member of 
the public, with 
knowledge of the 
relevant facts, 
would reasonably 
regard the 
interest as so 
significant that it 
is likely to 
prejudice your 
consideration or 
decision-making 
in relation to the 
matter”. 

The Government 
will keep this 
matter under 
review but has no 
immediate plans to 
repeal Section 31 
of the Localism Act 
2011. 

No action 
required at this 
stage.  

8 The Localism Act 
2011 should be 
amended to 
require that 
Independent 
Persons are 
appointed for a 
fixed term of two 
years, renewable 
once. 

The Government 
does not accept 
this 
recommendation 
as appropriate for 
legislation on the 
basis that it would 
be likely to be 
unworkable. The 
Government‟s view 
is that it would be 
more appropriately 
implemented as a 
best practice 

There is 
correspondence 
in place currently 
with each of the 
Constituent 
Authorities that 
confirms 
Independent 
Persons will be 
called upon from 
the Constituent 
Councils to deal 
with standards 
complaints. This 

Page 39



recommendation 
for local 
authorities. 

will be reviewed 
during 2022/23. 

9 The Local 
Government 
Transparency 
Code should be 
updated to 
provide that the 
view of the 
Independent 
Person in relation 
to a decision on 
which they are 
consulted should 
be formally 
recorded in any 
decision notice or 
minutes. 

The Government 
does not agree 
with this. The 
Local Government 
Transparency 
Code is a statutory 
requirement to 
publish 
information; it does 
not regulate the 
content of councils‟ 
minutes or 
decision notices. 

No action 
required.  

10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A local authority 
should only be 
able to suspend a 
councillor where 
the authority‟s 
Independent 
Person agrees 
both with the 
finding or a 
breach and that 
suspending the 
councillor would 
be a 
proportionate 
sanction. 
 
 
 
 
 
Local authorities 
should be given 
the discretionary 
power to 
establish a 
decision-making 
standards 
committee with 
voting 
independent 
members and 
voting members 
from dependent 

There is no 
provision in current 
legislation for a 
sanction to 
suspend a 
councillor found to 
have breached the 
code of conduct, 
and this was a 
deliberate policy 
decision by the 
Coalition 
Government at the 
time of the 
Localism Act 2011 
to differentiate 
from the previous, 
failed Standards 
Board regime. 
 
As part of the 
Government‟s 
response to the 
Committee‟s report 
on intimidation in 
public life, the 
Government 
recommended that 
every political 
party establish 
their own code of 
conduct for party 
members, 

No action 
required at this 
stage. We are 
currently 
awaiting further 
output from 
Government.  

Page 40



 
 
 
 
 
 
13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

parishes, to 
decide on 
allegations and 
impose 
sanctions. 
 
Councillors 
should be given 
the right to 
appeal to the 
Local 
Government 
Ombudsman if 
their local 
authority imposes 
a period of 
suspension for 
breaching the 
code of conduct. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 
should be given 
the power to 
investigate and 
decide upon an 
allegation of a 
code of conduct 
breach by a 
councillor, and 
the appropriate 
sanction, an 
appeal by a 
councillor who 
has had a 
suspension 
imposed. The 
Ombudsman‟s 
decision should 

including elected 
representatives.  
 
 
 
 
The Government 
will engage with 
sector 
representative 
bodies of 
councillors and 
officers of all tiers 
of local 
government to 
seek views on 
options to 
strengthen 
sanctions to 
address breaches 
of the code which 
fall below the bar 
of criminal activity 
and related 
sanctions but 
involve serious 
incidents of 
bullying and 
harassment or 
disruptive 
behaviour. 

Page 41



 
 
 
16 

be binding on the 
local authority. 
 
Local authorities 
should be given 
the power to 
suspend 
councillors, 
without 
allowances, for 
up to six months. 

11 Local authorities 
should provide 
legal indemnity to 
Independent 
Persons if their 
views or advice 
are disclosed. 
The government 
should require 
this through 
secondary 
legislation if 
needed. 

The Government 
agrees in principle. 
 
The Government 
endorses providing 
legal indemnity for 
Independent 
Persons as local 
authority best 
practice but does 
not currently see 
the need to require 
this through 
secondary 
legislation. 

Our Independent 
Persons are 
called upon from 
the Constituent 
Councils. 
Requests will be 
made to 
understand the 
indemnity 
position at the 
local authorities 
through the 
Monitoring 
Officer group.  

15 The Local 
Government 
Transparency 
Code should be 
updated to 
require councils 
to publish 
annually: the 
number of code 
of conduct 
complaints they 
receive; what the 
complaints 
broadly relate to 
(e.g., bullying; 
conflict of 
interest); the 
outcome of those 
complaints, 
including if they 
are rejected as 
trivial or 
vexatious; and 
any sanctions 
applied. 

The Government 
believes that this is 
better addressed 
through the sector 
adopting as best 
practice a regular 
pattern of annual 
reporting by 
Standard 
Committees of the 
cases and 
complaints 
handled and would 
encourage this as 
best practice by 
the sector.  
 
The Government 
does not believe 
that there is a 
requirement to 
prescribe to local 
authorities the 
form and content 
of such Standard 
Committee annual 

For monitoring 
and review 
purposes, it is 
already a 
requirement for 
the Monitoring 
Officer to provide 
the Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
annually a 
summary of all 
complaints 
received. 

Page 42



reports. 

17 The government 
should clarify if 
councils may 
lawfully bar 
councillors from 
council premises 
or withdraw 
facilities as 
sanctions. These 
powers should be 
put beyond doubt 
in legislation if 
necessary. 

The criminal law, 
overseen by the 
police and courts, 
provides for more 
appropriate and 
effective action 
against breaches 
of public order, for 
anti-social 
behaviour, and 
against 
harassment.  
 
The occasion 
where councils 
would seek to bar 
councillors from 
council premises 
are thought to be 
extremely rare. We 
will consider this 
further. 

No action 
required at this 
stage. If this 
proved 
necessary, 
precedent would 
be drawn from 
similar 
arrangements in 
place for other 
public buildings, 
such as schools 
and common 
law, to adopt a 
proportionate 
approach.  

18 The criminal 
offences in the 
Localism Act 
2011 relating to 
Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interests should 
be abolished. 

The Government 
does not agree 
with this 
recommendation, 
but rather believes 
the criminal 
offence of a non-
disclosure of 
pecuniary interest 
to be a necessary 
and proportionate 
safeguard and 
deterrent against 
corruption. 

No action 
required.  

22 The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 2015 
should be 
amended to 
provide that 
disciplinary 
protections for 
statutory officers 
extend to all 
disciplinary 
action, not just 

The Government 
agrees in principle 
with this 
recommendation 
and recognises 
this will be 
pertinent to 
Monitoring Officers 
who may not 
necessarily be 
afforded the same 
seniority in the 
organisational 
hierarchy of a local 
authority as the 

No action 
required at this 
stage. 
Engagement 
from the 
Government in 
this regard will 
be reported 
when it occurs.  

Page 43



dismissal. two other statutory 
officers (Head of 
Paid Service and 
the Section 151 
Officer), and who 
may be subject to 
personal pressures 
when conducting 
high profile breach 
of conduct 
investigations.  
 
The Government 
will engage with 
sector 
representative 
bodies of all tiers 
of local 
government to 
seek views on 
amending the 
Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations to 
provide disciplinary 
protections for 
statutory officers. 

23 The Local 
Government 
Transparency 
Code should be 
updated to 
provide that local 
authorities must 
ensure that their 
whistleblowing 
policy specifies a 
named contact 
for the external 
auditor alongside 
their contact 
details, which 
should be 
available on the 
authority‟s 
website. 

The Government 
agrees with the 
principle that 
openness is 
essential. 
 
Most local 
authorities already 
publish their 
whistleblowing 
policy, procedures 
and a named 
contact on their 
websites, and 
Government is 
recommending 
that this is adopted 
as a best practice 
recommendation. 

The 
whistleblowing 
policy is already 
published on the 
Combined 
Authority‟s 
website, which 
includes its 
procedures and 
specifies a 
named contact 
for the external 
auditor alongside 
their contact 
details.  

24 Councillors 
should be listed 
as „prescribed 
persons‟ for the 

Disclosures 
relating to local 
authorities can be 
made to the 

No action 
required at this 
stage. 
Engagement 

Page 44



purposes of the 
Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 
1998. 

external auditor of 
the relevant 
authority, the 
Comptroller and 
Auditor General 
(National Audit 
Office), or a 
Member of 
Parliament.  
 
However, the 
Government 
recognises that 
this may provide a 
further check and 
balance against 
council corruption 
or wrongdoing and 
is open to further 
representations on 
the matter on how 
local accountability 
can be 
strengthened in 
this regard. 

from the 
Government in 
this regard will 
be reported 
when it occurs.  

 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Legal  
 

There are no legal implications directly relating to the contents of this report. 
However, there are potential future implications detailed within the Government‟s 
Response and these will be addressed as and when necessary.  

 
4.2. Communication and Consultation  
 

Members of the Combined Authority will be advised of the contents of this report 
following its consideration by the LCR Audit and Governance Committee.  

 
  

Page 45



5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1. The Government believes that some of these recommendations do not need a 

legislative response but can be taken forward by authorities as best practice. 
Officers have and continue to take appropriate action accordingly to the 
Government‟s responses.  

 
5.2. Responses which indicate future legislative change will be appropriately addressed 

by the Combined Authority as and when required.  
 
 

JILL COULE 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 

METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM  
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Government‟s response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life review 
of Local Government Ethical Standards  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None  
 
 

Page 46



1 

Kemi Badenoch MP 
Minister of State for Equalities and Levelling Up 
Communities 

Department for Levelling up, Housing and 
Communities 
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 

Lord Evans of Weardale, KCB, DL 
Chair Committee on Standards in Public Life 
Room G07 
1 Horse Guards Road 
London  
SW1A 2HQ  

Email: kemi.badenoch@levellingup.gov.uk 

www.gov.uk/dluhc 

Dear Lord Evans, 

On behalf of the Government, I would like to thank the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life for its report and the recommendations arising from its review of Local Government 
Ethical Standards, and to all those who engaged with the Committee’s work.  Attached is 
the Government response to the Committee’s individual recommendations that 
were directed at Government.  

Vibrant local democracies flourish where the reputation of the local authority is held in 
high regard, where councillors’ decision-making is transparent, valued and trusted by the 
communities they serve, and where people are willing and confident to put themselves 
forward as potential candidates.  The standards and conduct framework within which local 
authorities operate must drive out corruption and promote commitment to the principles 
on standards in public life, and tolerance to the differing views of others. In responding to 
the review, the Government has taken into account the importance of protecting free 
speech and freedom of association within the law. 

The Government is committed to working with local authorities and their representative 
organisations to ensure that local government is supported in reinforcing its reputation for 
ethical local standards.    

The fact that this review had been conducted in such a collaborative way with the sector 
has been apparent from the outset and is borne out in the final report.  I am keen that 
Government builds on the sector-wide enthusiasm for improvement.  

The Government agrees with the Committee’s conclusion that there have been benefits 
from local authorities being responsible for ethical standards, including the flexibility and 

Page 47

mailto:kemi.badenoch@levellingup.gov.uk


2 
 

discretion to resolve standards issues informally.  However, we also recognise the role of 
Government in ensuring that the system is robust.  

The number of requests for legislation in the Committee’s recommendations to strengthen 
the standards and conduct framework and its safeguards is considerable. As indicated in 
this response, the Government believes that some of these suggestions do not need a 
legislative response but can be more appropriately, effectively, and swiftly taken forward 
by local authorities as best practice.  The Committee will recognise that the Government 
and Parliament has taken a different view on these matters when it legislated for the 
Localism Act 2011. 

I thank the Committee for their work on the review and for their patience whilst 
Government carefully considered their recommendations, and I personally look forward 
to continuing to work with you as Government progresses the commitments made in this 
response with the sector. 

 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 

 

 

KEMI BADENOCH MP 
 

Minister of State for Equalities  
and Levelling Up Communities  

  

Page 48



3 
 

Government response to the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life review of local government ethical standards  
 
This Government response confines itself to the Committee’s recommendations directed 
at Government, other than with regards to the first recommendation.   The response to 
recommendations 10, 12, 13, 14 and 16 have been grouped together and therefore 
appear out of numerical order below.  
 
 
Recommendation 1  
 
The Local Government Association should create an updated model code of 
conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of councillors and officers of 
all tiers of local government. 

The Localism Act 2011 states that relevant authorities must promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members. It requires these authorities to 
adopt a code of conduct for their councillors.1 Authorities can determine the content of 
their own code of conduct. However, codes must conform to the seven ‘Nolan’ principles 
of standards in public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty, and leadership. Relevant authorities for the purposes of these requirements 
include local authorities in England, namely county councils, district councils, London 
borough councils and parish and town councils. 

It is for individual councils to set their own local code, in line with the Act. The Government 
has previously published a light-touch illustrative code of conduct.  

The Local Government Association has worked with sector representative bodies to 
update its own suggested code of conduct, with the intention that this new suggested 
code could establish a consistent benchmark that local authorities can amend or add to 
as they see fit to reflect local circumstances and priorities. The Local Government 
Association published the updated code of conduct in January 2021.  However, it remains 
a local decision on whether this model code is adopted.   
 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
The government should ensure that candidates standing for or accepting public 
offices are not required publicly to disclose their home address.  The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 should be amended 
to clarify that a councillor does not need to register their home address on an 
authority’s register of interests. 
 

 
1 References to councillors in this document also should be deemed to include elected mayors.  

Page 49

https://www.local.gov.uk/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020-0


4 
 

This issue was brought up in the Committee’s work on intimidation in public life, and the 
Government has already taken forward several steps in this regard. The Government is 
open and receptive to further steps to help prevent intimidation. 
 
The Government agrees with the principle behind this recommendation – which 
safeguards elected representatives - and considers amending the Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 would be an option to achieve it.   
 
The Government will engage with interested parties on the best means to ensure that 
candidates and councillors are not required publicly to disclose their home address.   
 
Notwithstanding, it is important that home addresses are internally registered with 
monitoring officers, to help avoid conflicts of interest.   
 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an official capacity in their public 
conduct, including statements on publicly accessible social media.  Section 27(2) 
of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit local authorities to presume 
so when deciding upon code of conduct breaches. 

The Government’s view is that it is for individual local authorities to consider if their code 
of conduct is adequate in addressing the issue of inappropriate use of social media. 

As the Government outlined to Parliament in March 2021 on tackling intimidation in public 
life: ‘It is important to distinguish between strongly felt political debate on the one hand, 
and unacceptable acts of abuse, intimidation and violence on the other. British democracy 
has always been robust and oppositional. Free speech within the law can sometimes 
involve the expression of political views that some may find offensive’: a point that the 
Government has recognised in a Department for Education policy paper2.  But a line is 
crossed when disagreement mutates into intimidation, which refuses to tolerate other 
opinions and seeks to deprive others from exercising their free speech and freedom of 
association.’ 

It is important to recognise that there is a boundary between an elected representative’s 
public life and their private or personal life. Automatically presuming (irrespective of the 
context and circumstances) that any comment is in an official capacity risks conflating the 
two. 

 
 
 

 
2 Higher education: free speech and academic freedom Feb 2021 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/higher-education-free-speech-and-academic-freedom 
 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/higher-education-free-speech-and-academic-freedom


5 
 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that a local 
authority’s code of conduct applies to a member when they claim to act, or give the 
impression they are acting, in their capacity as a member or as a representative of 
the local authority. 
 
The Government agrees that local authority elected representatives should act in good 
faith in the public interest and not seek to influence decisions for personal gain, for 
malicious intent or to further the interests of any business or any other organisations which 
they may be affiliated with.  
 
The Local Government Association have updated their own suggested code of conduct 
to state that the code applies when “[a member’s] actions could give the impression to a 
reasonable member of the public with knowledge of all the facts that [they] are acting as 
a [member]”.  
 
It is for individual local authorities to ensure that their codes of conducts are regularly 
updated, comprehensive and fit for purpose.  Elected members receive the necessary 
training to make them aware of their personal responsibilities in upholding the code.  
 
The Government will keep this matter under review but has no immediate plans to amend 
the regulations.   
 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 
should be amended to include: unpaid directorships; trusteeships; management 
roles in a charity or a body of a public nature; and membership of any organisations 
that seek to influence opinion or public policy. 
 
The electorate must have confidence that the decisions of their elected representatives 
are being made in the best interests of the community they have been elected to serve.  
Unpaid roles may need to be declared if it is relevant to council business, and councillors 
should recuse themselves if necessary if discussions relate to private bodies, they are 
involved in. 
 
The Government is mindful that councillors have a right to a private life, and rights of 
freedom of association outside their role as a councillor. It is frequently the case that 
people in public life have a complex pattern of interests and play a variety of roles with 
different types of organisations, including community interest groups and charities.    
 
The Government will keep this matter under review but has no immediate plans to amend 
the regulations.   

Page 51

https://www.local.gov.uk/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020-0


6 
 

 
Recommendation 6 
 
Local authorities should be required to establish a register of gifts and hospitality, 
with councillors required to record gifts and hospitality received over a value of 
£50 or totalling £100 over a year from a single source.  This requirement should be 
included in an updated model code of conduct. 
 
The Local Government Association’s suggested code of conduct published in January 
2021 includes a requirement for members to “register… any gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £50”. However, it did not contain any requirements relating to 
the total value of gifts or hospitality received from the same source over a sustained 
period. 
 
Local authorities have the autonomy to set gifts and hospitality requirements in their own 
codes of conduct.  The Government accepts that there is merit in best practice guidance 
on the thresholds for gifts and hospitality and agrees that a register of gifts and hospitality 
should be publicly available.  
  
 
Recommendation 7 
 
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 should be repealed, and replaced with a 
requirement that councils include in their code of conduct that a councillor must 
not participate in a discussion or vote in a matter to be considered at a meeting if 
they have any interest, whether registered or not, “if a member of the public, with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard the interest as so 
significant that it is likely to prejudice your consideration or decision-making in 
relation to the matter”. 
 
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 requires that a councillor must not participate in a 
discussion or vote on a matter where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any 
matter to be considered at the meeting. Section 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011 further 
provides that any relevant pecuniary interests of a councillor’s spouse or partner are 
considered as a disclosable pecuniary interest of the councillor. 
 
The Committee’s report reflects concerns that the disclosable pecuniary interest 
arrangements infringe on the privacy of a councillor’s spouse or partner.  Where there 
would be a potential conflict of interest, the principle of integrity requires that any such 
interests should nevertheless be declared and resolved. 
 
The Government will keep this matter under review but has no immediate plans to repeal 
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011.    
 
 
 

Page 52



7 
 

Recommendation 8 
 
The Localism Act 2011 should be amended to require that Independent Persons 
are appointed for a fixed term of two years, renewable once. 
 
The Government does not accept this recommendation as appropriate for legislation on 
the basis that it would be likely to be unworkable.  The Government’s view is that it would 
be more appropriately implemented as a best practice recommendation for local 
authorities.  
 
In principle, it may be attractive to limit the terms Independent Persons serve to keep their 
role and contribution “fresh” and avoid them becoming too closely affiliated with the 
overriding organisational culture.  However, discussions with Monitoring Officers indicate 
that in practice most local authorities would likely find servicing this rate of turnover 
unachievable.  There is frequently a small pool of people capable and willing to undertake 
the role, who also fit the stringent specifications of being amongst the electorate, having 
no political affiliation, no current or previous association with the council, and no friends 
or family members associated with the council.     
 
When local authorities have found effective Independent Persons who demonstrate the 
capability, judgement and integrity required for this quite demanding yet unpaid role, it is 
understandable that they may be reluctant to place limitations on the appointment.   
 
 
Recommendation 9 
 
The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to provide that the 
view of the Independent Person in relation to a decision on which they are 
consulted should be formally recorded in any decision notice or minutes. 
 
The Government does not agree with this. The Local Government Transparency Code is 
a statutory requirement to publish information; it does not regulate the content of councils’ 
minutes or decision notices.  
 
The substantive policy suggestion has merit but will depend on circumstances. In cases 
where there is no case to answer from an unfounded complaint, it should not necessarily 
be a legal requirement to publish details of that unfounded complaint.  
 
 
Recommendation 10 
 
A local authority should only be able to suspend a councillor where the authority’s 
Independent Person agrees both with the finding or a breach and that suspending 
the councillor would be a proportionate sanction. 
 
 

Page 53



8 
 

Recommendation 12 
 
Local authorities should be given the discretionary power to establish a decision-
making standards committee with voting independent members and voting 
members from dependent parishes, to decide on allegations and impose sanctions. 
 
Recommendation 13 
 
Councillors should be given the right to appeal to the Local Government 
Ombudsman if their local authority imposes a period of suspension for breaching 
the code of conduct. 
 
Recommendation 14 
 
The Local Government Ombudsman should be given the power to investigate and 
decide upon an allegation of a code of conduct breach by a councillor, and the 
appropriate sanction, an appeal by a councillor who has had a suspension 
imposed.  The Ombudsman’s decision should be binding on the local authority. 
 
Recommendation 16 
 
Local authorities should be given the power to suspend councillors, without 
allowances, for up to six months. 
 
There is no provision in current legislation for a sanction to suspend a councillor found to 
have breached the code of conduct, and this was a deliberate policy decision by the 
Coalition Government at the time of the Localism Act 2011 to differentiate from the 
previous, failed Standards Board regime.  The Standards Board regime allowed politically 
motivated and vexatious complaints and had a chilling effect on free speech within local 
government. These proposals would effectively reinstate that flawed regime. 
 
It would be undesirable to have a government quango to police the free speech of 
councillors; it would be equally undesirable to have a council body (appointed by 
councillors, and/or made up of councillors) sitting in judgment on the political comments 
of fellow councillors.  
 
On the rare occasions where notable breaches of the code of conduct have occurred, 
local authorities are not without sanctions under the current regime.  Councillors can be 
barred from Cabinet, Committees, or representative roles, and may be publicly criticised.  
If the elected member is a member of a political group, they would also expect to be 
subject to party discipline, including being removed from that group or their party. Political 
parties are unlikely to reselect councillors who have brought their group or party into 
disrepute.  All councillors are ultimately held to account via the ballot box. 
 

Page 54



9 
 

As part of the Government’s response to the Committee’s report on intimidation in public 
life, the Government recommended that every political party establish their own code of 
conduct for party members, including elected representatives.  
 
The Government will engage with sector representative bodies of councillors and officers 
of all tiers of local government to seek views on options to strengthen sanctions to address 
breaches of the code which fall below the bar of criminal activity and related sanctions 
but involve serious incidents of bullying and harassment or disruptive behaviour.   

 
Recommendation 11 
 
Local authorities should provide legal indemnity to Independent Persons if their 
views or advice are disclosed.  The government should require this through 
secondary legislation if needed.  
 
The Government agrees in principle.  
 
Initial soundings with the sector indicate that some local authorities already provide legal 
indemnity for Independent Persons.  
 
The Government endorses providing legal indemnity for Independent Person as local 
authority best practice but does not currently see the need to require this through 
secondary legislation.  
 
 
Recommendation 15 
 
The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to require councils 
to publish annually: the number of code of conduct complaints they receive; what 
the complaints broadly relate to (e.g., bullying; conflict of interest); the outcome of 
those complaints, including if they are rejected as trivial or vexatious; and any 
sanctions applied. 
 
The Government believes that this is better addressed through the sector adopting as 
best practice a regular pattern of annual reporting by Standard Committees of the cases 
and complaints handled and would encourage this as best practice by the sector.    
 
The Government does not believe that there is a requirement to prescribe to local 
authorities the form and content of such Standard Committee annual reports.  
 
 
Recommendation 17 
 
The government should clarify if councils may lawfully bar councillors from council 
premises or withdraw facilities as sanctions.  These powers should be put beyond 
doubt in legislation if necessary.  

Page 55



10 
 

 
The criminal law, overseen by the police and courts, provides for more appropriate and 
effective action against breaches of public order, for anti-social behaviour, and against 
harassment.  
 
The occasion where councils would seek to bar councillors from council premises are 
thought to be extremely rare.  We will consider this further.  
 
 
Recommendation 18 
 
The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests should be abolished. 
 
It is a criminal offence to fail to declare pecuniary interests, which acts as a strong 
deterrent against corruption.  
 
The Government does not agree with this recommendation, but rather believes the 
criminal offence of a non-disclosure of pecuniary interest to be a necessary and 
proportionate safeguard and deterrent against corruption.  
 
The high bar of police involvement has served to discourage politically motivated and 
unfounded complaints.  
 
 
Recommendation 20 
 
Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that parish 
councils must adopt the code of conduct of their principal authority, with the 
necessary amendments, or the new model code. 
 
The Government does not agree that this is necessary and has no plans to repeal Section 
27(3) of the Localism Act 2011.    
 
The Government considers that the adoption of the principal authority’s code or the new 
model code is a matter for local determination.  
 
There are merits in achieving consistency within principal authority areas to eliminate 
potential confusion amongst constituents and elected members but there may be 
instances where a parish council may want to add to the code of their principal authority 
to reflect local circumstances.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



11 
 

Recommendation 21 
 
Section 28 (11) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that any 
sanction imposed on a parish councillor following the finding of a breach is to be 
determined by the relevant principal authority.  
 
The Government has no current plans to repeal Section 28 (11) of the Localism Act 2011 
but will give this matter further consideration. 
 
 
Recommendation 22 
 
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 
should be amended to provide that disciplinary protections for statutory officers 
extend to all disciplinary action, not just dismissal. 
 
The three statutory officers in local government are the Monitoring Officer, the Head of 
Paid Service (Chief Executive) and the Chief Finance Officer (often referred to as the 
Section 151 Officer).  

Under the current disciplinary arrangements for statutory officers, any decision to dismiss 
a statutory officer must be taken by full council, following a hearing by a panel that must 
include at least two Independent Persons.  The Committee consider that the disciplinary 
protections for statutory officers should be enhanced, by extending disciplinary 
protections to all disciplinary actions (such as suspension or formal warnings), not just 
dismissal.  

The Government agrees in principle with this recommendation and recognises this will be 
pertinent to Monitoring Officers who may not necessarily be afforded the same seniority 
in the organisational hierarchy of a local authority as the two other statutory officers (Head 
of Paid Service and the Section 151 Officer), and who may be subject to personal 
pressures when conducting high profile breach of conduct investigations.  

The Government will engage with sector representative bodies of all tiers of local 
government to seek views on amending the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England)(Amendment) Regulations to provide disciplinary protections for statutory 
officers.   

 
Recommendation 23 
 
The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to provide that local 
authorities must ensure that their whistleblowing policy specifies a named contact 
for the external auditor alongside their contact details, which should be available 
on the authority’s website.  
 
The Government agrees with the principle that openness is essential.  

Page 57



12 
 

 
Most local authorities already publish their whistleblowing policy, procedures and a 
named contact on their websites, and Government is recommending that this is adopted 
as a best practice recommendation.  

The Government published the UK National Action Plan for Open Government 2021 – 
2023 in January 2022. This includes a commitment on local transparency.3 The 
Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) will work with the local 
government community to develop a set of specific actions to advance transparency in 
the sector.  DLUHC will support local government to solidify their transparency policies 
and processes and encourage proactive publication of open data across councils.  

 
Recommendation 24 
 
Councillors should be listed as ‘prescribed persons’ for the purposes of the Public 
Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 
 
Prescribed persons are individuals or organisations that a worker may approach outside 
their workplace to report suspected or known wrongdoing and still be protected by the 
rights afforded to them under whistleblowing legislation. They are prescribed by an order 
made by the Secretary of State (for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy) for this 
purpose. A complete list of prescribed persons is available here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-
people-and-bodies--2.  

Local councillors would not meet the criteria of being external to an individual’s workplace 
in relation to matters affecting the council and could therefore not be considered as a 
‘prescribed person’ for the purposes of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 
Disclosures relating to local authorities can be made to the external auditor of the relevant 
authority, the Comptroller and Auditor General (National Audit Office), or a Member of 
Parliament.  

However, the Government recognises that this may provide a further check and balance 
against council corruption or wrongdoing and is open to further representations on the 
matter on how local accountability can be strengthened in this regard. 

 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-
2023/uk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-2023#local-transparency 

Page 58

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fblowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies--2&data=02%7C01%7CMegan.McKibbin%40communities.gov.uk%7C82d632d6a844475de86008d70f58f9a2%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C636994747142128587&sdata=yIxwtOD7c8hlXqh%2Bu7rVGkCcG3VD57FrK3e5oE2MM4c%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fblowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies--2&data=02%7C01%7CMegan.McKibbin%40communities.gov.uk%7C82d632d6a844475de86008d70f58f9a2%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C636994747142128587&sdata=yIxwtOD7c8hlXqh%2Bu7rVGkCcG3VD57FrK3e5oE2MM4c%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fuk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-2023%2Fuk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-2023%23local-transparency&data=04%7C01%7CHelen.Higgins%40levellingup.gov.uk%7C97b1beb464224d2ff14008d9f0a16a47%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637805398321101762%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=H1lI8TqLNG%2FhZtx2hhrkEELayj1S%2FsII9bQmNeEkEhw%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fuk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-2023%2Fuk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2021-2023%23local-transparency&data=04%7C01%7CHelen.Higgins%40levellingup.gov.uk%7C97b1beb464224d2ff14008d9f0a16a47%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637805398321101762%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=H1lI8TqLNG%2FhZtx2hhrkEELayj1S%2FsII9bQmNeEkEhw%3D&reserved=0


 
 
Report Title 

 
Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and 
Opinion 2021-22 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt? No     
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risks and Mitigations 
  

Yes, at paragraph 4.1  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents Yes 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


  

Page 60



 
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
LCR Audit & Governance Committee 

 
Wednesday, 27 July 2022 

 
Report of the Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021-22 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report 

and Opinion for the financial year 2021-22.  The report summarises the work 
undertaken by Internal Audit during the year, the key conclusions that can be drawn 
from this, and the overall opinion on the organisation’s governance, risk and internal 
control environment.   
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, and in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
this report fulfils the requirement for the Head of Internal Audit to provide an annual 
report and opinion on the effectiveness of the organisation’s governance, risk and 
internal control environment.  

  
3.2 The report reflects on the single governance, risk and internal control environment 

which encompasses both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel, reflected in a 
single Internal Audit Plan, but cognisant of the separate legal entities, contains 
separate opinions for the Combined Authority and Merseytravel elements of the 
organisation.  For this reason, this report will also be presented to the Merseytravel 
Board. 

 
3.3 The report highlights the following key points: 

 

 A summary of the Internal Audit work undertaken during 2021/22; 

 A summary of the performance of Internal Audit during the year; 

 A review of Internal Audit’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS); 

 A summary of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 
established and maintained during the year; and 

Page 61



 The overall Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk 
management and internal control in 2021-22 for the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel respectively. 
 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 
for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
   
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion is the culmination of the 

work of Internal Audit during the year and forms a key strand of assurance for the 
organisation regarding the effectiveness of the governance, risk and internal control 
environment. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
Appendices: 
 
Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None  
 

 
 
 

Page 62



 
  

 

 
HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT  

ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021-22 
  

 

Audit and Governance Committee: 27 July 2022 

Merseytravel: 8 August 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 63



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

             
Page 

    
1. Executive Summary          2 

 
2. Introduction           4 

 
3. Internal Control          6 

 
4. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption       13 

 
5. Corporate Governance        17 

 
6. Risk Management         19 

 
7. Opinion          21 

 
8. Effectiveness of Internal Audit       23 

 
9. Developments         28 

 
Appendix A: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation    30 
Priority Levels 

 
 

        
           
  

P
age 64



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 2 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Head of Internal Audit is obliged, under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), to provide an annual report 

and overall opinion of the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and 
internal control, derived from internal audit work conducted during the year.  This is a key part of the governance and 
assurance frameworks of the organisation. 

 

1.2  During 2021-22, 50 audits were completed. The overall organisational risk opinions given in these reports are summarised in 
Table 1 as: 

 

Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Number of Audits Organisation 

Combined 
Authority 

Merseytravel 

Major 1 - 1 

Moderate 13 8 5 

Minor 29 18 11 

Negligible 2 - 2 

Advice provided 5 3 2 
               Table 1 

1.3 In addition to this, advice and guidance was provided in a number of key areas, including attending a number of 

project/programme boards and Delivery Boards. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 3 
 

1.4 Based upon the work undertaken by Internal Audit in respect of 2021-22, the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s framework of governance, risk 

management and internal control respectively are: 

Organisation Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2021-22 

Overall Opinion  Capacity for Improvement  

 

Adequate Good 

 

Adequate Good 

 
1.5 The remainder of this report sets out in more detail how the opinions are derived. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 66



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 4 
 

2.   Introduction 
 
2.1  It is the responsibility of management to establish effective arrangements for governance, risk management and internal 

control in the organisation. 
 
2.2 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the organisation must ensure that it provides adequate and 

effective internal audit arrangements in respect of its accounting records and systems of internal control, and that it conducts 
an annual review of the effectiveness of these. In addition, these arrangements must be delivered in accordance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application Note (LGAN), which came into effect on 1 
April 2013 (and were revised 1 April 2016 and 1 April 2017 and LGAN revised 2019). 

 
2.3  The PSIAS represent mandatory best practice for all public sector internal audit service providers in the UK and cover: 
 

 Definition of Internal Auditing; 

 Code of Ethics; and 

 International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

2.4  Further to the 2016 revision to the PSIAS, Internal Audit has adopted the following mission statement: 
“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight.” 

 
2.5  It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the Head of Internal Audit provides an annual report to those charged with governance, 

which should include an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, 
risk management and control. This report informs the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
2.6 The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit (2019) also states that “The head of internal audit (HIA) plays 

a critical role in delivering the organisation’s strategic objectives by objectively assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of 
governance and management of risks, giving an evidence-based opinion on all aspects of governance, risk management and 
internal control”. 

 
 

P
age 67



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 5 
 

2.7 This report sets out: 
 

 A summary of the Internal Audit work undertaken during 2021-22 in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan approved by 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 3 March 2021 and Merseytravel on 24 March 2021; 

 A review of Internal Audit’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

 A summary of the outcomes arising from the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) in operation during 
the year; 

 The overall Head of Internal Audit opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control in 2021-22. 
 

2.8 The report reflects on the single governance, risk and internal control environment which encompasses both the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel, reflected in a single Internal Audit Plan, but cognisant of the separate legal entities, contains 
separate opinions for the Combined Authority and Merseytravel elements of the organisation.   

 
2.9  It is confirmed that there was no material impairment to Internal Audit objectivity during 2021-22.  However, the presence of 

the grant certification function within the audit service, represents a threat to the independence as audit officers have been 

reviewing and effectively approving grant expenditure for payment.  This was highlighted in the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards external assessment conducted in August 2021 and has been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee as 

part of the Action Plan arising from the review.  Work is ongoing to relocate these responsibilities to another part of the 

organisation so that independence can be restored, although it should be stated that the tangible threat has been managed by 

maintaining effective separation of duties and management review. 

  

P
age 68



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 6 
 

3.   Internal Control 
 
3.1 During 2021-22, 50 audits were completed.  The detailed outputs of the work completed are detailed in Table 2 below: 
  

  
                                                                                                                             Table 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Auditable Area
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
High Medium Advisory Auditable Area

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
High Medium Advisory

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project Moderate 3 1 0 Governance Annual Review Minor 1 1 0

Rolling Stock - Business Resilience Arrangements Minor 0 1 0 Growth Platform - Creditors Minor 0 4 1

Rolling Stock - IPEMU Proof of Concept Negligble 0 0 0 ESIF Moderate 1 3 0

Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership Negligble 0 0 0 Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities - Accountable Body Status Minor 2 0 0

Tidal Power - Procurement Review Moderate 0 10 2 Service Maintenance Contracts Moderate 0 8 1

Investment Models Minor 0 3 0 Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management Moderate 3 6 1

Investment Schemes - FIF Moderate 1 3 0 Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID Minor 2 1 1

SIF2 Assurance Framework Moderate 1 1 0 Alternative Delivery Models n/a 0 0 0

Learning and Development Minor 2 4 0 Recovery Partnerships n/a 0 0 0

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review Moderate 4 9 0 Fast Tag & T-Flow Account Management Minor 0 5 0

Payroll Moderate 0 3 0 Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport Moderate 2 4 2

Absence Management Minor 0 7 0 Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Minor 2 4 1

Ethics / Standards of Conduct Minor 0 2 0 Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Minor 1 4 0

Application Control - Haven System Moderate 1 9 0 Tunnel Tolls Income Recording Minor 0 2 0

Application Control - Commuter Club Minor 0 8 0 Information Governance Minor 1 10 1

Application Control - SCADA Minor 0 6 0 Rail Operators - Stock Control Minor 0 9 0

Capital Programme Development Minor 0 0 0 Adult Education Budget Minor 0 2 0

Procurement & Prepaid Cards Minor 0 6 0 Digital Infrastructure Minor 0 0 1

Creditors and Cheque Control Minor 0 3 0 Race Equality Moderate 0 7 1

Debtors Minor 0 5 3 Seacombe Ferry Terminal Capital Project Major 3 4 1

Governance Assurance Statement 2021-22 n/a 0 0 0 Back Up Management Minor 0 6 2

LCRCA/MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 n/a 1 0 0 Proactive BAU Management Minor 0 0 7

Risk Management Minor 2 2 2 Asset Management Minor 0 7 4

Insurance Claims Minor 2 3 0 Cyber Security - Response (NIST) Minor 1 3 1

Procurement Moderate 0 7 2 LEP - IT Overview n/a 0 0 0

RecommendationsRecommendations

P
age 69



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 7 
 

3.2  The audit opinions given during the year are summarised in Chart 1 and recommendation priority levels featuring in these 
reports are summarised in Chart 2:  

 

  
                                                                                                                                                    Chart 1                                                                                                                                         Chart 2   

 
3.3 During the year, the Plan was the subject of ongoing review so as to ensure that it was reflective of the changing risk 

landscape.  The review evaluated the risks presented by each of the audit areas, so as to ensure that: 
 

 The risks as these were perceived when the Internal Audit Plan was compiled continued to be an accurate reflection of how 
these were perceived as the year progressed; 

 New and escalating risks were captured, and an audit included where necessary, including reflecting requests from 
management; 

 The timing of the audit was most appropriate given the maturity of the risks involved; and 

 The available audit days were used to provide the most comprehensive assurance possible, focusing on those risks that 
are most pertinent. 

 
3.4  This resulted in a number of pieces of work being added to the Plan, and some removed.  These were reflected in the Internal 

Audit Update reports received by the Audit and Governance Committee during the year.  Items added were: 
 

 Seacombe Landing Stage – A significant review of the process for identifying and approving the overspends on this capital 
project. 

2% 

26% 

58% 

4% 

10% 

Internal Audit Opinions 2021-22 

Major

Moderate

Minor

Negligible

Advice provided

14% 

72% 

14% 

Internal Audit Recommendations  
2021-22 

High

Medium

Advisory

P
age 70



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 8 
 

 External audit request regarding transactional linkages between the Combined Authority and Liverpool City Council, arising 
from the Best Value Report regarding Liverpool City Council. 

 
Items removed were: 
 

 Business Continuity Management – This was intended to be an extended follow-up on the embedding of recommendations 
arising from the audit conducted in 2020-21. However, as all recommendations were not implemented and revised 
implementation dates had been agreed, the planned timing was not appropriate for the audit.  

 Brexit Impacts – It has been agreed with client department that this audit should consider the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
launched in April 2022 that will replace EU structural funds.  

 Freeport – This programme was not sufficiently developed to a stage where it would be timely for an audit to be 
undertaken.  

 Health Safety and Wellbeing (Office Based Services) – Further to initial consideration of the terms of reference for this 
audit it was determined that the office-based elements had been covered by the Health Safety and Wellbeing Corporate 
Review. 

 Covid-19 Government Funding – It was established that no significant funding had been received further to audit work 
undertaken during 2020-21. 

 Operator of Last Resort (Rail Concession) – Timing was not appropriate given the stage of progress with the wider review. 
 

Audit Opinions of Note 
 
3.5 The work completed yielded one opinion of major organisational risk rating: Seacombe Landing Stage - a Merseytravel capital 

project.  Such an opinion reflects the significant organisational impact associated with the weaknesses highlighted, which 
resulted in a capital overspend on the project of over 30% on budget, but also the likelihood of such issues recurring if action 
is not taken as a matter of urgency.   The significant weaknesses detected in the management of this capital project included 
the early warning system and management of risk regarding cost overruns. The report gave rise to eight recommendations, of 
which three were high priority: 

 

 Where applicable, the designated project lead from Asset Management should provide formal evidence of their review and 

agreement of changes to a specification/Activity Schedule for a contract during the design phase, to confirm their 

P
age 71



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 9 
 

consideration of whether the changes are necessary and reasonable in terms of scope and cost. Where the change in cost 

is significant, they should also be subject to formal review and sign-off by the Technical Services Manager or the Head of 

Asset Management, who should determine appropriate thresholds for cost changes where this will be required (e.g. 

changes >£x and y%). 

 Whilst the current approach to capital project estimates is that contingency sums are not included in funding requests, 

where there is a known risk of additional work being required, this should be clearly communicated and quantified in the 

project risk register and in the initial and subsequent reports to Merseytravel Board on the project. This should include a 

clear explanation of the degree of uncertainty about both the risk and the estimate of costs, with a range of possible costs 

being provided (e.g. best case and worse case estimates should the risk crystallise), to help ensure the Board is more 

clearly sighted on the risks and their possible financial implications and to comply with the requirements of the Constitution 

(Part 4 Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules: 2.8 (k)) for accurate determination of estimated contract values. 

 When the need for significant additional costs to be incurred on a capital project is known, it should be reported to the 

Board at the earliest opportunity, to allow more time for Merseytravel Board consideration of the impact on the overall 

capital programme and any funding implications. This should include an estimate of the possible costs with further updates 

being provided as cost estimates are refined. To provide officers with more clarity on the requirements, 24.5 in the 

Constitution should be expanded to say Board should be made aware of potential significant variations, including realistic 

estimates, at the earliest opportunity. 

A comprehensive response to the audit was provided by the Executive Director of Place and follow up work is planned so as 
to establish the progress being made to implement the recommendations.  
 

3.6 There were 13 audits undertaken during the year that are worthy of note by virtue of their opinion of “moderate” as detailed in 
Table 3 below: 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 72



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 10 
 

Audit Title Key Findings 

Combined Authority  
Tidal Power - Procurement Review It was identified that there had been an issue with the application of the 

declarations of interest process to a particular procurement exercise (this 
did not affect the outcome of the procurement).  This learning has been 
used to strengthen the process for all procurement exercises.  

Investment Schemes – Future Innovation Fund It was identified that the Assessor Marking Scheme process is not subject 
to any review that would identify notable scoring divergence in the marking 
of applications. 

SIF2 Assurance Framework Sample testing identified that the LCR National Local Growth Assurance 
Framework had not always been followed. 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review It was identified that there was room for development found in the 
organisation’s ability to demonstrate compliance against relevant health 
and safety legislation and the incident reporting process.  

Payroll                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           Key findings identified related to the verification of payroll output and 
reconciliation of the organisation’s establishment list with the payroll. 

Procurement  Sample testing identified issues in some spending departments regarding 
compliance with the requirements of the Constitution and approved 
procurement procedures and consult with the Procurement team on all high 
and intermediate value procurements. 

ESIF Key findings related to the reporting to the Combined Authority on the 
progress of the Ways to Work Programme and with the risk management 
system in place for the programme. 

Race Equality The key findings related to compliance with the Constitution with regards to 
approval of contracts. 

  

Merseytravel  

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project The report identified a risk that the organisation may be incorrectly 
considered liable for costs due to the lack of sufficient detail provided by 
third party contract management and their failure to comply with the 
process set out in the Implementation Agreement (IA) for agreeing 
variations with Merseytravel. 

Application Control - Haven System The key finding related to the arrangements in place to manage system 

P
age 73



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 11 
 

Audit Title Key Findings 
data. 

Service Maintenance Contracts The key finding related to compliance with the Constitution in respect of 
approval and omission of reactive costs when approvals have been sought.  

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management It was identified that it is not always evidenced on completed risk 
assessments that identified required actions have been completed. 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport It was identified that it is not always evidenced on completed health and 
safety inspection forms and risk assessments that identified required 
actions have been completed. 

             Table 3 

Implementation of Recommendations 
 
3.7 During the year, follow up audits have been undertaken, so as to provide assurance that internal audit recommendations 

made have been implemented.  The results of this work have been reported to each meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  Generally, progress made in relation to audit recommendations has been positive (additional engagement with 
directorates has been fruitful in generating focus) and has demonstrated the engagement of management in the audit 
process, and during the year, there have been no occasions on which the Audit and Governance Committee has been 
informed of concerns with the implementation of recommendations.  

 
Advice, Guidance and Consultancy  
 
3.8 Internal Audit provides consultancy support in response to specific requests from management, which contributes to improving 

the organisation’s governance, risk management and internal control arrangements. Such work can include advice and 
guidance around the implementation of new systems and procedures, providing input to project and Delivery Boards and 
providing and audit view on corporate developments. These inputs are often those most greatly valued by the organisation, 
and very positive unsolicited feedback has been received in respect of a number of theses. 

  
3.9 During the year, the service has contributed to the development of the organisation by providing advice and guidance to 

project/programme boards, such as Bus Reform, Hydrogen Bus, Rolling Stock, Housing First and, in the last quarter, to the 
Delivery Boards.  This has consisted of providing advice on internal control, risk and governance with a view to influencing 
project officers to develop a sound framework for project delivery. The support provided has been very well received and 
positive feedback has been given by a number of senior officers in response. 

P
age 74



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 12 
 

  
3.10 During the year, the service also worked with the constituent local authorities’ audit teams to strengthen its leadership role in 

relation to its accountable body status.  This was particularly pertinent in developing their role in providing assurance in 
relation to the administration of Covid grant schemes for which the Combined Authority is the accountable body.  The audit 
teams meet on a quarterly basis so as to continue to develop this positive relationship and additional facet to the assurance 
framework. 

 
3.11 The service also responded to a number of ad hoc requests for advice, and these have concerned a wide range of matters 

across the spectrum of internal control, risk and governance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 75



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 13 
 

4.   Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
Responsibilities 
 
4.1 It is the responsibility of management to establish and maintain an effective framework of internal control for the prevention 

and detection of fraud, bribery and corruption, and these responsibilities are reflected in the relevant counter-fraud, bribery 
and corruption protocols.  

 
4.2 Internal Audit has a number of responsibilities in supporting management in the exercise of its fraud, bribery and corruption 

responsibilities: 
 

 Co-ordination of the organisation’s work on the National Fraud Initiative (NFI); 

 Completion of proactive counter-fraud audit work, which identifies a number of areas for review based upon areas of 
highest fraud risk; 

 Supporting the compilation of fraud risks within Service Risk Registers, and use of this to inform the proactive counter 
fraud work undertaken; 

 Production and maintenance of the suite of counter-fraud, bribery and corruption protocols; 

 Investigation of referrals of suspected fraud and irregularity; 

 Receiving notification of suspected fraud or irregularity, reports of suspected money laundering (the Head of Internal Audit 
is the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer), and the receipt of confidential reports (“whistleblows”); and 

 Being consulted for advice and guidance on matters of conduct and probity. 
 
4.3 The Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol demonstrates the organisation’s commitment to creating an anti-fraud culture and 

maintaining high ethical standards in its administration of public funds.  There is also a suite of complementary protocols 
including the Bribery Protocol, Money Laundering Protocol, Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol, Surveillance 
Protocol and Investigation Protocols, produced by Internal Audit.  These link to other policies such as the Gifts and Hospitality 
Policy and the Employee Code of Conduct.  During the year, Internal Audit refreshed those policies under its ownership, and 
these were approved by the Audit and Governance Committee (Merseytravel approval was not required as the amendments 
were minor in nature) and were issued to all staff.   

P
age 76



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 14 
 

 The Internal Audit service also raised the profile of fraud issues amongst officers by participating in International Fraud 
Awareness Week, which involved a range of fraud-related messaging featuring on Connect Live; the further promotion of 
the Fraud Awareness e-learning package which highlights the roles and responsibilities of staff in preventing and detecting 
fraud and presenting to the Executive and Senior Leadership Teams on management’s fraud responsibilities. 

 
4.4 A self-assessment of the organisation’s counter fraud arrangements against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the 

Risk of Fraud and Corruption was conducted during the year.  In the Fraud Update report presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee at its November 2021 meeting, it was noted that a full review of the organisation’s compliance with the 
guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action points.  Table 4 gives an update on the 
progress being made to address these actions: 

 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1 Encourage the Executive and Senior Leadership 
Teams to raise awareness of counter-fraud 
issues with their teams, including promoting 
take-up of counter-fraud training, discussion of 
fraud risks and controls and exploring 
opportunities for fraud detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 Completed 
Head of Internal Audit has discussed with 
ELT and SLT during the year.  This is an 
area of ongoing focus and activity. 

2 Risk Management Policy to be updated to make 
explicit mention of fraud risk and its treatment, 
including the escalation of significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 To be included in the 2022-23 refresh of 
the Policy. 

3 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk workshops 
with areas of the business where fraud risks are 
highest and ensuring that the results of the 
workshops are used to inform Service Risk 
Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to update 
fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, including 
consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 

Risk 
Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2022 In progress 
Joint audit and risk workshops are being 
planned to explore fraud risk and ensure 
this is adequately reflected within Service 
Risk Registers.   

P
age 77



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 15 
 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 
inform the risk assessment. 

4 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk 
assessment, compile and implement a Counter- 
Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  Once 
compiled, the effectiveness of the Strategy 
should be evaluated and reported, including 
within the Annual Governance Statement. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022 In progress 
Draft Strategy has been compiled and is 
to be finalised during 2022-23. 

5 As well as providing internal communications on 
fraud awareness (particularly during International 
Fraud Awareness Week), consideration should 
be given to providing fraud awareness and 
prevention/detection messaging to external 
customer and other stakeholders. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022  

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

Ongoing In progress 
There has been a continued corporate 
push on levels of mandatory training 
completion.  Take up of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning module was at 
72% at June 2022. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee reports 
and provide input to report authors to support the 
written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing In progress 
Risk Manager reviews all Committee 
reports but there will be a particular 
emphasis on fraud, bribery and corruption 
risks going forward.  

 Table 4 

  
4.5 During the year, there were no notifications of suspected fraud, bribery or corruption, or investigations of such matters carried 

out.  Whilst this might appear to be a positive statement, the absence of any fraud concerns or reporting may be an indication 
that staff are not fraud-aware or lack the confidence to come forward.  This must continue to be a focus for management. 

 

P
age 78



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 16 
 

4.6 In terms of proactive counter-fraud work, a number of specific pieces of work were completed across the Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel, but it is worthy of note that review of fraud controls is built into audits across the Audit Plan.  All generated 
an opinion of “Minor”:  

 

 Absence Management 

 Procurement and Prepaid Cards 

 Creditors and Cheque Control 

 Debtors 

 Insurance Claims 

 Fast Tag Account Management 

 Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 

 Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 

 Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 

 Rail Operators - Stock Control 
 
4.7 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll, 

Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and are matched with data 
within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the results, 
the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
4.8 Matches in respect of the NFI exercise for 2020 were released in January 2021 and the review work has been completed, 

outcomes were reported to the Audit and Governance Committee at its November 2021 meeting.  Investigation of the matches 
highlighted no significant fraud concerns.  

 
 

  

P
age 79



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 17 
 

5. Corporate Governance 
 
5.1 The organisation has put in place a Code of Corporate Governance, which is included in both Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel Constitutions. These are held on the intranet for ease of reference for staff. 
 

5.2 In order to appraise the effectiveness of corporate 
governance and provide supporting evidence to inform the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS), Internal Audit has 
conducted a review of the organisation’s corporate 
governance arrangements. This has followed the 
mandatory CIPFA/SOLACE guidance “Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government” (2016), which embodies 
the following Core Principles illustrated by the diagram, 
right. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                  “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE) 2016 

 
5.3  The work covered the prescribed areas of governance as defined in the guidance and engaged with all members of the 

Executive and Senior Leadership Teams in gaining assurance that there is a comprehensive and effective system of 
governance in place. 

 
5.4 This comprised the completion of a Governance Assurance Statement by each of these officers, in which they commented on 

the adequacy of the governance arrangements within their respective areas.  The arrangements described in these 
Statements were generally positive and highlighted an awareness of the principles of good governance.  In general, the 
statements highlighted an improvement in relation to items previously identified, and it was pleasing to see engagement taking 
place to further understanding of how such issues can continue to develop. Also, positively, most respondents highlighted 
their wish to develop and improve their governance arrangements and identified actions to be taken over the next year to do 
so. 

P
age 80



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 18 
 

 
5.5 Whilst there has been progress, it is evident that there is still room for development in some of the governance basics, and it is 

important to continue to ensure that there is awareness of, and compliance with, all the facets of the governance framework, 
and in doing so, reduce the likelihood of the organisation suffering a serious governance failure.  It is acknowledged that many 
of these items highlighted are already the subject of development and actions. The most significant areas for focus are: 

 
5.6 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow up process and 

will continue to be reported to the Executive Leadership Team for oversight.  

• Quality of and compliance with EIA obligations  

• Awareness of the 7 Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Completion of mandatory e- learning and key policies 

Core Principle A:  

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment  
to ethical values and respecting the rule of the law 

• Partnership working  – reporting on outcomes and documenting agreements 
Core Principle B:  

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder  
engagement 

• Continuing to develop plans for our role in achieving net zero carbon 

• Implementation of social value framework 

Core Principle C:  

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,  
social and environmental benefits 

• Continuation of work supporting LA capacity to deliver 
Core Principle D:  

Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the  
achievement of the intended outcomes 

• Not all Job descriptions are up to date 

• Induction process for all staff 

• Aligned procurement/governance across MT and CA 

• Capacity and skills 

Core Principle E:  

Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability  
of its leadership and the individuals within it 

• Health and Safety risk assessments 
• Understanding of fraud responsibilities 

• Engagement with Service Risk Registers 

Core Principle F:  

Managing risks and performance through robust internal  
control and strong public financial management 

• Continue to develop business continuity plans and cyber security  
arrangements 

Core Principle G:  

Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting  
and audit to deliver effective accountability 

P
age 81



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 19 
 

6.   Risk Management 
 
6.1 The system of corporate risk management is facilitated by Internal Audit, with appropriate operational safeguards in place to 

preserve independence.  
  
6.2 During the year, positive progress has continued to be made in embedding an effective system of risk management across the 

organisation.  In particular, the level and nature of Executive Leadership Team engagement has improved considerably. 
 
6.3 This progress has been reflected in a number of positive developments: 
 

 Maintenance of the Corporate Risk Register, which was fully reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team at the start of the 
year and during the year.  This was presented to the Audit and Governance Committee at each of its meetings during the 
year; 

 Regular risk discussions with members of the Executive Leadership Team individually and as a whole; 

 Greater understanding of risk management and appreciation of its benefits across the organisation, leading to a higher 
profile; 

 Development of risk management e-learning and face-to-face training packages; 

 Continued development of the Risk Group, including very positive risk discussions and input from each Directorate; 

 Establishment of Service Risk Registers across the Directorates; and 

 A number of risk management workshops held, and advice provided to officers. 
 

6.4 During the year, all recommendations emanating from the Internal Audit report issued in 2020-21 were implemented.  These 
were primarily targeted at the facilitation of the risk management system by Internal Audit.  A further internal audit was 
completed in 2021-22, which as well as focusing on the facilitation of the system, had greater focus on the organisation’s level 
of engagement with risk management and its use to support meeting the organisation’s objectives.  The recommendations 
reflect the need for all aspects of the organisation to continue to engage fully and effectively with the process, and to develop 
these levels of engagement in some areas, including ensuring regular review and update of risk registers, ensuring that 
controls to manage risks are maintained and effective, and ensuring that the completion of actions to reduce the 
impact/likelihood of risks materialising is a key focus: 

 

P
age 82



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 20 
 

 

 The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust Risk Register is in place for each applicable area of the 

organisation (by the end of Q1 2022/23). Formal feedback should be provided to the relevant manager and Executive 

Director in those instances where it is felt the Risk Register does not meet expectations and/or has not been produced.  

Reminders should be issued on a quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being reviewed and updated; and feedback 

provided to Executive Directors where there is evidence of non-compliance. 

 Liaise with your Management Team, in order to ensure effective risk management arrangements are operating on an 

ongoing basis within each service area, which is evidenced by a robust suite of Risk Registers encapsulating all areas of 

the directorate.   

6.5 Therefore, it is vital that the positive progress made in relation to risk management continues in 2022-23.  This should 
encompass sustained focus on embedding effective risk management arrangements across the organisation and ensuring 
that the efforts in doing so yield positive outcomes in the achievement of the corporate priorities.   

 
                        

 
  

P
age 83



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 21 
 

7.  Opinion 

 
7.1 Based upon the work undertaken by Internal Audit in respect of 2021-22, the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of each organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and internal control in 
2021-22 is: 

 

Organisation Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2021-22 

Overall Opinion  Capacity for Improvement  

 

Adequate Good 

 

Adequate Good 

           
7.2 The overall opinions indicate that during 2021-22, taking into account all factors detailed below, the operation of governance, 

risk management and internal control has been judged as adequate for both organisations.  This is the most favourable 
opinion that can be given and is unchanged from 2020-21.  This has arisen as a result of: 

 

 An assessment of the work delivered by Internal Audit during 2021-22, and the generally positive opinions generated from 
Internal Audit work during the year; 

 Considerable improvement in embedding an effective system of risk management during the year, including the regular 
review of the Corporate Risk Register and the positive engagement of the Executive Leadership Team;  

 The absence of any significant governance issues arising during the year; and 

 Systems and processes for many of the activities of the organisation have become established and have strengthened 
during the year. 
 

P
age 84



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 22 
 

7.3 The capacity for improvement rating indicates the extent to which it is the Head of Internal Audit’s belief that the level of 
control will improve over the next year.  This is based upon management’s increased receptiveness to Internal Audit work and 
focus on the implementation of Internal Audit recommendations.  It recognises that there is work to do to continue to embed 
effective governance, internal control and risk management into all parts of the organisation but recognises the appetite and 
capability of staff to embrace these developments positively. 

 
It is pleasing to note that Merseytravel’s capacity for improvement rating has increased from “reasonable” for 2020-21 to 
“good”.  This is a reflection of the organisation’s senior management changes and fresh focus this has brought in addressing 
long term challenges faced by Merseytravel. 

 
7.4 It should be noted the opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the 

organisations and is not an absolute assurance of the effectiveness of internal control arrangements and the management of 
risk. For this reason, an opinion of “Adequate” is the most favourable rating that can be given.  The purpose of this opinion is 
to contribute to the assurances available to the organisation which underpin the assessment of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework, including the system of internal control, which are encapsulated in the Annual Governance 
Statements. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 85



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 23 
 

8. Effectiveness of Internal Audit 

 
8.1 In establishing and demonstrating the effectiveness of Internal Audit, there are a number of requirements set out in the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS): 
 

 External assessment of compliance with the PSIAS, required every five years; 

 Internal assessment of compliance with the PSIAS, ideally conducted annually; and 

 Establishment and maintenance of a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) designed to ensure the 
quality of internal audit work and its development and improvement over time. 

 
8.2 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.3 The assessment was undertaken by CIPFA, the primary body for public sector finance.  The assessor was Ray Gard, who is 

both a CIPFA and ACCA qualified accountant and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors.  He has many years’ 
experience as a Head of Internal Audit, predominantly in the London boroughs, and he is independent of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
8.4 The assessment was carried out using a number of sources: 
 

 Review of the service’s internal self-assessment and associated evidence; 

 Interviews of key staff including internal audit staff, the Head of Internal Audit, Executive Director of Corporate Services 
and a number of other senior managers; 

 Interviews with those charged with governance including the Chair of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and 2020-21 
Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee (owing to the timing of the review and lack of opportunity for the 2021-22 
membership to engage with Internal Audit); and 

 Questionnaires were distributed to a number of senior managers including the Chief Executive and also to the Audit and 
Governance Committee membership for 2020-21 (again owing to the timing of the review and the lack of opportunity for 
the 2021-22 membership to engage with Internal Audit). 

P
age 86



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 24 
 

8.5 The final report confirmed that the outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.   
 

8.6 The recommendations arising from the review, and the associated progress being made to address these, are detailed in 

Table 5 below: 

Recommendation Due Date Comments/Progress 

1. Internal audit should be removed from the grant 
awarding process  
 
Medium priority 
 
At the time of the review, Internal Audit were required to audit 
every grant the CA intends to make to external organisations 
prior to the grant payment being made. This effectively 
makes Internal Audit part of the grant awarding process and 
is therefore a potential impairment to their independence and 
objectivity. The CA’s management should review this 
arrangement and find a solution that removes Internal Audit 
from the grant awarding process, ideally by relocating this 
activity to another part of the Authority. 

March 
2022 

Recommendation agreed.  It is expected that the handover of 
responsibilities will be completed imminently. 
 

2. Prepare formal service level agreements for the two 
external companies  
 
Low priority 
 
The Service should enter into formal service level 
agreements with the Beatles Story and the Local Enterprise 
Partnership for the internal audit services provided to them. 
 

April 2022 Completed 
 
Service Level Agreements are in place with both entities. 
 

3. Consider reporting to the senior leadership teams on a 
regular basis  
 
Advisory 
 

November 
2021  

Completed  
 
Quarterly attendances at Executive Leadership Team to discuss delivery 
of the audit plan and related issues commenced in November 2021 and 
will continue on a quarterly basis. 

P
age 87



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 25 
 

Recommendation Due Date Comments/Progress 

It is good practice to report regularly to the Executive 
Leadership Team, not only to discuss progress on delivering 
the audit plan, but to also have a regular dialogue on other 
matters such as corporate issues and emerging risks where 
input from Internal Audit would benefit the organisations in 
achieving their objectives and identifying organisation wide 
issues and risks that could be considered for inclusion in the 
audit plan. 
 

4. Consider introducing an annual conformation 
statement to supplement the declarations of interest 
returns 
 
Advisory 
 
It is becoming good practice in local authority internal audit 
services to enhance their annual declarations of interest 
returns by introducing or including a statement for internal 
audit staff to sign to confirm that they have read and 
understood the PSIAS, the core principles for the 
professional practice of internal auditing, the code of ethics, 
and the seven principles of public life (the Nolan Principles). 
The HoIA may wish to consider introducing such a statement. 

Q4 2021-
22 and 

annually 
thereafter 

Completed 
 
 
Refresher session undertaken in March 2022 Team Meeting and 
declarations completed by all staff. 

             Table 5 

 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 
 
8.7 During the year, so as to ensure that the Service not only continues to comply with the PSIAS, but to ensure that the service 

continues to develop and modernise, the following actions were (and continue to be) taken: 
 

 Staff participation in relevant professional seminars and completion of relevant Continuing Professional Development 
requirements; 

 Increasing the focus on risk in internal audit work and reports, linking explicitly to the risk registers and engaging with the 
Risk Manager to ensure a contemporary view of organisational risk is reflected in audit work; 

P
age 88



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 26 
 

 Engagement with Heads of Service/Assistant Directors and Executive Directors regarding their perception of risk and their 
associated audit needs; 

 Development of the relationship with the Audit and Governance Committee; and  

 Continuous review and update of working practices and reflection of associated changes in the Internal Audit Manual. 
 

8.8 A key element of the QAIP, in evidencing that the service complies with the PSIAS, operates in an efficient and effective 
manner, and is perceived as adding value to the organisation’s operations, is the adoption of a set of key performance 
indicators (KPIs).  These feature in the Internal Audit Update Report, which is presented to each meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  For 2021-22, the KPIs adopted, year-end results and associated commentary, are shown in Table 6 
below: 

 
Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the recent external assessment (August 2021) 
details that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being 
delivered. The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring that 
an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation’s systems. 

100% 100% No variance 
The Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 is completed. 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Board with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
No concerns in respect of recommendations made in 2021-22. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

P
age 89



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 27 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

 Table 6 

  

P
age 90



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 28 
 

9. Developments 

 
9.1 The financial year 2021-22 was again severely affected by the pandemic, which has not only impacted on the Internal Audit 

team but also on our internal clients, stakeholders and partners.  The Internal Audit team has continued to work flexibly to 
respond to the many changes in government restrictions during the year, and since the relaxation and subsequent lifting of 
restrictions, has returned to office attendance on a hybrid basis.  Our clients have continued to welcome Internal Audit work 
and have continued to engage positively.  

 
9.2 It has been pleasing to see that despite a number of days being lost to Covid-related sickness within the service, the level of 

completion of the Internal Audit Plan has been positive, having been completed in full. 
 
9.3 Communication, engagement and performance management has continued to strengthen within the team, including holding 

weekly “Goal Setting” sessions and setting quarterly targets for completion of work, having regular team meetings and also 
evaluating and discussing the results of the two employee surveys conducted during the year.  The hard work of the team 
during another challenging year is recognised and sincerely appreciated and has been the subject of positive comment by not 
only senior management in the organisation, but also by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
9.4 During the year, the focus on developing a strong risk-based approach has continued to develop positively, using the 

corporate engagement in risk management to shape and inform audit work.  The presence of the Risk Manager within the 
Audit Service has facilitated clearer linkages between audit and risk to be made, which continues to develop the resonance of 
internal audit work with clients in terms of how they maintain an effective system of internal control to manage risks. 

 
9.5 One of the most pleasing developments during the year was the commencement of regular reporting to the Executive 

Leadership Team (ELT).  This has not only greatly increased awareness of the role and purpose of internal audit but has led 
to an increased focus amongst the Executive Directors on the outcomes from audit reports and the implementation of 
associated recommendations.  This is a very welcome opportunity for the Head of Internal Audit to engage with the ELT to 
draw their attention to areas of good practice and areas for development. 

 
9.6 The service has continued to develop positive relationships with its stakeholders during the year. This is reflected in the 

customer feedback obtained.  The service has enjoyed good working relationships with officers across the organisation, and 

P
age 91



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 29 
 

officers are thanked for their support during the year in enabling the completion of audit work and the development of the 
system of internal control.  The relationship with the external auditor, Mazars, has also been good, allowing for a positive level 
of liaison and co-ordination of effort.  The Audit and Governance Committee has continued to support the work of internal 
audit. 

 
9.7 The forthcoming year presents an opportunity to continue to build on the effectiveness of the service and further develop its 

contribution to the organisation’s assurance framework.  
 
  

P
age 92



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22 Page | 30 
 

Appendix A: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt? No     
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risks and Mitigations  Yes, paragraph 4.1  
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents Yes 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


  

Page 96



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
fourth quarter of 2021-22 and first quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the 
Internal Audit Plans 2021-22 and 2022-23. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority in the fourth quarter of 2021-22.  The report 
highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made in the past; 
 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP);  

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS); and 

 

 A sector update covering the recent CIPFA publication “Internal Audit: Untapped 
Potential”. 
 

  

Page 97



4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 
for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plans 2021-22 and 2022-23.  This report demonstrates how the 
provision of available Internal Audit resource has been utilised to provide 
appropriate assurance to the organisation. 

 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None  
 
 
 

Page 98



 
                         

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

27 July 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 99



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Core Audit              4 
 

4. Responsive Audit           11  
 

5. Implementation of Recommendations        13 
 

6. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption                   17 
  

7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme                21 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                  23 
 

9. Sector Update: CIPFA Report on Internal Audit       24 
 

Appendices 
 

A - Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update                 32 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels            33   

   
       

P
age 100



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the fourth quarter of 2021-22 and first 

quarter of 2022-23, in respect of the Internal Audit Plans 2021-22 and 2022-23.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s governance, risk and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made in the past; 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP);  

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); and 

 A sector update covering the recent CIPFA publication “Internal Audit: Untapped Potential”.  

P
age 101



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, 15 audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1 with items at draft 

reporting stage shown in italics: 
  

Audit Title Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Entity 

Combined 
Authority  

 

Merseytravel 

Rolling Stock - Business Resilience Arrangements Minor  Y 

Risk Management Minor Y  

Insurance Claims Minor Y  

Payroll Moderate Y  

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Minor  Y 

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Minor  Y 

Fast Tag and T-Flow Account Management Minor  Y 

SIF2 Assurance Framework Moderate Y  

The Beatles Story - Information Governance Minor  Y 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport Moderate  Y 

Procurement  Moderate Y  

European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) Moderate   

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management Moderate  Y 

IT Asset Management Minor Y  

Ethics / Standards of Conduct Minor Y  
                                                            Table 1 

 
2.1.2 The 2021-22 Internal Audit Plan is now completed.  Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-

23, showing the status of each item of audit work that was contained within the Plan as approved by the Committee.  
                                                                                                                                                    

P
age 102



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 4 
  

3.  Core Audit 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 The “core audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory 

requirements or requirements of government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to 
delivering a comprehensive assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance and risk management.   

 
3.2 Work Completed 
 
3.2.1 As this report covers audit work completed in respect of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22, where in effect all planned work was 

considered “core”, this work is also included in this section of the report.  There were 14 such audits completed in the period: 
 

 Merseytravel: 

 Rolling Stock - Business Resilience Arrangements  

 Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions  

 Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation  

 Fast Tag and T-Flow Account Management  

 The Beatles Story - Information Governance  

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport  

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management  
 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate) 

 Risk Management  

 Insurance Claims  

 Payroll  

 Procurement  

 IT Asset Management  

 Ethics / Standards of Conduct  

P
age 103



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 5 
  

 SIF2 Assurance Framework  

 European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF)  
 
3.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

3.3.1 Six of the audits of Combined Authority specific systems received an organisational risk opinion of “moderate”, and this 
indicates that the audit identified weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified 
should be considered for inclusion within service risk registers (if these have not already been included). The other nine 
audits received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the 
effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the 
recommendations made is at a low level. 

 
3.4 Work in Progress 
 
3.4.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 

 Merseytravel: 

 Application Control - Customer Delivery – Docustore  
 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate): 

 IT Back Up Management 

 IT Cyber Security - Response (NIST)  

 Environment, Energy and Net Zero  

 Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities - Accountable Body Status  

 Resource Capacity  

 Application Control - Homelessness - In-Form  

 Treasury Management  

 VAT  

 Performance Management - Data Quality  
 

P
age 104



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 6 
  

3.5 Recommendations of Note 
 
3.5.1 The audits finalised within the period identified 13 recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 
Risk Management The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust Risk Register is in 

place for each applicable area of the organisation (by the end of Q1 
2022/23). Formal feedback should be provided to the relevant manager and 
Executive Director in those instances where it is felt the Risk Register does 
not meet expectations and/or has not been produced.  Reminders should 
be issued on a quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being reviewed and 
updated; and feedback provided to Executive Directors where there is 
evidence of non-compliance. 

It has been agreed that this 
recommendation will be implemented 
by Quarter 2 

Risk Management Liaise with your Management Team, in order to ensure effective risk 
management arrangements are operating on an ongoing basis within each 
service area, which is evidenced by a robust suite of Risk Registers 
encapsulating all areas of the directorate.   

It has been agreed that this 
recommendation will be implemented 
by Quarter 2 

Mersey Ferries Ticketing 
and Admissions 

The Mersey Ferries card payment only regime should be considered in the 
light of Sales Officers using personal cards to facilitate transactions and if it 
is to be retained Sales Officers must be instructed that they cannot use 
personal cards on behalf of customers. 

Staff who serve customers have been 
instructed not to use their own cards to 
carry out a transaction. 

Mersey Ferries Ticketing 
and Admissions 

Staff should be instructed that all personal belongings should be deposited 
in the lockers provided at the commencement of their shift and must not be 
taken into the sales counter area. 
 

Staff who serve customers have been 
instructed that personal belongings 
should be stored in lockers whilst they 
are working on the sales counter. 

Travel Centres, Income 
and Stock Reconciliation 

The safe should be locked at all times when not in use. Reminder has been issued to team 
and regular checks to be undertaken 
and recorded. 

SIF 2 Assurance 
Framework 

i) The approved Liverpool City Region National Local Growth Assurance 
Framework should be followed in all applicable funding scenarios. 
 
ii) In addition to adhering to the requirements of the LCRNLGAF, it must be 
ensured that all points requested to be actioned (particularly those minuted 
through meeting e.g. Investment Panel) during the course of the project 
lifecycle, are done so in a timely manner and to a satisfactory level.   

Awaiting Response 

The Beatles Story – In order to ensure risks to The Beatles Story business objectives are A session has been held with the 

P
age 105



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 7 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 
Information Governance formally considered, a risk management system should be put in place 

including compilation of a risk register that includes consideration of IG/IT 
related risks, and this should be kept under regular review. 
 

Corporate Risk manager and a risk 
register developed by senior 
managers. This will form part of a 
standing agenda item on the senior 
managers meeting moving forward 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing - Operational 
Transport 

A check should be carried out to ensure that all Customer Delivery risk 
assessments are recorded on the schedule used to monitor their completion 
and subsequent periodic review. Responsible officers should also be asked 
to check the schedule for any omissions. This will help ensure all risk 
assessments are reviewed and updated on a periodic basis. 

A review will be completed in line with 
the recommendation 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing - Operational 
Transport 

In order to reduce the risk that required improvements are not implemented, 
officers responsible for the completion of risk assessments should be 
reminded to ensure that they are updated to confirm when identified actions 
have been completed. The responsible officers should review their current 
risk assessments and update them to confirm if action plans have been 
implemented. 

Awaiting Response 

ESIF The progress of the Ways to Work programme (and the other ESIF 
programmes) should be reported to the Combined Authority on a regular 
basis. The report should include commentary on progress, achievements, 
issues, key risks and programme data such as the numbers of people 
joining the programme and money spent.  
 

Action will be implemented as per the 
recommendation. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing - Asset 
Management 

In order to ensure staff in Asset Management have access to completed 
risk assessments, and guidance on risks relating to general or specific tasks 
they are completing, management should ensure the risk assessments 
continue to be available for staff to access either via OnePlace or another 
medium that is available to all relevant staff. 
 

The updated risk assessments and 
associated documents will continue to 
be available to staff on OnePlace and 
will be added to a spreadsheet record 
by 31/7/22 by when all risk 
assessments will have been brought 
up to date and put onto OnePlace. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing - Asset 
Management 

In order to ensure risk assessments are maintained to reflect and mitigate 
where possible current relevant risks to help ensure the protection of staff, 
Asset Management must ensure that the review and updating of all risk 
assessments is completed as part of the current process being led by the 
Maintenance Delivery Manager. A process should also be put in place to 
ensure all risk assessments are subject to regular, periodic review. 
 

Considering the spreadsheet 
maintained by Customer Delivery with 
a view to introducing one for Asset 
Management with dates risk 
assessments are completed and when 
they should be reviewed. This will be 
monitored, and Managers reminded 

P
age 106



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 8 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 
when risk assessments are due for 
review. The authors will also be 
encouraged to monitor when the risk 
assessments they are responsible for 
are due for review and to ensure this is 
completed 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing - Asset 
Management 

In order to reduce the risk that required improvements are not implemented, 
officers responsible for the completion of risk assessments should be 
reminded to ensure that the risk assessments are updated to confirm when 
identified actions have been completed, recording the date of completion. 
As part of the current process to review risk assessments and bring them 
up to date, previously identified required actions should be reviewed to 
confirm if they were actioned or are still required and action taken to 
implement them where applicable. 
 

Officers will be reminded to record at 
the bottom of risk assessments when 
actions are completed. If they cannot 
be completed due to e.g. insufficient 
time and money, they will also be 
required to record this on the risk 
assessment. A 3-month review will be 
required by the author to ensure they 
have updated the actions on their risk 
assessments as this is their 
responsibility. Will also discuss further 
with H&S Business Partner any other 
appropriate monitoring arrangements. 

                                                          Table 2 

 
3.6 Annual Governance Review 
 
3.6.1 The organisation has put in place a Code of Corporate Governance, which is included in both Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel Constitutions. These are held on the intranet for ease of reference for staff. 
 

P
age 107



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 9 
  

3.6.2 In order to appraise the effectiveness of corporate 
governance and provide supporting evidence to inform the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS), Internal Audit has 
conducted a review of the organisation’s corporate 
governance arrangements. This has followed the 
mandatory CIPFA/SOLACE guidance “Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government” (2016), which embodies 
the following Core Principles illustrated by the diagram, 
right. 

                              
                                                                                                                                                                 “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE) 2016 

 
3.6.3 The work covered the prescribed areas of governance as defined in the guidance and engaged with all members of the 

Executive and Senior Leadership Teams in gaining assurance that there is a comprehensive and effective system of 
governance in place. 

 
3.6.4 This comprised the completion of a Governance Assurance Statement by each of these officers, in which they commented 

on the adequacy of the governance arrangements within their respective areas.  The arrangements described in these 
Statements were generally positive and highlighted an awareness of the principles of good governance.  In general, the 
statements highlighted an improvement in relation to items previously identified, and it was pleasing to see engagement 
taking place to further understanding of how such issues can continue to develop. Also, positively, most respondents 
highlighted their wish to develop and improve their governance arrangements and identified actions to be taken over the next 
year to do so. 

 
3.6.5 Whilst there has been progress, it is evident that there is still room for development in some of the governance basics, and it 

is important to continue to ensure that there is awareness of, and compliance with, all the facets of the governance 
framework, and in doing so, reduce the likelihood of the organisation suffering a serious governance failure.  It is 
acknowledged that many of these items highlighted are already the subject of development and actions. The most significant 
areas for focus are: 

P
age 108



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 10 
  

 
 

3.6.6 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow up process and 
will continue to be reported to the Executive Leadership Team for oversight.  

 

 

• Quality of and compliance with EIA obligations  

• Awareness of the 7 Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Completion of mandatory e- learning and key policies 

Core Principle A:  

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment  
to ethical values and respecting the rule of the law 

• Partnership working  – reporting on outcomes and documenting agreements 
Core Principle B:  

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder  
engagement 

• Continuing to develop plans for our role in achieving net zero carbon 

• Implementation of social value framework 

Core Principle C:  

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,  
social and environmental benefits 

• Continuation of work supporting LA capacity to deliver 
Core Principle D:  

Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the  
achievement of the intended outcomes 

• Not all Job descriptions are up to date 

• Induction process for all staff 

• Aligned procurement/governance across MT and CA 

• Capacity and skills 

Core Principle E:  

Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability  
of its leadership and the individuals within it 

• Health and Safety risk assessments 
• Understanding of fraud responsibilities 

• Engagement with Service Risk Registers 

Core Principle F:  

Managing risks and performance through robust internal  
control and strong public financial management 

• Continue to develop business continuity plans and cyber security  
arrangements 

Core Principle G:  

Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting  
and audit to deliver effective accountability 

P
age 109



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 11 
  

4.  Responsive Audit 
 
4.1 Background 
  
4.1.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to work to be conducted in response to identified 

areas of significant risk to the organisation. So as to ensure that Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, meaning that 
this element of the Plan is not prescribed in advance, but is developed as the result of ongoing consultation and engagement 
with senior management so as to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides assurance on the key areas of risk. 

 
4.2 Work in Progress 
 
4.2.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion 

Know Your Customer Checks Combined Authority Considered as part of the Supply Chain Management theme. 
Concerns the increasing global risks in relation to suppliers, 
and how the organisation seeks to operate in a resilient 
manner without undue delays or reputational damage. 

Gifts, Hospitality and 
Declarations of Interest 

Combined Authority Considered as part of the Corporate Governance theme. A 
corporate review to supplement the work on the Annual 
Governance Review. 

Bus Reform Merseytravel Key corporate project to provide a new model for the provision 
of bus services across the City Region. 

Freeport Combined Authority Considered as part of the Programme, Project, Contract 
Management theme Concerns key risks relating to project and 
programme control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and to harness 
projected outcomes for the City Region. 

 
 

P
age 110



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 12 
  

4.3 Advice, Guidance and Consultancy 

4.3.1 During the period, the service has provided advice and guidance in a number of areas: 

 Attending Delivery Boards to advise on audit and risk matters, and to contribute to the progress of the Boards; 

 Continued involvement in providing advice on major projects, including bus reform and rolling stock; 

 Making a contribution to the development of new schemes such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, by providing input on 

the role of Internal Audit in this area; and 

 Provision of feedback on the draft monitoring and evaluation framework. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 111



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 13 
  

5.  Implementation of Recommendations 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 

actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

 

5.1.2 Significant work continues to be undertaken with members of the Senior Leadership Team (and Executive Leadership Team 
where necessary) to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This 
has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number 
of recommendations have been closed during the period. 

  
5.1.3 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 

of the tables below. These movements have been the subject of discussions with Internal Audit, and the explanations 
provided were deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure 
that timely implementation occurs.  

 

5.2 Combined Authority 

 

5.2.1 Table 4 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Combined Authority specific systems: 

 

P
age 112



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 14 
  

  
                      Table 4 

  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

Corporate Development & Delivery

2021-22 Corporate Dvelopment Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 HR - Learning & Development Learning & Development 2 4 0 6 0 0 n/a

2021-22 HR - Operations Payroll 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 HR - Operations Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review 4 9 4 9 0 0 n/a

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Absence Management 0 7 2 5 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 HR - Operations Payroll 0 5 4 1 2 n/a n/a Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1 Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 6 6 6 2 Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Time & Attendance 1 6 6 1 1 1 Yes Legacy system - awaiting software upgrade 

2018-19 HR - Operations Payroll 1 4 5 0 0 0 n/a

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 n/a Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2017-18 HR / Legal Ethical Policy Framework 0 10 10 0 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery IT - Asset Management 0 7 2 5 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 IT - Governance Software Asset and License Management (FAST) 0 2 2 0 0 n/a Yes

2020-21 IT - Service Delivery Service Desk Management 0 3 2 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 IT - Governance Change Management 2 3 5 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 IT - Governance Internet Monitoring 0 3 3 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 9 2 2 n/a Yes Implementation contingent on completion of corporate BCM documentation

2019-20 IT - Service Delievry Patch & Vulernability Management 0 1 0 1 0 n/a n/a

2018-19 IT - Service Delivery IT - IT Asset Control (CMDB) 0 6 6 0 0 n/a n/a

Corporate Services

2021-22 Accountancy Creditors 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Accountancy Procurement & Prepaid Cards 0 6 5 1 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Accountancy Debtors 0 5 5 0 0 n/a n/a

2018-19 Accountancy Income Reconciliation 1 8 9 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Internal Audit Risk Management 2 2 0 4 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Procurement Procurement 0 7 0 7 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 1 0 Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 n/a Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2017-18 Procurement Procurement 0 8 7 1 1 n/a Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2021-22 Programme Management Office ESIF 1 3 0 4 0 0 n/a

Investment & Delivery

2021-22 Investment Future Innovation Fund - Tranche 2 1 3 0 4 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 1 1 0 2 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 2 1 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 5 2 3 n/a Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2020-21 Investment / PMO / Finance Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Policy Coordination Housing First (VFM) 1 14 15 0 0 n/a Yes

Place

2019-20 Customer Delivery Business Continuity 5 14 16 3 2 0 Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 8 2 2 n/a Yes Discussed with Project Director - revised implementation dates agreed

2020-21 Policy Development Active Travel Fund 0 4 1 3 0 n/a n/a

Other

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 0 0 n/a

Recommendations

P
age 113



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 15 
  

5.3.2 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 which both relate to the updating of organisational 
policies and are expected to be implemented by September 2022. 

 

5.4 Merseytravel 

 
5.4.1 Table 5 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems:  
 

 
                                             Table 5 

  
5.4.2 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 which relate to Vehicle Management. 

Implementation was originally considered contingent on the creation of a new Fleet Manager post; however the post was not 
created and alternatively a Fleet Forum has been established and a Fleet Technical Administration Officer post created. With 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

Place

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Health, Safety & Wellbeing 3 6 0 9 0 0 n/a

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Application Control - SCADA Control 0 6 0 6 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 0 7 0 0 n/a

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Service Maintenance Contracts 0 8 1 7 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 AM - Technical Services Application Control - Paxton 2 12 13 1 3 0 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2018-19 AM - Maintenance Delivery Vehicle Tracking System 1 3 3 1 1 0 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2017-18 AM - Maintenance Delivery Fleet Management 3 20 22 1 1 1 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2021-22 Bus - Hubs Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 1 4 2 3 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 10 7 3 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 1 3 3 n/a Yes Continued Reminders

2021-22 Customer Delivery Health Safety & Wellbeing - Operational Transport 2 4 0 6 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Customer Delivery Fast Tag & T-Flow Account Management 0 5 1 4 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Customer Delivery Application Control - Haven System 1 9 10 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 2 4 4 2 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Application Control - Commuter Club 0 8 5 3 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Customer Operations (Tunnels) Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 0 2 1 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Customer Delivery Fast Tag Account Management 1 1 1 1 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation 1 10 11 0 0 0 Yes

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 7 2 1 0 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 Customer Delivery Catering Concession - Contract Management 0 5 4 1 1 n/a Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 4 1 1 0 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2021-22 The Beatles Story Information Governance 1 10 1 10 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Rail - Concession Development Rail Operators - Ticket Stock Control 0 9 6 3 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Rail / Bus Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID 2 1 3 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Rolling Stock Rolling Stock - Business Resilience Arragements 0 1 1 0 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Rolling Stock Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project 3 1 0 4 0 0 n/a

Recommendations

P
age 114



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 16 
  

the new approach to vehicle management determined, work has been undertaken on implementing outstanding 
recommendations. The two recommendations that remain open relate to determining a Fleet Management Strategy and 
updating departmental documentation. Both are expected to be implemented by September 2022. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 115



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 17 
  

6.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
6.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
6.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
6.1.2 In the Counter-Fraud Update report presented to this Board at its November 2021 meeting, it was noted that a full review of 

the organisation’s compliance with the guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action 
points. Table 6 below gives an update on the progress being made to address the actions: 

 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1 Encourage the Executive and Senior Leadership 
Teams to raise awareness of counter-fraud 
issues with their teams, including promoting 
take-up of counter-fraud training, discussion of 
fraud risks and controls and exploring 
opportunities for fraud detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 Completed 
Head of Internal Audit has presented to ELT 
and SLT on this subject during 2021-22, but 
this remains an area of ongoing focus and 
activity. 

2 Risk Management Policy to be updated to make 
explicit mention of fraud risk and its treatment, 
including the escalation of significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 To be included in the 2022-23 refresh of the 
Policy. 

3 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk workshops 
with areas of the business where fraud risks are 
highest and ensuring that the results of the 
workshops are used to inform Service Risk 
Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to update 
fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, including 
consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 

Risk 
Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2022 In progress 
Joint audit and risk workshops are being 
planned to explore fraud risk and ensure this 
is adequately reflected within Service Risk 
Registers.   

P
age 116



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 18 
  

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 
inform the risk assessment. 

4 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk 
assessment, compile and implement a Counter- 
Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  Once 
compiled, the effectiveness of the Strategy 
should be evaluated and reported, including 
within the Annual Governance Statement. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022 In progress 
Draft Strategy has been compiled and is to be 
finalised in 2022-23. 

5 As well as providing internal communications on 
fraud awareness (particularly during International 
Fraud Awareness Week), consideration should 
be given to providing fraud awareness and 
prevention/detection messaging to external 
customer and other stakeholders. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022  

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

31 March 2022 In progress 
There has been a continued corporate push 
on levels of mandatory training completion 
and the completion level for the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning now sits at 72%.  
Attention continues to be paid to promoting 
the training. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee reports 
and provide input to report authors to support the 
written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing In progress 
Risk Manager reviews all Committee reports 
but there will be a particular emphasis on 
fraud, bribery and corruption risks going 
forward.  

                                           Table 6 

 
6.2 Proactive Counter Fraud Work 

 
6.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 includes 30 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan such as Creditors, Payroll and Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.   

P
age 117



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 19 
  

6.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 7:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Recruitment and Selection 15 Not commenced 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Not commenced 
                                                                                                                                            Table 7 

 
6.3 Fraud Risks 

 
6.3.1 Members of the Senior Leadership Team have been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 

Registers.  This is with the objective of updating of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks, and to ensure that they have 
acknowledged such risks in their planning and development of internal controls.   

  
6.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
6.4.1 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll, 

Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and are matched with data 
within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the results, 
the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
6.4.2 Matches in respect of the NFI exercise for 2020 were released in January 2021 and the review work has been completed, 

outcomes were reported to the Audit and Governance Committee at its November 2021 meeting.  Investigation of the 
matches highlighted no significant fraud concerns.  

 
6.5 Reactive Audit Work  

 
6.5.1 There is also a provision of 58 days in the Plan for reactive work such as the investigation of allegations of fraud or 

irregularity, and this has not been utilised during this quarter. 
 
6.6 Fraud Protocol Framework  

P
age 118



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 20 
  

6.6.1 All fraud protocols within the Protocol Framework are up to date, having been approved by the Audit and Governance 
Committee and considered by this Committee at respective meetings in November 2021.  Merseytravel approval was not 
required as the updates were minor in nature. 

  

P
age 119



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 21 
  

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
7.1 Performance Update 
 
7.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
7.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
7.1.3 Table 8 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the recent external assessment (August 2021) 
details that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Board with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
There are no concerns in respect of recommendations made 
in 2021-22 and 2022-23 to date. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

P
age 120



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 22 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

       Table 8                                          

 
7.2 Resources 
 
7.2.1 The Team’s Scheme Auditor left the service at the end of June to take up a new role with Liverpool City Council.  The post is 

being reviewed so as to maximise the opportunity to redefine the duties of the post to align more fittingly to the needs of the 
organisation. 

 
7.2.2 During the quarter, progress has been made to relocate the grant claim review function which has historically been 

undertaken by Internal Audit.  This issue was raised by the external assessment in relation to Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards compliance, and is the only recommendation arising from this work still to be implemented (see table 9).  It is 
hoped that the handover process will be completed imminently, and this recommendation can be closed. 

  

P
age 121



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 23 
  

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 External Assessment 

 
8.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.1.2 It was reported to the November Committee meeting that the final report has now been received and this details that the 

outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.   
 

8.1.3 The recommendations arising from the review, and the associated progress being made to address these, are shown in 

Table 9.  One recommendation remains outstanding: 

      

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1100 1. Internal audit should be removed from the grant 
awarding process  
 
Medium priority 
 
At the time of the EQA, Internal Audit were required to 
audit every grant the CA intends to make to external 
organisations prior to the grant payment being made. This 
effectively makes Internal Audit part of the grant awarding 
process and is therefore a potential impairment to their 
independence and objectivity. The CA’s management 
should review this arrangement and find a solution that 
removes Internal Audit from the grant awarding process, 
ideally by relocating this activity to another part of the 
Authority. 

March 2022 Recommendation agreed.  It is expected that the 
handover of responsibilities will be completed imminently. 
 

2400 2. Prepare formal service level agreements for the April 2022 Completed 

P
age 122



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 24 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

two external companies  
 
Low priority 
 
The Service should enter into formal service level 
agreements with the Beatles Story and the Local 
Enterprise Partnership for the internal audit services 
provided to them. 
 

 
Service Level Agreements are in place with both entities. 
 

1100 3. Consider reporting to the senior leadership teams 
on a regular basis  
 
Advisory 
 
It is good practice to report regularly to the Executive 
Leadership Team, not only to discuss progress on 
delivering the audit plan, but to also have a regular 
dialogue on other matters such as corporate issues and 
emerging risks where input from Internal Audit would 
benefit the organisations in achieving their objectives and 
identifying organisation wide issues and risks that could 
be considered for inclusion in the audit plan. 
 

November 2021 Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed.  Quarterly attendances at ELT 
to discuss delivery of the audit plan and related issues 
commenced in November 2021. 
 
Recommendation completed, quarterly ELT attendances 
to present IA Update commenced November 2021. 

1100 4. Consider introducing an annual conformation 
statement to supplement the declarations of interest 
returns 
 
Advisory 
 
It is becoming good practice in local authority internal 
audit services to enhance their annual declarations of 
interest returns by introducing or including a statement for 
internal audit staff to sign to confirm that they have read 
and understood the PSIAS, the core principles for the 
professional practice of internal auditing, the code of 

Q4 2021-22 and 
annually thereafter 

Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed.  A statement for the 
acceptance of the various ethical standards will be 
drafted and all audit staff will be required to complete this 
on an annual basis.  This will follow a refresher session 
with the team on ethics. 
 
Refresher session undertaken in March 2022 Team 
Meeting and declarations completed by all staff. 

P
age 123



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 25 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

ethics, and the seven principles of public life (the Nolan 
Principles). The HoIA may wish to consider introducing 
such a statement. 

Table 9 

  

P
age 124



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 26 
  

9. Sector Update: CIPFA Report on Internal Audit 

 

9.1 Background  

9.1.1 CIPFA has conducted a survey of internal audit professionals and stakeholders regarding the role, impact and future of 

internal audit services in the public sector.  The survey received over 800 responses from practitioners, elected members and 

senior management such as Directors of Finance and Chief Executives. 

9.1.2 The collation of such a volume of data regarding Internal Audit presents a significant opportunity for internal audit teams and 

organisations to reflect and learn, and so the key findings and recommendations are set out below so that appropriate 

actions can be taken to continue to develop internal audit effectiveness at the Combined Authority. 

9.1.3 The report was published in May 2022 and is entitled “Internal Audit – Untapped Potential”.  The full report, which includes an 

executive summary, is included within this report at Appendix A. 

9.2 Key Findings 

9.2.1 There was a very positive return rate for the survey, a significant increase on when a similar survey was conducted in 2008. 

9.2.2 It is worthy of note that the focus of the survey and the associated points for development relate to the “system of internal 

audit” – i.e., the effectiveness of Internal Audit within the context of the wider organisation, its receptiveness to internal audit, 

its appreciation of the importance of strong governance and the understanding of the internal audit role and its optimal 

contribution.  This is central to some of the challenges faced by some Internal Audit services: their effectiveness may be 

constrained by a lack of receptiveness and understanding of their role. 

9.2.3 The findings detail a number of areas of note: 

 The perception of Internal Audit has improved, with respondents reflecting on the positive contribution of, and value 

added by Internal Audit having increased significantly since the last similar survey in 2008; 

P
age 125



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 27 
  

 Internal Audit’s role and work undertaken during the pandemic has assisted Internal Audit’s reputation and profile; 

 

 Internal Auditors feel less confident on how effectively they communicate, which could be as a result of changes to 
methods of working brought about by the pandemic; 
 

 The internal audit consultancy and advisory role, role in new systems development and role as a critical friend as a 
participant on groups and boards is positive in raising the profile of Internal Audit services, and Internal Audit teams 
should continue to publicise this aspect of its role.   

 

 There is a significant issue highlighted regarding skills and capacity.  It is increasingly difficult to attract internal 
auditors to public sector roles, and in many cases, Internal Audit teams has reduced in size or have not kept pace with 
organisational growth, meaning that the ability to deliver a comprehensive assurance may be impacted. 

 

 There are increasing challenges regarding independence of Internal Audit.  Brought about by organisational financial 
pressures, Heads of Internal Audit are increasingly responsible for the management of operational areas of the 
business as well as the audit function.  The report highlights the challenges this can bring for compliance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards: “Internal audit must be kept independent to achieve its maximum impact in an 
organisation. Auditors frequently take on additional roles, which may compromise their independence. They must have 
a sole focus and a direct reporting line to the leadership team as required by the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS).” 
 

 Understanding of the role of internal audit remains a challenge for organisations, and this lack of understanding gives 
rise to a risk that internal audit is not being optimised – leading to the report’s title and the assertion that internal audit 
may not be delivering its full potential and maximising its benefit to the organisations it serves.  As the report states 
“Internal audit is often not allowed to unleash its full potential. The importance of its contribution must be fully 
understood and appreciated by clients – management and audit committees.  Internal audit managers must become 
greater advocates in promoting the function within organisations.” 
 

 

P
age 126



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 28 
  

9.3 Relevance of Recommendations to the Combined Authority 

9.3.1 The report sets out a number of recommendations for organisations to consider.  Below in Table 10, each one is taken in turn 

and the Head of Internal Audit’s view is given, and these have been discussed with the Executive Leadership Team and are 

considered an accurate reflection from an officer perspective.  However, the views and perspective of the Audit and 

Governance Committee is crucial to ensuring that the organisation takes the appropriate learning from the report: 

Recommendation Commentary Action 
Part of the role of the head of internal audit should be to 
advocate for and explain the role of internal audit. This could 
usefully include explaining the nature of internal audit 
consultancy or advisory work and draw out the 
benefits of internal audit interventions. Engagement and 
communication with senior stakeholders are core skills for 
effective heads of internal audit. 

This is considered to be in place.  The 
role, profile and reputation of the service 
has grown significantly. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit engages 
extensively with the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams. 
 

No further action required, other 
than to continue the engagement 
as described. 

Internal audit should provide the audit committee with an 
overview of all work it undertakes to ensure that there is 
visibility of any advisory activity. This does not necessitate a 
detailed report to the committee on all advisory work. 
 

This is now included within this report, see 
4.6. 

Action completed 

Leadership teams and audit committees should strengthen their 
risk management arrangements. Internal audit’s annual opinion 
on risk management should provide clarity over aspects for 
improvement and identify opportunities for support. 
 
 

The organisation’s development of risk 
management effectiveness continues.  
The Head of Internal Audit Annual Report 
includes a commentary on risk 
management effectiveness. 

No further action other than for the 
organisation to continue to develop 
the effectiveness and 
embeddedness of its risk 
management arrangements. 

P
age 127



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 29 
  

Recommendation Commentary Action 
Organisations should ensure that the responsibilities of internal 
auditors are recognised – for example, the need to 
engage at a senior level and have access to commercial and 
sensitive information. This may warrant a review of role or 
pay/grading structure and should recognise the 
unique role of internal auditing rather than simply reflecting line 
management responsibilities and comparisons with 
accounting colleagues. 
 

Internal Auditors in the team engage at all 
levels of the organisation and have 
access to the required information. The 
complexity of their roles has been 
recognised through job evaluation 
undertaken when the service was 
restructured in 2020-21. 
 

No further action required 

To build sustainable career paths for internal auditors, heads of 
internal audit, senior management and audit committees should 
recognise opportunities for models 
such as secondments, guest auditors and rotational 
programmes to support internal audit’s skills needs. 
Rotation of staff within the organisation could also help to build 
awareness of the benefits and the purpose of internal audit. 
 

This is an area for development. Head of Internal Audit to review 
opportunities for broadening 
opportunities to experience internal 
audit work, so as to create interest 
in the profession and enable the 
service to benefit from broader 
skills. 

Internal audit functions should develop not only a plan of the 
audit work they will undertake, but also a strategy for their 
function’s development and how it will flex to meet the future 
needs of the organisation. This is likely to include the nature of 
the work, the tools and skills required to undertake it and 
resources. This should be agreed with top management and the 
audit committee and progress reported on as part of the quality 
and improvement programme of the function. 
 

An annual plan of work is prepared, and 
this contains a responsive element to 
enable it to flex to meet the needs of the 
organisation and its changing risks.  The 
Plan has been agreed with the Executive 
Leadership team and the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

No further action required 

Where an individual manages the internal audit team and 
delivers the responsibilities of the chief audit executive as set 
out in PSIAS, the responsibility of the head of internal 
audit should be recognised in terms of job title, ability to present 
to senior management committees and meetings, and access to 
the most senior personnel. 
Organisations should minimise or avoid passing on additional 
roles to the head of internal audit. Where heads do have roles 
beyond internal auditing, there must be adequate safeguards 
in place to preserve independence in accordance with the 

The Head of Internal Audit has 
responsibilities for risk management and 
insurance and there are operational 
safeguards in place to preserve 
independence.   

No further action required 
 
 

P
age 128



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 30 
  

Recommendation Commentary Action 
standards. For example, a budget should be provided to fund 
the commissioning of internal audit assurance in those areas 
that come under the responsibility of the head. 
 

As a minimum, the head of internal audit should report to a 
member of the executive team for administration purposes and 
also have a reporting line to the chair of the audit 
committee. 
 

This is in place- the Head of Internal Audit 
reports to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Services and can also directly 
access the Chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee as required. 

No further action required 

There should be regular private meetings between the audit 
committee and the head of internal audit with no management 
present. If such meetings are diarised, this 
avoids either party having to ask for such a meeting to be 
arranged before/after a planned committee meeting, which can 
create an expectation that significant issues need to be 
discussed. Such meetings should not prevent there being open 
and regular communication between the head of internal audit 
and audit committee chair throughout the year 
and between committee meetings. 
 

This will need to be established with the 
incoming Chair. 

Head of Internal Audit to consult 
incoming Chair of Audit and 
Governance Committee with a view 
to arranging private meetings. 

Internal audit plans should set out what other assurances are 
available, and any work internal audit has undertaken 
to consider the reliability/scope of those assurances. If internal 
audit has not undertaken any such assessment this should also 
be noted. For example, the internal audit 
plan could include a different aspect of the second line each 
year to provide assurance on those functions. 
CIPFA will be publishing guidance on assurance frameworks in 
autumn 2022. While internal audit has an important part to play 
and significant insight to bring to the 
framework, the framework itself should be owned by the 
organisation, typically with sponsorship and oversight from 
the audit committee. 
• Organisations should use CIPFA’s guidance to review and 
improve their assurance arrangements. 
 

The Head of Internal Audit has conducted 
a basic assurance mapping exercise, but 
this requires review and update.   

Head of Internal Audit to initiate a 
review of the organisation’s 
assurance framework following 
publication of the CIPFA guidance.  
This will be used to strengthen the 
linkages to other assurances in the 
2023-24 Internal Audit Plan. 

P
age 129



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 31 
  

Recommendation Commentary Action 
Internal audit plans should provide information on any areas not 
included within the plan and where the head of internal audit 
believes that assurance may be required. This should 
include an explanation of the rationale for non-inclusion, which 
can be used to inform discussions around prioritisation 
of the use of internal audit resources to facilitate a meaningful 
discussion with the audit committee. 
 

The Head of Internal Audit provides a 
detailed commentary to the Audit and 
Governance Committee and the 
Executive Leadership Team on work 
completed and any items of work not able 
to be completed.  The Internal Audit Plan 
is structured in a responsive way that 
facilitates the inclusion of the main risks, 
meaning that non-inclusion or non-
completion of work in relation to a key risk 
is unlikely, but would be transparently 
reported should it occur. 

No further action required. 

For local government with education responsibilities, consider 
an annual internal audit report that splits out schools’ audit work 
from the main opinion. This would make clearer the nature and 
quantum of assurance on which the opinion relating to the 
organisation’s central risk management, governance and control 
environment is based. 
 

Not applicable No action required. 

Table 10 

9.3.2 The Committee will be kept updated of progress in respect of the three actions highlighted above.  

P
age 130



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 32 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update 
 

P
age 131



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 33 
  

  

Auditable Area LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

CORE

IT Application Control  - Docustore Y Commenced

IT Application Control  - In-Form Y Commenced

Business Continuity Management Y

Staffing and Capacity Y Commenced

Payroll Y

Key Financial Systems - VAT Y Commenced

Key Financial Systems - Treasury Management Y Commenced

Annual Governance Review Y

Risk Management Y

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Y Commenced

Procurement Y

Proactive Counter-Fraud Y

Performance Management Y Commenced

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Y

Financial Sustainability Y

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Y

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks Y

Capital Schemes Y Y

Rolling Stock Y

Transport Operators Y

ICT Technical Audit Y

RESPONSIVE

Bus Reform Y Commenced

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Y Commenced

Data Management Y

Equality Y

Government Funding Y

Grant Assurance Y Ongoing

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Y

HR Operations and Systems Y

Programme / Project / Contract Management - Freeport Y Commenced

Stakeholder Engagement, Communications and Reputation Management Y

Supply Chain Management - Know Your Customer Y Commenced

Entity

P
age 132



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 34 
  

 

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Internal audit: 
untapped 
potential
May 2022

P
age 135



2CIPFA | Sustainability Report 2021

Title

2CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Contents

Executive summary 5
Identifying the impact of internal audit 9
How internal audit is making an impact 12
The potential for internal audit  17
What is holding internal audit back?  26
Appendix A: The framework for internal audit impact 49
Appendix B: Maximising the impact of internal audit 51
Appendix C: References and literature considered in our research 53
Appendix D: Research methodology 55

P
age 136



3CIPFA | Sustainability Report 2021

Title

3CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Acknowledgements
We would like to thank Khalid Hamid for his helpful comments and support and 
Jonathan Gordon for his expertise on the research survey. Milan Palmer, Sarah Delaurey, 
Mark Davey and Ursula Dale also provided essential support on the project.

We would also like to thank Liz Sandwith at the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors 
for her comments and support on both the survey and report.

The input of all those who shared the survey link, responded to the survey or attended a 
focus group has been invaluable. In addition, we are grateful to the individuals we spoke 
to during the research.

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors unless otherwise stated and 
the responsibility for any errors or omissions lies with them.

Report authors

Diana Melville, CIPFA 
Rachel Bowden, CIPFA

Making it count

CIPFA is committed to changing lives for the better.

As a global leader in public financial management and governance, our aim is to make 
a difference to the world we live in. Our work enables people to prosper, protects the 
vulnerable and helps sustain the environment for future generations.

As a professional institute, we support our members and students to act with integrity 
and deliver excellence in public financial management throughout their careers.

By setting standards and advising public bodies and governments, we help ensure the 
money and resources used on behalf of citizens are raised and spent fairly, transparently, 
efficiently and are free from fraud and corruption.

Our thought leadership puts us at the heart of the policy debate, while our education 
and training offerings and range of advisory services support our members, students 
and other public finance professionals, helping them add value to their teams and the 
organisations for which they work.

CIPFA is a global body, operating at local, national and international level. Wherever we 
find ourselves and whoever we are supporting, our goal is to always make it count.

P
age 137



4CIPFA | Sustainability Report 2021

Title

4CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Foreword

CIPFA advocates best practice in assurance, governance, 
management and financial control across the public services. 
As such, we think it’s time to put public service organisations’ 
internal audit capabilities in the spotlight.  

We know internal audit has the potential to help 
organisations achieve their goals, but this potential is not 
currently realised. In a technologically advancing world and 
with tackling climate change high up on the agenda, it’s time 
to address this. This report, and the research that has been 
conducted to create it, explores the changing landscape of 
internal audit in the public services and how vital it is for an 
organisation in terms of its future success. 

As the pandemic has shown us, managing emerging risks 
and responding to ongoing geopolitical and technological 
change remain top priorities for organisations. This means 
that internal audit must respond too, and the profession must 
continually evolve to remain effective and efficient. 

To keep pace with these changes, we have identified several 
aspects of internal audit that require attention, including 
resourcing, the need for specialisms, reporting lines within 
organisations, and investment in training to attract long-term 
expertise into the profession. The public services also need to 
keep pace with their expectations of internal audit, ensuring 
they make full use of its expertise. 

Our intention with this report is to open a dialogue across 
public service organisations, the internal audit profession, 
audit committees, as well as those considering a career 
in internal audit. Internal audit is an important part of the 
solution for effective management of the public services, 
and we hope to facilitate change that will see greater 
independence of internal audit, sustainability of recruitment 
into the role and an increased understanding of assurance.  

Allowing internal audit to achieve its full potential benefits 
organisations, the public services overall and the public 
finance professionals of the future. We hope this report gives 
the internal audit profession the confidence to champion the 
critical work it does. 

Rob Whiteman CBE
CIPFA CEO

P
age 138



5

Executive 
summary

P
age 139



6CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

We need to talk about internal audit – talk about it more and 
talk about it in the right way.

This report is titled Internal audit: untapped potential because 
CIPFA believes that internal audit has a vital role to play in 
supporting public service organisations to achieve their goals. 

CIPFA has conducted UK-wide research, sending an open 
survey to those in the public services, including those in 
the internal audit profession, management clients and 
audit committee members. The survey received a strong 
response with 831 submissions. The outcome of the research 
concludes that where internal audit is operating effectively, it 
is already providing this support, but there are pockets where 
internal audit is unable to do this. This report will examine 
how internal audit is currently making an impact, identify 
where it can do more and what is holding it back. Better 
internal audit means better public services.

As with all organisations, the public services must respond 
and adapt to global trends and areas of risks. The COVID-19 
pandemic put the public services on the front line of the UK’s 
response, requiring them to be agile and redirect resources 
accordingly to meet new challenges. Advances in technology 
present new opportunities for service redesign but also 
challenges around complexity and security. Many parts of 
the public services are people focused, and rising needs and 
demographic changes result in challenges across health  
and social care. The impact of climate change on services  
and carbon reduction initiatives are core parts of the public 
sector agenda. 

At the same time, the public services have experienced a 
sustained period of financial pressure, resulting in reductions 
to core functions, loss of expertise and difficulties maintaining 
demand-led services within allocated budgets. Long-term 
financial planning is challenging, and many public bodies have 
explored new structures to deliver services or generate income. 

Demonstrating stewardship of public funds, building and 
maintaining public trust and confidence in decision making 
and delivering a sustainable future for taxpayers and service 
users are fundamental expectations of all those working 
within the public services.

Where does this leave internal audit? What contribution can 
internal audit make to this complex web of expectations, 
obligations, ambitions and challenges?

When internal audit provides support, it does so in a 
unique way. It provides independent assurance. Achieving 
this requires a resource base of trained internal auditors 
supported by modern approaches and professional 
standards. It needs both capacity and capability. Internal 
audit also needs to work in conjunction with an organisation’s 
governance, risk, control and assurance frameworks. A 
professional team of internal auditors will not have the 
desired impact in an organisation that doesn’t understand 
its assurance requirements or have good governance 
arrangements. Assurance requirements are constantly 
evolving, and internal audit must keep up with the pace of 
change to stay relevant. Concerns that organisations face 
such as climate change and increased cyber security and 
financial risks are areas where internal audit can have a  
great impact.

Currently, the role of internal audit varies greatly between 
organisations. There is a need for consistency, quality 
and adherence to professional practice to ensure that an 
organisation has access to the assurance requirements it needs 
as opposed to just those that are available. Internal audit must 
also develop the capacity and ability to be sustainable. To 
achieve this, organisations must ensure the provision of internal 
audit expertise. The sections on recruitment, retention and 
training in this report explore this further.

P
age 140



7CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Our conclusion is that things need to change.

Successful organisations need to have robust and 
effective management and governance, including an 
understanding of assurance. 

Improving this understanding will enable the most 
effective use of internal audit.

Internal audit must be kept independent to achieve its 
maximum impact in an organisation. Auditors frequently 
take on additional roles, which may compromise their 
independence. 

They must have a sole focus and a direct reporting line 
to the leadership team as required by the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

Internal audit is often not allowed to unleash its full 
potential. The importance of its contribution must 
be fully understood and appreciated by clients – 
management and audit committees. 

Internal audit managers must become greater 
advocates in promoting the function within 
organisations.

Discussions on public sector policy issues, be they social 
care, financial resilience or technological change, should 
acknowledge the importance of assurance and highlight 
internal audit’s contribution. 

This would help raise the expectations of internal audit’s 
clients.

1

2

3

4

P
age 141



8CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Where do we go from here?
This report makes several recommendations. Some are directed 
at the internal audit teams working within and for the public 
services. Others are directed at the client organisations, both 
management and audit committees. There are areas of planned 
work that CIPFA will be taking forward, some in collaboration 
with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) and the 
Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board (IASAB).

Continuing support for internal audit
CIPFA and the CIIA are keen to keep supporting high-quality 
internal audit within the public services. The institutes are 
exploring ways that they can collaborate more to continue the 
work set out in this report. Working together and with IASAB, 
they will support internal auditors to meet the PSIAS. 

Both institutes have identified specific areas where they can 
collaborate. These include raising the profile of the internal 
audit profession in the public services, improving internal 
audit’s status and cultivating a greater understanding 
between internal audit clients and audit committees. They will 
also examine issues raised in the report around professional 
standards, such as the head of internal audit’s annual opinion 
and the quality assurance and improvement programme, to 
identify where guidance or support could improve practice.

Both institutes are mindful of the challenges that internal 
audit teams experience in the recruitment and retention of 
staff. Therefore, they will undertake some research on options 
for career paths and routes into internal audit to encourage 
long-term, sustainable recruitment into the role.

Internal audit is not the only solution to supporting effective public services, but it is part of the solution. 

P
age 142



9

Identifying 
the impact of 
internal audit

P
age 143



10CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Internal audit is vital because it focuses on the areas that 
are important for organisations and therefore supports their 
success. 

Internal auditors help management, boards and their audit 
committees understand how well risks are managed, and 
the effectiveness of the governance and control framework 
in place – key things senior stakeholders need to know to be 
effective in discharging their own role. Strong internal audit 
functions will be more prepared to support the public services 
of the future, and to support organisations going through 
change.

In this research, we have focused on making an impact: 
internal audit that is not only effective in what it can offer but 
achieves influence with key decision makers for the benefit of 
organisational objectives.

There is no ‘formula’ for assessing or quantifying the impact 
of internal audit, as many of the indicators of an effective 
internal audit service are, to some extent, subjective.

The ability to respond to emerging risks or issues and 
changing priorities for the organisation.

The ability to challenge constructively and to help 
management find solutions. 

Additionally, internal auditors must be able to demonstrate 
their conformance with internal auditing standards, including 
the PSIAS, which are mandated for the UK public sector, and 
which are based on global internal auditing standards. 

However effective and impactful internal audit teams may 
be, our research shows they are enhanced when operating in 
an organisation that understands assurance and the role of 
internal audit and engages with internal audit to obtain the 
maximum benefit from the function. 

Our research concludes that the impact of internal audit is 
determined by interlinking factors in both the internal audit 
team and in the organisation. We have developed a model to 
highlight this.

Timely and meaningful assurance, communicated in a 
way that is understood by stakeholders.

Good engagement with senior management and the 
audit committee, while maintaining independence and 
objectivity.

Internal audit plans clearly aligned to the topics that are 
most important for the success of the organisation.

Indicators of effective internal audit

1

2

3

4

5

P
age 144



11CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Impact 
of internal 

audit

The internal 
audit team

Organisational 
context

Internal audit 
framework

Ex
pe

cta
tions

Impact

The impact of internal audit can be defined as its ability to 
support the organisation in achieving its strategic objectives 
and priorities. This will be through an appropriate mix of 
assurance, consulting activity and advice. The impact of 
internal audit will vary across organisations based on 
assurance needs, organisational culture and capacity for 
continual improvement. 

The impact of internal audit is dependent on the quality of 
the internal audit team, the framework and the organisation 
in which internal audit operates. Each of these will shape 
expectations of what internal audit can and should deliver. 
The individual components of internal audit impact are 
discussed in Appendix A.

Our findings and recommendations

Many of the findings from our research are interwoven. We 
cannot consider the impact of internal audit teams without 
considering, for example, the environment in which they work, 
the stakeholders and clients they serve, and the skills and 
resources needed to provide that service. 

Our research included an extensive survey of internal auditors 
and their clients, including audit committee members, from 
across the public services. This was supported by focus 
groups and a literature review. The next section of the report 
will identify the evidence from our research that shows how 
internal audit is currently making an impact. We will then 
consider the future potential for internal audit. What can it do 
more of and where can it be more effective?

Finally, we will consider the factors that currently hold some 
internal audit teams back.

P
age 145



12

How internal 
audit is making 
an impact

CIPFA’s findings: 

P
age 146



13CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Internal audit’s contribution has 
improved

In 20081 CIPFA identified an expectation and perception  
gap between local government internal auditors and their 
clients. Our new research identifies significant progress 
on closing this gap. This is most notable in terms of the 
contribution that internal audit makes in supporting the 
management of the organisation. The 2021 survey feedback 
is more positive than CIPFA’s 2008 survey; a positive 
view of internal audit’s contribution from clients increased 
significantly from 60% to 87%.

In the 2021 responses concerning the contribution of internal 
auditing, audit committee members are more positive 
than management (92% agreed, compared with 84% of 
management). Similarly, heads of internal audit are upbeat 
about this, with 96% agreeing that internal audit makes a 
positive contribution, reducing to 89% across other members 
of the internal audit team.

1 Perceptions of audit quality: a survey analysis (CIPFA, 2009).

0

20

40

60

80

100

Percentage (%)

87% 87%

60%

92%

ClientsInternal auditors

20212008

Respondents agreeing or strongly agreeing with the 
statement: the contribution internal audit makes supports 
the management of the organisation.

Making an impact on governance arrangements
Worcestershire Children First is a wholly owned 
company of Worcestershire County Council. Following 
high-profile governance failures in other LATCs, WCF 
identified that it would be good practice to review its 
arrangements. 

The Director of Resources undertook a review of 
the company’s governance arrangements, as well 
as the council’s shareholding and commissioning 
arrangements. Internal audit reviewed the outcome 
of the self-assessment, which provided independent 
assurance and added value to share good practice 
across the council. Internal audit had to challenge 
themselves and work differently with a self-assessment 
model, and in doing this, they were able to add value 
to the review and the outcome. They helped to embed 
understanding about governance and roles across 
both organisations. The review was used as a board 
refreshers training session and used with the leader and 
senior cabinet members. 

P
age 147

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/perceptions-of-audit-quality-a-survey-analysis


14CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

One of the reasons for the improved contribution, and 
perception of the contribution, of internal audit may be better 
communication between internal auditors and their clients.

In 2008, just 56% of clients agreed that internal audit 
communicated effectively; in 2021, this has increased to 69% 
of clients. For internal auditors, there was a decline in their 
positive view of their communications, but this was primarily 
noted among audit team members rather than heads of 
internal audit. This could reflect the wider experience of 
communications among heads of audit.

Effective communication is a core skill required at every 
stage of the audit process, from explaining the rationale 
for conducting an audit to exploring options for control 
improvements with clients. To have impact, internal auditors 
need to ensure that the communication is consistently 
of a high standard and meeting client expectations. 
The improvement in client perceptions is very welcome, 
but auditors will need to continue to focus on effective 
communications. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

20212008

Percentage (%)

ClientsInternal auditors

83%

56%

75%

69%

Respondents agreeing or strongly agreeing with the 
statement: internal audit builds and maintains effective 
communication at all levels within the organisation.

P
age 148



15CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The services provided by internal 
audit vary

Internal auditors make an impact through a range of 
approaches. Our survey identified that while most internal 
audit teams were already offering broad coverage, their 
clients did not always recognise this. 

Head of internal audit or equivalent

Executive/senior manager

Audit committee member

0 20 40 60 80 100

Working with other internal audit teams to provide assurance on partnerships or collaborative ventures

Sitting as an independent critical friend on committees or steering groups relating to transformation, projects or major programmes

Sharing good practice from, or comparisons with, other departments or organisations

Advice on new systems or developments

Assurance relating to individual projects or programmes

Advisory/consultancy assignments/ad hoc advice

Percentage (%)

The view of what internal audit currently delivers, split by role.

P
age 149



16CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The disparity is most marked in relation to the role of internal 
audit sitting on project or steering groups and in advice 
provided on new systems or developments. Heads of audit 
will have a full understanding of their team’s activities, while 
clients perhaps only recognise those where they have had 
direct interaction. There is also a difference in perception 
between management and audit committees, perhaps 
reflecting that not all advisory work is reported to the audit 
committee in detail. 

Recommendations: 
•  Part of the role of the head of internal audit should be to 

advocate for and explain the role of internal audit. This 
could usefully include explaining the nature of internal 
audit consultancy or advisory work and draw out the 
benefits of internal audit interventions. Engagement and 
communication with senior stakeholders are core skills for 
effective heads of internal audit. 

•  Internal audit should provide the audit committee with an 
overview of all work it undertakes to ensure that there is 
visibility of any advisory activity. This does not necessitate 
a detailed report to the committee on all advisory work. 

Showcasing internal audit: how the 
pandemic created opportunities

Another opportunity to have an impact is to ensure that 
internal audit is responsive to change and clients’ needs. 
The pandemic provided considerable challenges for public 
sector bodies. Survey respondents were asked how the 
impact of internal audit has changed due to the COVID-19 
response. Views were similar across respondent groups and 
sectors, with a mild positive response. Forty-two percent of 
respondents said that internal audit colleagues attended 
COVID-19 response meetings with management. 

A number of participants reflected that the quick response 
by their internal audit function to provide agile and targeted 
assurance and advice had been an opportunity to showcase 
the ability of internal audit and had helped raise the profile 
of the team and how it is able to support the organisation. 
This may have helped individual relationships with senior 
managers and departments rather than bringing about an 
overall change in perception of impact.

P
age 150



17

The potential for 
internal audit 

P
age 151



18CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Our research explored different ways to improve the impact 
of internal audit within organisations. When considering 
these opportunities, it is essential to consider them from both 
the perspective of a client as well as an internal auditor.

Expectations and understanding

There is a range of expectations of internal audit from 
management and audit committees, as well as a difference 
in the perception of what internal audit delivers for the 
organisation.

Examples shared through discussion groups ranged from 
internal audit teams that provide fundamental assurance 
on core financial controls but little coverage of strategic 
topics, through to internal audit teams that have flexible 
plans clearly aligned to strategic goals and that can provide 
advice or swift assurance in response to emerging issues. 
This variation was reflected not only in the discussion of 
internal audit plans and proposed activity, but also in the 
expectations of senior management and audit committees. 
Some clients recognised they received a basic assurance 
plan around core systems and did not want additional 
coverage. Others already received a broader plan linked to 
strategic priorities or encouraged the internal audit plan to 
move towards this.

CIPFA believes that higher expectations by management and 
audit committees will provide both a challenge and support 
for internal audit. Higher expectations would ultimately be 
beneficial for the profession in the public services. This means 
there is a need for organisations to focus on what assurance 
or advice is needed rather than what assurance internal audit 
is currently able to deliver.

CIPFA has established expectations of internal audit through 
the CIPFA statement on the role of the head of internal audit.

The head of internal audit in a public service 
organisation plays a critical role in delivering the 
organisation’s strategic objectives by: 

•  objectively assessing the adequacy and effectiveness 
of governance and management of risks, giving an 
evidence-based opinion on all aspects of governance, 
risk management and internal control 

•  championing best practice in governance and 
commenting on responses to emerging risks and 
proposed developments.

While heads of internal audit might have these expectations, 
clients and audit committees also need to share them if 
internal audit is to have greater opportunity for impact.

Stable, supportive leadership has a huge 
role to play in getting the best out of internal 
audit, setting the culture of accountability 
and improvement. 

Assistant Director, Metropolitan Council 

Planned developments
CIPFA will consider how its forthcoming publication on 
assurance frameworks can build on its statement on the 
role of the head of internal audit to aid the understanding 
of assurance needs among leadership teams. CIPFA would 
like to see a culture of engaging with assurance and raised 
expectations for the internal audit profession in the public 
services.

Present and forthcoming actions: 
The global IIA is currently undertaking a refresh of the 
International Professional Practices Framework on which 
the PSIAS are based. Once the new international framework 
is known, the IASAB, along with the relevant internal audit 
standard setters for the public services in the UK, will review 
the PSIAS and update accordingly. This may also be an 
opportunity, with a simplified framework, to raise the profile 
of internal auditing standards, and the role that management 
and the audit committee play in creating a culture of engaged 
assurance, to create an environment in which internal audit 
can make a greater impact. 

P
age 152



19CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

More strategic coverage

A key factor of the impact of internal auditing is the nature of 
the areas in which internal audit invests its time and focus. 
We were interested in topics where internal audit should be 
focusing and also the nature of activities that internal audit 
should include in its work.

We asked survey respondents to identify three themes that 
internal audit should focus on in the coming three years 
that would have the greatest impact on an organisation. 
Cybersecurity was the top priority area identified by all 
groups of respondents. Second was digitisation and the use 
of data. Technology and the impact of digitisation is not a 
new priority. In 2008, internal auditors ranked information 
technology as their second most important priority area for 
future internal audit coverage; at that time, clients saw this as 
a lower priority. 

The top six areas that should be covered to achieve impactful 
internal audit in the coming three years, as identified by our 
research, are as follows.

•  Cybersecurity

•  Digitisation and the greater use of data within the 
organisation

•  Environmental sustainability/climate change

•  Financial viability

•  Culture and ethics

•  Supporting improved risk maturity.

There were some differences in the views of internal auditors 
and clients. Internal auditors thought cybersecurity, culture 
and climate change were a higher priority compared with 
clients. Management thought internal audit’s role in helping 
to improve risk maturity was more of a priority compared 
with audit committee members or internal auditors. Of 
these six topics, management were least interested in audit 
coverage around culture and ethics and were less interested 
in assurance linked to financial viability than internal auditors 
and audit committees. 

Some internal audit teams are already providing assurance 
on these areas, although not necessarily in as much depth or 
with as much coverage that heads of internal audit or their 
clients would like to see in future. 

Balancing the need for deep specialisms
Heads of internal audit recognised that both cybersecurity 
and climate change would be areas of increased focus for 
internal audit, but that they would not be able to develop 
deep specialisms.

Topics such as cybersecurity will require significant technical 
knowledge, and often, this will be unrealistic for in-house 
teams that do not have access to additional skills through 
a co-sourced arrangement to provide assurance on some 
aspects of cyber risks. Internal audit should still be able 
to provide assurance over the strategic approach of the 
organisation, however.

As public sector organisations work towards zero carbon 
strategies, many may have made carbon reduction 
commitments but have yet to finalise detailed plans to 
achieve this target. There is an opportunity for internal audit 
to play the role of critical friend in terms of how other plans, 
priorities and goals may impact, support or contradict climate 
priorities and targets. 

To enable internal audit to have impact in these areas, audits 
should be carefully scoped and other assurances available 
considered. For example, in relation to cybersecurity, there 
will be some areas of risk and control that internal audit 
can consider in all audit work (such as access controls 
and data governance). A useful role of internal audit may 
be to recognise a wider range of existing assurance and 
specialist input, some of which may not be visible to the audit 
committee, and to help develop a map of assurance needs 
and priorities and how such assurance can be obtained.

P
age 153



20CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Developing a golden thread through controls, 
assurance and internal audit
Across central government, the Government Internal 
Audit Agency (GIAA) and HM Treasury have been 
working with finance and risk colleagues to clarify the 
control framework that underpins the responsibilities 
of accounting officers. The team is also considering 
how assurance can be provided on the elements of 
the control framework. A third stage will shape how 
internal audit plans and reports its work. As well as 
supporting a better understanding of controls and 
assurance, the project should help internal auditors 
deliver internal audit opinions that can be compared 
across government.

This example shows how internal audit can have an 
impact in improving internal control and assurance 
arrangements, as well as helping internal audit opinions 
to be more meaningful for their clients.

Auditing financial risks 
Traditionally, internal audit has provided assurance over 
financial systems and processes such as payments, 
income collection and payroll. In many organisations, such 
systems operate well, and the risks associated with them 
are well managed. Is there still a role for internal audit to 
provide assurance over financial risks? To what extent 
can internal audit provide assurance over the big financial 
risks associated with policy and strategy as well as the 
more traditional assurance over internal financial control 
systems? Our survey shows that financial viability is an area 
of priority for future internal audit coverage.

Examples of such risks are financial resilience, medium-
term financial strategies and decisions around commercial 
strategies. Typically, the planning and decision making on 
such strategies will take place at a senior level within the 
organisation, and they can be complex and technical. This 
can mean they are difficult for internal audit to approach. 
However, their strategic importance to the organisation is 
such that they come with big financial risks. They are also 
areas the audit committee should be seeking independent 
assurance on. 

Neither the audit committee nor internal audit will be 
seeking to influence the financial policies themselves, but 
they will want to feel confident that the strategy is sound, 
supported by robust data and incorporates risk management 
measures. They should therefore audit the arrangements 
and assumptions underpinning those decisions, plans and 
strategies. 

This area provides an opportunity for internal audit to have 
an impact in an area clearly linked to the achievement of 
organisational objectives. To be most effective in this area, 
auditors will need to have a good understanding of the 
financial framework in which their organisation operates. 
In public bodies, particularly local government, this can 
be complex, involving government grants, local taxation, 
rental income, investment income, fees and charges 
and its own capital management. The auditor will also 
need to understand how macro trends will impact on the 
organisation; for example, demographics, inflation, interest 
rates, national and local economic growth and technological 
innovation may all be relevant. Changes to government 
policy can also impact directly on public bodies’ plans, so 
their internal auditors need to keep up to date with the wider 
policy agenda. 

P
age 154



21CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Going beyond assurance 

Internal auditors provide a range of services as well 
as assurance
We have not asked internal auditors or their clients to 
provide an overview of their current internal audit plan and 
its priorities but did ask for feedback on the internal audit 
approach, engagement and particular tools or activities.

The responses to a question on how internal audit currently 
contributes to an organisation reflect a somewhat traditional 
view of internal audit activity. Unsurprisingly, independent 
and objective assurance is the highest-ranking response. 
Other activities that would perhaps be expected in a high-
functioning internal audit team such as providing advice, 
helping to understand the root cause of weaknesses and 
audit coverage relating to major change receive a much lower 
ranking and may reflect that internal audit could have more 
of an impact in delivering its core role and current assurance 
plans.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Assurance or advice on significant partnerships or joint ventures

Real-time assurance

Assurance or advice on major change

Sharing insight on good practice or comparisons with other organisations

Sharing information on emerging risks and issues that could impact the organisation

Advocating for sound risk management

Telling management and the audit committee things that were not already known by these groups

Advisory/consultancy role

Identifying opportunities or efficiencies as well as control weaknesses or risks

Understanding the root cause of internal control, risk management or governance weaknesses

Independent and objective assurance

Percentage (%)

Respondents’ views on how internal audit currently contributes to the organisation.

P
age 155



22CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Supporting improved risk maturity
There are several different models of risk maturity available. We set out a simple, 
four-scale descriptive framework and asked respondents to share their view of their 
organisation’s current risk maturity, with maturity increasing from left to right on the 
descriptors set out below.

Step 4

Risk decisons are embedded in how 
the organisation is run. 

Our understanding of risks and 
opportunities drives our assurance 
priorities and the information report to 
management/the board.

Step 1

The organisation is just starting out 
with risk management.

Step 2

The organisation has identified and 
assessed its risks.

There is not yet a clear link 
to how this informs the board/audit 
committee’s view of assurance or 
information needs.

Step 3

The organisation has a risk register 
and undestands its risk appetite. 

There is reasonable linkage between 
our risks and the assurance/ 
information provided to management 
and the board/audit committee.

P
age 156



23CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

We can see a difference between the views of heads of 
internal audit, management and audit committees. Overall, 
management and audit committee members considered that 
their risk management arrangements were more mature than 
the view of internal auditors.

The results from both auditors and clients indicate that there 
is scope to improve arrangements for managing risk in public 
sector bodies. Thirty-one percent of respondents believe that 
the impact of internal audit would be enhanced if there was 
greater support to help the organisation understand risk and 
its risk maturity – areas where there is scope for internal audit 
to bring its advisory role to bear.

Recommendation:
Leadership teams and audit committees should strengthen 
their risk management arrangements. Internal audit’s 
annual opinion on risk management should provide clarity 
over aspects for improvement and identify opportunities for 
support.

Sharing best practice
On the theme of value, clients’ perceptions of quality were 
influenced by the ability of internal audit to share ideas 
and good practice across departments or from other 
organisations. Such insight was found to be useful and added 
value to the internal audit process. 

Fourteen percent of respondents said that internal audit 
currently contributes to the organisation’s success and 
delivery of strategic priorities by sharing good practice and/
or comparisons with other organisations. A further 19% of 
respondents identified this as a future priority for internal 
audit. 

Our internal audit service is able to provide 
comparisons and informal insights from 
other blue light organisations. This helps 
the audit committee gauge its response, 
particularly regarding systemic issues. 

Jonathan Swan, Chair of the Joint Audit Committee for the Essex 
Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and Essex Police

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Risk decisions are embedded 
in how the organisation is run

The organisation has a risk register 
and understands its risk appetite

The organisation has identified 
and assessed its risks

The organisation is just starting 
out with risk management

H
ea

d 
of

 in
te

rn
al

 a
ud

it

Se
ni

or
 m

an
ag

er

A
ud

it 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 m
em

be
r

Percentage (%)

Respondents’ views on risk maturity (by role).

P
age 157



24CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Data analysis

The impact of internal audit comes not only from the nature 
of topics on which it focuses, but also the tools used. Many 
internal audit teams are using some form of data analytics, 
including spreadsheets, specialist analytical tools such as 
ACL and IDEA, and data visualisation tools such as Power BI 
and Tableau. 

Where data analytics are not already being used by the 
internal audit function, 68% of internal auditors and 40% of 
clients think that adding analytics to the audit toolkit would 
be beneficial.

Respondents were aware that internal auditors are seeking 
to use analytics and to upskill team members, but also 
reflected barriers such as multiple legacy systems and 
challenges to accessing the organisation’s data.

During 2021, we recruited at trainee level 
and had a tremendous response in the 
number of applicants. One of the lessons 
learnt from the recruitment process is the 
number of potential recruits with significant 
data analytics experience. 

In subsequent processes, this will be an 
area that we specifically highlight in the 
job adverts to further increase the talents 
required for the service moving forward. 

Jonathan Idle, Head of Internal Audit, Kent County Council 

The consulting role of internal audit
The definition of internal auditing recognises that internal 
audit has both an assurance and consulting role. 

Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance 
and consulting activity designed to add value and 
improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing 
a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, 
and governance processes.

International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing/PSIAS

Eighty-six percent of respondents stated that internal audit 
delivered advisory or consulting work or provided ad hoc 
advice to the organisation. Notably, stakeholders appear less 
aware of this, with just 59% of audit committee respondents 
confirming this role compared with 73% of management 
and 95% of heads of internal audit. However, only 24% of 
respondents saw the advisory role as a current priority in 
terms of best describing how internal audit contributes to the 
success of the organisation. 

When responses about advisory work are compared by 
the internal audit resourcing model, more respondents 
with in-house internal audit agreed that their internal audit 
service provided advisory assignments or advice on new 
developments. The response regarding in-house teams using 
co-sourced arrangements reflected a similar response to in-
house teams that did not use co-sourcing. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Outsourced to 
an external provider

In-house internal 
audit team

Percentage (%)

79%

62%

Respondents who stated that internal audit provided 
advisory work or advice on new systems and 
developments.

P
age 158



25CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Our roundtable discussions with a range of internal auditors 
and stakeholders reflected a varied understanding of the 
advisory role of internal audit. Some stakeholders – audit 
committee members in particular – voiced their concern that 
internal audit undertaking consulting work can impair its 
independence and objectivity when it needs to later provide 
assurance in that same area.

Internal audit consulting input may not always be a 
standalone assignment; for many internal audit teams, a core 
element of their advisory role is to attend project or steering 
groups to act as a critical friend. It is key that internal auditors 
should not have a decision-making role at any such meeting; 
however, being present enables internal audit to be aware 
of progress and make decisions to determine how it can best 
respond to support the organisation (including planning, 
real-time assurance or being able to ask questions to check 
that decisions made are well thought through). Internal 
audit will also seek to ensure good governance, with risk 
management and control built into any new development, 
control framework or scheme.

I have found that sitting on various 
programme and change boards has helped 
the organisation better understand how 
internal audit can support programmes. We 
are now invited in by programme teams 
rather than having to assert our right to 
provide assurance or advice.  

A recent example is the new case 
management system. The programme board 
asked for internal audit input during the 
development phase. We are able to provide 
challenge on how the new system meets the 
needs of the organisation, whether previous 
audit findings have been addressed, and 
test the proposed control framework early 
enough to make a difference. 

Paula Mills, Head of Governance and Assurance, Basildon 
Borough Council 

P
age 159



26

What is holding 
internal audit 
back? 

P
age 160



27CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The challenges set out in the following pages are faced by 
many public sector organisations. That is not to say that 
these are faced by all, or that internal audit teams, senior 
management or audit committees are not seeking solutions 
or taking action. There are also variations across different 
parts of the public sector and differing views between 
internal auditors and their clients. 

The obstacles noted will be interdependent for some 
organisations; it is likely that internal audit functions with a 
low profile will also be less likely to argue the need for more 
resource or enhanced training. Similarly, an organisation that 
is not yet risk mature may be less likely to seek assurance on 
strategic priorities. 

Resourcing

Capacity of internal audit
The level of internal audit resourcing is often a difficult one. 
How much assurance is sufficient? What other assurances 
exist? What skills and experience are needed to deliver the 
required assurance? Internal audit functions, alongside those 
in other departments, have seen headcount reductions over 
the past decade.  

In our 2021 survey, CIPFA asked clients and internal auditors 
for their views on internal audit resourcing. When asked 
specifically about the resource capacity of internal audit, 
there is a difference in views between groups of respondents, 
with clients more positive than internal auditors on the 
current capacity of the internal audit service to provide the 
service the organisation requires.

Forty-three percent of internal auditors said that increasing 
the capacity of internal audit was a priority for improving its 
impact and effectiveness. Less than 30% of clients agreed 
this was a priority. However, a related question (see right) on 
whether internal audit has the resource capacity to provide 
the service the organisation requires indicated a higher 
percentage of clients recognising capacity constraints

0 20 40 60 80 100

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither disagree nor agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Internal auditors

Head of internal audit

Senior manager

Audit committee member

Percentage (%)

Internal audit has the resources (capacity) to provide the 
service the organisation requires. View based on role of 
respondent.

P
age 161



28CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Balancing resource
Resourcing was a topic of discussion at our roundtable 
events, with several heads of internal audit noting that there 
can be a difference between the levels of assurance an 
organisation requires (client appetite for assurance) and the 
levels of assurance an organisation needs. Many commented 
on the need for more resources in comments within their 
survey responses, together with the challenges in ensuring 
there are sufficiently experienced auditors to complete more 
complex work as well as provide coaching and support to 
trainees. A change in the skills and experience of the internal 
audit team was also seen as a route to being able to provide 
real-time assurance and to innovate, with some respondents 
welcoming trainees but noting a reduced ability to address 
strategic issues when a team is reliant on new entrants. 

In its 2019 report on local authority governance, the National 
Audit Office (NAO) identified that there was a decrease of 
34.2% in real-term spending on corporate support services by 
local authorities from 2010/11 to 2017/18. Internal audit has 
faced similar levels of budget reduction, and the trend has 
continued. Other parts of the public services have also faced 
resource pressures.

The capacity of internal audit functions in 
local government has decreased significantly 
at a time when the challenges and risks 
facing the sector have increased massively. 

Local government survey respondent 

Skills, experience and internal audit approaches
It may be that for many organisations, the overall budget for 
internal audit – and therefore the quantum of audit days – is 
in the gift of the leadership team, but how that budget is used 
and the skills available to deliver the internal audit plan are 
the responsibility of the head of internal audit or internal audit 
provider. 

Views on skills and experience are notably more positive than 
views on resource capacity across all groups of respondents.

0 20 40 60 80 100

Qualified/experienced internal auditor, incl trainee internal auditor

Head of internal audit or equivalent

Executive/senior manager

Audit committee member

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither disagree nor agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Percentage (%)

Internal audit has the skills and experience to provide the 
service the organisation requires. View based on role of 
respondent.

P
age 162



29CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

We also asked respondents if any tools or approaches 
were not currently used by their internal audit function that 
would be beneficial. Use of analytics within the internal 
audit approach significantly outweighed other tools and 
approaches. As with other skills and experience, this will 
require investment in the internal audit team to develop 
analytical skills, provide the right tools and embed analytics 
into the internal audit approach.

In addition to greater integration of analytics, survey 
respondents identified the following approaches as being of 
benefit to their internal audit function.

•  Real-time assurance

•  Sharing insight on good practice or comparisons with other 
organisations

•  Assurance or advice on major change

•  Identifying opportunities or efficiencies as well as control 
weaknesses or risks

•  Sharing information on emerging risks and issues that 
could impact the organisation.

Internal auditors and their stakeholders recognise the fast 
pace of change, and that internal audit needs to keep ahead 
to best support the organisation. This results in the need for 
internal audit to: 

•  provide assurance on emerging issues and areas of change 
or transformation 

•  be equipped to play a constructive yet independent 
advisory role 

•  respond to the pace of change by providing real-time 
assurance 

•  understand and adopt new technologies 

•  maintain the ability to provide a core assurance on 
business-as-usual risks and operations.

This does not mean that internal auditors need to be experts 
in every topic, but that the wider team has appropriate 
analytical, critical thinking, communication and risk-based 
auditing skills to be able to approach those topics. The role 
of internal audit could also be to understand other assurance 
that’s available and any potential gaps in assurance. This 
assists the head of internal audit in developing the internal 
audit plan, but also management and the audit committee 
when considering the quantum of assurance and any 
additional assurance required. For example, while cyber risk 
was an area that nearly two thirds of respondents identified 
as an area where assurance will be required, this does not 
mean that internal audit will have the in-depth subject matter 
expertise of cyber specialists. 

From our research, CIPFA has concluded that internal auditors 
are agreeing plans for which they have the skills to deliver. 
Under internal auditing standards, internal auditors should 
not undertake work that the function does not have the skills 
or experience for. However, it is recognised that the assurance 
needs of organisations are changing and that internal audit 
must be able to respond to this. Internal audit needs to be 
ahead of the organisation to help it understand its risks and to 
plan focused assurance on emerging issues, transformation 
and strategic objectives, and therefore there is pressure on 
internal audit to progress, evolve and address new areas, as 
discussed later in this report.

We need to be realistic about the skills 
we expect from internal audit. Our subject 
matter expertise is auditing; we cannot 
expect to be subject matter experts in every 
topic we audit. Internal audit teams need 
core skills that include risk-based internal 
auditing that can be applied to any topic, 
financial literacy, technological capability 
and data literacy.  

Stan Farmer, Chief Auditor, The Open University 

P
age 163



30CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The wider economic view of skills and roles required
In its 2020 report on the future of jobs, the World Economic 
Forum (WEF) noted the technologies that companies thought 
were likely to be adopted by 2025, reflecting the need for 
internal auditors to keep pace with the use of data and 
digitisation in their organisations. 

The same report notes that there is an expected demand 
for data analysts and data scientists, machine learning 
specialists and big data specialists. This reflects the 
suggestions for future coverage by internal audit as seen 
earlier in this report, indicating the ever-growing use of data 
and technology and the corresponding need for assurance 
providers to be able to work with data. 

2018 Difference2025

0 20 40 60 80 100

Share of company surveyed (%)

Cloud computing (17%)

Big data analytics (2%)

Internet of things and connected devices (9%)

Encryption and cybersecurity (29%)

Artificial intelligence (inc. ML and NLP) (8%)

Text, image and voice processing (-)

E-commerce and digital trade (2%)

Robots, non-humanoid (eg industrial automation, drones) (10%)

Augmented and virtual reality (1%)

Distributed ledger technology (eg blockchain) (11%)

3D and 4D printing and modelling (10%)

Power storage and generation (-)

New materials (eg nanotubes, graphene) (-12%)

Biotechnology (8%)

Robots, humanoid (11%)

Quantum computing (-5%)

Technologies likely to be adopted by 2025 (by share of companies surveyed). 

Source: The Future of Jobs Report 2020 (World Economic Forum).

P
age 164

https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-future-of-jobs-report-2020


31CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Attracting recruits to the profession in the public 
services
Another factor holding internal audit back is the challenge of 
recruitment and retaining the right skills within the internal 
audit function. While views on levels of resources and how 
those resources are used varied across respondents and 
those participating in roundtable discussions, one theme 
was common in discussions and interviews: the challenge of 
attracting and retaining quality internal auditors. 

We need internal audit to be seen as a 
valuable career route for the benefit of the 
profession and the organisations in which 
we audit. 

Glen Bissett, Senior Financial Auditor, Scottish Prison Service 

Survey respondents shared insights into the challenges of 
recruiting to the internal audit function and the ability to 
match the nature of internal audit coverage with appropriate 
skills and resources. There was also feedback that some 
small internal audit teams are only able to deliver a basic 
assurance plan covering the bare minimum, which can 
impact the desirability of a role within that function, leading to 
challenges in recruiting or retaining the right staff. 

Based on our research, CIPFA’s view is that there are four 
key factors impairing internal audit’s capacity and ability to 
recruit, retain or procure the required skills.

Continuing development of the internal audit 
team 
•  Lack of funding to improve knowledge and skills, 

which can impair internal audit’s ability to build skills 
in emerging areas such as analytics.

•  Training budgets are often the first to be cut.

•  Challenges in arranging secondments or guest 
auditors to augment the skill set of the existing 
internal audit team. Obstacles exist around the 
desirability of such opportunities or the capacity of 
other departments to release staff to internal audit.

Culture
•  Lack of recognition of the advisory or consulting 

capability of internal audit can impact the morale and 
retention rates in the internal audit team.

•  Some internal audit teams are looking to strengthen 
skills in particular areas where the organisation 
is perceived to be weak (implying there was an 
expectation that upskilling internal audit teams 
would help compensate for lack of skills in the wider 
organisation).

•  The need for management to address the findings 
from internal audit reports.

•  The varied profile of internal audit within 
organisations. For some, this can impede internal 
audit’s access to top management.

•  Some organisations have a culture of tolerating 
internal audit rather than using and seeking internal 
audit and assurance.Attracting people to the audit profession

•  The need for more apprentices and school and 
university leavers to join the internal audit profession 
(and indeed the external audit profession).

•  Consideration of how internal audit can be part of a 
wider career path, so that internal audit skills are seen 
as a beneficial experience for other roles and internal 
audit teams can benefit from specialist knowledge 
other than internal auditing.

•  Training and qualifications for internal auditors need 
to reflect the skills that the auditors of tomorrow will 
require.

•  Concerns that in some parts of the public sector, there 
may be a disparity between pay/grading for internal 
auditors compared with their peers in accountancy roles.

Behaviours and soft skills
•  Internal audit functions need the right behaviours 

and softer skills as well as technical competencies, 
including strategic thinking, and the ability to work 
proactively, flexibly and at pace.

Key factors impacting internal audit’s capacity and ability 
to procure and retain the required skills

1

3

2

4

P
age 165



32CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Recent and forthcoming action: 
CIPFA recently updated the syllabus for its Professional 
Accountancy Qualification, which contains greater content 
that will be relevant to internal auditors compared with 
previous iterations. The qualification is also available as a 
Level 7 apprenticeship.

Future plans:

•  CIPFA and the CIIA have agreed to work together to raise 
the profile of the profession in the public sector.

•  CIPFA and the CIIA will support the profession in the 
public services through encouraging different routes into 
the profession. The institutes will undertake research 
on career paths and routes into internal audit to help 
develop sustainable teams, including for guest auditors or 
professionals who join internal audit later in their career. 
This should also help raise the awareness of internal audit, 
its benefits and its purpose.

Recommendations:
•  Organisations should ensure that the responsibilities of 

internal auditors are recognised – for example, the need to 
engage at a senior level and have access to commercial 
and sensitive information. This may warrant a review of 
role or pay/grading structure and should recognise the 
unique role of internal auditing rather than simply reflecting 
line management responsibilities and comparisons with 
accounting colleagues. 

•  To build sustainable career paths for internal auditors, 
heads of internal audit, senior management and audit 
committees should recognise opportunities for models 
such as secondments, guest auditors and rotational 
programmes to support internal audit’s skills needs. 
Rotation of staff within the organisation could also help to 
build awareness of the benefits and the purpose of internal 
audit.

•  Internal audit functions should develop not only a plan 
of the audit work they will undertake, but also a strategy 
for their function’s development and how it will flex to 
meet the future needs of the organisation. This is likely to 
include the nature of the work, the tools and skills required 
to undertake it and resources. This should be agreed with 
top management and the audit committee and progress 
reported on as part of the quality and improvement 
programme of the function. 

•  Where an individual manages the internal audit team and 
delivers the responsibilities of the chief audit executive as 
set out in PSIAS, the responsibility of the head of internal 
audit should be recognised in terms of job title, ability to 
present to senior management committees and meetings, 
and access to the most senior personnel.

The majority of our training budget goes 
to support our trainees. Experienced 
internal auditors get very little targeted or 
personalised training or development. 

Internal Audit Manager, the public sector

P
age 166



33CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Selecting the right model of internal audit
Internal auditing standards apply to any internal audit 
service, regardless of the model employed, but do not 
mandate the model that should be used. There are several 
different models of internal audit service. 

•  In-house – the internal audit service is provided by a team 
of people who are employees of the organisation.

•  Outsourced – the internal audit service is provided by a 
team of people who are not employees of the organisation. 
This may be through a shared service, a formal commercial 
contract or another partnership arrangement.

•  Co-sourced – an in-house internal audit service that 
secures some of its resource from external parties. This 
may be on an ad hoc basis or a formal partnering contract 
or arrangement. This is often a model used by in-house 
teams to procure particular expertise or skills to augment 
the existing team.

Our survey did not demonstrate that one model has clear 
strengths or weaknesses above the others. There were, 
however, some individuals with strong preferences for a 
particular model of delivery.

Our survey respondents reported that outsourced services 
have greater capacity, but there was little difference in views 
on the skills and capability across different models. As noted 
earlier, survey responses reflected a greater perception of 
advisory work from in-house internal audit teams compared 
with outsourced services.

0 20 40 60 80 100

Outsourced to an external provider

In-house team with a co-sourced arrangement

In-house internal audit team

Neither disagree nor agree

Strongly agree Disagree

Agree Strongly disagree

Percentage (%)

Internal audit has the resources (capacity) to provide the 
service the organisation requires. View based on internal 
audit resourcing model.

0 20 40 60 80 100

Outsourced to an external provider

In-house team with a co-sourced arrangement

In-house internal audit team

Neither disagree nor agree

Strongly agree Disagree

Agree Strongly disagree

Percentage (%)

Internal audit has the skills and experience to provide  
the service the organisation requires. View based on 
internal audit resourcing model.

When comparing views on the available resources based 
on the model of internal audit, an outsourced service 
has stronger capacity. Given these responses come from 
individuals who provide such a service or have likely been 
involved in procuring that service, this may not be surprising, 

given most tenders are based on a view on the overall 
quantum of resource to be delivered, and therefore, in 
effect, are an agreement on the level of assurance that the 
organisation will receive. 

P
age 167



34CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

All models can be made to work, but the organisation must 
be mindful of what it needs to do to make its chosen model 
work. When selecting a model, the focus should be on what 
assurance is needed to facilitate informed prioritisation 
of coverage and the skills and quantum of assurance, not 
what assurance can be afforded in the allocated budget. 
Organisations that have a good understanding of their 
assurance requirements and priorities will be better placed to 
make an informed decision about the nature of internal audit 
required and the best way to deliver that. 

Although there are three broad models – in-house, co-
sourced and outsourced – some shared service and audit 
partnership models try to operate in a similar way to in-house 
teams, for example by basing a permanent team within an 
organisation, supplemented with flexibility and support. 

This table below sets out broad advantages and 
disadvantages of in-house and outsourced models. The 
exact operational arrangement may, in practice, bridge both 
models.

Advantages Disadvantages

In-house internal audit

Better knowledge of the organisation and people within it.
Easier to build effective working relationships with a 
constant presence. 
An effective internal audit department can be used as 
a secondment to support management development 
programmes. 
Regular liaison with other internal assurance functions and 
management.
Some heads of internal audit have a role in the 
management team and are therefore present for 
discussions on emerging issues and determining how 
internal audit can best support the organisation as priorities 
change.
If the internal audit budget allows for consultancy/advice, 
this can be provided as part of a budgeted cost rather than 
an additional fee.

Many internal audit teams are facing challenges in recruiting 
quality candidates with the skills required.
The smaller the audit team, the more challenging it will be to 
have all the skills required within that team.
The risk of long-tenured team members may lead to impaired 
objectivity and innovation.
Small internal audit teams in particular may find it difficult to 
provide succession and promotion opportunities.
Unplanned absences can delay the internal audit plan and 
impact service delivery.

P
age 168



35CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Advantages Disadvantages

Outsourced internal audit

Able to share good practice and lessons learned observed 
in other organisations.
Able to provide benchmarking or comparative data from 
similar organisations.
More options and flexibility to provide staff or subject matter 
expertise. 
A shared service model could allow for staff to be based 
predominantly with one client and therefore to build 
knowledge of the organisation.

Lack of clarity over responsibility and accountability for 
internal audit and assurance.
There may be reluctance to provide formal assurance 
opinions on certain topics.
The risk that management will not perceive their 
responsibility for maintaining an effective internal audit 
function.
The organisation may not engage as effectively with an 
external provider. 
Lack of organisational knowledge, including of the culture of 
the organisation. 
A contract manager or key contact is still required to ensure 
effective liaison between the organisation and the internal 
audit provider.
The risk of high staff rotation leading to lack of familiarity with 
the organisation.
A focus on price rather than quality when contracting for an 
outsourced service may prohibit extensive input from senior 
staff or specialists.

A co-sourced internal audit service is one with an in-house 
team that also has an arrangement to draw on resources 
from an external provider. In many ways, this helps the 
internal audit service reap the benefits from both the in-
house and outsourced models; in particular, a co-sourced 
arrangement provides access to additional staff and subject 
matter expertise. Intelligent procurers of co-sourced services 
will also seek to ensure skills and knowledge transfer 
between the external and internal teams, and to obtain to 
share insights and experience from the co-sourced partner’s 
wider client base.

P
age 169



36CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Managing internal audit 
independence

Independence and objectivity are essential to effective 
internal audit. Some of the barriers discussed below may be 
factors of perception, which can then impair stakeholders’ 
views on the quality of internal audit. 

Roles beyond internal audit
Fifty percent of the heads of internal audit who responded 
to the survey have other responsibilities as well as leading 
the internal audit function. This figure rises to 60% in local 
government. 

Of the additional responsibilities that heads of internal audit 
have, the most common were:

•  risk manager

•  head of counter fraud

•  governance.

There was also a range of additional roles for heads of 
internal audit who have a clear second-line function, such as 
business continuity, health and safety, insurance and data 
protection. Internal auditing standards provide guidance on 
how such additional roles should be managed and risks to 
independence and objectivity communicated. 

It was surprising to find some heads of internal audit state 
they had responsibilities for operational areas such as 
procurement, council tax or debtors, meaning those heads 
of internal audit would have to find other approaches to 
providing assurance on those areas rather than providing the 
assurance themselves. 

Chief audit executive roles beyond internal auditing

Where the chief audit executive has or is expected to 
have roles and/or responsibilities that fall outside of 
internal auditing, safeguards must be in place to limit 
impairments to independence or objectivity.

Interpretation:

The chief audit executive may be asked to take on 
additional roles and responsibilities outside of internal 
auditing, such as responsibility for compliance or risk 
management activities. These roles and responsibilities 
may impair, or appear to impair, the organisational 
independence of the internal audit activity or the 
individual objectivity of the internal auditor. Safeguards 
are those oversight activities, often undertaken by the 
board, to address these potential impairments, and 
may include such activities as periodically evaluating 
reporting lines and responsibilities and developing 
alternative processes to obtain assurance related to the 
areas of additional responsibility. 

Extract from the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and the PSIAS

Recommendation:
Organisations should minimise or avoid passing on additional 
roles to the head of internal audit. Where heads do have roles 
beyond internal auditing, there must be adequate safeguards 
in place to preserve independence in accordance with the 
standards. For example, a budget should be provided to fund 
the commissioning of internal audit assurance in those areas 
that come under the responsibility of the head.

One concern flagged by clients was that internal auditors 
may impair their independence by undertaking advisory or 
consulting work. The consulting role of internal audit is set 
out within PSIAS, as are a number of safeguards. The head 
of internal audit must take a balanced view on priorities that 
can be delivered with the available skills and resource, and 
for some internal audit teams, this may preclude significant 
amounts of advisory work. Undertaking advisory work 
can also mean that internal audit cannot provide formal 
assurance around that area. Internal auditing standards 
state that internal audit can provide assurance where it has 
previously provided consulting services, provided the nature 
of the consulting input does not impair objectivity and steps 
are taken to manage individual objectivity when assigning 
team members to the audit – something that will be easier to 
manage for larger internal audit functions. 

However, many internal auditors undertake advisory work 
below the radar, such as sitting on project or steering groups 
as an observer or critical friend. There is a need for internal 
auditors to communicate more, not only about these activities 
but also the benefits they bring to the organisation.

P
age 170



37CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

A third factor was also present in concerns about internal 
audit independence and objectivity: the fact that some 
internal auditors have been in post for many years. In its 
Internal Audit Code of Practice, the CIIA recommends: 

“Where the tenure of the chief internal 
auditor exceeds seven years, the audit 
committee should explicitly discuss annually 
the chair’s assessment of the chief internal 
auditor’s independence and objectivity”. 

This does not mean that long-serving heads of internal 
audit lack independence or objectivity, but that the audit 
committee should have greater understanding of the risk of 
over-familiarity and actions to mitigate that risk. This code 
does not apply to the public sector but will be relevant to third 
sector and not-for-profit organisations aligned with the public 
services.

Internal audit reporting lines
When commenting on organisational independence, both 
global internal auditing standards and PSIAS state that 
the head of internal audit “must report to a level within the 
organisation that allows the internal audit activity to fulfil its 
responsibilities”. The standards go on to explain the nature of 
internal audit’s relationship and interactions with the board2 
(and/or audit committee). The PSIAS go further, setting out an 
explicit expectation about access to the chief executive and 
chair of the audit committee.

The chief audit executive3 must report functionally to 
the board. The chief audit executive must also establish 
effective communication with, and have free and 
unfettered access to, the chief executive and the chair of 
the audit committee.

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

We asked heads of internal audit about their functional and 
administrative reporting lines. It is recognised that many 
heads of internal audit in effect have two reporting lines: 
one within the management structure and one to the audit 
committee.

2 Internal auditing standards recognise that for most organisations, this role 
will be discharged by the audit committee on behalf of the board.
3 Internal auditing standards use the phrase ‘chief audit executive’ for the 
person who leads the internal audit function. In many UK public sector 
organisations, this role will be known as the head of internal audit, chief 
internal auditor or similar.

Reporting lines within the management structure
The traditional internal audit reporting line to the chief 
financial officer remains a common model. As shown below, 
there are significant differences in typical internal audit 
reporting lines across sectors:

0 20 40 60 80 100

Head of service (not finance) 
who is not a member of the executive team

Head of financial services 
who is not a member of the executive team

Other member of the executive team

Finance director on the executive team

Chief executive

Other public sector

Police/fire

NHS

Local government

Education

Central government

Percentage (%)

Analysis of reporting lines by sector.

P
age 171



38CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

We noted in roundtable discussions and survey responses 
that there remains a perception that internal audit in local 
government must report to the section 151 officer. As 
the NAO reiterated in its 2019 report on local authority 
governance, the legal responsibility for maintaining the 
system of internal control, including arrangements for the 
management or risk and an effective internal audit, lies with 
the elected council members, and therefore responsibility no 
longer rests solely with the section 151 officer. Comments 
were also made that for some local government and policing 
organisations, it was perceived that section 151 officers 
benefitted more from internal audit and that there should 
be clear emphasis on internal audit being for the wider 
organisation and not solely focused on financial control. This 
also reflects the various views we heard from management 
on their expectations from internal audit, ranging from an 
appetite for assurance on core systems only through to 
managers who were actively seeking greater engagement 
and focus on wider strategic risks and priorities.

Our analysis showed no apparent correlation between 
reporting lines and whether the internal audit service was 
provided in-house or through an outsourced provider.

… while the section 151 or similar legislative provisions 
require the authority to appoint a suitably qualified 
officer responsible for the proper administration of its 
affairs, responsibility for proper financial administration 
still rests ultimately with elected members. The local 
authority itself has a statutory responsibility for 
maintaining a system of internal control including the 
management of risk, an effective internal audit and 
preparing annual accounts.

Extract from CIPFA’s Financial Management Code

CIPFA’s guidance on the role of the head of internal audit 
says that heads of internal audit must report functionally 
to a member of the leadership team. In total, 9% of heads 
of internal audit told us that they do not have a reporting 
line into the chief executive or a member of the executive 
team. This could mean that the leadership team lacks 
understanding of the role of internal audit and the audit team 
lacks engagement with its principal client.

Reporting line to the audit committee
Eighty-six percent of heads of internal audit confirmed that 
they have a formal reporting line to the chair of the audit 
committee, meaning 14% do not have this formal reporting 
line. This could mean that the head of internal audit’s ability to 
report independently to the audit committee is compromised.

Recommendation: 
As a minimum, the head of internal audit should report to a 
member of the executive team for administration purposes 
and also have a reporting line to the chair of the audit 
committee.

P
age 172



39CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Audit committees

Low expectations by audit committees are another factor in 
holding back internal audit from fulfilling its potential. This 
is in part due to the weakness of some audit committees in 
some public bodies.

Role and oversight
The role of the audit committee is vital in setting the 
expectation within the governance structure for risk-based 
assurance on strategic priorities. It is also key, alongside 
senior management, in setting the expectations for internal 
audit’s performance.

One third of respondents to our survey were ambivalent 
or negative about their audit committee providing robust 
oversight, although 95% of heads of internal audit said they 
felt the audit committee listened to them. 

CIPFA’s own research on audit committees in local 
government has identified that while committees are 
supportive of the work of internal audit, they are less 
effective in providing professional oversight and providing 
challenge.4 This was mirrored by some survey respondents 
who commented that management needs to be better at 
responding to internal audit recommendations and that the 
audit committee has a role to ensure action is taken.

Some audit committee chairs and heads of internal audit 
have regular meetings, and discussions between meetings, 
along with private sessions between the audit committee and 
head of internal audit before or after committee meetings. 

4 CIPFA survey of audit committees in local authorities and police (2016). 

However, this relationship is not in place for all. Some audit 
committee chairs have had to push for private meetings to be 
included in the committee’s terms of reference. 

Recommendation: 
There should be regular private meetings between the 
audit committee and the head of internal audit with no 
management present. If such meetings are diarised, this 
avoids either party having to ask for such a meeting to be 
arranged before/after a planned committee meeting, which 
can create an expectation that significant issues need to be 
discussed. Such meetings should not prevent there being 
open and regular communication between the head of 
internal audit and audit committee chair throughout the year 
and between committee meetings.

Independent audit committee members
Another factor raised at roundtable discussions was the 
potential for political bias at local authority audit committees 
and the appointment of independent members to those 
committees. 

In 2019, the NAO emphasised the benefit of independent 
audit committee members, in particular as chair of the 
committee. The 2020 Redmond Review noted that 56% of 
local authorities had no independent member on the audit 
committee. One of the recommendations from the Redmond 
Review was that the governance arrangements within 
local authorities be reviewed by local councils to consider 
appointing at least one suitably qualified, independent 
member to the audit committee.

It is noteworthy that several local government participants 
in our roundtable discussions commented on the audit 
committee being perceived as a low-status committee 
role in some authorities. Local government respondents 
were the least positive regarding the effectiveness of audit 
committees. While some committees in this sector are clearly 
high performing, others were described in survey responses 
as ineffective, with members who were not engaged or 
interested. 

While Redmond’s recommendation focused on encouraging 
the appointment of at least one co-opted independent 
member, there has been considerable activity since. A 
working group of the Local Audit Monitoring Board (a board 
commissioned by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC)) was set up to look at this 
recommendation, among others. 

New guidance: 
CIPFA published strengthened guidance on audit 
committees in April 2022. 

The Position Statement emphasises the role that audit 
committees should have in the oversight of internal audit 
and ensuring accounts are prepared to a high standard, 
alongside broader changes including the appointment of 
independent members. 

In Wales, there has been a requirement since 2011 to have 
at least one lay member on council audit committees. New 
legislation through the Local Government and Elections 
Wales Act 2021 means there should be one-third lay 
members and a lay member as chair.

P
age 173

https://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/cipfa-survey-of-audit-committees-in-local-authorities-and-police
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.cipfa.org/services/support-for-audit-committees
https://www.cipfa.org/services/support-for-audit-committees


40CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Role of the audit committee with respect to internal 
audit planning
Through roundtable discussions, we noted different 
approaches to internal audit across different organisations. 
There were differing views on the role of the audit committee 
regarding the internal audit plan. This varied from audit 
committee members who considered it their role to determine 
what the internal audit plan should be, potentially reducing 
the independence of the head of internal audit in determining 
internal audit priorities, through to committees that agreed 
plans they were not fully happy with.

While the audit committee should approve the internal audit 
plan, the plan should ultimately be the work of the head 
of internal audit setting out their independent view of the 
assurance priorities for the organisation. The plan should be 
developed according to the strategic priorities and risks of 
the organisation, and by consulting key stakeholders such 
as management and the audit committee. While the audit 
committee will be asked to approve the plan and may request 
additional topics or challenge why certain areas are flagged 
as priorities, the plan should remain a reflection of the head of 
internal audit’s view of the organisation’s assurance needs. It 
should also reflect how internal audit can help address those 
assurance requirements.

The chief audit executive must report functionally to 
the board. The chief audit executive must also establish 
effective communication with, and have free and 
unfettered access to, the chief executive (or equivalent) 
and the chair of the audit committee.

Public sector requirement from PSIAS

If we are looking for rigour and added value, 
we can’t have peer reviews for our internal 
audit external quality assessment.

If organisations are not prepared to spend 
once every five years on this type of review, 
what does that say about how they view 
the importance of a quality internal audit 
service? 

Vice Chair, of a London local authority audit committee

Assuring the audit committee on internal audit 
quality
The quality of internal audit must include conforming 
with relevant professional standards. Both the PSIAS and 
the International Standards include a requirement for an 
independent external assessment of internal audit to be 
undertaken at least once every five years. 

Several roundtable participants had received a review or 
had been involved; others were aware of the requirement, 
but budgetary constraints prevented such an external 
assessment from being progressed. Several authorities, 
particularly in local government, have undertaken peer 
reviews as a route to an external assessment. Some 
participants were concerned that this does not add the value 
that a truly independent review would and may miss the 
opportunity to share new practices and ideas, as well as 
potentially being less rigorous. 

Agreed action: 
CIPFA and the CIIA will consider the operation of the quality 
assurance and improvement programme in the public 
services and consult with the Internal Audit Standards 
Advisory Board.

P
age 174



41CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Lack of understanding of assurance – 
immature first and second lines

Internal audit will have the greatest impact in organisations that 
understand and embrace assurance. We look below at some of 
the organisational factors that can hold internal audit back.

A holistic view of assurance?
Assurance is a key element of the governance and risk 
management framework. It provides information and 
feedback to help management and the audit committee 
understand the effectiveness of the internal control 
framework and the robustness of risk management 
arrangements. The independence of assurance is also a 
key factor. Typically, organisations will have assurance 
activity within the first line (front-line activities and the role 
of management), the second line (functions such as risk 
management, compliance and health and safety), with 
internal audit as the most independent source of assurance 
referred to as the third line.

An assurance framework is a structured means of 
identifying and mapping the main sources of assurance 
in an organisation, and co-ordinating them to best effect.

Assurance frameworks, HM Treasury, 2012

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Don’t know

No, but under development

No

Yes

Head of 
internal audit

Senior managerAudit committee 
member

Percentage (%)

Has the organisation identified how it obtains assurance 
across the full range of its activities (sometimes called an 
assurance framework or assurance map)? Responses by 
role.

CIPFA was keen to understand the wider culture of risk 
management and assurance within the public services, and 
therefore the context in which internal audit is provided. 
We asked respondents about the status of an assurance 
framework or similar mechanism within their organisation.

When asked if the organisation has identified how it obtains 
assurance across the full range of its activities, clients were 
significantly more positive than heads of internal audit. This 
may be for a number of reasons, including the understanding 
of what constitutes an effective assurance map, or that 
internal auditors may have higher expectations on the 
formality of such an exercise. 

Of all respondents, only 48% confirmed that their 
organisation had identified how it obtains assurance across 
the full range of its activities. This is surprisingly low, given 
the concept of assurance maps or frameworks has been in 
use for over 20 years. The most positive responses came from 
NHS, police and fire respondents. 

Sixty-four percent of respondents noted that internal auditors 
worked with risk colleagues to support assurance maps and 
identify and understand different sources of assurance. 

There is a need for audit committees to have a key role in 
overseeing the assurance framework, with internal auditors 
being integral not only to delivering assurance, but in 
collecting information and assessing the robustness of other 
assurance activity to help the committee’s understanding of 
the assurances available to the organisation. Through this 
approach, the audit committee acts as a sponsor alongside 
senior management and can help create a culture of seeking 
assurance, feedback and continual improvement to support 
risk management and decision making.

P
age 175



42CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Internal auditors have a vested interest in an effective 
assurance framework and a robust three lines of assurance 
within the organisation. Twenty-five percent of respondents 
thought that internal audit could be more effective if other 
formal assurance activity in the organisation was developed 
(either first or second line). 

Some heads of internal audit noted that where there is no 
second line of assurance, or where second line functions 
are weak, internal audit functions can end up filling that 
gap by providing compliance-focused assurance. This may 
mean less internal audit resource is available for risk-based 
assurance on strategic priorities. 

Crucially, organisations that do not share a good 
understanding of their assurances across management, the 
audit committee and internal audit can be less confident that 
they have robust control arrangements in place. The lack of 
clarity means it is more difficult to make full and effective use 
of internal audit.

Working with other assurance providers
The survey considered internal audit teams’ work with other 
assurance providers and the results showed less awareness 
of this area of activity among clients. 

Sixty-eight percent of heads of internal audit are working 
with risk management colleagues to understand other 
assurances available to the organisation. Fifty-nine percent of 
clients said this was happening in their organisations. 

For some organisations, there will be shared working, 
partnerships or joint ventures with third parties that could 
necessitate internal audit teams from different authorities 
working together. Forty-nine percent of heads of internal 
audit said they are working with internal audit teams from 
other organisations. 

Recommendations:
•  Internal audit plans should set out what other assurances 

are available and any work internal audit has undertaken 
to consider the reliability/scope of those assurances. If 
internal audit has not undertaken any such assessment, 
this should also be noted. For example, the internal audit 
plan could include a different aspect of the second line 
each year to provide assurance on those functions.

•  CIPFA will be publishing guidance on assurance 
frameworks in autumn 2022. While internal audit has an 
important part to play and significant insight to bring to the 
framework, the framework itself should be owned by the 
organisation, typically with sponsorship and oversight from 
the audit committee. 

•  Organisations should use CIPFA’s guidance to review and 
improve their assurance arrangements.

For audit committee members, an assurance 
map gives you a clear view of the assurance 
you need, and where and how that is 
provided. Where the second line is mature, 
internal audit can be freed up to focus on 
more strategic areas. 

Clare Minchington, Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee, Government Internal Audit Agency

P
age 176



43CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The impact of external audit disruption on 
organisations and internal audit
The assurance available to some public sector organisations 
has changed since the Audit Commission was abolished in 
2015. The scope of input, quality and timeliness of external 
audit has changed. The external audit of local government 
and health bodies in England has experienced a period of 
disruption that goes beyond the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The problem has been most acute in local 
government, where audits are undertaken largely after those 
on health bodies are completed. 

The root of the problem is the change to a market provider 
model, where firms compete for contracts. Although local 
audit clients have audit arrangements in place, firms 
have been unable to deliver in accordance with contract 
expectations. The reasons for this were examined in the 
Redmond Review in 2020. 

Following the Redmond Review, the government is taking 
steps to improve the resilience of the public sector external 
audit market and address the report’s recommendations. As 
of spring 2022, the local audit arrangements are still fragile 
and are likely to remain so for a while.

In some bodies, working relations between the external 
auditor and client have become strained because of these 
difficulties. While most bodies initially welcomed reduced 
audit fees, there has been frustration with delays and 
the reduced value that the audit process has offered. 
External auditors themselves report dissatisfaction with the 
arrangements, citing a lack of understanding of the audit 
process among audit committees, low fees and a lack of 
regard for audit findings. 

Some internal auditors have reported that they have little 
contact with external auditors. The reduced reputation of 
external audit in the local government community and less 
interaction between the auditors also contributed to the 
difficulties faced by internal audit teams. Recent events, 
where the consequences of poor governance and poor 
financial management have been exposed, have created 
a greater understanding of the need to invest in and 
support internal audit alongside other aspects of corporate 
arrangements. The changes to the reporting on value for 
money introduced by the NAO from April 2020 onwards are 
helpful, as they create a narrative on the strength of local 
arrangements. 

There are opportunities for internal audit to interact more 
with external auditors to share findings and conclusions. To 
make a real success of this opportunity, the local audit market 
needs to be more robust.

P
age 177

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review


44CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The quantum of internal audit 
resource and assurance

‘How much assurance is enough?’ is perhaps the million-
dollar question, and one to which there is no simple 
answer. The amount of coverage varies from organisation 
to organisation and is informed by various factors such as 
the size and complexity of the organisation, appetite for 
assurance, and the remit of the internal audit function. This 
will, in turn, determine the volume and nature of internal audit 
work and its ability to have an impact.

Appetite for assurance
As already seen, many respondents felt that internal 
audit has sufficient resources to provide the service the 
organisation requires. Some roundtable participants 
challenged the perception of the quantum of assurance 
required and that organisations may need more assurance 
than they appreciate. Therefore, there may be a gap between 
the assurance the organisation has agreed and the level of 
assurance it needs to obtain sufficient feedback and comfort 
on key risks, priorities and systems. 

The quantum of audit provided is perhaps the most 
challenging question for management and the head of 
internal audit, and it is not easy to set out a de minimis level 
that would work for two similar organisations, as there will be 
many factors that affect the risk profile and assurance needs 
of two organisations that, from the outside, seem similar. 

Questions around this may therefore cover areas that are not 
always easily quantifiable.

•  How much assurance do I need to provide to support the 
annual internal audit opinion? What areas of coverage 
should that include?

•  Is there an imbalance between the assurance I believe 
is needed by the organisation and what we are able to 
provide?

•  What change or transformation is occurring and where 
would assurance or advice from internal audit be useful? 
How do we maintain a balance between assurance on 
business as usual and areas of change and development?

•  What other sources of assurance exist? Does the scope of 
these support the work of the audit committee and is that 
assurance robust and reliable?

One of the main factors in different levels of assurance is the 
wider organisation and the budget and resources available 
for internal audit, likely linked to attitude to assurance and 
previous impact of the internal audit function. From group 
discussions, it is possible that difficult conversations will be 
needed around priorities, coverage, resources and internal 
audit’s ability to deliver a more strategic plan.

Smaller internal audit teams noted that networking and 
maintaining relationships with senior management is 
important, but more challenging when the size of the internal 
audit plan does not allow for internal audit to do more than 
a minimum assurance plan – an interdependency between 
resources, impact and engagement with the organisation. 

Recommendation: 
Internal audit plans should provide information on any areas 
not included within the plan and where the head of internal 
audit believes that assurance may be required. This should 
include an explanation of the rationale for non-inclusion, 
which can be used to inform discussions around prioritisation 
of the use of internal audit resources to facilitate a meaningful 
discussion with the audit committee.

P
age 178



45CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Impact of the pandemic
The question of how much assurance is needed has been a 
particular focus during the pandemic. From March 2020, the 
amount of internal audit delivered was impacted in many 
organisations, with internal auditors often redeployed to 
support the first line elsewhere in the organisation. For some 
local government and NHS organisations, this meant halting 
the internal audit plan for April to summer 2020, with further 
redeployments and delays during infection surges in winter 
2020/21 and 2021/22.

Thirty-six percent of respondents said that their internal 
audit plan had been suspended for a period of time. Fifty-
four percent noted that at least some of the internal audit 
team was redeployed to other roles. Eighty-five percent of 
internal audit plans were flexed to respond to emerging risks 
and priorities relating to the pandemic. One of the challenges 
of such disruption is the impact on the ability to provide an 
annual internal audit opinion. Guidance was provided by the 
IASAB, CIPFA, GIAA and HFMA for internal auditors across 
different parts of the public sector. During the pandemic, 
many heads of internal audit had to decide what work must 
continue as a bare minimum to be able to give an annual 
internal audit opinion. 

During the pandemic, internal audit team 
members were redeployed in both 2020/21 
and 2021/22 to support the trust where 
additional resource was needed. While 
internal audit resource was reduced, 
we pivoted the work of remaining team 
members to provide quick-response advisory 
reviews on emerging issues such as the 
setup of a Nightingale Hospital. Even when 
the team returned to internal audit, delivery 
of the plan was challenging due to pressures 
on frontline personnel and management.

While I determined how much assurance I 
needed to support my annual opinion during 
the pandemic, these were exceptional times. 
As a profession, we must acknowledge that 
the reduced quantity of assurance is not 
sustainable to routinely support an opinion 
in the longer term.

Mike Townsend, Head of Internal Audit, Barts Assurance

It was also noted that working remotely has reduced 
internal audit’s ability (as with many teams) to have quick, 
informal chats with colleagues across the organisation, 
which help maintain effective working relationships. Others 
noted that greater pressure on management in response 
to the pandemic meant that in some areas there was less 
willingness to engage with internal audit.

P
age 179



46CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Challenges in delivering the annual internal audit 
opinion
The PSIAS require public sector internal auditors to provide 
an annual opinion. This should inform the organisation’s 
annual governance statement. In some sectors such as 
higher education, the annual internal audit opinion will be 
used by the audit committee in developing its own annual 
report to the governing body. 

The chief audit executive must deliver an annual internal 
audit opinion and report that can be used by the 
organisation to inform its governance statement.

The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control.

The annual report must also include a statement on 
conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards and the results of the quality assurance and 
improvement programme.

Extract from PSIAS

It is the head of internal audit’s responsibility to ensure that 
the audit plan, when taken together with other sources 
of assurance, will provide sufficient assurance to support 
this opinion. In CIPFA’s experience of quality assessments, 
a range of approaches exist to underpin the opinion. For 
this report, we undertook a review using publicly available 
resources of the 2020/21 annual opinion provided at 33 
London boroughs. This analysis reflects the variability of the 
nature and volume of audit work that heads of internal audit 
drew on when forming their annual opinion for 2020/21. 

Many of the opinions reflect the considerations of the head 
of internal audit regarding whether sufficient work has been 
completed on which to base the opinion; reference was made 
in reports to CIPFA’s guidance for internal auditors during the 
pandemic.

Other variations noted across those authorities’ annual 
internal audit reports include the following.

•  The scope of the opinion given. While relevant coverage 
may have been included within internal audit plans, 
36% of the opinions reviewed did not explicitly mention 
governance or risk management in the opinion statement, 
therefore appearing to omit a requirement of PSIAS. 

•  The scope of the organisation on which the opinion is 
given. Some annual opinions appear to be based on work 
both at the authority’s centre as well as in schools. Others 
were silent on this or appear to omit schools audit from 
their opinions, setting out schools’ audit work as a separate 
schedule of activity.

•  The volume of audit work supporting the opinion. 
Several heads of internal audit made a clear statement 
confirming they were satisfied that sufficient quantity 
and coverage of work had been undertaken to allow a 
conclusion to be drawn, and there were none stating they 
were unable to provide an opinion. There was a significant 
difference in the number of audits undertaken across 
the boroughs to support the 2020/21 opinion, varying 
from seven ‘systems audits’ and four ‘schools audits’ to 
authorities drawing on over 40 audits to form the opinion.

•  The form of wording. Many reports remind the reader 
that the assurance provided cannot be absolute, and 
therefore only reasonable assurance can be provided. 
However, the specific wording of the opinion varies, and 
these variations include the following: “adequate and 
effective”, “generally satisfactory”, “reasonable assurance”, 
“moderate assurance”, “limited assurance”, “a reasonable 
level of confidence”, “adequate and remains robust” and 
“good with improvements required in a few areas”. The 
most common conclusion wording used was “reasonable 
assurance”.

•  The work and assurances on which the opinion is 
based. Some opinions clearly state that they are based 
solely on work undertaken by internal audit. Others refer to 
consideration of risk management arrangements and other 
assurances available, including the work of second line 
functions such as anti-fraud teams. Some annual reports 
reflect the nature of audit work, setting out the number of 
assignments in year that were assurance, consultancy, 
follow-up or grant claim reviews, for example. Hillingdon is 
a useful example of this, informing the reader that the total 
number of audit assignments in each year has reduced 
by nearly a third between 2017 and 2021, although the 
overall number of assurance assignments has increased 
within that period. 

Notwithstanding CIPFA’s recognition that factors such as 
organisational complexity and appetite for assurance will 
impact on the quantum of audit, the variability identified in 
the quantum of audits underpinning the annual opinion is 
concerning. 

P
age 180



47CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Agreed action
•  CIPFA will work with the CIIA and IASAB to develop 

guidance on annual internal audit opinions to help heads 
of internal audit provide an opinion and audit committees 
in using that opinion.

•  CIPFA will consider options on how it can facilitate a 
thematic review of annual internal audit opinions, which 
will help heads of internal audit provide context and 
comparators with peers.

Recommendation: 
For local government with education responsibilities, consider 
an annual internal audit report that splits out schools’ audit 
work from the main opinion. This would make clearer the 
nature and quantum of assurance on which the opinion 
relating to the organisation’s central risk management, 
governance and control environment is based.

As a small internal audit team covering both 
the police force and office of the police and 
crime commissioner, I proactively seek out 
other independent assurances and feedback 
that are relevant to the framework of 
governance, risk management and control. 

The annual opinion I give each year is 
based on the internal audit work my team 
has delivered. I use the other assurances 
available to support and sense-check that 
opinion; it is a useful triangulation and 
also provides the Joint Independent Audit 
Committee with a view of the broader 
assurances and feedback from external 
parties during the year. This may include 
a report by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services, 
or assurance from another organisation’s 
internal audit function where a service 
is outsourced or with whom the force 
collaborates.  

Neil Shovell, Chief Internal Auditor, Thames Valley Police and the 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

P
age 181



48CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Organisational culture

Respondents were invited to provide any additional 
comments at the end of the survey. Analysis of text 
responses highlighted that culture was commented on as 
much as resources available for internal audit.

Comments were shared on the scope and coverage of 
internal audit, and that it is important to have a culture 
where internal audit findings are taken as independent, 
objective, professional advice to be acted on and taken into 
consideration. The need for a risk management culture to 
be embedded was also shared, and the ability for internal 
audit to have a voice at the top table to be able to engage in 
new initiatives, change or transformation at an early stage. 
Twenty-six percent of heads of internal audit surveyed felt 
that their role did not have appropriate status within the 
organisation. 

There was also recognition that greater use of data-driven 
tools for routine coverage should release audit resource to 
focus on more impactful work, including areas such as ethics 
and culture as well as governance.

Survey respondents shared views on what could improve 
the impact of internal audit in their organisation. As well as 
comments regarding resources and skills, the responses 
reflect the need for a cultural change, including one of 
assurance in all lines and not just by internal audit, and 
improving the risk maturity of the organisation.

While these areas will require buy-in from management and 
the audit committee, there is clearly a driver for internal audit 
to demonstrate its currency and that it can be strategic in its 
coverage and approach.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Changing the supplier or resourcing model of internal audit

Improving access and engagement of internal audit with the audit committee

Addressing a lack of strategic focus from the board and/or top management

Improving internal audit’s strategic focus

Improving a weak or ineffective audit committee

Demonstrating to the business that internal audit is current

Enabling better engagement of internal audit with top management

Developing other formal assurance activity (such as in the first or second lines) within the organisation

Improving the relevant skills and experience of internal auditors

Supporting the organisation’s understanding of risk and its risk maturity

Changing the organisational culture and attitude to internal audit

Increasing resources (capacity) of internal audit

Improving the understanding of the purpose and value of internal auditing within the organisation

Percentage (%)

Views on what could improve the impact of internal audit in the organisation  
(respondents were asked to select their top three priorities).

P
age 182



49CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The framework for 
internal audit impact
The key elements of the internal audit impact model are defined below: 

Impact 
of internal 

audit

The internal 
audit team

Organisational 
context

Internal audit 
framework

Ex
pe

cta
tions

Appendix A: 

P
age 183



50CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Impact 

The ability of internal audit to support the organisation in 
achieving its strategic objectives and priorities. This will be 
through an appropriate mix of assurance, consulting activity 
and advice. The impact of internal audit will vary across 
organisations based on assurance needs, organisational 
culture, appetite for assurance and driving continual 
improvement.

Expectations

Stakeholder expectations: an impactful internal audit service 
will understand and manage stakeholder expectations. 
Where expectations of internal audit are low, the function 
will exceed these and raise expectations to help stakeholders 
understand the benefits of a modern, engaged internal 
audit function. Stakeholders are likely to include senior 
management, the audit committee and other assurance 
functions.

Audit expectations: internal auditors also set their own 
expectations in response to their professional judgement 
based on standards and their assessment of risks and audit 
needs.

Internal audit framework 

Internal auditing standards: the professional framework 
that provides the foundation for the core quality of internal 
auditing. As a minimum, internal audit functions should be 
conforming with the requirements of these standards.

Internal audit leadership: the function must be led in such 
a way that it strives to make an impact, while engaging 
with the organisation and maintaining its independence 
and objectivity. The head of internal audit must be a senior 
manager with regular and open engagement across the 
organisation, particularly with the leadership team and the 
audit committee.

Alignment with strategic priorities: the internal audit plan 
should be developed to address not only the key risks that 
the organisation faces but also support strategic objectives 
and priorities. This will also entail understanding where other 
assurance exists around strategic objectives and avoiding 
duplication or gaps in assurance. 

Internal audit team

Internal audit skills and resources: there should be a 
clear view of the skills and resources required to deliver the 
assurance that is needed by the organisation to support 
an effective governance and risk management framework. 
Where there are gaps, there are discussions with top 
management and the audit committee to understand the 
impact and to agree action.

Service delivery model: the selected model of delivery 
should enable internal audit’s professional delivery to the 
organisation according to its needs.

Organisational context 

Governance framework: the organisation has an effective 
governance framework and a high-performing audit 
committee, with members with appropriate skills and 
experience. There are clear and unrestricted reporting lines 
for the head of internal audit to the audit committee, including 
private meetings between the head of internal audit and the 
committee. 

Internal audit access to senior management: internal audit 
has unrestricted access to senior management, including 
the chief executive. There is regular dialogue, and the head 
of internal audit attends senior management meetings to be 
able to best understand the changing risks and assurance 
needs of the organisation. 

Risk and assurance culture: the organisation, led by those 
charged with governance, seeks assurance as an integral 
part of its risk management framework and the decision-
making process. Assurance is used to drive improvement and 
is viewed as an activity that supports decision making in all 
aspects of the organisation, both strategic and operational. 
The three lines model may be used as a structure to identify 
and plan assurance activity.  

P
age 184



51CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Appendix B: Maximising the impact of 
internal audit
Ten questions to ask your internal auditors

Suggested questions that senior management and audit committees should be asking to obtain the maximum 
impact from internal audit. Comparing views on these questions with the head of internal audit may also lead to 
some useful discussions.

Engagement with the organisation

1. Does internal audit receive the right level of support and engagement from the audit committee? 

2. Does internal audit get good engagement from across the organisation when it plans and conducts audits?

3.  Do managers within the organisation seek advice or assurance from internal audit?  
What are the drivers of or obstacles to this?

4.  Has the head of internal audit indicated that resources (capability or capacity) need to increase?  
What steps are being taken to address this?

P
age 185



52CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Quality, impact and continual improvement

5.  Does internal audit conform to PSIAS as demonstrated by an independent external quality assessment undertaken within 
the last five years?  
For local government organisations, this should also include conformance with the Local Government Application Note.

6.  What action is internal audit taking to continually improve its quality, engagement and impact for the organisation?  
Is internal audit considering the skills and competencies it will need in the future as well as now?

Assurance

7.  Is there a clear view of the assurance that internal audit does, and does not, provide?  
What assurance is provided by other functions or parties?  
Are there gaps in the assurance that management or the audit committee require?

8.  How do internal audit plans map to the organisation’s strategic priorities and risks? 

9.  How is internal audit developing its approach to providing assurance – for example, making greater use of data or 
undertaking audits with a more strategic focus? 

Strategy

10.  What factors currently determine our internal audit strategy?  
Are we confident that the strategy will deliver our internal audit needs in the future?

P
age 186



53CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Appendix C: References and literature 
considered in our research
In addition to references cited in footnotes, a wide range of literature, websites and reports were reviewed as part of this 
research. The following bibliography provides details of the main sources consulted and contains links to the relevant website 
or document for ease of access.

CIPFA resources

Benchmarking analysis: internal audit in local government (2015)

Facing up to COVID-19 in the public sector: the internal audit response (2020)

Financial Management Code (2019)

Financial Resilience Index (2022)

Local Government Application Note for the UK PSIAS (2019 edition)

Perceptions of audit quality: a survey analysis (2009)

Position statement on audit committees in local authorities and police (2018)

Statement on the role of the head of internal audit in public service organisations (2019)

P
age 187

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/b/benchmarking-analysis-internal-audit-in-local-government-online
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/facing-up-to-covid19-in-the-public-sector
https://www.cipfa.org/fmcode
https://www.cipfa.org/services/financial-resilience-index-2022
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-government-application-note-for-the-uk-psias-2019-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/perceptions-of-audit-quality-a-survey-analysis
https://www.cipfa.org/services/support-for-audit-committees
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit


54CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Online resources

Assurance frameworks (HM Treasury, 2012)

Assurance, reassurance and performance (Good Governance Institute, 2021)

Audit and Inspection of Local Authorities in England: five years after the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 – Parliamentary Academic Fellowship report by Professor Laurence 
Ferry (UK Parliament, 2019)

Avoiding the blind spot: supporting financial stability and resilience (Chartered Institute of 
Internal Auditors, 2021)

Developing an overall opinion during the pandemic crisis – considerations for 2021/22 and 
reflections on 2020/21 (Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board)

Government Functional Standard GovS 009: Internal Audit (Government Internal Audit 
Agency)

Head of internal audit annual opinion: key considerations for 2021/22 (HFMA, 2022)

Independent review into the oversight of local audit and the transparency of local authority 
financial reporting (Sir Tony Redmond, 2020)

Internal Audit Code of Practice: guidance on effective internal audit in the private and third 
sectors (Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors, 2020)

Local authority governance (National Audit Office, 2019)

Models of effective internal audit: how to organise a successful internal audit function 
(Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors, 2015)

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) (Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board, 
2017)

The Future of Jobs Report (World Economic Forum, 2020)

Value proposition for internal audit (The Institute of Internal Auditors)

Legislation

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015

Other academic references
Domingos M. Sequeira de Almeida (2007): The Value of Internal Audit (first published in 
Auditoria Interna), Lisbon: Instituto Português de Auditoria Interna (IPAI)

Eulerich, M and Lenz, R (2020): Defining, Measuring and Communicating the Value of Internal 
Audit, Florida: Internal Audit Foundation

Eulerich A and Eulerich M (2020): What is the value of internal auditing? – A literature review 
on qualitative and quantitative perspectives (published in Maandblad Voor Accountancy en 
Bedrijfseconomie, Amsterdam University Press)

P
age 188

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/270485/assurance_frameworks_191212.pdf
https://www.good-governance.org.uk/publications/insights/assurance-reassurance-and-performance
https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/documents/commons-committees/communities-and-local-government/Correspondence/Ferry-local-authorities-audit-report.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/documents/commons-committees/communities-and-local-government/Correspondence/Ferry-local-authorities-audit-report.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/documents/commons-committees/communities-and-local-government/Correspondence/Ferry-local-authorities-audit-report.pdf
https://www.iia.org.uk/policy-and-research/research-reports/avoiding-the-blind-spot-supporting-financial-stability-and-resilience/
https://www.iasab.org/covid-19
https://www.iasab.org/covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-functional-standard-govs-009-internal-audit
https://www.hfma.org.uk/docs/default-source/publications/briefings/head-of-internal-audit-opinion-final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.iia.org.uk/media/1691066/internal-audit-code-of-practice-report.pdf
https://www.iia.org.uk/media/1691066/internal-audit-code-of-practice-report.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Local-authority-governance.pdf
https://www.iia.org.uk/media/1275511/Models-for-Effective-Internal-Audit-FINAL.pdf
https://www.iasab.org/standards
https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020.pdf
https://www.theiia.org/en/about-us/about-internal-audit/value-proposition
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234


55CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

Appendix D: Research methodology
This project was initiated in autumn 2021, with a survey open for one month, and roundtable discussions, wider research and 
interviews held during winter 2021.

Online survey – technical summary

On 6 October 2021, 5,120 individuals were invited by email to take part in the ‘Internal audit in public services’ online survey. 

These individuals worked in central government, education, local government or housing and were in a job role described as 
being either audit or finance related or were a political appointment, eg a councillor.

Each person was contacted a maximum of four times: the initial email followed by up to three reminders (issued on 13 October, 
20 October and 27 October). Potential respondents only received a reminder if they had not started or fully completed the 
survey. The number of people contacted/responded per wave is as follows.

•  Wave 1 (initial): 5,120 issued/193 completed (45%)

•  Wave 2 (first reminder): 4,921 issued/112 completed (26%)

•  Wave 3 (second reminder): 4,179 issued/83 completed (20%)

•  Wave 4 (third reminder): 4,720 issued/37 completed (9%)

•  Total completed: 425

Links to the survey were also distributed to members of the following organisations and groups: HAIF, TIAN, CHEIA, National 
Housing Federation, GIAA, BUFDG, CIPFA Internal Audit Special Interest Group, IASAB, CIIA and the CIPFA Governance Audit 
Risk and Assurance working group. This yielded a further 328 responses. We also received 78 responses that we judged to be 
sufficiently complete to include in our report. This brought the total number of responses to 831.

P
age 189



56CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

The survey consisted of 23 questions, and if the respondent was not in an audit role, four 
questions were omitted. From a statistical perspective, while we’re unable to provide a total 
response rate, we can make certain judgements about the reliability of our results. 

Responses Confidence level Error rate

400 95% ±5.0%

700 95% ±4.0%

1,000 95% ±3.0%

Consequently, the statistical validity for this survey can be viewed as being highly credible.

Responses Confidence level Error rate

831 95% ±3.4%

What does this mean, or what impact does this error rate of ±3.4% have on our results? The 
simplest way to describe this is by example. If the result for any given question is, say, 51% 
‘yes’ and 49% ‘no’, then this difference (2%) is lower than our error rate and is consequently 
not significant. If the result is 55% ‘yes’ and 45% ‘no’, then the difference (10%) is greater than 
the error and can be consequently said to be significant.

The other method by which we can assess the integrity of the survey is by undertaking an 
evaluation of potential bias. In other words: to what extent do the profiles of respondents 
match those of our population of interest? However, this assessment of bias comes with 
a caveat: the only profile information we have access to is that of the 5,120 we originally 
canvassed. Consequently, we have to assume that the profile of this cohort is similar to that of 
the other member organisations that raised awareness of our survey.

The profiling information being used for assessing bias relates to the person’s level of seniority 
and their job role – see tables below.

Level of seniority Population Respondents Difference

Operational 53.2% 38.1% -15.1%

Head 16.2% 23.7% 7.5%

Director 16.1% 18.5% 2.4%

Manager 13.3% 16.8% 3.5%

Other 1.2% 2.8% 1.7%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

The ‘difference’ illustrates the extent to which the respondent profile differs from that of the 
population of interest, ie the 5,130 people canvassed. The results would appear to suggest 
that we had a smaller proportion of operational staff taking part than that of our population, 
and consequently larger proportions of managers and senior managers. It could be argued 
that having a larger proportion of managers/senior managers’ views is a positive thing.

Job role Population Respondents Difference

Audit 69.1% 67.5% -1.5%

Finance 12.4% 14.6% 2.2%

Councillor 11.2% 7.6% -3.5%

Other 7.4% 10.2% 2.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

P
age 190



57CIPFA Thinks | Internal audit: untapped potential

An identical comparison but based on the job role shows that any bias is far less obvious. 
Essentially, where the ‘difference’ is at or around 2%, then we would claim that any bias 
is within acceptable bounds. From this perspective, we can claim that our results are 
representative.

Roundtable meetings

Of the 831 survey respondents, 143 agreed to get involved. Respondents were organised into 
five groups, generally corresponding to their job roles, eg heads of internal audit; clients, audit 
committee chairs; clients, senior managers; auditors, excluding heads of; and selected heads 
of internal audit together with clients. Four of these roundtables took place in November 2021 
and one took place in December 2021. To help stimulate debate and to ensure that specified 
topics were discussed, a guide was created based on the findings from the online survey. 

However, the content did vary from group to group, but it generally covered:

•  assurance frameworks/risk management

•  resources and skills

•  IT, including digitisation, real-time assurance and analytics

•  being strategic

•  changing perceptions/improving understanding of internal audit

•  the future.

Each roundtable was hosted on Microsoft Teams and, with the necessary approvals in place, 
recorded. The recordings were uploaded to Otter AI for transcription, and a Word document 
was created for each roundtable. The original audio/visual document was also retained. The 
contents of the various Word documents were imported into NVivo’s text analytics software, 
allowing us to identify the key themes arising and the comments that best illustrated them.

Sector of respondents %

Local government body 76

Civil Service – central government department, including NDPB/agencies 9

Police/fire 6

Education/FE/HE 4

Other public sector/social enterprise/charity/not-for-profit/housing/social care 3

NHS/health body 2

Role of respondents %

Qualified/experienced internal auditor, including trainee internal auditor 37

Head of internal audit or equivalent 29

Executive/senior manager 18

Audit committee member 13

Other 3

Internal audit resourcing model %

In-house internal audit team 57

Outsourced to an external provider 23

In-house team with a co-sourced arrangement 18

Contractor/outsourced head of internal audit managing an in-house team 3

P
age 191



cipfa.org

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 
+44 (0)20 7543 5600 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.
Registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060
Registered with the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator No SC037963.

P
age 192

http://www.cipfa.org


 
Report Title 

 
Risk Management Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risks and Mitigations Yes, see paragraph 4.1  
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 10

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


  

Page 194



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
  

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing 
to embed this system during the first quarter of 2022-23. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system 
of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 

since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 
  

  

Page 195



5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
Appendices: 
 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Register Summary  
 
 

Page 196



 
 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
 
Audit and Governance Committee 
27 July 2022 
 
Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 197



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 
   

            Page 
  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        6 
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 198



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the Combined Authority’s risk management activity for the first quarter 
of 2022-23. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 
obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 
corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 
date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

• an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report; and 
• the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.   

P
age 199



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in excess 

of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and graded as “red”.  These are the risks which present the most significant threats to the 
achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole Combined Authority. 

2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 
who is a member of ELT, and they are responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its impact and 
likelihood to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

2.3 The Corporate Risk Register has fully reviewed by ELT for 2022-23, and this has resulted in the re-framing of some of the 
risks and the addition of a new risk – Financial Sustainability.  The six corporate risks are: 

P
age 200



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 4 
 
 

 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by each individual 
Executive Director in their capacity as Risk Owners, with the objective of ensuring that: 

• The risks identified are pertinent; 
• The control measures are in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been implemented; 
• The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 
• The actions identified are appropriate, and progress is being made in progressing these; 
• Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

Accountability

There is risk that 
the Combined 

Authority does not 
develop and 

maintain sufficient 
capacity to deliver 
its obligations and 

responsibilities.

Resilience

There is a risk that 
the Combined 

Authority fails to 
develop and 

maintain robust 
arrangements to 
ensure business 
resilience and 

continuity.

Environment

There is a risk that 
the City Region 

does not achieve 
its ambition of 
being net zero 

carbon by 2040.

Transport

There is a risk that 
the role of 
transport in 

supporting the 
social, economic 

and environmental 
objectives of the 

City Region is not 
maximised.

Economic 
Prosperity

There is a risk that 
the Combined 

Authority does not 
contribute 

positively to 
economic 

prosperity within 
the City Region.

Financial 
Sustainability

There is a risk that  
financial pressures 

will impact 
negatively on the 

financial 
sustainability of 
the Combined 

Authority. 

P
age 201



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 5 
 
 

• Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

2.5 The results of this review were: 

• The risk descriptions and risk scores have been reviewed and updated to reflect the priorities set out in the Corporate 
Plan; 

• A further risk relating to financial sustainability has also been identified and actions to mitigate this risk have been 
agreed by both Executive Leadership Team and the relevant Executive Director;   

• All actions have been reviewed and assigned action owners and target dates to further progress mitigations for each 
of the six risks; and  

• The bi-monthly reviews with Executive Directors and the Risk Manager have been diarised to capture updates on 
progress with regard to actions. 
 

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.   

  

P
age 202



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 6 
 
 

 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Internal Audit continues to play a key role in facilitating the system of risk management.  Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

• Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 
emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 
the organisation.  The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and 
where there are synergies or common areas of risk.  Recent meetings have identified that a number of Directorates are 
identifying risks such as supply chain and staffing capacity as starting to have an impact on delivery.  Task and finish 
groups have been established as spin-offs from the Risk Group to look at supply chain and ethical investment risks and 
the organisational approaches to these.   

• Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Plans; 

• Facilitating the Executive Leadership Team discussions on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update 
of the Corporate Risk Register; 

• Development and launch of a risk management skills training offer for senior managers; 
• Development and launch of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk 

management; 
• Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team;  
• Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 

and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities;  
• Following its approval at the July 2021 Audit and Governance Committee meeting, continued roll out of the Risk 

Management Policy and revised risk register template across the organisation; and 
• Established an individual “SharePoint” folder for all Directorates to enable access to risk information in one dedicated 

location.  

P
age 203



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 7 
 
 

 
 

3.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 
delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process continues.  

For this reason, the service has adopted two performance indicators, which are designed to measure the extent to which risk 
management data is being utilised to drive delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities. The latest information shows the 
following: 

Description Performance  Progress 
Rating 

Percentage of service areas with a Risk Register that 
complies with the Risk Management Policy 

88% Amber 

Percentage of corporate risks that have a suitable action 
plan in place 

100%  Green 

 

3.3 Most service areas have an up-to-date service risk register, but work continues to ensure a consistent approach to embedding 
risk across directorates. There has been a positive increase in the request for risk workshops to assist in this process.    

3.4 During 2021-22, Internal Audit conducted a review of the organisation’s risk management arrangements.  The overall opinion 
for this work was a Minor organisational risk, and there were a number of recommendations made and these, along with an 
update on the progress being made to implement the actions, are detailed in the table below:   

 

P
age 204



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 8 
 
 

 Recommendation Action and Update Implementation Date 
1. The wording included in the Risk Management Policy should be reviewed, 

to determine whether all key areas of the organisation are encapsulated as 
part of the requirement to produce a Service Risk Register.  Any update to 
the wording/requirement should be approved as part of the next review of 
the Policy; and any new applicable areas of the organisation notified 
accordingly.  A list of agreed service areas, for which a Risk Register is 
required, should be utilised as part of implementing Recommendation 02. 

The policy is reviewed 
annually and is due for 
review in August 2022. 
The point will be taken 
into account during this 
review / update. 

31 August 2022 

2. The applicable 'risk register' folders within Teams/SharePoint, should be 
reviewed and updated, to ensure each contains the correct Risk Registers 
(i.e., for the directorate; and all are correctly named), with access and 
permissions appropriately assigned to relevant officers. 

The SharePoint has 
been set up and relevant 
access permissions 
established for those 
registers contained 
therein. Further registers 
will be added once 
completed and the 
access granted in the 
same manner. 

30 September 2022 

3. Advice should be sought (likely to be from the organisation's Senior 
Information Management Officer) to determine whether Service Risk 
Registers could, for example, be subject to a Freedom of Information 
request, and reach the public domain.  
 
Steps should be taken in response to the advice provided, primarily: 
- notifying officers responsible for Service Risk Registers Heads of 
Service/Assistant Directors of the outcome; 
- updating the Risk Management Policy to reflect the advice; 
- ensuring the content of Service Risk Registers is reviewed and deemed 
appropriate (depending upon the advice provided, it may be that the 
information contained within some Registers needs to be scaled back; or 
alternatively, it may that additional information can now be included). 

The matter has been 
discussed with the 
Senior Information 
Management Officer and 
it is believed that Service 
Risk Registers are 
unlikely to be the subject 
of a Freedom of 
Information request. 

31 July 2022 

P
age 205



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, July 2022 Page | 9 
 
 

 Recommendation Action and Update Implementation Date 
4. The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust Risk Register is in 

place for each applicable area of the organisation (by the end of Q1 
2022/23). Formal feedback should be provided to the relevant manager 
and Executive Director in those instances where it is felt the Risk Register 
does not meet expectations and/or has not been produced.  Reminders 
should be issued on a quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being 
reviewed and updated; and feedback provided to Executive Directors 
where there is evidence of non-compliance. 

Work to support service 
areas in this respect is 
ongoing. 

30 September 2022 

5. The Risk Register template should be reviewed, and a decision taken as to 
whether the format can be enhanced, in order to: 
- facilitate the inclusion of comments (by both the ‘Risk Owner’ and/or the 
‘Risk Team’) in a more effective manner; and  
- clearly flag where an amendment has been made that impacts upon the 
risk ‘rag’ rating. 

The risk register 
template will be reviewed 
/ updated in line with the 
Risk Management Policy 
which is reviewed 
annually and is due for 
review / update in August 
22. This point will be 
considered and 
implemented as 
appropriate as part of 
that process. 

31 August 2022 

 

3.5 The reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 
and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management arrangements are embedded 
into the organisation. 

 

P
age 206



Corporate Risk Register 2022-23

July 2022

P
age 207



Corporate Risks

Accountability

There is risk that the 
Combined Authority 

does not develop and 
maintain sufficient 

capacity to deliver its 
obligations and 
responsibilities.

Resilience

There is a risk that the 
Combined Authority fails 
to develop and maintain 
robust arrangements to 

ensure business 
resilience and continuity.

Environment

There is a risk that the 
City Region does not 

achieve its ambition of 
being net zero carbon by 

2040.

Transport

There is a risk that the 
role of transport in 

supporting the social, 
economic and 

environmental objectives 
of the City Region is not 

maximised.

Economic Prosperity

There is a risk that the 
Combined Authority 
does not contribute 

positively to economic 
prosperity within the City 

Region.

Financial Sustainability

There is a risk that  
financial pressures will 

impact negatively on the 
financial sustainability of 
the Combined Authority. 

P
age 208



Risk 1: Accountability- There is risk that the Combined Authority does not develop 
and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and responsibilities

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery
Controls:

• Assurance Framework approved by Government 

• Delivery track record, for example Getting Building Fund, Adult Education Budget, Households into Work

• Use of 'single pot' approach with freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines

• Regular reporting of performance to relevant delivery boards to identify and resolve barriers to delivery

• Annual conversation with Government and associated feedback

• Resource funding to support delivery of projects

P
age 209



Risk 1: Accountability

Actions:

• Strengthen collaborative approach with Local Authorities to support and 
develop their delivery capacity and encouraging the use of the pre-
development funding offer 

• Using opportunities to develop a shared vision with Local Authorities

• Explore internal capacity and identify responsibilities and/or key roles 
including consideration of shared resources (procurement, legal etc)

• Develop delivery infrastructure for future funding projects

• Residual Score:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

• Next Review:

September 
2022

16

P
age 210



Risk 2: Resilience - There is a risk that the Combined Authority fails to develop 
and maintain robust arrangements to ensure business resilience and continuity

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery

Controls:

• Suite of supporting ICT policies

• Business continuity arrangements detailed in Business Continuity Policy

• Regular business continuity desk top exercises

• Member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF)

• Cyber Essentials Plus accredited

• Internal Resilience Group established 

P
age 211



Risk 2: Resilience

Actions:

• Business Continuity Management (BCM) training package to be scoped 
and agreed

• Quarterly report to be drafted to provide Directors update information 
on BCM plans and activities in each service area

• Develop and agree reporting process for Chief Executive on all BCM 
plans and activities 

• Deliver the Cyber Security Action Plan

• Cyber risk training to be scoped and rolled out to ELT and relevant 
officers

20

• Residual Score:

• Next Review:

September 
2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 212



Risk 3: Environment - There is a risk that the City Region does not achieve its ambition of 
being net zero carbon by 2040.

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 
Controls:

• ‘Pathway to Net Zero’ document published

• Lobbying of Government for funding

• Development of sustainable transport solutions

• Net Zero Delivery Board established

• Climate partnership involving external partners

• Climate and renewable energy portfolio role established 

P
age 213



Risk 3: Environment

Actions:

• Net Zero Carbon approach to all policy development and SIF projects to 
be implemented  

• Develop an affordable Net Zero delivery plan for 3-5 years

• Establish next phase of tidal project in conjunction with other renewable 
clean sources 

• “Stock” risk to be added to all service risk registers for consideration by 
Senior Leadership Team and  Project Lead Officers

• Develop a Net Zero performance monitoring framework

• Roll out climate literacy training across all Directorates

• Develop a delivery plan for the de-carbonisation of the CA estate

• Residual Score:

20

• Next Review:

• Progress on completion of 
Actions within timescale:

September 
2022

Amber

P
age 214



Risk 4: Transport - There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, economic 
and environmental objectives of the City Region is not maximised

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place
Controls:

• Delivery Boards established which include regular reporting on performance to identify and resolve barriers to delivery of 
key projects

• Directorate Plan that aligns to corporate priorities

• Service specific plans to both manage business as usual and new project activities

• Qualified and expert staff delivering a range of transport-related services, including overseeing and operating the rail 
network, the bus net work, the active travel net work,  the key route network (including tunnels) and the Mersey Ferries 

• Appropriate level of resource / capacity  identified  (See Actions)

• Ongoing work with transport partners / operators to maintain and improve service delivery

• Established business continuity and contingency plans for directly operated services

• Recording and monitoring of use across all modes, changing services to reflect demand

P
age 215



Risk 4: Transport

Actions:

• Work with Executive Director Corporate Development and Delivery to 
establish interconnecting activities on resilience relating to transport

• Ensure transport solutions align to the wider Place agenda

• Improve evidence and intelligence to prioritise schemes /services and 
make evidence-based decisions

• Develop an investment programme on directly operated assets to 
ensure service continuity 

• Maximise potential of digital technology on the transport network

• Seek solutions to issues that are not mode specific – joined up approach 
to build capacity and resources in the right place to ensure delivery 
objectives are met

• Ensure that all transport activity and investment strives to contribute to 
Net Zero ambition

• Residual Score:

20

• Next Review:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

September 
2022

Amber

P
age 216



Risk 5: Economic Prosperity - There is a risk that the Combined Authority does not 
contribute positively to economic prosperity within the City Region

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery

Controls:

• Plan for Prosperity sets out priorities for economy and investment 

• Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams required to support economic recovery 
and influence prosperity

• Delivery Boards established

• Assurance Framework 

• Evaluation Framework

P
age 217



Risk 5: Economic Prosperity

Actions:

• Embed Plan for Prosperity and keep under review so that content 
remains current and relevant

• Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased 
partnership/investment in recovery/growth projects 

• Develop and deliver recovery/growth projects on prioritised basis 

• Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic 
recovery 

• Develop longer term view and strengthen linkages to the Investment 
Strategy

• Residual Score:

20

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

• Next Review:

September 
2022

P
age 218



Risk 6: Financial Sustainability - There is a risk that  financial pressures will impact 
negatively on the financial sustainability of the Combined Authority. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Services

Controls:

• Budget monitoring and reporting processes  

• Reserves Policy and strategy for use of reserves

• Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules in place

• Income and expenditure controls 

• Delegated Authority and Scheme of Delegation in place

• Financial risk and reserves embedded into reporting

• SIF Assurance Framework

P
age 219



Risk 6: Financial Sustainability

Actions:

• Progress towards medium term financial planning

• Develop organisational approach to maximisation of income and 
identification and delivery of budget efficiencies

• Investigate opportunities for commercial income 

• Develop sustainable models for addressing the cumulative financial risks 
associated with evolving methods of transport delivery

• Ensure consideration given to inflation rises, increased cost of living, 
energy crisis and value for money, especially in respect of Procurement 
and Investments 

• Residual Score:

20

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Red

• Next Review:

September 
2022

P
age 220



 
Report Title 

 
Combined Authority Audit Strategy 
Memorandum  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Policy, Reform and Resources 

Summary of decision being sought  Approval 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

No 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation No  

Page 221

Agenda Item 11



implications 
 
Contact Officer(s) Assistant Director of Finance  

 
Appendices Yes – Appendix One – Audit Strategy 

Memorandum 
 

Background Documents No  
 

 
  

Page 222



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

Report of the  
 

COMBINED AUTHORITY AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report provides the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee with 
Mazars Audit Strategy Memorandum (ASM) which details their proposed approach 
to the audit of the Combined Authority’s financial statements for the financial year 
2021/22 for consideration and comment. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) Note the external audit plan as detailed in the ASM appended to this report; 
(b) Consider the approach detailed and provide comments on the proposals; 

and 
(c) Recommend the approval of the ASM subject to any comments or 

amendments proposed. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. The statutory powers and responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2012 and the National Audit Office’s Code of 
Audit Practice. 

 
3.2 The external audit process has two key objectives namely; 
 

a) Providing an opinion on the financial statements (including the Annual 
Governance Statement); and 

b) Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. 

 
3.3 To demonstrate how these objectives have been met, the Combined Authority’s 

External Auditors, Mazars, have prepared the external audit plan (the ASM) in 
respect of the 2021/22 financial statements audit and value for money work which is 
attached to this report at Appendix One for Members consideration and comment. 

 
 
 
 

Page 223



4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Financial 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 
 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 

4.3 Climate Change  
   

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.4 Equality and Diversity  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.5 Social Value 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.6 Human Resources  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.7 Physical Assets 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

 
4.8  Information Technology 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 

4.9 Legal  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.10 Risks and Mitigation  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.11 Privacy  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 

Page 224



4.12 Communication and Consultation  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 

The External Auditor’s ASM details their proposed approach to the 2021/22 audit of 
the annual statement of accounts for the Combined Authority and is shared with 
Members of the Audit and Governance Committee for consideration and comment. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY  
Executive Director  
Corporate Services 

   

STEVE ROTHERHAM  
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
  

 
 
Date:  …27/07/2022…………………………. 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 LCRCA Audit Strategy Memorandum 2021/22 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Strategy Memorandum

P
age 227



01
02
03
04
05
06
07
08

Contents

Engagement and responsibilities summary
Your audit engagement team
Audit scope, approach and timeline
Significant risks and other key judgement areas
Value for money
Fees for audit and other services
Our commitment to independence
Materiality and misstatements

Appendix – Key communication points

This document is to be regarded as confidential to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. It has been prepared for the sole use of Audit and Governance Committee as the appropriate sub-committee charged with 
governance. No responsibility is accepted to any other person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a third party.

2

P
age 228



Members of the Audit and Governance Committee
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
1 Mann Island
Liverpool
L3 1 BP

12 July  2022

Dear Sirs / Madams 

Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2022 
We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for the year ending 31 March 2022. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight significant 
audit risks and areas of key judgements and provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its clients, section 7 of this document also 
summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors. We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:

• reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;

• sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;

• providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and

• ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
which may affect the audit, including the likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.

With that in mind, we see this document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, as being the basis for a discussion around our audit approach, any questions, concerns or input you 
may have on our approach or role as auditor. This document also contains an appendix that outlines our key communications with you during the course of the audit,

Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to provide technical excellence with the highest level of service quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or 
comments about this document or audit approach, please contact me on 07795 506766.

Yours faithfully

Mark Dalton

Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP
One St Peter’s Square

Manchester
M2 3DE

Mazars LLP – One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE
Tel: 0161 234 9200 – www.mazars.co.uk
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, 
London E1W 1DD.
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

P
age 229



Section 01:
Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

P
age 230



Value for money
We are also responsible for forming a commentary on the 
arrangements that Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.  We discuss our approach to Value for Money work 
further in section 5 of this report.

1. Engagement and responsibilities summary

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Audit opinion
We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the 
financial statements. Our audit does not relieve management or 
Audit and Governance Committee, as those charged with 
governance, of their responsibilities.

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the assessment of 
whether is it appropriate for Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority to prepare its accounts on a going concern basis. As 
auditors, we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding, and conclude on: a) whether a material 
uncertainty related to going concern exists; and b) consider the 
appropriateness of the Chief Finance Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements.

Fraud
The responsibility for safeguarding assets and for the prevention and 
detection of fraud, error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests 
with both those charged with governance and management. This includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls over reliability of financial 
reporting.  

As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to 
enquire of those charged with governance, including key management as to 
their knowledge of instances of fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on 
internal controls that mitigate the fraud risks. In accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so 
as to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. However our audit should not be relied upon to identify all such 
misstatements.

Wider reporting and electors’ rights
We report to the NAO on the consistency of Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority’s financial statements with its Whole of Government
Accounts (WGA) submission.

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the
elector, the opportunity to question us about the accounting records of
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and consider any objection
made to the accounts. We also have a broad range of reporting
responsibilities and powers that are unique to the audit of local authorities
in the United Kingdom

5

Responsibilities

Overview of engagement
We are appointed to perform the external audit of for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for the year to 31 March 2022. The scope of our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited 
Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/. Our responsibilities 
are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below.

P
age 231

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/


Section 02:
Your audit engagement team

P
age 232



2. Your audit engagement team

7

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Your external audit service continues to be led by Mark Dalton. A summary of key team members are 
detailed below:

Who Role E-mail

Mark Dalton Engagement Lead Mark.Dalton@mazars.co.uk

Dawn Watson Engagement Manager Dawn.Watson@mazars.co.uk

Amy Duke Engagement Audit Senior Amy.Duke@mazars.co.uk

P
age 233

mailto:mark.Surridge@mazars.co.uk
mailto:Dawn.Watson@mazars.co.uk
mailto:Amy.Duke@mazars.co.uk


Section 03:
Audit scope, approach and timeline

8

P
age 234



3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Audit scope
Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.

Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our 
engagement. Our work is focused on those aspects of your activities which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those impacted by management judgement and estimation, application of new 
accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which have been found to contain material errors in the past.

Audit approach
Our audit approach is risk-based and primarily driven by the issues that we consider lead to a higher risk of material misstatement of the accounts. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our audit strategy and 
design audit procedures in response to this assessment.

If we conclude that appropriately-designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may 
take a wholly substantive approach to our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and comprise: tests of details (of classes of transactions, 
account balances, and disclosures); and substantive analytical procedures. Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of controls, we are 
required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure.

Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a 
misstatement is explained in more detail in section 8.

The diagram on the next page outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.

9

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 235



10

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Planning – January 2022
• Planning visit and developing our understanding of the Authority
• Initial opinion and value for money risk assessments
• Considering proposed accounting treatments and accounting policies
• Developing the audit strategy and planning the audit work to be performed
• Agreeing timetable and deadlines
• Preliminary analytical review

Completion - September 2022
• Final review and disclosure checklist of financial statements
• Final Engagement Lead review
• Agreeing content of letter of representation
• Reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee
• Reviewing subsequent events
• Signing the auditor’s report

Interim – March 2022
• Documenting systems and controls
• Performing walkthroughs
• Early substantive testing of transactions
• Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary

Fieldwork – August to September 2022
• Receiving and reviewing draft financial statements
• Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary
• Executing the strategy starting with significant risks and high risk areas
• Communicating progress and issues
• Clearance meeting

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

DLUHC have confirmed that audited accounts for local authorities for 2021/22 are required by 30 November 2022, however they have yet to confirm the final financial reporting timeline for 2021/22 in respect of draft accounts 
submission. It is expected that they will be required by 31 July 2022. We will work with the Authority to agree a detailed plan to help ensure that it can meet the submission dates

Value for Money
We plan to complete and report our Value for Money arrangements work within three months of our audit opinion, per National Audit Office (NAO) guidance. See section 5 of this report for more details of our work in this area.

P
age 236



11

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Working with internal audit
Where possible we will seek to utilise the work performed by internal audit to modify the nature, extent and
timing of our audit procedures. We will meet with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their
work prior to the commencement of our controls evaluation procedures.

Management’s and our experts
Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Authority’s financial statements. We
also use experts to assist us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.

Service organisations

Service Organisations

International Auditing Standards (UK) (ISAs) define service organisations as third party organisations that
provide services to the Authority that are part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are
required to obtain an understanding of the services provided by service organisations as well as evaluating the
design and implementation of controls over those services. The table below summarises the service
organisations used by the Authority and our planned audit approach.

Item of account Management’s expert Our expert

Defined benefit liability Mercer – Actuary for the
Merseyside Pension Fund PwC as NAO’s consulting actuary

Property, plant and
equipment valuation

District Valuer Service - Property
Services - part of the Valuation
Office Agency.

We will use available third party
information to challenge the 
valuer’s key assumptions.

Financial instrument
disclosures Link Asset Services

We will review the expert’s 
methodology in calculating the fair 
value disclosures to confirm the 
reasonableness of assumptions
used

Items of account Service organisation Audit approach

Payroll Expenditure CGI

We plan to obtain assurance by
understanding the processes and
controls that the Authority has in
place to assure itself that
transactions are processed
correctly. Our testing will include
sample testing of transactions
based on evidence available from
the Authority rather than the shared
service provider.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 237



12

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Group audit approach
The Authority prepares Group accounts and consolidates the following body:

• Merseytravel (including Mersey Ferries and Merseytravel Passenger Transport Services Limited)

Mazars UK are the appointed auditor for Merseytravel. As such we are the appointed auditor for 100% of the Group’s total expenditure.

The approach to the Group audit is set out below:

Entity Location Auditor Scope Planned audit approach

Merseytravel Liverpool Mazars LLP Full-scope audit
procedures

We will:
• complete full-scope audit procedures on Merseytravel’s financial statements; and
• review the consolidation process and adjustments made by LCRCA in preparing group financial statements.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

We apply a separate materiality for the audit of the Group accounts as set out in Section 8.

The Authority also holds investments and interests in other bodies. Management carry out an annual assessment to see if these bodies have become sufficiently material to warrant consolidation into the Group accounts. 
LCR Chrysalis Holdings Ltd, LCR Urban Development Fund and Growth Platform  were not consolidated in 2020/21 because their inclusion would not materially alter the accounts. We will, as highlighted on page 18, revisit 
management’s assessment of the Group for 2021/22.

We have not identified any significant risks for Group accounts purposes in relation to the components. The significant risks and areas of audit focus for the Authority as a single-entity are set out in section 4.

P
age 238



Section 04:
Significant risks and other key 
judgement areas

13

P
age 239



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified risks 
relevant to the audit of financial statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced 
or standard. The definitions of the level of risk rating are given below:

Significant risk
A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment, 
requires special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the 
entity’s controls, including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk
An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement at audit assertion level other than 
a significant risk. Enhanced risks require additional consideration but does not rise to the level of a significant 
risk, these include but may not be limited to:

• key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not 
considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

• other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

Standard risk

This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing 
and require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement 
(RMM), there are no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential 
misstatements or the likelihood of the risk occurring. 

14

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 240



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Specific identified audit risks and planned testing strategy
We have presented below our risk assessment, and also our testing approach with respect to significant risks. An audit is a dynamic process, should we change our view of risk or approach to address the identified risks during the 
course of our audit, we will report this to the Audit and Governance Committee.

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

1 Management override of controls 
This is a mandatory significant risk on all audits due to the 
unpredictable way in which such override could occur.

Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate 
accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 
Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur 
there is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud on 
all audits.

We plan to address the management override of controls risk through 
performing audit work over accounting estimates, journal entries and 
significant transactions outside the normal course of business or otherwise 
unusual. 

15

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 241



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

2 Net defined benefit liability valuation

The net pension liability represents a material element of Liverpool
City Region Combined Authority's balance sheet. The Authority is
an admitted body of the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF).

The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme relies on a
number of assumptions, most notably around the actuarial
assumptions, and actuarial methodology which results in the
Authority’s overall valuation.

There are financial assumptions and demographic assumptions
used in the calculation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and
mortality rates. The assumptions should also reflect the profile of the
Authority’s employees, and should be based on appropriate data.
The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year
to year, or updated to reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in
valuing the Authority’s pension obligation are not reasonable or
appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances. This could have a
material impact to the net pension liability in 2021/22.

In relation to the valuation of the Authority’s defined benefit pension liability
we will:

• critically assess the competency, objectivity and independence of the 
MPF’s Actuary, Mercers;

• Liaise with the auditors of the Merseyside Pension Fund to gain 
assurance that the controls in place at the Pension Fund are operating 
effectively. This will include the processes and controls in place to 
ensure data provided to the Actuary by the Pension Fund for the 
purposes of the IAS19 valuation is complete and accurate;

• Review the appropriateness of the Pension Asset and Liability valuation 
methodologies applied by the Pension Fund Actuary, and the key 
assumptions included within the valuation. This will include comparing 
them to expected ranges, utilising information provided by PWC, 
consulting actuary engaged by the National Audit Office; and

• Agree the data in the IAS 19 valuation report provided by the Fund 
Actuary for accounting purposes to the pension accounting entries and 
disclosures in the Authority’s financial statements.

16

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 242



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

3 Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are subject to 
revaluation, their year end carrying value should reflect the fair value 
at that date. 

The Authority has adopted a rolling revaluation  model which sees 
all land and buildings  revalued in a five year cycle.

The valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment  involves the use of a 
management expert (the  valuers), and incorporates assumptions 
and  estimates which impact materially on the  reported value. There 
are risks relating to the  valuation process.

As a result of the rolling programme of  revaluations, there is a risk 
that individual  assets which have not been revalued for up to  four 
years are not valued at their materially  correct fair value. In 
addition, as the valuations  are undertaken through the year there is 
a risk  that the fair value as the assets is materially different at the 
year end.

In relation to the valuation of property, plant & equipment we will:

• critically assess the valuer’s scope of work, qualifications, objectivity and 
independence to carry out the Authority’s programme of revaluations;

• consider whether the overall revaluation methodology used by the 
Authority is in line with industry practice, the CIPFA Code of Practice and 
the Authority's accounting policies;

• critically assess the appropriateness of the underlying data and the key 
assumptions used in the valuer’s report, using available third party 
evidence;

• assess whether valuation movements are in line with market 
expectations by using information available from other sources; 

• critically assess the approach that the Authority adopts to ensure that 
assets not subject to revaluation since the last full valuation are 
materially correct, including considering the robustness of that approach 
in light of the valuation information reported by the Authority’s valuers 
and

• obtain an understanding of the Authority’s approach to ensure assets 
revalued through 2021/22 are materially fairly stated at the year end.

17

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 243



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Other key areas of management judgement and enhanced risks

18

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

1 Group Financial Statement Consolidation Process

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has made judgements
around which of its investments and interests in other bodies it 
consolidates into the Group Financial Statements, and how it 
consolidates the transactions and balances into the Group.

Our approach to auditing the Group Financial Statements has been detailed
on page 11.

We will review the judgements relating to the entities that are assessed for
consolidation into the Group financial statements, and we will review and test
the method of consolidation of Merseytravel into the Group financial
statements.

P
age 244



Section 05:
Value for money

19

P
age 245



20

5. Value for money

The framework for Value for Money work
We are required to form a view as to whether the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The NAO issues guidance to auditors that 
underpins the work we are required to carry out in order to form our view, and sets out the overall criterion 
and sub-criteria that we are required to consider. 

2021/22 will be the second audit year where we are undertaking our value for money (VFM) work under the 
2020 Code of Audit Practice (the Code).  Our responsibility remains to be satisfied that the Authority has 
proper arrangements in place and to report in the audit report and/or the audit completion certificate where 
we identify significant weaknesses in arrangements.  Separately we provide a commentary on the 
Authority’s arrangements in the Auditor’s Annual Report. 

Specified reporting criteria
The Code requires us to structure our commentary to report under three specified criteria:

1. Financial sustainability – how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services

2. Governance – how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 
risks

3. Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – how the Authority uses information about its 
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

Our approach
Our work falls into three primary phases as outlined opposite.  We need to gather sufficient evidence to 
support our commentary on the Authority’s arrangements and to identify and report on any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements.  Where significant weaknesses are identified we are required to report these 
to the Authority and make recommendations for improvement.  Such recommendations can be made at any 
point during the audit cycle and we are not expected to wait until issuing our overall commentary to do so.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Planning and risk 
assessment

Obtaining an understanding of the Authority’s arrangements for each 
specified reporting criteria.  Relevant information sources will include:
• NAO guidance and supporting information
• Information from internal and external sources including regulators
• Knowledge from previous audits and other audit work undertaken in the 

year
• Interviews and discussions with staff and members

Additional risk 
based

procedures and 
evaluation

Reporting

Where our planning work identifies risks of significant weaknesses, we will 
undertake additional procedures to determine whether there is a significant 
weakness.

We will provide a summary of the work we have undertaken and our 
judgements against each of the specified reporting criteria as part of our 
commentary on arrangements.  This will form part of the Auditor’s Annual 
Report.  
Our commentary will also highlight:
• Significant weaknesses identified and our recommendations for 

improvement
• Emerging issues or other matters that do not represent significant 

weaknesses but still require attention from the Authority. 

P
age 246



21

5. Value for money

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Identified risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements
The NAO’s guidance requires us to carry out work at the planning stage to understand the Authority’s arrangements and to identify risks that significant weaknesses in arrangements may exist.

Although we have not fully completed our planning and risk assessment work, to date, we have not identified any risks that significant weaknesses in arrangements exist. We will report any identified risks to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on completion of our planning and risk identification work.

P
age 247



Section 06:
Fees for audit and other services

22

P
age 248



Fees for work as the Authority’s appointed auditor
Details of the proposed 2020/21 and 2021/22 fees are set outbelow. Our work in respect of 2020/21’s Value for Money arrangements and Whole of Government Accounts return remains in progress. We will 
update the Committee of the final agreed 2020/21 fee in our Auditor’s Annual Report.

Area of work 2021/22 Proposed Fee 2020/21 Proposed Fee

Scale Audit Fee £36,334 £36,334

Fee Variations*

Additional Testing on Defined Benefit Pensions Schemes and 
Property, Plant and Equipment £7,0671 £7,067

Additional testing as a result of the implementation of new auditing
standards: ISA 220 (Revised): Quality control of an audit of financial
statements; ISA 540 (Revised): Auditing accounting estimates and
related disclosures; and ISA570 (Revised) Going Concern

£1,5002 £1,500

Other additional costs TBC £4,0003

Sub-total £44,901 £48,901

Additional work arising from the change in the Code of Audit Practice £6,0004 £6,000

Total £50,9015 £54,901

6. Fees for audit and other services

23

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

1 As previously reported to you, the scale fee requires adjusting to take 
into account the additional work required as a result of increased 
regulatory expectations in these areas. 

2 As previously reported to you, new auditing standards were introduced 
in 2020/21 which lead to additional audit work not reflected in the scale 
fee. 

3 The additional audit cost in 2020/21 have been disclosed within our 
Auditor’s Annual Report issued in July 2022. This mainly relates to 
enquiries from and correspondence with a local elector.
4 As previously reported to you, the scale fee has been adjusted to take 
into account the additional work to support our reporting on the 
Authority’s value for money arrangements following the change to the 
NAO Code of Practice in 2020/21. This fee is based on there being no 
risks of significant weakness in the Authority’s arrangements. The final 
fee, taking into account the extent, and complexity of, any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements, will be discussed with management.

5 This is a proposed fee for 2021/22 at the point of the issue of our ASM. 
This figure is subject to change and any additional costs will be 
discussed with management.

* Fee variations are subject to approval and confirmation by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).

P
age 249



Services provided to other entities within the Authority's group

Area of work 2021/22 Proposed Fee 2020/21 Actual / 
Proposed Fee

Merseytravel £43,688 £43,688

6. Fees for audit and other services

24

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 250



Section 07:
Our commitment to independence

25

P
age 251



7. Our commitment to independence

We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at 
least annually in writing that we comply with the FRC’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any 
matters or relationship which we believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the 
audit team.

Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as 
auditors, we confirm that in our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our 
related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related entities creating any unacceptable threats to our 
independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with 
integrity, objectivity and independence. These policies include:

• all partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

• all new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete 
computer based ethical training;

• rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team; and

• use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-
audit services to be approved in advance by the audit engagement partner.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, 
Mazars LLP are independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have 
concerns or questions about our integrity, objectivity or independence please discuss these with Mark Dalton in 
the first instance.

Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Mark Daltonwill undertake appropriate procedures to consider 
and fully assess the impact that providing the service may have on our auditor independence.

No threats to our independence have been identified.

Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit 
Completion Report.

26

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 252



Section 08:
Materiality and misstatements

27

P
age 253



8. Materiality and misstatements

Summary of initial materiality thresholds

Materiality
Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of 
financial statements as a whole. 

Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and 
nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of 
the common financial information needs of users as a group and not on specific individual users.

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of 
the financial information needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume 
that users:

• have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts; 

• have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

• understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

• recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, 
judgement and the consideration of future events; and

• will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors. 

Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which 
provides a basis for determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and 
assessing the risk of material misstatement and determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.

The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which 
uncorrected misstatements, either individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial. 

We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of 
information that would have caused us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information 
at the planning stage.

Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision 
of services level. We will identify a figure for materiality but identify separate levels for procedures designed to 
detect individual errors, and also a level above which all identified errors will be reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee.

We consider that the gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services remains the key focus of 
users of the financial statements and, as such, we base our materiality levels around this benchmark. 

28

Threshold
LCRCA Initial 

threshold
£’000s

Group initial
threshold

£’000s

Overall materiality 9,000 10,000

Performance materiality 6,750 7,500

Specific materiality - Senior officer remuneration
disclosures including any associated exit packages

5 5

Specific materiality – Related party transactions 50 50

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Audit and
Governance Committee

270 300

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 254



8. Materiality and misstatements

Materiality (continued)
We expect to set a materiality threshold at 2% of gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of 
services . Based on prior year audited accounts we anticipate the overall materiality for the year ending 31 
March 2022 to be in the region of £9m ( £7.5m in the prior year) for the single entity accounts and £10m (£9.5m 
in the prior year) for the group accounts.

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at 
an appropriate level.

Performance Materiality
Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole to reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected 
and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial 
assessment of performance materiality is based on low inherent risk, meaning that we have applied 75% of 
overall materiality as performance materiality. 

Misstatements

We accumulate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of 
triviality for individual errors identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Audit and Governance 
Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we consider would not need to be accumulated 
because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect on the financial 
statements.  Based on our preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is 
£270k for the single entity accounts and £300k for the group accounts based on 3% of overall materiality. If you 
have any queries about this please do not hesitate to raise these with Mark Dalton.

Reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee 
The following three types of audit differences above the trivial threshold will be presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee:

• summary of adjusted audit differences;

• summary of unadjusted audit differences; and 

• summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

29

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 255



Appendix: Key communication points
A

30

P
age 256



Appendix: Key communication points

We value communication with Those Charged With Governance as a two way feedback process at the heart of 
our client service commitment. ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’ and ISA 
265 (UK) ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And 
Management’ specifically require us to communicate a number of points with you.

Relevant points that need to be communicated with you at each stage of the audit are outlined below.

Form, timing and content of our communications
We will present the following reports:

• Audit Strategy Memorandum;

• Audit Completion Report; and

• Auditor’s Annual Report

These documents will be discussed with management prior to being presented to yourselves and their 
comments will be incorporated as appropriate.

Key communication points at the planning stage as included in this Audit 
Strategy Memorandum
• Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements;

• The planned scope and timing of the audit;

• Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement;

• Our commitment to independence;

• Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors;

• Materiality and misstatements; and

• Fees for audit and other services.

Key communication points at the completion stage to be included in our 
Audit Completion Report
• Significant deficiencies in internal control;

• Significant findings from the audit;

• Significant matters discussed with management;

• Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of 
management judgement;

• Summary of misstatements;

• Management representation letter;

• Our proposed draft audit report; and

• Independence.

31

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 257



32

Appendix: Key communication points

ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require 
us to communicate the following:

Required communication Where addressed

Our responsibilities in relation to the financial statement audit and those of management and those charged 
with governance.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

The planned scope and timing of the audit including any limitations, specifically including with respect to 
significant risks.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

With respect to misstatements:
• uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion;
• the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods;
• a request that any uncorrected misstatement is corrected; and
• in writing, corrected misstatements that are significant.

Audit Completion Report

With respect to fraud communications:
• enquiries of the Audit and Governance Committee to determine whether they have a knowledge of any 

actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity;
• any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that fraud may exist; and
• a discussion of any other matters related to fraud.

Audit Completion Report and discussion at the Audit Committee.
Audit planning and clearance meetings

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 258



33

Appendix: Key communication points

Required communication Where addressed

Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties including, 
when applicable:
• non-disclosure by management;
• inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions;
• disagreement over disclosures;
• non-compliance with laws and regulations; and
• difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity.

Audit Completion Report

Significant findings from the audit including:
• our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, 

accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;
• significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;
• significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management or were the subject 

of correspondence with management;
• written representations that we are seeking;
• expected modifications to the audit report; and
• other matters, if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process or otherwise identified in the 

course of the audit that we believe will be relevant to the Audit and Governance Committee in the context of 
fulfilling their responsibilities.

Audit Completion Report

Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit Completion Report

Where relevant, any issues identified with respect to authority to obtain external confirmations or inability to 
obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

Audit Completion Report

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 259



34

Appendix: Key communication points

Required communication Where addressed

Audit findings regarding non-compliance with laws and regulations where the non-compliance is material and 
believed to be intentional (subject to compliance with legislation on tipping off) and enquiry of the Audit and 
Governance Committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that may have a 
material effect on the financial statements and that the Audit and Governance Committee may be aware of.

Audit Completion Report and the Audit and Governance Committee meetings

With respect to going concern, events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, including:
• whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty;
• whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and presentation of the 

financial statements; and
• the adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements.

Audit Completion Report

Reporting on the valuation methods applied to the various items in the annual or consolidated financial 
statements including any impact of changes of such methods

Audit Completion Report 

Explanation of the scope of consolidation and the exclusion criteria applied by the entity to the non-consolidated 
entities, if any, and whether those criteria applied are in accordance with the relevant financial reporting 
framework.

Audit Strategy Memorandum and/or Audit Completion Report as appropriate

Where applicable, identification of any audit work performed by component auditors in relation to the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements other than by Mazars’ member firms

Audit Strategy Memorandum and/or Audit Completion Report as appropriate

Indication of whether all requested explanations and documents were provided by the entity Audit Completion Report 

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 260



Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

1 St Peters Square 

Manchester 

M2 3DE

Mark Dalton, Director – Public Services
mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

P
age 261

mailto:mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Combined Authority Draft Statement of 
Accounts  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Steve Rotherham, Metro Mayor, Policy, Reform 
and Resources 

Summary of decision being sought   
 

Is this report exempt? No  
 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent? 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in? 
 

No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region  √ 

A Connected City Region  √ 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation No  

Page 263

Agenda Item 12



implications 
 
Contact Officer(s) Assistant Director of Finance  

 
Appendices Yes – LCRCA Draft Statement of Accounts 

2021/22 
 

Background Documents No  

 
  

Page 264



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Services 
 

COMBINED AUTHORITY DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Committee with the 

Combined Authority’s draft statement of accounts for 2021/22 for consideration.  
The Members of the Committee are requested to review the statements and provide 
comments thereon. A presentation on the accounts will be provided to accompany 
the statements. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: 
 

(a) Note the content of the report; and 
(b) Provide any comments on the accounts as necessary. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 require that the Chief 

Financial Officer must certify the annual Statement of Accounts by 31 May each 
year. However, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) has put in place revised regulations that came into force on 31 March 
2021. The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 extended the 
statutory audit deadlines for 2020/21 and 2021/22 for all authorities. 

 
3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, the publication date 

for the audited accounts was moved from 31 July to 30 September 2022. The 
requirement for commencement of public inspection to include the first 10 working 
days of June has been removed and instead the public inspection period must 
commence on or before the first working day of August 2022. This means that the 
accounts must be confirmed by the Chief Financial Officer and published by 31 July 
2022 at the latest. They may be published earlier. 

 
3.3 The revised statutory deadline of 31 July has been met by the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority with the draft Statement of Accounts and commencement 
notice of public rights being published on 8 July 2022. 

 
 
 

Page 265



4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Financial 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 
4.3 Climate Change  
 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.4 Equality and Diversity  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
4.5 Social Value 
 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.6 Human Resources  
 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.7 Physical Assets 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.8  Information Technology 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 

4.9 Legal  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.10 Risks and Mitigation  
  

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.11 Privacy  
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
 

Page 266



4.12 Communication and Consultation  
 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The annual Statement of Accounts for the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority for the financial year 2021/22 have been completed in accordance with 
the statutory deadline and are presented to the Committee for their consideration. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
  Executive Director of Corporate 

Services 

STEVE ROTHERHAM 
 Metro Mayor 

 
 
Date:  …27/07/2022…………………………. 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

  
 

 

 

 

 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Statement of Accounts 2021/22  
(Subject to Audit) 

 

Page 269



  
 

2 

 

  

 
TABLE OF CONTENT 

 
 
 
 
 
Introduction to the Accounts 
 
 
Narrative Report by the Executive Director Corporate Services of the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

 
Page No. 

 
 
           3 

 
 

           4 
 

  
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Statement of Accounts 
 

 
21 

 

  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 

 
22 

 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority 
 

 
36 

 
  
Group Primary Financial Statements  37 
    Movement in Reserves Statement 38-39 
    Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 40 
    Balance Sheet 41-42 
    Cashflow Statement 43 
  
  
 
Notes to the Primary Financial Statements 
 

 
44 

 
  
 
Single Entity Accounts 
 

 
100 

 
  
 
Glossary of Financial Terms 
 

 
140 

 
 

 

 

  
  

Page 270



  
 

3 

 

 

 
INTRODUCTION TO THE ACCOUNTS 

  
 
Our region has been on a remarkable journey of transformation over the past 12 months. Driven by our 
ambition to build the fairest, strongest, greenest, and most socially-just place possible, we are laying the 
foundations for a more prosperous future for our 1.6m residents.  Delivering that vision is a challenge on a 
scale that requires a huge, collaborative effort from across our economy – a test that our people have more 
than risen to over the past few years. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic was an unexpected and unprecedented time in our region’s history, but it also 
presented an opportunity to reshape our local economy to make it fairer and stronger than ever before.  The 
£150m COVID Recovery Fund that I launched last year helped to give our region's recovery a jump start on 
the rest of the country. It's meant we could bounce back faster, investing in projects to regrow our economy 
and safeguard jobs, delivering much-needed hope to people and businesses across the region. 
 
We’ve been bold in our ambition on the global stage too, capitalising on our unique international reputation 
and strategic location to attract jobs and investment from around the world.  So much has been achieved to 
date, but I’m not content with resting on our laurels. That’s why we're working to capitalise on our existing 
strengths in science and industry, to catapult our area to the forefront of UK innovation. We’re putting our 
money where our mouth is to make that happen, pledging to invest 5% of our GVA in research and 
development over the new few years - nearly double national targets.  
 
The more businesses we can encourage to tap into their entrepreneurial spirit, the more jobs and training 
opportunities we can create for local people. How we connect people to those opportunities is important 
too. To improve that connectivity, its been fantastic to see my plans for a London-style transport system take 
a major step forward this year, having secured £710m from the government to invest in our transport 
infrastructure. Our long-term plan is to build on our underlying strengths to deliver inclusive economic growth 
and, most importantly, to help our residents live longer, healthier, happier and more fulfilled lives. 
 
Because our success cannot - and should not - be measured by economic wealth alone. It is about the social 
value we create, the opportunities we unlock for local people, and the improvements we can make to health, 
life chances and wellbeing. 
 
I want ours to be a region where no one is left behind.   
 
 

 

 
 
Steve Rotheram – Mayor of the Liverpool City Region 

 

Page 271



  
 

4 

 

 

 
NARRATIVE REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
  

 
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established on 1 April 2014 as a statutory transport 
and economic development-related statutory body for Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and 
Halton Local Authority areas, serving a population of 1.6m residents.  The functions of LCRCA are set out 
in legislation and include the transport functions previously undertaken by the Merseyside Integrated 
Transport Authority (MITA) and related powers held by Halton Borough Council, plus new responsibilities 
relating to economic development, regeneration and employment and skills across the Liverpool City Region.  
Merseytravel acts as the executive body which provides professional, strategic and operational advice on 
transport to LCRCA. 
 

 
 
 
The Region is recognised as a functional economic geography, with close to 85% of all travel-to-work flows 
self-contained within the City Region.  Whilst the city of Liverpool is the dominant employment centre, 
economic activity is widely spread across the six districts.  In broad terms Liverpool is the commercial, 
cultural and transport hub of the Region, Halton has a cluster of chemical, science, technology sectors and 
Sefton, Knowsley, St Helens and Wirral provide key manufacturing and logistics for the area. 
 
Despite the Region being a well contained economic area, the City Region’s coastal location in the North 
West of England means the Region has economic connections with neighbouring areas (including 
Lancashire, Cheshire and Greater Manchester) but also internationally via the Region’s ports and airport. 
Liverpool City Region provides access to around 32 million individuals in the UK within just a few hours1. 
 
The Region’s economy is estimated to be worth £32.5bn2 based on GVA (gross value added) and has been 
one of the fastest growing in the North of England over the last 10 years.  In the last decade, the Liverpool 
City Region has added over £1.5bn to its economy in real terms.  The City Region generates significant 

 
1 Liverpool City Region LEP,  
2 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) 

Page 272



  
 

5 

 

output through manufacturing, with Halton and Knowsley contributing 36% of all GVA3, however other 
sectors, including health, retail and education, also play a key role in the City Region economy.   
 
Despite this, there is, however, a productivity gap: GVA per resident in the City Region is around 74% of the 
UK level (£27,500 of GVA per resident) and since 2010, this gap has increased.  As well as below average 
levels of productivity, the Region faces a number of long-standing challenges around deprivation, with almost 
one third of all City Region neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10% in England. These are particularly 
concentrated in east Wirral, north Liverpool, south Sefton and north Knowsley4. 
 
Other challenges include high economic inactivity (second highest rate of economic inactivity of all LEP 
areas in England5), skills gaps (10% of working population have no qualifications compared with 7.5% 
nationally6), poor health (45% of neighbourhoods in the bottom 10% nationally7) and economic inactivity due 
to long-term sickness.  Whilst progress has been made in addressing these challenges in the last 10 years 
these challenges continue to be key priorities for the Combined Authority over the next few years. 
 
The Combined Authority’s Plan for Prosperity sets out a long term vision to drive the economy, tackle 
inequalities and achieve our potential.   The plan provides a framework for our future priorities and 
investment decisions, and for our conversations with Government about how we work together.  It also 
articulates how we will build on our distinctive economic strengths, address our challenges and develop 
transformational policies to unlock growth and develop a clean and inclusive economy. 
 
 

Governance & Structure 
 
The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority is comprised of the directly elected Metro Mayor 
who chairs the CA and the leaders from each of the six constituent Local Authorities comprising the LCRCA 
area and the chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) who is a non-voting member.  In addition, the 
Chair of the Transport Committee and the Police and Crime Commissioner are co-opted non-voting 
members of the Committee.  Warrington Borough Council and West Lancashire Borough Council are both 
associate non-voting members of the CA.  The Combined Authority is organised on a portfolio basis and the 
table below outlines the current portfolios and portfolio holders. 
 
Portfolio Portfolio Holder 
Policy, Reform & Resources Metro Mayor, Steve Rotherham 
Inclusive Economy & Third Sector Cllr. Janette Williamson, Leader Wirral Council 
Education, Skills, Equality & Diversity Mayor Joanne Anderson, Liverpool City Council 
Digital Connectivity & Inclusion Cllr Ian Maher, Leader Sefton Council 
Housing & Spatial Framework Cllr. Graham Morgan, Leader Knowsley Council 
Climate Emergency & Renewable 
Energy 

Cllr. David Baines, Leader St Helens Council 

Culture, Tourism & Visitor Economy Cllr. Mike Wharton, Leader Halton Council 
Transport & Air Quality Cllr. Liam Robinson, Chair Transport Committee 
Criminal Justice Emily Spurrell, Merseyside Police and Crime 

Commissioner 
Business Support Asif Hamid, MBE, Chair LCR LEP 

 

 
3 ONS Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) and ONS Mid-Year Population 
Estimates (1998-2018) 
4 MHCLG, 2019; English Indices of Deprivation 
5 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Annual Population Survey 
6 See footnote 5. 
7 See footnote 5. 

Page 273



  
 

6 

 

The political composition of the Combined Authority is exclusively Labour with both the Metro Mayor and all 
the Leaders of the constituent Local Authorities being Labour led. 
 
The operation of the Combined Authority is supported by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT).  During the 
year the structure of ELT was subject to change as a consequence of the retirement of the previous Chief 
Executive and resignations.  On appointment of the new Chief Executive, Katherine Fairclough, the 
responsibility for Director General was removed from the remit of the Chief Executive and on a temporary 
basis was filled by the Executive Director Corporate Services.  A new role of Executive Director Place was 
created which combined responsibilities for Place, Director General and Deputy Chief Executive under the 
remit of one post, with the new Director taking up the role in February 2022.  Taking account of the changes 
identified above, the diagram below details the structure of the Executive Leadership Team.  
 
 

 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Combined Authority group (which incorporate Merseytravel and its subsidiaries) 
employed 893.3 FTE’s compared with 928.5 FTE’s as at 31 March 2021. 
 
 
 

Financial Performance 
 
Group Revenue Expenditure 2021/22 
 
The Authority’s budget was approved on 16 January 2021 which approved an expenditure budget of 
£156.3m with a Transport Levy of £97.4m, Tunnel Tolls income of £35.0m and a Mayoral Precept of £7.6m.  
The revenue budget was revised in March 2022 to £218.6m with additional grant income recognised.  The 
table overleaf compares the actual spend against budget for 2021/22. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 274



  
 

7 

 

 

  
Revised 
Budget 

Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance to 
Budget 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Place Directorate 60,537 55,342 5,195 

Policy, Strategy & Government Relations Directorate 5,694 4,452 1,242 

Corporate Services Directorate 6,714 5,742 972 

Investment & Delivery Directorate 9,419 8,399 1,020 

Corporate Development & Delivery Directorate 8,995 7,887 1,108 

Mayoral Priorities 1,376 1,062 314 

Corporate Management & Costs 1,926 1,160 766 

Concessionary Travel 48,381 47,750 631 

Election Costs  1,351 1,329 22 

Net Debt Servicing Costs 11,955 11,779 176 

Grant Payments to Partners 59,090 49,960 9,130 

Halton Differential Levy 3,200 3,200 0 

Total Expenditure 218,638 198,062 20,576 

Funded by:       

Transport Levy (97,404) (97,404) 0 

Halton Differential Levy (3,200) (3,200) 0 

Tunnels Tolls (35,000) (37,588) 2,588 

Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000) (1,000) 0 

Mayoral Precept (7,640) (7,646) 6 

Application of Specific Grants & Other Income (68,616) (60,603) (8,013) 

Transfer to/ (from) reserves (5,778) 9,379 (15,157) 

Total Income (218,638) (198,062) (20,576) 

Net Budget 0 0 0 
 
The position detailed in the table above is based on actual cost against budget.  These figures are difference 
from those detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as the latter is based on proper 
accounting practice in compliance with the CIPFA Code.  Within the main body of the Statement of Accounts, 
the levy position is detailed in the Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Statement. 
 
Group Reserves and Balances 
 
Based on the outturn position detailed above the resultant position in respect of the General Fund Balances 
is detailed below.  
 
 2020/21 

 
£’000 

In Year 
Movement 

£’000 

2021/22 
 

£’000 
Capital Reserves (9,410) (1,587) (10,997) 
General Fund Reserves (Group) (7,365) (4,303) (11,668) 
Earmarked Usable Reserves (156,727) (870) (157,597) 
Merseytravel Group (54,386) (602) (54,988) 
Total (227,888) (7,362) (235,250) 

 
A detailed list of balances and reserves are detailed in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements. 

Page 275



  
 

8 

 

 
Group Capital Expenditure 2021/22 
 
The Authority spent £252.7m on capital during 2021/22.  This expenditure is summarised below. 
 
  

2020/21 
£’000 

 
2021/22 

£’000 
Capital Grants to Merseytravel/ Districts/ other 
recipients (Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital 
under Statute) 

189,487 171,779 

Non-Current Assets (Property Plant and Equipment) 1,972 2,277 
Property Assets 4,038 7,020 
Non-Current Assets (Infrastructure) 3,215 1,807 
Intangible Assets 985 709 
Surplus Assets 72 43 
Assets under Construction 31,291 69,051 
Total 231,060 252,686 

 
The table below details the funding of the capital programme. 
 
 2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
Capital Grants  183,985 168,897 
Application of Reserves 4,942 4,419 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 5,788 4,819 
Other Contributions 0 0 
External Borrowing 0 0 
Internal Borrowing 36,345 74,551 
Total 231,060 252,686 

 
As detailed above a significant proportion of the capital investment made by the Authority relates to Revenue 
Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS).  REFCUS relates to capital expenditure incurred 
on assets that are not in the ownership of the Authority, in the main this is Merseytravel and other SIF 
Partners. 
 
The table below details the major schemes funded through the capital programme in 2021/22. 
 
 2021/22 

£’000 
Rolling Stock Replacement & Infrastructure Works 83,916 
Headbolt Lane new station 19,557 
Seacombe Landing Stage 6,397 
Digital Backhaul 9,098 
Shakespeare Playhouse 8,259 
Festival Gardens 9,918 
Eureka! 4,408 
Halsnead Garden Village 2,510 
Green Homes Grants 32,883 

 
 
 
 

Page 276



  
 

9 

 

Borrowing 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Authority’s borrowing was £323.6m.  The table below details the composition of 
its debt. 
 
 2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£’m 
PWLB Borrowing 148,480 140,033 
European Infrastructure Bank (EIB) Borrowing 180,656 174,426 
Transferred Debt 11,441 9,153 
Total 340,577 323,612 

 
The movement in borrowing levels relate to the repayment profile of the Authority’s loan portfolio as no new 
borrowing was undertaken during the year.  The Authority’s authorised limit for external debt for 2021/22 
was £532m. 
 
 
Investments 
As part of a prudent investment strategy, the Authority seeks to invest any monies received in advance of 
need with public sector bodies and financial institutions of a high creditworthiness.  As at 31 March 2022 the 
Authority had investments of £289.07m compared with £333.25m as at 31 March 2021.  
 

 
2021/22 Performance and Delivery of Objectives 

 
Performance against the CA Plan Priorities 2020/21 
 
The current Corporate Plan covers a three-year period from 2021 to 2024.  We are optimistic that this will 
be a period of recovery and growth while also recognising the uncertainty we face. We still do not know what 
shape the recovery will take, how people will choose to travel, work, access services and socialise following 
the easing of restrictions.  Businesses are still adapting to the changes imposed by the pandemic, and for 
some, Brexit has added further challenges. COVID-19 is having a huge impact for many of our residents, 
some have lost their livelihoods, others have lost loved ones, and the longer-term physical and mental health 
impacts are still unknown.  The roadmap for the easing of restrictions, the extensive vaccine rollout and 
green shoots of recovery provide optimism that the worst of the pandemic could soon be behind us, but we 
are under no illusion as to the scale of the challenge ahead. 
 

 
 

Page 277



  
 

10 

 

The 2021/24 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Business Plan is based on five priorities, 
with each Priority underpinned with Business Plan Delivery Activities and supporting Service Plans. The 
Priorities for 2021/22 are: 
 

 
 
2021/22 Performance 
 
The LCRCA has a performance management framework driven by its key priorities for 2021/22.  A set of 
performance measures have been developed to ascertain progress against key priorities.  Where possible, 
targets are set which are challenging and aimed at stretching the organisation to drive improvement. 
 
Each Priority has specific Delivery Activities and information is collected and reported on a quarterly basis 
to the Chief Executive with monthly updates on operational performance also being collected and submitted 
to the Executive Leadership Team.  A RAG system is applied to facilitate managing the delivery of the 
activities/priorities which is shown below. 
 
RAG Rating Description 

Red Highly Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at significant risk 

Amber Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at risk but not significant 

Green 
Well Managed – No risk to the delivery of the activity/Priority or nearing 
completion/delivery 

Blue Delivered/Completed – the activity/Priority delivered 

Purple 
Abandoned or Not being progressed – project or activity abandoned, or 
it has been decided to not progress 

 
For each of the five corporate priorities, progress is tracked, and a RAG status applied to demonstrate 
progress against each. The table below provides an overview of performance at the end of quarter 3.  
 
Priority RAG 

Status 
Priority 1: A Fairer City Region Amber 
Priority 2: A Stronger City Region Green 
Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region Amber 
Priority 4: A Connected City Region Amber 
Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region Amber 

 
Key successes against each priority during 2021/22 are detailed in the section below: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 278



  
 

11 

 

Priority 1: A Fairer City Region 
 
Generations for Change to help tackle racial inequality 
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram launched a new project to tackle racial inequality faced by young people 
across the Liverpool City Region. Generations for Change is part of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority’s Race Equality Programme, launched to tackle systemic racial inequality and drive change with 
people from the City Region’s Black, Asian, and ethnic minority communities.  This drive for change is further 
driven by the £3.2m funding for Liverpool City Region Race Equality Hub.  This Hub aims to provide 
Local Authority and Combined Authority Staff with race equality training, as well as remove barriers in the 
labour market.  
 
Liverpool City Region’s Digital Skills Programme 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority offered free digital skills training for people looking for a career in 
the digital sector, and co-investment to help employers fill digital skills gaps. More than 500 people, and 90 
businesses, have already benefitted from the first round of training delivered through the Digital Skills for the 
Workplace programme, in areas including digital marketing, software development and cyber security.  
Supplementing this programme, the LCRCA also provided a £9.4m expansion of award-winning skills 
service to help 10,000 people in the Region next year. This ambitious training and careers programme 
has helped plug skills gaps and will support up to 10,000 people next year.  An expansion of the mayor’s 
award winning Be More apprenticeships portal is planned. By the end 
of 2022, up to £4.5m in grants were distributed, supporting 1,500 
businesses, and helping 10,000 people to learn fresh skills or find new 
careers. 
 
New Skills Action Plan to help employers fill record number of 
job vacancies 

A new Skills Action Plan 
to help employers meet a record increase in job vacancies 
since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic was launched. 
Increased demand for people to fill job roles pushed 
recruitment advertisements to a high of 20,000 per week in 
December 2021 – up from a pre-pandemic figure of 12,000, 
according to the annual LCR Skills Report. 
LCRJobs.co.uk was launched in September 2021 and 4728 
learners engaged up to the end of December 2021, 1028 
employers engaged (target exceeded) and 8736 
apprenticeship vacancies posted on Be More portal. 
 

 
Housing First 
As of February 2022, 220 individuals have been supported through the Housing First programme against an 
annual target of 228 with 156 housed and 38 exiting the programme. Alongside the Households into Work 
programme, which is helping people back in work and education, our City Region is becoming a fairer place.  
As of February 2022, 433 unemployed participants starting on programme against a target of 600 
commencements by December 2022 with 40 finding employment on leaving programme and 26 starting in 
education. 
 
Priority 2: A Stronger City Region 

 
£313m Local Growth Fund fully invested to deliver jobs and investment for the LCR Economy 
Thanks to £313m worth of Local Growth investments made by the Metro Mayor, the LCR has benefited from 
more than 18,000 new jobs and £225m of additional investment. The fund was committed to nearly 200 
projects before the March 2021 deadline.  Investments in Local Growth Fund Projects have already delivered 
7,766 jobs and £170m in private sector investment. 

Page 279



  
 

12 

 

Up to £45m support for the Region’s biggest regeneration project in more than a decade 
This approved funding will support the ‘transformational regeneration’ of 
north Liverpool and south Sefton by supporting work linked to Everton FC’s 
new 52,888-seat stadium development at Bramley-Moore Dock.  A £15m 
grant will assist with infrastructure and heritage work, while the wider 
stadium project will be a vital catalyst for regeneration of Liverpool’s north 
docks and the area around Goodison Park.  Everton forecast the project will 
offer a boost of more than £1bn to the City Region’s economy.  The offer of 

a £30m loan was not taken up.  
 
Scale of Liverpool City Region’s efforts to rescue COVID-hit economy 
By the end of June 2021, more than £44m had in emergency funding had been distributed to more than 
4000 businesses across the City Region as part of the Additional Restrictions Grant scheme. In addition to 
this, £5m was provided to support business access national government funds, £400k to support businesses 
in the cultural sector, and £3m from the Future Innovation Fund Pilot programme to support the Region’s 
small and medium sized enterprises.  On top of this, a new £8.1m scheme to support COVID-hit 
businesses was also launched. Known as the Trading On Scheme, this funding will specifically support 
small or medium-sized businesses, with between 10 and 249 employees. 
 
The Good Business Festival 

The three-day global summit was held in venues across Liverpool city centre from 
22 to 24 March 2022.  Leaders such as Ben Osborn, Head of Pfizer in the UK; 
Emilie Stephenson, Force for Good at Innocent Drinks and Hannah Cockcroft MBE, 
Paralympian and Small Business Advocate showcased invaluable insights on what 
social changes were coming and how businesses of all shapes and sizes can 
respond. Alongside the Liverpool City Region Freeport programme, this is key in 
making our City Region a stronger place.  The Freeport, a key part of the 
Government’s ‘Levelling Up’ strategy, if approved, will receive funding of £25m and 
be open for business in early summer, boosting the City Region’s post-pandemic 

economic recovery.  
 
Liverpool City Region Social Value Framework 
Under its new social value framework, benefits to the local community will become a much bigger part of 
awarding Combined Authority contracts and could include the training and employment of local people, the 
use of local suppliers or the inclusion of apprenticeships in contracts.  Social value will help shape key 
decisions on where to spend or invest more than £100m the Authority receives each year under devolution.  
The Authority will ensure social value is a core part of decision-making for all contracts above £20,000. 
Alongside the Plan for Prosperity, an exciting vision of economic growth up to 2035 – with the creation of 
more than 50,000 new jobs, our Region’s economy will become more dynamic.  The plan also sets out firm 
commitments to improve the quality of life for Liverpool City Region residents by tackling generational 
inequalities, cutting carbon emissions, and promoting better health and wellbeing.  
 
 
Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region 

 
Community Environment Fund 

Established by Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, the £500k fund 
provided colour and nature to urban communities across the City 
Region.  After a hugely successful first run, the Combined Authority 
approved a further £500k to bring back the Community Environment 
Fund for 2022 with a view to making the scheme larger and self-
sustaining through private sector backing.  Schemes were delivered 
between March and September and included composting, the 
creation of an edible wall, work to restore habitats, climate education 

and the creation of a garden to help elderly people with physical and mental health issues. 

Page 280



  
 

13 

 

 
Liverpool E-scooter Scheme trial extends until March 2022 

The trial scheme which is delivered in partnership with the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority and Liverpool City Council has 
proven to be one of the most popular and successful in Europe.  In 
recognition of this, the e-scooter trial extends until March 2022. 42% 
of Liverpool’s rented e-scooter users have replaced a car journey as 
a result of having access to this shared micro mobility scheme.  Since 
October 2020, scooter Liverpool’s residents and visitors have 
covered nearly 2.3 million miles on over 1.4 million rides on the 
vehicles. 
 
 

Mersey Tidal Power Project 
Plans to develop a Mersey Tidal project took a major step forward as expert technical advisor and designer 
to develop the next stage designs for the scheme was appointed.  The massive renewable energy project 
could generate enough clean, predictable energy to power up to one million homes and create thousands 
of jobs in its construction and operation.  It could be up and running within a decade, playing a huge role in 
the Region’s push to net zero carbon by 2040 – at least a decade ahead of national targets. 
 
£28.5m funding will ease fuel costs and lower emissions for 2,500 Liverpool City Region homes 
Nearly 2500 homes, across the Region will benefit from measures aimed at reducing heating bills and carbon 
emissions, as the Combined Authority has successfully secured £28.5 million from government.  This latest 
funding is in addition to a previous £11.3m scheme which is currently seeing around 1100 homes, across 
the City Region being fitted with the same sort of measures to improve energy efficiency and cut bills. 
 
Bus passengers set for greener, faster, safer, more reliable journeys 
The Combined Authority invested £1.9m from its Transforming Cities Fund into Prescot Bus Station to not 
only improve bus services and the passenger experience but also support the nationally significant 
Shakespeare North Playhouse development.  This investment kick started the £32m Green Bus Routes 
programme, designed to transform bus journeys including punctuality and accessibility, improve air quality 
by reducing carbon emissions while boosting the local economy.  Travelling on a ‘green bus route’ will mean 
that passengers can enjoy faster, smoother, safer and more reliable journeys via a series of measures 
including traffic signal upgrades, remodelled junctions, priority lanes and bus stop build outs that will be 
initially introduced in phases on the Region’s busiest bus routes.  The A57 St Helens to Liverpool corridor, 
10A route, was the first major route to benefit from this investment which is also to be served by the Region’s 
first zero emission hydrogen buses. 
 
Priority 4: A Connected City Region 

 
Handover of the first new train to the Liverpool City Region 
In August 2021, 53 new trains for the Liverpool City Region were 
handed over from manufacturer Stadler.  These new batter powered 
trains are game-changing; it could allow the Merseyrail network to 
extend across all six City Region boroughs.  It could also allow the 
new fleet to operate as far afield as Skelmersdale, Wrexham, 
Warrington and Runcorn.  The wider ‘Merseyrail for All’ programme 
could ensure every community is well served by an integrated public 
transport network and new and refurbished train stations. These 
developments are complemented nicely by the New station at 
Headbolt Lane in Kirkby, an £80m scheme with the opening of the station planned for Spring 2023. 
 

Page 281



  
 

14 

 

Liverpool City Region hydrogen bus fleet 
The supplier was chosen to deliver the first vehicles of a new, 
zero-emission hydrogen bus fleet for the Liverpool City Region.  
Alexander Dennis Limited (ADL) a UK based bus manufacturer 
was selected following a competitive tendering process.  The 20-
strong, state-of-the-art fleet will be directly purchased through the 
Liverpool City Region’s Transforming Cities Fund, and, like the 
new trains for the Merseyrail network, will be owned by the people 
of the City Region.  This coincides with Bus Reform in the 
Liverpool City Region, a plan to bring buses under public control.  
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited (LCR Digital) , a 212km full-fibre, ultrafast, gigabit-capable network 
spanning the Liverpool City Region was launched.  LCR Digital will help make the Liverpool City Region the 
most digitally connected area in the UK and ultimately lead to a £1 billion boost to the local economy.  Work 
has now begun on a 212km full-fibre, gigabit-capable network infrastructure, capable of delivering speeds 
of 1,000mbps and beyond, that will help position the City Region at the head of the next digital revolution.  
When complete, it will put City Region businesses in prime position to lead the way in a host of growing 
sectors, from health and life sciences to Artificial Intelligence and advanced manufacturing. 
 
Liverpool City Region highways earmarked for major 
investment 
To improve the Region’s roads, the Combined Authority 
approved the indicative allocation of £232.96m from the City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), for a 
Highways Maintenance and Non-Maintenance package with all 
six areas of the City Region set to receive a share.  Focussing 
on key corridors, the proposed package represents a co-
ordinated series of measures all designed to support public 
transport services, relieve congestion, and improve air quality for 
local communities.  The measures included carriageway 
resurfacing to improve the condition of the roads, drainage works to help prevent flooding, new streetlights. 
Work will also include the installation of more electric vehicle charging points.  
 
Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region 

 
Combined Authority Investing £45m to deliver 4000 new brownfield homes 
Up to 4000 new homes are to be built on previously developed “brownfield” sites across the Liverpool City 
Region as the Combined Authority agreed a strategy for investing the remaining £34m from its £45m 
Brownfield Land Fund to deliver previously-developed, or brownfield land suitable for at least 3,000 and 
preferably 4,000 homes.  The money will be used for site remediation and other measures required to make 
sites ready for development. Seven projects across the Liverpool City Region will deliver 886 homes. 
 
£15m boost for brownfield development in the Liverpool City Region 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was awarded an additional £15m from the government’s 
Brownfield Land Fund, which will enable a further 1000 homes to be built on previously developed sites 
across the Region.  The funding, from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, takes 
the total available for brownfield development in the Liverpool City Region to £60m, which will enable around 
4500 homes to be built. 
 
£1.5m boost for tourism 
A new £1.5m fund was launched to lure UK tourists back to the Liverpool City Region.  In July 2021, the 
Combined Authority approved the package, which will target staycationers from London, the South East, the 
Midlands, Scotland and Northern Ireland with marketing and advertising.  It will also support the drive to 
increase international visitors when restrictions are fully lifted. The fund will also be used to improve the City 

Page 282



  
 

15 

 

Region’s tourism websites.  It will enable Growth Platform to create a £3.2m three-year programme to rebuild 
the visitor economy, with the majority of the money set to come from the private sector. 
 
Town Centre Place Making 
Town Centre Place Making progressed with awards made and accepted. All action plans are in delivery.  
Some COVID related project delays have led to extensions.  Business plans are progressing for submission 
by June 2022 for Southport and August 2022 for the remaining 3 towns. 
 
Town Centre Commissioning 
Town Centre Commissioning is on target for the delivery of the 23 recommendations with many actions 
already in train under other complementary workstreams. Digital support, community occupation and 
residential conversions - chosen as pilot schemes – are underway and on track. 
 
Compact Plan 
Compact Plan was published by February 2022. Liverpool Echo ‘Region Live’ pages continuing to be 
published and will be until at least May 2022.  Music Industry Development Pilot Phase 1 activities to be 
delivered by March 2022.  Generations for Change Young Creatives Pilot has been completed and 
Celebration Event/Showcase delivered successfully. 
 
 

Risks and Uncertainties 
 

 
As the Combined Authority has matured as an organisation, its vision and ambition for the future has become 
clearer and politically there is great drive to deliver change for the City Region.  The Authority has been 
extremely successful in securing funding from government; £8.66m to March 2022 with a further £10.57m 
through to March 2025 to support the continuation of its trailblazing homelessness work and £720m over 5 
years through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), which is in addition to £30m Gain 
Share for 30 years and £53m per annum AEB funding which has been secured as part of the devolution 
deal.   
 
Whilst securing this funding assists the Combined Authority in providing the financial resources to back its 
vision, as a primarily strategic body the Combined Authority’s places a significant reliance on its partners, 
be that the constituent Local Authorities, Merseytravel, private or third sector or academia; in the delivery of 
its key objectives.  With such a reliance on external bodies to develop up and deliver on large scale schemes, 
one of the principal delivery risks that the Combined Authority faces relates to partner’s internal capacity.  
Years of austerity and cuts have left the constituent Local Authorities with fewer staff and resources available 
to develop and support large scale regeneration schemes and those that are available are  dealing with 
competing pressures.  This can translate into a delivery challenge for the Combined Authority who, as the 
Accountable Body for funding is responsible to government for demonstrating delivery and spend against 
targets. 
 
The risk to the Combined Authority is well understood, is reflected in the corporate risk register and a number 
of mitigations have been identified to assist the Authority mitigate and manage this risk.  Key mitigations 
centre around the development of a shovel ready pipeline and identification of resources to fill capacity gaps.  
Funding provided through the Combined Authority’s own resources and grant funding from government 
provides the opportunity to address some of these issues.  CRSTS funding is being used to build into 
schemes funding for resources to support the development and delivery of schemes.  Consideration is also 
being given to the development of a central resource that could be deployed flexibly across delivery partners 
to assist where resources are constrained.  To assist in ensuring that schemes are shovel ready, 
development funding has been identified to be used to support the development of a pipeline of schemes 
that are of sufficient maturity to allow them to be progressed with less risk of delay as funding becomes 
available.  
 

Page 283



  
 

16 

 

COVID-19 Financial Support 
 

 
As in 2020/21, during 2021/22 the Combined Authority received funding from a number of government 
departments as part of their response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The financial impact of these grants are 
included in the Combined Authority’s group outturn position and statement of accounts.  During 2021/22 the 
Combined Authority received the following COVID support grants: 
 

 Sales, Fees and Charges Reimbursement; 
 Additional Restrictions Grant; 
 Local Transport Authority Bus Recovery Grant 

 
The Combined Authority administered the grants in line with guidance issued by government.  In accordance 
with proper accounting practice the Combined Authority must assess whether it acts as principle or agent 
for these grants as this determination impacts on the way in which the grants are accounted for within the 
statement of accounts.   
 
The Combined Authority received Sales, Fees and Charges Reimbursement from Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) for the first quarter of 2021/22.  The scheme, which was initially 
scheduled to run for the financial year 2020/21 only, is based on a pain share reimbursement approach: 
eligible organisations face a 5% deductible rate whereby they stand the first 5% of all losses and 
subsequently DLUHC  will reimburse losses at 75p in every £1 thereafter. 
 
Having assessed eligibility to claim against this scheme, it was determined that losses in respect of Ferries 
and The Beatles Story fell within the remit of the scheme.  Based on the process outlined by DLUHC and 
accruing for income the Authority believes is eligible under the scheme, £1.05m has been recognised in the 
group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account under Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income. 
 
During 2021/22 the Combined Authority received a further £8.12m Additional Restrictions Grant funding from 
BEIS to support business that had been impacted by COVID and the national and regional restrictions on 
business.  This was in addition to the £44m that was allocated during 2020/21.  At the end of 2021/22 the 
Combined Authority had committed and disbursed all funding received through ARG such that none of the 
funding was subject to repayment to BEIS. 
 
The Combined Authority has developed several Hospitality and Leisure Support Grant Schemes, including 
Local Business Support Grants, that have been focused on supporting the retention of jobs in the sector 
during periods of difficult trading.  The approach adopted has been a collaborative one, working closely with 
Local Authorities’ to design and implement schemes in accordance with the Additional Restrictions Grant 
(ARG) guidance issued by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  
 
Early rounds in the ARG programme supported the Hospitality and Leisure Sector and their supply chains.  
Later funding rounds were widened to include home based businesses, market traders, non-essential retail, 
Early Years, Adult Social Care and Taxis, primarily to ensure sectors and groups impacted were able to 
access support.  Consequently the Local Business Support Grant, round III, was open to any businesses 
across any sector, that could demonstrate a decline in revenue of 40% or more and the Care Providers 
Grant round was open to businesses in the Childcare and Adult social care sector, whose businesses have 
also faced disruption and loss due to COVID-19.  
 
The amount of funding available has not always been able to meet the demand from businesses, meaning 
that not all businesses have been successful. Therefore, in determining the eligibility criteria, the CA and 
Local Authorities have sought to balance the number of businesses they can support within the priority areas 
and the overall amount of money that is available. 
 

Page 284



  
 

17 

 

The Authority also received Local Transport Authority Bus Recovery Grant (LTABRG) from the Department 
for Transport (DfT).  This funding has been used to support additional capacity on the network and transition 
back to a pre pandemic network, as well as supporting the reduction in supported bus income revenue 
experienced by the Merseytravel due to reduced patronage.  During 2021/22 Merseytravel received £718k 
funding through LTABRG.  This income is included in the group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account on the gross income line above Net Cost of Service within the Place Directorate. 
 
 

Financial Planning 2022/23 and Future Years 
 

 
As part of budget setting for 2022/23, medium term financial plan was updated to push the outlook for 
projections out to 2026/27, taking account of all relevant factors impacting on the budget, including the key 
priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan, ensuring resources were aligned with priorities.  Core projections 
indicated a net budget requirement of £5m in 2022/23 with a further net budget requirement of £8m in 
2023/24 increasing to £14.5m by 2026/27.  At the time of budget setting it was identified that there was a 
degree of uncertainty around projections due to an uncertainty around the operational model to be applied 
on the new Rolling Stock.  In April 2022 a decision was made by the Combined Authority that clarified this 
position which will be subsequently built into further forward projections. 
 
As part of budget setting, the Combined Authority set out a new five year financial strategy aimed at 
achieving financial sustainability, which sought to align the base budget with underlying resources and to 
place reliance on efficiencies and income generation to balance the budget rather than reserves.  Whilst not 
directly impacted by the Local Government Financial Settlement, in setting a balanced budget for 2022/23, 
the Combined Authority was cognisant of the impact of this on its constituent Local Authorities and their 
taxpayers and therefore sought to cap the increase in Transport Levy at 2% and freeze the Mayoral Precept 
for a third year.  Whilst an increase of 20p in Tunnel Tolls was proposed and approved as part of the budget 
strategy, this was the first increase in tolls for four years and in recognition of the important role that tolls can 
play in the Net Zero Carbon agenda. 
 
The budget for 2022/23 was balanced by taking savings of £5m from across the organisation.  Much of the 
savings related to one off’s, efficiencies and disallowing inflationary increases.  At the time of budget setting 
it was acknowledged that inflationary pressures in areas such as transport delivery and maintenance of 
assets were increasing, however no provision was allowed within the budget.  The continued increase in 
inflation is likely to place upwards pressure on budgets as set during the year and beyond.  As a result of a 
favourable outturn position at the Merseytravel level, an earmarked reserve has been created to help 
mitigate transport cost pressures over the short term. 
 
The Combined Authority’s approach to balancing its budget over the medium term will be to focus on 
improved commercialism and revenue generation and business and digital transformation.  Workstreams 
and resources have been put in place to drive forward these agendas with an expectation that income and 
efficiencies will start to flow through into the budget from 2023/24 onwards.  The Authority, has set aside 
specific reserves to support modernisation and transformation however the Executive Leadership Team 
have been clear that these must be applied judiciously and in support of invest to save options, supported 
by a business cases that identifies and justifies how initiatives will help drive this agenda forward.   
 
 

Future Outlook & Challenges  
 
Over the next twelve months the Combined Authority will strive to continue to deliver against key strategic 
priorities as detailed in its Corporate Plan 2021-2024; 
 

 Improve access and pathways to employment for those at greatest risk of long term worklessness; 
 Increase the range of support available to people experiencing poverty, exclusion and inequality; 

Page 285



  
 

18 

 

 Improve equality of outcomes across all protected characteristics; 
 Promote and support positive health and wellbeing; 
 Strengthen and develop the business support offer and ensure all businesses can adapt, recover 

and grow in a post COVID, post Brexit world; 
 Further embed Community Wealth Building approaches and increase the amount of social value 

local businesses deliver; 
 Improve the attractiveness of the City Region as a place to do business; 
 Attract investment in research and development to drive innovation and global competitiveness; 
 Accelerate plans for a net zero carbon economy by 2040; 
 Develop the City Region’s renewable energy offer; 
 Improve energy efficiency of buildings and houses; 
 Improve sustainability of public transport; 
 Improve digital and physical connectivity between all people and places; 
 Enhance the role of transport and infrastructure as strategic enablers to meet City Region ambitions; 
 Transition towards further devolution of transport and increased public ownership; 
 Ensure people have access to quality affordable homes; 
 Support plans for a vibrant place offer across the City Region; and 
 Enhance our cultural offer and the City Region’s attractiveness as a visitor destination. 

 
Whilst the budget for 2022/23 has been set to allow resources to be focussed towards attainment of 
corporate priorities, as detailed above the financial position for the Authority over the medium term will be 
challenging.  Certain priorities areas such as homelessness and tidal power rely on securing specific funding 
from government or external bodies to support continued delivery.  Discussions will need to be continued 
with external parties around how funding is secured to ensure continued delivery and work in these areas 
will potentially need to be reviewed and scope revisited to ensure that priorities remain affordable and 
deliverable.  
 

Basis of Preparation and Presentation of Accounts 
 

 
The Combined Authority completes its accounts on a going concern basis on the presumption that it will 
continue in existence for the foreseeable future.  The Statement of Accounts that follow demonstrates 
LCRCA’s financial performance for the financial year ending 31 March 2022.  These accounts are completed 
in compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.  
Disclosures are made within the accounts based on an assessment of materiality; a disclosure would be 
considered material if through omission or misstatement the decision made by the user of the accounts 
would be influenced. 
 
The assessment of materiality also impacts on the Combined Authority’s decision to produce group 
accounts.  The Combined Authority has a number of entities within its group boundary as detailed below: 
 

 Mersey Tidal One Limited; 
 LCR Urban Development Fund (GP and Limited Partner); 
 LCR Chrysalis Holdings Limited (GP and Limited Partner); 
 Growth Platform; 
 Liverpool City Region Digital Limited; 
 Merseytravel and its subsidiaries;  

o Mersey Ferries Limited;  
o The Beatles Story; 
o Merseyside Passenger Transport Services Limited; 
o Real Time Information Group Limited; and 
o Accrington Technologies Limited. 

 

Page 286



  
 

19 

 

Each year the Authority assess the materiality of the transactions and if they are material, they are 
incorporated into the group.  For the financial year 2021/22, the Combined Authority group accounts 
incorporate the result of Merseytravel group and Liverpool City Region Digital Limited.  The results of the 
other companies are not incorporated into the group as they are either dormant or not material but disclosure 
of their results is made in the related parties note. 
 
 

Explanation of the Annual Statement of Accounts 
 

 
Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015), the Combined Authority is required to produce an Annual 
Statement of Accounts each year.  The following provides a brief overview of the various sections of the 
Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
This outlines the responsibilities of both the Authority and the Treasurer for the production and content of 
the Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Narrative Report 
 
Provides a summary of the Authority’s financial and non-financial performance for the year.  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
This explains the effectiveness of the governance framework in operation during the financial year. 
 
External Auditors Report 
 
This provides the External Auditor’s opinion on the financial statements and the Authority’s arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows the movement in reserves held by the Authority during the financial year, splitting 
them into usable and unusable reserves.  The Deficit/ (Surplus) on the Provision of Services shows the cost 
of providing the Authority’s services under proper accounting practice which is different from the statutory 
amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for levy setting purposes.  The Net Increase/ 
(Decrease) before Transfer to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before 
any discretionary transfers (to)/ from earmarked reserves. 
 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
 
This statement shows the cost of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices as opposed to the amounts to be funded from the levy.  The Authority raises a levy to cover 
expenditure in accordance with regulation which is not necessarily the same as the accounting cost.  Whilst 
the position detailed in the CIES will differ from that shown in the Authority’s management reporting, the levy 
position is detailed through the Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 
 
Group Balance Sheet 
 
This shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet date.  Net assets of the 
Authority are matched by the reserves (both usable and unusable) held by the Authority. 
 

Page 287



  
 

20 

 

Group Cash Flow Statement  
 
This statement summarises the actual flows of cash arising from the Authority’s transactions during the 
financial year.  This shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the year. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
These include additional information on items included within the core financial statements. 
 
Single Entity Accounts 
 
These reflect the Authority’s economic activities excluding its group companies and organisations. 
  

 

 

TRODUCTIO 

John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288



  
 

21 

 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 

 
The Authority is required to: 
  
 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
this instance that Officer is the Executive Director Corporate Services of LCRCA; 

 manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of the Executive Director Corporate Services of LCRCA 
 
The Executive Director Corporate Services is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (“The Code”).  The Statement 
of Accounts is required to present fairly the financial position of the Authority at the accounting 
date and its income and expenditure for the year end 31 March 2022. In preparing this 
statement of accounts, the Executive Director Corporate Services has: 
 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 complied with the Local Authority Code; 
 assessed the ability of the Authority to continue as a going concern; and 
 used the going concern basis of accounting on the assumption that the functions of 

the Authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Executive Director Corporate Services has also: 
 
 kept proper accounting records which are up to date; 
 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
Responsible Financial Officer’s Certificate 
 
I hereby certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority as at 31 March 2022 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2022.  
 

 
J Fogarty (CPFA) 
Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022 

ANL G 

OVERNANCE STATEMEN 

Page 289



  
 

22 

 

 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (herein referred to as the Combined Authority) is 
required by law to review its governance arrangements at least once a year. 

Preparation and publication of this document, the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework (2016), fulfils this requirement. 

The definition utilised by the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance states: 

“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes 
for stakeholders are defined and achieved.” 

The AGS is a key corporate document, intended to provide an accurate representation of the 
corporate governance arrangements in place during the year, which have supported delivery 
of organisational objectives to stakeholders; reflecting where arrangements have been 
effective, and where any improvements are required.   

The governance framework has been in place at the Combined Authority for the year ended 
31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts.  

 
2. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 
 
The Combined Authority is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, the Combined Authority is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise 
of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
  
The Combined Authority has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which 
is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government 2016. A copy of the Combined Authority’s Code of Corporate 
Governance is available to staff for reference.  

This AGS explains how the Combined Authority has complied with the Code of Corporate 
Governance and meets the requirements of Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the Accounts and Audit 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement. 

 

 

Page 290



  
 

23 

 

 
3. PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 
 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values by 
which the Combined Authority is directed and controlled and its activities through which it 
accounts to, engages with and leads its communities. It enables the organisation to monitor 
the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led 
to the delivery of appropriate services and value for money. 
  
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of organisational policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
 
 

4. OVERALL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

 
The Combined Authority is led by directly elected Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and brings 
together Liverpool City Region’s six Local Authorities – Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, 
St Helens and Wirral. 

The Mayoral Combined Authority (legislation - Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) 
Order 2017) is both a strategic and operational body.  The Metro Mayor exercises certain 
devolved powers working in formal collaboration with the Leaders of each of the City Region’s 
Local Authorities and the elected Mayor of Liverpool City Council. 

The Combined Authority has devolved powers over: 
 Economic Growth  
 Housing 
 Culture 
 Employment and Skills 
 Transport 

The Combined Authority is the Transport Authority for the City Region.  It exercises this role 
predominantly through policy setting, oversight and delegation of responsibilities to the 
Passenger Transport Executive, known as Merseytravel. 

Merseytravel as a passenger transport executive pre-dates the Combined Authority and 
operates across the five Local Authority areas that form the County of Merseyside.  Halton 
Council, although part of the Combined Authority retains most of its direct transport operations 
although there is integration at a strategic level. 

The Combined Authority sets the budget for Merseytravel and is responsible for key transport 
policies.  Merseytravel is responsible for the implementation of the Combined Authority’s 
policies and, under the Transport Act of 1968, retains its status as a distinct statutory body. 
Despite its separate statutory status, for all practical purposes, there is no longer a distinction 
between the Combined Authority and Merseytravel.  Directors of the Combined Authority are 

Page 291



  
 

24 

 

also Directors of Merseytravel and vice-versa.  The statutory functions of Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer and Director of Finance are fulfilled on a joint basis across the two 
organisations.  

The Combined Authority has experienced a change in leadership at officer level in 2021/22 
with the appointment of Katherine Fairclough as Chief Executive.  The new Chief Executive is 
an experienced Local Authority Chief Executive and this appointment has seen a renewed 
focus on the governance framework. 

Further changes in the Leadership Team have seen the appointment of Richard McGuckin in 
a new role of Executive Director Place (Deputy Chief Executive) with responsibility for 
transport delivery including Merseytravel. Richard McGuckin is also the Director General for 
Merseytravel.  Dr Aileen Jones is Executive Director of Investment and Delivery. 

The Combined Authority also includes the Chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in 
its formal decision-making structure.  Significant changes in governance were introduced in 
2019/20 in response to the “Review of Local Enterprise Partnership governance and 
transparency” (known as the Ney Review).   

These changes involved the separation of the strategic and operational elements of the LEP 
through the creation of a new Growth Company which is now a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Combined Authority while the LEP Board remains independent of the Combined Authority. 

The following diagram summarises the key elements of the governance framework for 
Combined Authority (incorporating Merseytravel) in 2021/22:  

 

Metro Mayor

Combined 
Authority

Key Boards:
Transport Advisory 

Group;
Freeport

Statutory Committees:
Audit and Governance 

Committee;
Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee; and 
Appointments and 

Disciplinary Committee

Non-Statutory 
Committee:

Transport Committee

Advisory Fora:
Fairness and Social 

Justice Board (FASJAB);
External Investment 

Panel;
Cultural Partnership;

Sector Boards;
Mersey Tidal 

Commission; Station 
Commission;

Climate Partnership; and 
8 Portfolio Boards.

Page 292



  
 

25 

 

Documents Providing Assurance: 

 

Structure in relation to LEP: 

 

 

 

• Underpinning Policies:
• Constitution

• Scheme of Delegation
• Finance and Contract Procedure Rules
• Codes of Conduct and Ethics policies

• Risk Management Policy
• Fraud, corruption and bribery policies

• Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) policy
• Information management policies

Documents Providing Assurance:

Code of Corporate Governance

Corporate Plan and Service Plans

Performance Management Framework 

Corporate Risk Register, Service Risk 
Registers

• Legislation and Guidance:
• Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015)

• Local Audit and Accountability Act (2014) 
• CIPFA /Solace: Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government (2016)
• Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (revised 2017)

• Assurance Framework

Decision-making Functions:
Decision-making delegated to officers

Roles of Statutory Officers
Programme Boards 

• Assurance Reports:
• External Auditor: Annual Audit Letter
• Head of Internal Audit Annual Report

• Annual Governance Statements
• External Reports

• External Evaluation from government including LEP Annual 
Review

Assurance Providers:
Internal Audit 
External Audit

Programme Management Office
Investment Team

Performance Management Team
External Inspectorates 

Page 293



  
 

26 

 

 
5. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 
 
The Combined Authority has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The review 
of effectiveness is informed by Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service 
within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment (including feedback and comments from the annual Governance 
Assurance Statement process; through which all relevant officers contributed); the Head of 
Internal Audit’s Annual Report; and also by comments made by the external auditors and other 
review agencies and inspectorates. 

The Combined Authority aims to achieve good standards of governance by adhering to the 
seven core principles below, which form the basis of the Code of Corporate Governance. 

The CIPFA/SOLACE guidance sets out seven key principles of good governance:  

 

 

 

Page 294



  
 

27 

 

The Combined Authority has assessed itself against each of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
principles: 

 
A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rule of law 
 
 
Constitutions are in place, and an Officer Code of Conduct, having been approved in April 
2022.  Feedback from managers indicates an improved level of awareness of the Code of 
Conduct for employees. 
 
A joint Code of Corporate Governance, detailing the Nolan Principles, was updated, 
approved and relaunched to all staff via I4P in June 2021.   
 
Whilst understanding and awareness of the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan 
Principles) has improved since 2020/21; further enhancements will be required during 
2022/23 to ensure appreciation and adoption of the principles is fully understood and 
enacted.  
 
Managers across the organisation reported positive awareness by staff of the organisation’s 
corporate behaviours.  
 
The organisation has a database of its policies (I4P) which is accessible to staff.  This is 
used to disseminate new and updated policies, encompassing the ability to monitor 
acceptance rates, and to act as a source of reference for staff.  
 
Acceptance rates of organisational policies have improved since 2020/21; however, 
continued focussed attention will be required, during 2022/23, to ensure all key policies are 
read and accepted by staff, and there is greater clarity as to what constitutes a key corporate 
policy.  
 
The Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest Procedure was reviewed in November 
2020 and issued to staff via I4P.  
 
Gifts and hospitality policy and forms are available on OnePlace; however, weaknesses and 
inconsistencies exist in relation to how these are being monitored and recorded.   
 
Declarations of Interest policy and forms are available on One Place and HR re-issued the 
policy and sent out a reminder e-mail to all staff in January 2021; however, weaknesses 
and inconsistencies also exist in relation to how these are being monitored, utilised and 
recorded.  This will also be a focus of attention in 2022/23. 
 
Completion rates for e-learning across the organisation have improved since 2020/21; 
however, focussed attention will be required, during 2022/23, to ensure all necessary e-
learning is completed and there is greater clarity as to what constitutes whether a course is 
mandatory.  
 
Quality of, and compliance with, Equality Impact Assessment obligations have improved 
during 2021/22 with a programme of training of officers and the development of an Equality 
Policy; however, this will continue to be an area of more focussed attention in 2022/23. 
 

 

 

Page 295



  
 

28 

 

 

 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
 
Effective mechanisms are in place for engaging with, and consulting with, relevant 
stakeholders, and this continues to develop. 
 
Arrangements for consulting our communities and stakeholders had to be adapted to 
accommodate social contact restrictions in 2021/22, nonetheless the CA took opportunities 
to engage with stakeholders on a number of thematic areas and using a variety of 
formats.  This includes the development of the CA’s strategic and statutory plans such as 
our Spatial Development Strategy and various recovery plans.  Significant engagement took 
place in the development of our transport pipeline schemes and in particular our successful 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) bid by which the City Region was 
awarded £720m in transport capital funding from government. 
 
The City Region has submitted its full business case to government for the Freeports 
Programme, for which the CA is the accountable body.  We are working collaboratively and 
in partnership with our Local Authorities to deliver the benefits that Freeports will bring and 
are consulting a variety of stakeholders throughout this process to ensure that social value, 
inclusive growth and our zero-carbon obligations are reflected as the Freeports programme 
evolves. 
 
In addition to Freeports, our plans for bus franchising will also be subject to further and 
detailed consultation with stakeholders, including communities and passengers in 2022/23. 
 
Elections took place in May 2021 (having been delayed 12 months due to the COVID-19 
pandemic) and an induction session took place in June 2021. 
 
A focus for improvement during 2022/23 relates to partnership working, and the need for 
reporting on outcomes and documenting agreements. 
 
Time-limited legislation, in respect of allowing Committee meetings to be held remotely, 
expired in May 2021; hence all decision-making Committees returned to be ‘in-person’.  
Whilst meetings continued to be webcast, those attending in such a way, were limited in 
their rights as an attendee (e.g. not allowed to vote). 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has operated during the year and has provided 
additional assurance in scrutinising decisions of the Combined Authority. 
 
Regular briefings are held with Members; in addition to Member development sessions.  
Member queries are responded to within an appropriate timescale.  Minutes of relevant 
meetings are made available to stakeholders; and evidence and rationale to support 
decisions is made available to stakeholders.  Boards are also in place for each Member 
Portfolio.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 296



  
 

29 

 

 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits 
 
 
Relevant financial, social and environmental considerations have to be included within 
Committee reports.  
 
The Liverpool City Region National Local Governance Assurance Framework was updated 
and approved in January 2022. The aim of the Assurance Framework is to set out how the 
Combined Authority and LEP will make use of public funds, in a way that achieves value for 
money and inclusive growth for the Liverpool City Region. It also aspires to improve 
transparency of decision making in pursuit of these aims, ensuring accountability for 
activities and spending, both to HM Government as well as residents of our locality.  
Supporting the Assurance Framework is an Investment Strategy, which was published in 
September 2020 and provides detailed information relating to the Strategic Investment Fund 
(SIF).  The SIF’s purpose is to invest in “good growth” – growth that supports the economic 
development ambitions for the Liverpool City Region that is both socially inclusive and 
environmentally responsible. 
 
The Corporate Plan was updated in 2021/22 to reflect the social and environmental 
commitments made within the Metro Mayor’s manifesto following the Mayoral election of 
2022.  This is particularly the case with the commitments to zero carbon targets, social value 
and our broader equalities duties. 
 
The Combined Authority has invested significant resources in capacity and training in its 
Race Equality Hub which was launched in July 2021 and provides resources and support 
to increasing diversity and removing barriers to employment.  
 
The Combined Authority, through the Metro Mayor and the portfolio holder for zero carbon 
agenda, represented the City Region at COP26 in 2021/22.  A Zero Carbon Delivery Board 
has been established to monitor progress and ensure that our zero carbon objectives are 
reflected throughout the broadest range of Combined Authority activity.   Work on our Tidal 
Energy project has continued in 2021/22 and significant progress has been made towards 
the City Region’s ambition for sustainable Hydrogen fuel technology both in terms of our 
investment strategy and also in direct procurement. 
 
The Combined Authority has also dedicated significant resources to Social Value 
responsibilities in 2021/22 and this area will be a significant focus in 2022/23.  Part of this 
work has been reflected in a Fair Employment Charter that has been adopted by the 
Combined Authority in 2021/22. 
 
The integration of social and environmental considerations into broader aspects of 
Combined Authority activity is demonstrated by the work undertaken on our Freeports 
submission which as well as encompassing commercial and economic analysis has also 
included social value, zero carbon and fairer charging controls within our Full Business Case 
submission to government. 
 
Reporting performance to Members has also commenced during the course of the year.  
 

Page 297



  
 

30 

 

 
A key task, looking ahead, is to continue to develop plans for the Combined Authority’s role 
in achieving net zero carbon. 
 
Social value aspects had not been sufficiently articulated during 2021/22; however, a new 
Social Value Framework 2022/23 was launched in April 2022 and specific resources have 
been identified to support the CA’s Social Value obligations during 2022/23. 

 

 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended 
outcomes 
 
 
2021/22 continued to be significantly disrupted due to the global situation with respect to 
COVID-19. 
 
The Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor in particular were central to the City Region’s 
management of all aspects of COVID-19 but particularly around economic resilience and 
recovery. 
The Metro Mayor has played a regional and national role and has worked with other 
members of the Combined Authority to provide community leadership in this difficult year. 
 
The Combined Authority has worked very closely with Merseyrail and with Bus Operators 
to ensure that the public transport network was maintained throughout the year. 
 
Our Rolling Stock project continued to be hampered by the COVID-19 pandemic; however, 
progress continues to be made.   
 
We have undertaken further strengthening of evidence-based policymaking and have 
provided training and workshops on risk to ensure that the organisation has a greater 
understanding of implications and risk of decisions required.    
 
Risk management at a corporate level has evolved; being driven by the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Risk Manager.  A Corporate Risk Register is in place which is regularly 
reviewed.  The corporate Risk Group continues to support the process; and significant 
progress has been made in establishing Service Risk Registers across the organisation.  
 
Work has progressed on articulating the risk appetite of the organisation. 
 
Recovery from the impact of the pandemic continues to be a challenge and there is 
heightened risk in relation to the commercial viability of transport operators and the 
Transport Funding Model as patronage levels increase to closer to pre-pandemic levels. 
 
The Combined Authority confirmed its intention to move towards a franchise model of bus 
governance for the City Region in 2021/22. Understanding the commercial and other risks 
involved in this will be critical and is a major priority for the CA in 2022/23. 
 
Contingency planning is ongoing; particularly in relation to the potential for Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR) arrangements having to be invoked on the Merseyrail Network.   
 
An area of continued focus of attention in 2022/23 will be the work supporting each Local 
Authority (within the Combined Authority) in its capacity to deliver. 
 
 

Page 298



  
 

31 

 

 
E. Developing capacity and capability 
 
 
Capacity continues to be developed across the Combined Authority with particular focus on 
delivery. 
 
Resources have also been made available to fund the development of a transport pipeline 
that will make best use of the City Region’s Transforming Cities Fund and the forthcoming 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement. 
 
Having a pipeline of deliverable schemes and the organisational capacity to deliver 
continues to be critical to the Combined Authority’s ability to deliver its obligations under its 
Devolution Deal.  The CA was successful in its bid for CRSTS funding in 2021/22 and was 
awarded broadly the full amount that was bid for.  This was seen as vindication from 
government of the strength of the pipeline and the underpinning delivery arrangements.  
Ensuring that the CA and our partner Local Authorities has the capacity to deliver the 
CRSTS deal from 2022/23 onwards is a significant priority. 
 
The way in which the Combined Authority conducts its business has continued to adapt to 
COVID restrictions during the year.  The organisation has also implemented permanent 
flexible and hybrid working patterns to optimise technology and improve usage of office 
space whilst delivering improved work/life balance for staff. 
 
Team meetings, in general, have continued and have evolved, due to the restrictions of the 
pandemic and the Chief Executive and Metro Mayor have held several remote sessions for 
staff which were well attended and well received; and as restrictions associated with 
‘COVID-19’ have relaxed, the delivery of such sessions has been tailored accordingly via 
‘in-person’ and ‘remote’ sessions.  
  
The Developing Our Organisation programme continued in 2021/22, covering the following 
key areas: 

 Leadership and management development 
 New ways of working 
 Our people 
 Employee engagement 
 Stakeholder engagement 
 Equality and diversity inclusion 
 Managing performance and delivery 

 
During the year there has been a focus on training and development of senior leaders via 
the Leadership Development Programme; and approval of Leadership Charter and People 
Strategy to support workforce development. 
 
Employee Survey and follow-up pulse survey conducted during the year, with actions being 
progressed to address the findings. 
 
Steps have continued to be taken by the organisation to maintain the health, safety and 
wellbeing of its staff.  New ways of working have been adopted; and assessments have 
been undertaken in relation to ensuring work areas have been deemed ‘COVID secure’, 
and requests for DSE Assessments to be completed for those working from home. 
 
 
 

Page 299



  
 

32 

 

 
Areas for focussed attention during 2022/23 will be in relation to ensuring: 

 All job descriptions are up to date; 
 A robust induction process for all staff; 
 Procurement/governance processes are aligned across Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority; and 
 Adequacy of capacity and skills of the workforce. 

 

 
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management 
 
 
There has been continued investment in corporate risk during the year.  This has been led 
by Directors and reflected in a fully updated Corporate Risk Register and much greater 
organisational understanding of risk appetite reflected in the scoring of risk impacts. 
 
The Risk Management Policy clearly defines roles and responsibilities.  At a corporate 
level, evidence is available to confirm these roles and responsibilities are now becoming 
embedded. 
 
The risks outlined in the Corporate Risk Register, which has been the subject of a 
significant review during the year, are strategic in nature, rather than operational; and 
therefore, have the greatest potential to prevent or frustrate the achievement of Corporate 
Plan priorities. 
 
It is clear that risk should be on the agenda as part of all reports presented to formal 
committees/boards, and this is developing positively.  The template report format includes 
a 'Risks and Mitigation' section for completion.  A document entitled: "Guidance for Report 
Authors – Risk and Mitigation Section" produced by the Head of Internal Audit is available 
to support the effectiveness of the information included within Committee reports.  The risk 
information presented within reports is reviewed by the Risk Manager to ensure 
robustness of content. 
 
Significant progress has been made to ensure the availability of service risk registers; 
however, work is still required to ensure the content of each register meets minimum 
expectations and is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
  
Fraud Awareness training is available as an e-learning package and an appropriate Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Policy is in place alongside supporting policies, including in respect 
of whistleblowing.  However, staff understanding of fraud responsibilities remains an area 
of focus for 2022/23.   
 
There have been no reports of fraud or suspected fraud or irregularity during the year. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government reviewing assurance over compliance with the governance requirements 
detailed in CIPFA document ‘The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government’ 
2016.  Positive responses provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively 
during the course of the year. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) reviewing assurance over compliance with the governance requirements detailed 
in Local Public Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th Edition, April 2018.              

Page 300



  
 

33 

 

Proactive steps are being taken to further strengthen arrangements across the 
organisation and ensure the role of the SIRO is fulfilled in an effective manner.  
 
There have been no incidents of data loss during the course of the year; and managers 
have reported significant progress in staff awareness of how to report a data breach, 
should it be required, in accordance with the Information Security Incident Management 
Protocol. 
 
Compliance with the Financial Management Code (CIPFA, 2019) is being worked 
towards, and will continue in 2022/23.   
 
Managers across the organisation highlighted that team members are given the 
opportunity, on a regular basis, to raise and/or discuss matters relating to Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing. 
 
Robust Health and Safety Risk Assessments are not yet in place for all service areas and 
will therefore be a focus for attention during 2022/23. 

 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 
 
The Combined Authority follows good practice in providing clear and accurate information 
and has developed its reporting profile and its online presence with transparency in mind. 
 
The Combined Authority publishes its freedom of information requests and responses on 
its website. Work has been undertaken to provide as much information as possible on the 
Combined Authority website to reduce FOI requests. All FOI requests have been responded 
to within statutory deadlines. 
 
The Combined Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee met regularly during the year 
and a new independent member joined the Committee during the year.  
 
During the year steps have been taken to ensure that outstanding Internal Audit 
recommendations are implemented.  In addition, improved engagement in Internal Audit 
work has been evident, supported by regular presentations to ELT and SLT on work 
undertaken, outcomes and key items of note. 
 
Internal Audit opinions were generally positive during year.  There was one report with a 
“major” organisational risk opinion, in respect of the Seacombe Landing Stage Capital 
Scheme, and this was discussed at the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public 
Sector Organisations over compliance with the governance requirements detailed in CIPFA 
document ‘The role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Sector Organisations’ 2019 
edition.  Positive responses provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively 
during the course of the year. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion for 2021/22 was that arrangements are adequate and 
that capacity for improvement is good.  
 
An area for continued focus during 2022/23 is in relation to maintaining and developing 
cyber security and resilience arrangements; and Business Continuity Plans. 
 

 

Page 301



  
 

34 

 

 
6. EVALUATION/UPDATE – SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE 

ISSUES FROM AGS 2020/21 
 

 
No Significant Governance Issues were reported in 2020/21. 

 

 
7. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

 
 
This Annual Governance Statement identifies that the Combined Authority has effective 
arrangements in place; however, the organisation realises the need to monitor its governance 
arrangements on an ongoing basis given the ever-changing environment within which it 
operates, and due to the organisation continuing to evolve.   

Whilst the organisation has not identified any Significant Governance Issues, a number of 
areas for development and focus have been outlined within the table above and appropriate 
action is being, or is due to be, taken to ensure the issue does not transpire in to one of 
significance. 

 

 
8. FUTURE CHALLENGES 

 
 

Future challenges that exist in relation to the organisation include: 

• Playing a leading role in the economic recovery of the City Region; 
• Working on a local transport plan that takes account of future patterns of travel and 

work;  
• Working with partners and government to meet the challenging requirements of the 

Freeports programme to ensure that the City Region benefits from achieving Freeport 
Status; 

• Understanding and managing the commercial and other risks associated with bus 
franchising; 

• Developing sufficient capacity both in the CA and in partner Local Authorities to deliver 
the CRSTS award; 

• Continue to manage its financial position and respond to the challenges created by 
price increases, pay pressure and interest rate movements; 

• Ensuring that any recovery is environmentally sustainable and that air quality issues 
are considered in planning future transport requirements; 

• Identifying and managing the economic risks and opportunities afforded to the City 
Region as a result of the UK leaving the EU; and 

• Continuing to deliver, sponsor and support major projects across the City Region. 
 

 

 

Page 302



  
 

35 

 

 
9. CONCLUSION 

 
 
The Combined Authority is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place 
and that the governance arrangements in place in 2021/22 were appropriate to its resources 
and responsibilities in that year. 

We propose, over the coming year, to take any necessary steps to address the issues 
highlighted within this Statement, to further enhance our governance arrangements.   

The arrangements in place in 2021/22 continued to focus on ensuring that capacity and 
resources were put in place to support the wider Combined Authority functions while 
maintaining effective governance and delivery around the Combined Authority’s core 
activities. 

 
10. CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

  
 

Katherine Fairclough 
Chief Executive 

 
Steve Rotheram 

Mayor of the Liverpool City Region 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

8 July 2022          8 July 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 303



  
 

36 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (to be inserted on completion 
of the external audit) 

 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 304



  
 

37 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LCRCA GROUP ACCOUNTS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 305



  
 

38 

 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority Group analysed into ‘usable 
reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the movements in year of the 
Authority Group’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments 
required to return the amounts chargeable to General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/(Decrease) line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year 
following those adjustments. 
 

 

 
*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2021 7,365 220,523 227,888 28,563 121,331 (99,408) (796) (241) 49,449 277,337 0 277,337

1,132 0 1,132 0 0 30,785 0 0 30,785 31,917 (827) 31,090

Adjustments to the revenue resources*

Pensions costs 8,839 0 8,839 0 0 (8,839) 0 0 (8,839) 0 0 0

Holiday pay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current 
assets 15,472 0 15,472 0 (15,472) 0 0 0 (15,472) 0 0 0

Net gain or loss on sale of non-current assets (56) 246 190 0 (190) 0 0 0 (190)

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 160,504 0 160,504 0 (160,504) 0 0 0 (160,504) 0 0 0

Difference in precept income 51 0 51 0 0 0 0 (51) (51) 0 0 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (168,897) 0 (168,897) 0 168,897 0 0 0 168,897 0 0 0

Total adjustments to revenue resources 15,913 246 16,159 0 (7,269) (8,839) 0 (51) (16,159) 0 0 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (2,283) 0 (2,283) 0 2,283 0 0 0 2,283 0 0 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (4,819) 0 (4,819) 0 4,819 0 0 0 4,819 0 0 0
Total adjustments between revenue and capital 
resources (7,102) 0 (7,102) 0 7,102 0 0 0 7,102 0 0 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Capital Receipts 0 1,588 1,588 0 (1,588) 0 0 0 (1,588) 0 0 0

Use of capital receipts to finance capital expenditure 0 (246) (246) 0 246 0 0 0 246 0 0 0

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (874) 874 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total adjustments to capital resources 0 1,342 1,342 (874) (468) 0 0 0 (1,342) 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves (5,641) 1,472 (4,169) 0 4,169 0 0 0 4,169 0 0 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2021/22 4,302 3,060 7,362 (874) 3,534 21,946 0 (51) 24,555 31,917 (827) 31,090

Balance as at 31st March 2022 11,667 223,583 235,250 27,689 124,865 (77,462) (796) (292) 74,004 309,254 (827) 308,427

Group Share 
of Joint 

Venture £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total Group 
Reserves 

£'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)

P
age 306



  
 

39 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

2020/21 Restated  

 

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

 

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement 

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2020 5,953 227,985 233,938 29,356 122,569 (88,856) (372) (10) 62,687 296,625

(14,753) 0 (14,753) 0 0 (4,535) 0 0 (4,535) (19,288)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*

Pensions costs 6,017 0 6,017 0 0 (6,017) 0 0 (6,017) 0

Holiday pay 424 0 424 0 0 0 (424) 0 (424) 0

Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 16,411 0 16,411 0 (16,411) 0 0 0 (16,411) 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (101) 0 (101) 0 101 0 0 0 101 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 184,209 0 184,209 0 (184,209) 0 0 0 (184,209) 0

Difference in precept income 231 0 231 0 0 0 0 (231) (231) 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (183,980) 0 (183,980) 0 183,980 0 0 0 183,980 0

Total adjustments to revenue resources 23,211 0 23,211 0 (16,539) (6,017) (424) (231) (23,211) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (7,568) 0 (7,568) 0 7,568 0 0 0 7,568 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,788) 0 (5,788) 0 5,788 0 0 0 5,788 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,356) 0 (13,356) 0 13,356 0 0 0 13,356 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 6,310 (7,462) (1,152) 0 1,152 0 0 0 1,152 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21 1,412 (7,462) (6,050) (793) (1,238) (10,552) (424) (231) (13,238) (19,288)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 7,365 220,523 227,888 28,563 121,331 (99,408) (796) (241) 49,449 277,337

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 307



  
 

40 

 

GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 

This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded  
from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in  
the MiRS.  
 

 
 

An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in a realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect 
the new structure and the inclusion of the Halton differential levy, see note 10.  

Please also refer to Note 29 for information relating to a further restatement of a prior year loan.  

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure Notes

311,570 (167,457) 144,114 Place 316,903 (227,548) 89,355
63,145 (59,633) 3,512 Investment & Delivery 67,619 (63,915) 3,704

3,909 (477) 3,433 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 5,055 (1,083) 3,972
1,712 0 1,712 Corporate Services 1,642 (544) 1,098
2,092 (120) 1,973 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,280 (515) 1,765
4,623 (1,163) 3,460 Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,914 (735) 6,179

184,432 (207,213) (22,781) SIF Payments to Partners 175,002 (135,226) 39,776
571,484 (436,062) 135,421 Net Cost of Service 575,415 (429,566) 145,849

147 Other Operating Expenditure 161 7
12,026 Financing and Investment Income 11,382 8

(132,841) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (158,524) 10
14,753 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services (1,132)

4,535
Remeasurement (Gains)/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 
Liabilities (30,785) 9

0 Joint Venture accounted for on an Equity Basis 827
4,535 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (29,958)

19,289 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (31,090)

2020/21 Restated £'000 2021/22 £'000

P
age 308



  
 

41 

 

GROUP BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Authority Group.  The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are 
matched by the reserves held by the Authority Group.  Reserves are reported in two 
categories.  The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the 
Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve 
that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of 
reserves is those that the Authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of 
reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation 
Reserve) where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are 
sold; and reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



  
 

42 

 

 
 
Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement. 

  

  

                

Katherine Fairclough     John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Chief Executive      Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022      8 July 2022  

Restated
As at 31 March 

2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

589,176 Property, Plant and Equipment 653,968 16

1,161 Heritage Assets 1,161 18

3,776 Intangible Assets 4,148 17

0 Investment in Joint Venture 3,102 25

74,452 Long-term Debtors 80,245 20

668,565 Long-term Assets 742,624

235,228 Short-term Investments 220,420 25

1,075 Inventories 977

21,307 Short-term Debtors 30,279 21

98,393 Cash and Cash Equivalents 68,774 25

356,003 Current Assets 320,450

(16,965) Short-term Borrowing (15,791) 25

(104,031) Short-term Creditors (126,948) 22

(763) Provisions (11,012) 24

(194,439) Grant Receipts in Advance (207,900) 11

(316,198) Current Liabilities (361,651)

(2,012) Long-term Provisions (2,012) 24

(323,612) Long-term Borrowing (307,821) 25

(99,409) Pension Liability (77,463) 9

(6,000) Other Long-term Liabilities (5,700) 25

(431,033) Long-term Liabilities (392,996)

277,337 Net Assets 308,427

227,888 Usable Reserves 235,250 6

49,449 Unusable Reserves 74,004 5
0 Usable Reserves of Joint Venture (827)

277,337 Total Reserves 308,427

Note

Page 310



  
 

43 

 

GROUP CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 
 

 
 
Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21
Restated

£’000 £’000
(14,753) Net deficit on provision of services 1,132

180,185
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

60,509 27

(13,372)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(44,253) 27

152,060 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 17,388

(91,360) Investing activities (30,042) 27

(16,910) Financing activities (16,965) 27

43,790
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(29,619)

54,603 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 98,393 25

98,393 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 68,774

Note
2021/22

Page 311



  
 

44 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1 Accounting Policies 
 

General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2021/22 and its position as at 31 March 
2022.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2021/22, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments 

are made or received.  In particular:  
  
 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the 

provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in 
the contract. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather 
than when payments are made.  

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest 
rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract.  

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is 
written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected.  

 
Agency Transactions 
 
Transactions are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements for all agency 
relationships.  As stipulated by the Code, the Authority is acting as an agent in 
situations when the Authority does not control the specified goods or services being 
provided by another party, before they are transferred to the customer.  All services 
are reviewed to determine who controls the right to the underlying goods or services 
and when this is not deemed to be the Authority, the transactions have been excluded 
from the financial statements. 

Page 312



  
 

45 

 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in 90 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or 
financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless 
stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 
 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 

are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Authority is not required to raise levy to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  Depreciation, revaluation losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by 
the MRP in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 313



  
 

46 

 

 
Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any 
form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-
end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is 
made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being 
the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is charged to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. They are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, or when the Authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 
Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove 
the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any 
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 
turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
 
The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 
 

Page 314



  
 

47 

 

The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
Service cost comprising: 
 
 Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 

earned this year.  These costs are allocated in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment 
or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years.  
The costs are debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.    

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the change during the period 
in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time.  The net 
interest is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: 
 
 The return on plan assets – (excluding amounts included in net interest above) 

charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to 
the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 Employer’s contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund – not accounted for 
as an expense. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits 
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund Balance of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 

Page 315



  
 

48 

 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
and 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets at fair 
value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset takes place 
either: 
 In the principal market for the asset, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset. 
 
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account 
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data is available making use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach 
that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow 
characteristics.  There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 
 Amortised cost 
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 
           The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 
 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet 
when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured 

Page 316



  
 

49 

 

at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for 
interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the financial assets held by the 
Authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Authority has made loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal.  Interest is credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective 
rate of interest than the rate receivable from the lender, with the difference serving to 
increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet.  Statutory provisions 
require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest 
receivable for the financial year.  This is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
 
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all its financial assets held at 
amortised cost either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.   
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that future cash flows may 
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk 
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since 
an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.  Where 
risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis 
of 12-month expected losses. 
  
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the carrying amount 
of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 
interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the 
impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Authority 
has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan 
against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid.  

Page 317



  
 

50 

 

The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge required against 
the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 
 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  
 The grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future 
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant 
or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure 
(non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants 
Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as goodwill and is not amortised. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-
generating units monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or, if 
smaller, statutory company level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement. 
 

Page 318



  
 

51 

 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into 
account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation 
within it.  
 
Merseytravel has taken advantage of the option under the first time adoption provisions 
of The Code to use the brought forward value of goodwill as at 1 April 2009 as an 
appropriate approximation of fair value. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
The Authority holds statues and artworks, which are held and maintained as a 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment.  However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed where it is not practicable to obtain a valuation at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements.  In 
these circumstances heritage assets are measured at historical cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses). 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line 
in the CIES.  
 
Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  These entries are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess over the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
is initially recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and is 
not amortised. After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least 
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired. 

 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities which require it to 
prepare group accounts.  In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the interests in 
companies and other entities are recorded at cost, less any impairments. 
 

Page 319



  
 

52 

 

Inclusion in the Authority Group is dependent upon the extent of the Authority’s interest 
and power to influence an entity. An assessment of all the Authority’s interests is 
carried out each financial year to determine the relationships that exist and whether 
they should be included within the Authority’s group accounts. 
 
This assessment determines whether the entity is accounted for as: 
 
 A subsidiary – the Authority controls the entity and has the power to govern its 

financial and operating policies so as to benefit from its activities; or 
 An associate – the Authority has significant influence over the entity and has 

the power to participate in its financial and operating policies; or 
 Joint Operations – the Authority is party to the contractually and binding agreed 

sharing of control over the organisation such that strategic financial and 
operating decisions require the unanimous consent of all parties sharing 
control. 
 

Inventories and Long-term Contracts 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services with the consideration allocated to the performance 
obligations satisfied based on the goods or services transferred to the service recipient 
during the financial year. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classed as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance 
Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial indirect 
costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  Premiums paid 
on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. 

 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment 

– applied to write down the lease liability; and 
 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 

Page 320



  
 

53 

 

Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for 
using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being 
charged over the lease term if this shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
Statutory requirements mean that depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses 
are not a proper charge against the General Fund Balance.  Instead a prudent annual 
contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment. 
Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a 
revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction 
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the 
difference between the two. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is 
a rent free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
The Authority as Lessor 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant and 
equipment the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A 
gain, representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same 
line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal(i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term 
debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write 

down the lease debtor; and 
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES). 
 

The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the 
General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where the 
amount due in relation the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in 
future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset 
is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

Page 321



  
 

54 

 

Operating Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Credits are made on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 
Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is 
incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 The purchase price; and 
 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the Authority.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 

Page 322



  
 

55 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

 
 Infrastructure and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost; 
 Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 

at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 
 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 

for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly 
to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value 
at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in valuations are 
matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Gains 
might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they 
arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where 
this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains); or 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

Page 323



  
 

56 

 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception  
is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the purpose 
of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered in arriving 
at this determination. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major component whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would 
have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from 
the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to 
sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is 
posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 
any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for 
Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in 
the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals 
(if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated 

Page 324



  
 

57 

 

for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement England 
and Wales).  Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account 
relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be 
required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the relevant service.  
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the Authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  Contingent 

Page 325



  
 

58 

 

assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential. 

 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 
resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions 
but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 
on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 
2.  Critical Judgements 
 

In applying account policies set out in Note 1, the Authority had to make certain 
judgements about complex transaction or those involving uncertainty about future 
events, the critical judgements made in statements of accounts are: 

 
 The CA and Merseytravel have examined all its significant lease agreements 

to establish whether these should be classed as operational or finance 
leases.  Where the application of IAS 17 does not provide a definitive 
solution, judgement is applied in determining whether the lease is operating 
or financial.  Based on this assessment all Merseytravel’s leases have been 
assessed to be operational. 

 
 Group accounts: The Authority has a number of interests in other entities 

which fall within the group boundary.  Whilst some of these are deemed to 
be material and are therefore consolidated into group accounts, others are 
considered not sufficiently material to warrant full group account disclosures.  
To ensure there is sufficient visibility on these arrangements, narrative 
disclosures on these arrangements are included within Note 15. 

 

 
 

 

Page 326



  
 

59 

 

3.  Estimation and Uncertainty 
 

The statement of accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions 
made by the Authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are 
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant 
factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual 
results could be materially different from assumptions and estimates. 
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

  
 Pension benefits: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined 

using an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions 
about discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases.  Such assumptions are reviewed are 
each period end and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries.  Details can be found within Note 9. 

 
 Property revaluation: the LCRCA carries its non-infrastructure land and 

buildings at fair value. Periodically, external surveyors are used, and the most 
recent full independent survey was carried out as at 31 March 2019. Between 
independent surveys, desk top based annual reviews are carried out by 
qualified surveyors. Such valuations and any attached estimates are subject 
to some judgement. The carrying value of land and buildings at 31st March 
2022 was £93.1m. 

 
 Expected Credit Loss: as at 31 March 2022 the Authority had £30.3m short 

term debtors. The recoverability of debts is reviewed annually and provision 
is made for any debts over 12 months old or those either are on a repayment 
plan, with legal or we have concerns about financially. A credit loss review 
has been undertaken and an amount of £412k has been recognised in Note 
8. 

 
4. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
 

As at the Balance Sheet date there are a number of accounting standards that have 
been published but not yet adopted by the Code. 

i. IFRS 16 Leases (but only for those local authorities that have decided to adopt 
IFRS 16 in the 2022/23 year). 

ii. Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020. The annual IFRS 
improvement programme notes 4 changed standards:  

a. IFRS 1   (First-time adoption) – amendment relates to foreign 
operations of acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS 

b. IAS 37   (Onerous contracts) – clarifies the intention of the standard 
c. IFRS 16 (Leases) – amendment removes a misleading example that is 

not referenced in the Code material 
d. IAS 41   (Agriculture) – one of a small number of IFRSs that are only 

expected to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances. 
iii. Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments 

to IAS 16). 
 
It has been assessed that none of these changes will have a material impact on the 
accounts. 
 
 
 

Page 327



  
 

60 

 

5. Unusable Reserves 
  

 
    

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement. 
 
The details of the movements in unusable reserves can be found in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 
the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).   
 
The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.   
 
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 
Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 

 
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority Group’s accounts for post-
employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 

Restated
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
28,563 Revaluation Reserve 27,689

121,331 Capital Adjustment Account 124,865
(99,408) Pension Reserve (77,462)

(796) Accumulating Absences Account (796)
(241) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (292)

49,449 Total 74,004

Page 328



  
 

61 

 

benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities 
recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes 
employer’s contributions to pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which 
it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore 
represents a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees 
and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits 
come to be paid.   

 
Accumulated Absences Account 

  
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the Revenue Reserve Balance from accruing for compensated absences 
earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 
March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the Revenue Reserves 
Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities.  

Page 329



  
 

62 

 

6. Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

LCRCA Group - Movements in Earmarked Reserves 
  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted 
back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2021/22. 
 

 
            
  
7.  Other Operating Expenditure 
 

  
  
8.  Financing and Investment Income  
  

  
 
9.  Pensions 
 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment 
benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the Combined Authority and Merseytravel has a commitment to make the payments 
(for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that employees earn their future 
entitlement.   
 

Balance 
1st April 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers 
In 2020/21

Balance 
31st 

March 
2021

Transfers 
Out 

2021/22

Transfers 
In 2021/22

Balance 
31st 

March 
2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
LCRCA Single Entity  
Earmarked Reserves

172,673 (10,223) 3,689 166,139 (4,619) 7,077 168,597

Merseytravel Group 
Earmarked Reserves

55,312 (4,333) 3,407 54,386 0 602 54,988

LCRCA Group 
Earmarked Reserves

227,985 (14,556) 7,096 220,525 (4,619) 7,679 223,585

LCRCA General Fund 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,302 7,036

Merseytravel Group 
General Fund 3,219 0 1,410 4,629 0 0 4,629
Total General Fund 5,953 0 1,410 7,363 0 4,302 11,665
Total Usable Reserves 233,938 (14,556) 8,506 227,888 (4,619) 11,981 235,250

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

147 Pension administration costs 161
147 Total 161

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

8,651 Interest on Pension Liabilities 8,711
(6,584) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (6,675)
11,986 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,318
(2,536) Investment Income (2,384)

509 Expected Credit Loss 412
12,026 Total 11,382

Page 330



  
 

63 

 

Both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel participates in Merseyside Pension 
Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this is a funded defined benefit final 
salary scheme, meaning that Merseytravel and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment 
assets.  

 
 
Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 

 
The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 
 

 
 

The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation. 
 

 
  
 Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Merseytravel’s obligation 
in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

 
  
  
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
8,958 Current service cost 12,140

Other Operating Expenditure
147 Administration expenses 161

Financing and Investments Income
2,067 Net interest expense 2,036

11,172 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 14,337

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(11,172)
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(14,337)

5,155 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 5,498

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(418,880) Benefit obligation at end of the period (425,986)
319,471 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 348,523
(99,409) Deficit as at 31 March (77,463)

Page 331



  
 

64 

 

 
 

Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 
 

   
 

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
277,498 Balance brought forward 31 March 319,471

6,584 Interest on plan assets 6,675
41,117 Remeasurement 27,004

(147) Administration expenses (161)
5,155 Employers contributions 5,498
2,108 Members contributions 2,299

(12,844) Benefits/ transfers paid (12,263)
319,471 Balance carried forward 1 April 348,523

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(366,355) Balance brought forward 31 March (418,880)
(8,958) Current service cost (12,140)
(8,651) Interest on pension liabilities (8,711)
(2,108) Member contribution (2,299)

(45,652) Remeasurement (liabilities) 3,781
12,844 Benefits/ transfers paid 12,263

(418,880) Balance carried forward 1 April (425,986)

Page 332



  
 

65 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
 

 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 

 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below. 
 

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities

47,797 7,340 55,137 17 UK 52,050 5,848 57,898 17

75,882 34,622 110,504 35 Global 77,774 37,165 114,939 33

Bonds

3,862 0 3,862 1 UK Government 3,691 0 3,691 1

10,503 0 10,503 3 UK Corporate 10,294 0 10,294 3

25,222 0 25,222 8 UK Index Linked 30,371 0 30,371 9

63 1,679 1,742 1 Overseas Corporate 1,741 0 1,741 0

(40) -1,071 -1,111 0 Derivative Contracts 0  (1,183)  (1,183) 0

Property

0 14,647 14,647 5 UK Direct Property 0 18,654 18,654 5

603 5,698 6,301 1 UK Managed Property 394 5,919 6,313 1

0 7,508 7,508 2
Global Managed 
Property

0 8,610 8,610 2

   
Private Equity

0 5,598 5,598 2 UK 0 9,435 9,435 3

0 17,529 17,529 5 Global 36 21,668 21,704 6

Cash

0 0 0 0 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0

7,701 0 7,701 2 Cash Accounts 6,182 0 6,182 2

Other

502 1,273 1,775 1 Private Equity UK 502 1,435 1,937 1

0 12,569 12,569 4 Private Equity Global 0 12,807 12,807 4

469 12,133 12,602 4 Infrastructure UK 0 15,498 15,498 4

0 9,452 9,452 3 Infrastructure Global 0 10,404 10,404 3

134 5,664 5,798 2 Opportunities UK 0 6,529 6,529 2

502 11,630 12,132 4 Opportunities Global 574 12,125 12,699 4

173,200 146,271 319,471 100 183,609 164,914 348,523 100

% of 
total

% of 
total

2020/21 2021/22

Page 333



  
 

66 

 

 
  

A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
  

Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 
the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  
The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 
establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  
 
The Combined Authority and Merseytravel anticipate paying £3.928m in contributions 
to the scheme in 2022/23. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

LCRCA LCRCA Merseytravel Merseytravel

Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 3.20% 2.70% 3.40% 2.70%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.70% 4.20% 4.90% 4.20%
Rate of increase in pensions 3.30% 2.80% 3.50% 2.80%
Discount Rate 2.80% 2.20% 2.80% 2.10%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 22.4 22.6 22.4 22.6

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 25.9 26.0 25.9 26.0

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 20.9 21.0 20.9 21.0
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.0 24.1 24.0 24.1

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% change 
in 2021/22 
investment 

returns

-1% change in 
21/22 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Liabilities (425,986) (419,520) (432,553) (426,956) (439,009) (425,986) (425,986)
Assets 348,523 348,523 348,523 348,523 348,523 351,986 345,060
(Surplus)/ Deficit (77,463) (70,997) (84,030) (78,433) (90,486) (74,000) (80,926)

Projected service cost 
next year

11,481 11,178 11,792 11,481 11,868 11,481 11,481

Projected net interest 
cost for next year

2,114 2,002 2,304 2,147 2,485 2,017 2,211

Page 334



  
 

67 

 

10. Grant Income 

 

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement. 

 

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to the prior year restatement.  The 20/21 
comparator has also been restated to take into account the Halton differential levy. 

 

 

Restated
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
 (97,842) Special Rail Grant  (99,132)
 (1,516) Bus Special Operator Grant  (1,513)
 (4,043) REFCUS  (7,364)
 (4,853) Covid Restart Grants  (2,970)

0 Transport Development Grant  (87)
 (47,354) DfT Integrated Transport Block  (37,461)

 (113) DfT Cycling and Walking 0
 (86,548) BEIS Local Growth Fund 0

0 Growing Places Fund  (624)
 (13,791) BEIS -Gain Share  (40,984)
 (9,354) Other Grants and Contributions  (7,152)

 (181) Brexit Readiness 0
 (11,462) ERDF & ESF  (7,652)
 (12,241) Transforming Cities  (16,229)
 (10,346) Brownfield Fund  (5,058)
 (2,593) Getting Building Fund  (7,527)

 (27,968) Additional Restrictions Grant  (25,201)
 (102) Planning Delivery Fund  (103)

 (51,241) Adult Education  (55,936)
 (944) Households into Work  (1,295)

 (1,880) Homelessness  (2,885)
0 Low Carbon  (40,251)

(384,372)        Total (359,424)        

Credited to Services

2020/21
Restated

£’000 £’000
          (97,404)  Transport Levy            (97,404)
            (3,200) Halton Differential Levy              (3,200)
            (1,000)  Mayoral Capacity Grant              (1,000)
            (7,619)  Mayoral Precept              (7,595)
            (6,212)  MHCLG Sales, Fees & Charges Scheme              (1,052)
          (13,372)  Capital Grants             (44,253)
            (4,034)  Utilisation of Gainshare Revenue              (4,020)
        (132,841) Total  (158,524)

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income

2021/22

Page 335



  
 

68 

 

11. Grant Receipts in Advance 

The Authority Group has received a number of grants and contributions which have 
conditions attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will 
only be credited to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement once all 
conditions are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

 

  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(34,104) Gain Share (14,022)
(197) ERDF (251)
(180) ESF (232)

(16,471) DfT (26,666)
(796) Homelessness Grant (1,651)
(325) MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant (222)
(275) Households into Work (275)

(53,661) Low Carbon (17,412)
(11,598) Growing Places (10,974)
(30,533) Transforming Cities (54,589)
(10,482) Getting Building Fund (75)
(17,084) Additional Restrictions Grant 0
(4,594) Adult Education Funding (7,277)

(273) EU Exit Preparation Fund (273)
(10,033) Rolling Stock (6,829)

(107) Better Bus Area (107)
(1,114) Better Deal for Bus (2,012)

(252) Smart Ticketing 0
(847) Clean Bus Grant (765)

0 Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (11,113)
0 Brownfield Fund (17,942)
0 Sustainable Warmth Grant (28,503)
0 Lifetime Skills Grant (2,366)
0 Levelling Up Fund (794)

(1,513) Miscellaneous (3,550)
(194,439) Total (207,900)

Page 336



  
 

69 

 

12. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority Group in comparison 
to those resources consumed or earned by the Authority Group in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how 
the expenditure is allocated between Services. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is 
presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

 
 

An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been 
restated to reflect the new structure as well as the Halton differential levy. Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to a further restatement of a loan in 
the prior year.

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
102,976 41,138 144,114 Place 12,524 76,832 89,355

3,360 152 3,512 Investment & Delivery 2,465 1,240 3,704
3,142 291 3,433 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 3,512 460 3,972
1,651 61 1,712 Corporate Services 1,041 57 1,098
1,459 514 1,973 Corporate Development & Delivery 1,568 198 1,765
2,938 522 3,460 Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,004 175 6,179

266 (23,047) (22,781) SIF Payments to Partners 13,477 26,299 39,776

115,790 19,631 135,421 Net Cost of Services 40,590 105,259 145,849
(109,740) (10,928) (120,668) Other Income and Expenditure (47,952) (99,028) (146,980)

6,050 8,703 14,753 Surplus or deficit (7,362) 6,232 (1,132)
(233,938) Opening Balance at 1 April (227,888)

6,050 Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year (7,362)
(227,888) Closing Reserves at 31 March (235,250)

2020/21 Restated 2021/22

P
age 337



  
 

70 

 

 

 

Note to EFA 2021/22 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES 
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes 

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments 
Other Differences Total Adjustments 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Place 72,375 4,457 0 76,832 
Investment & Delivery (56) 1,296 0 1,240 
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 460 0 460 
Corporate Services 0 57 0 57 
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 198 0 198 
Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 0 175 0 175 
SIF Payments to Partners 26,299 0 0 26,299 
Net Cost of Services 98,617 6,642 0 105,259 
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (101,276) 2,197 51 (99,028) 
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(2,658) 8,839 51 6,232 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 338



  
 

71 

 

 
 
Note to EFA 2020/21 Restated 
 

 
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been 
restated to reflect the new structure. 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Place 38,451 2,481 206 41,138
Investment & Delivery 0 152 0 152
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 73 218 291
Corporate Services 0 61 0 61
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 514 0 514
Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 0 522 0 522
SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)
Net Cost of Services 15,404 3,803 424 19,631
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (13,373) 2,214 231 (10,928)
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and CIES 
surplus or deficit

2,031 6,017 655 8,703

P
age 339



 

72 

 

 

 

Adjustments for capital purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Net Changes for Pension Adjustments 

 
Net changes for the removal of pension contributions and additions of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related income and expenditure. For services this 
represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Authority 
Group as allowed under statute and replaced with current service cost and past service 
cost. For financing and investment income this is the net interest on the defined benefit 
liability charged to the CIES. 
  
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts and 
adjustments in respect of accumulating absences. 
 
Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 

 

The 2020/21 comparators have been restated to incorporate the Halton differential 
levy. 
Please also refer to Note 29 for information relating to a restatement of a loan in the 
prior year. 

  

 Restated 
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £'000
Expenditure

46,998 Employee benefits expenses 52,234
519,390 Other services expenses 602,092
16,631 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 15,654
11,986 Interest payments 11,183

595,005 Total expenditure 681,163

Income

(60,400) Fees, charges and other service income (1,364)

(2,536) Interest and investment income (2,248)
(517,316) Government grants and contributions (678,683)
(580,252) Total income (682,295)

14,753
(Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of 
Services

(1,132)

Page 340



 

73 

 

 

 
13. Officers’ Remuneration 
 

Senior Officers’ Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the directors of Merseytravel and the CA. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Salary

Employers 
Pension 

Contribution
Total 

Remuneration

2021/22 106 17 123

2020/21 203 34 237

2021/22 138 19 157

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 131 18 149

2020/21 128 17 146

2021/22 103 17 120

2020/21 112 19 132

2021/22 123 20 142

2020/21 112 19 130

2021/22 26 4 30

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 105 14 119

2020/21 103 14 117

2021/22 41 5 46

2020/21 163 22 186

2021/22 77 0 77

2020/21 102 0 102

2021/22 38 0 38

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 122 17 139

2020/21 87 14 101

Chief Executive/Director General 
Frank Rogers (i)
Resigned 30th September 2021         

Chief Executive  - Katherine Fairclough (ii) 
Appointed 28th June 2021

Executive Director of Corporate Services

Executive Director Of Corporate 
Development and Delivery

Interim Director of Integrated Transport (iii)                             
Resigned 31st March 2022

Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations 

Executive Director Place (iv)                                      
Appointed 1st February 2022.

Monitoring Officer

Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment (v)   
Resignd 25th June 2021

Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning 
and Delivery (vi)                                                                                             
Realigned 29th November 2021 

Executive Director of Investment and 
Delivery (vii)                                              
Appointed 29th November 2021

Page 341



 

74 

 

 

Following an internal realignment during 2021/22 the following changes to Executive 
Directors of Merseytravel and LCRCA have been made:   

 
i. Chief Executive and Director General Frank Rogers resigned 30th September 

2021. 
ii. Katherine Fairclough was appointed Chief Executive on 28th June 2021, the 

responsibility for Director General was removed from the remit of Chief 
Executive. 

iii. Interim Director of Integrated Transport resigned 31st March 2022. 
iv. New  role  of Executive Director Place was created combining responsibilities 

for Place, Director General and Deputy Chief Executive,  was appointed 1st 
February 2022.  

v. Director of Commercial Development and Investment resigned 25th June 
2021 (see vii). 

vi. Director of Strategic Commissioning and Delivery post was removed 29th 
November 2021 (see vii). 

vii. Executive Director of Strategic Investment and Delivery post is a new role and 
brings together above two roles. This post was appointed 29th November 
2021. 

 
Employee Remuneration 

 
The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed overleaf.  For the purpose of this note remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’ pension 
contributions. 
 

 
2020/21 figures have been restated to adjust for banding width as per CIPFA 
Guidance. 

Remuneration Range
Restated 
2020/21 2021/22

£50,000 to £54,999 30 43
£55,000 to £59,999 21 19
£60,000 to £64,999 13 23
£65,000 to £69,999 5 7
£70,000 to £74,999 7 7
£75,000 to £79,999 1 4
£80,000 to £84,999 1 1
£85,000 to £89,999 7 1
£90,000 to £94,999 1 4
£95,000 to £99,999 2 2
£100,000 to £104,999 1 3
£105,000 to £109,999 0 1
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £119,999 0 0
£120,000 to £124,999 0 0
£125,000 to £129,999 0 0
£130,000 to £134,999 0 0
£135,000 to £139,999 1 1
£140,000 to £144,999 0 1
Total 91 117

Page 342



 

75 

 

 

 
Exit Packages 
 

 
 
14. Audit Fees 
 

The table overleaf discloses the fees paid to the Group’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work for the LCRCA and Merseytravel.  
year.  The Merseytravel subsidiary companies’ external auditor is Langtons. 
 

  
 
15.  Related Party Transactions 
 

The Authority Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, 
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority Group. 

 
Central Government 

 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the 
Authority Group as it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which 
the Authority Group operates. A significant body of the funding received by the 
Authority Group comes from Central Government, which provide the majority of the 
Authority Group’s capital expenditure funding and Growth Deal funding provided as 
part of the Authority Group’s devolution deal.  In addition, the Authority Group receives 
the Special Rail Grant which is received by Merseytravel to support the operation of 
the local Merseyrail franchise.  Details on the funding received from the various 
government departments is detailed in note 6 of the single entity financial statements. 

  
 
 
 

£0 - £20,000 0 0 1 4 1 4 7 9
£20,001 - £40,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£60,001 - £80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£80,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£100,001 -£150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 1 0 1 4 1 4 7 9

21/22 
£'000

No. of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

No. of other 
Departures 

agreed

Total No. of 
Exit Packages 
by Cost Band

Total Cost of Exit 
Packages in each 

Band

20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22
20/21 
£'000

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

45 External Audit fees in respect of LCRCA 40
38 External Audit fees in respect of Merseytravel 29
21 External Audit fees in respect of subsidiary companies 22

104 Total 91

Page 343



 

76 

 

 

Merseyside Local Authorities 
 

The Leaders/Mayor of the Merseyside local authorities and Halton all serve as 
Members to the LCRCA which has direct control over the Authority Group’s financial 
and operating policies.  Within their capacity as members of the Authority, in 
consultation with their respective local authorities, Members approve the level of the 
Transport Levy raised annually to support the transport functions of the Authority.   

 
The Authority Group operates a number of boards and committees below the Authority 
Group level, most notably the Transport, Overview and Scrutiny and Audit and 
Governance Committees.  These are comprised of Elected Members from the 
constituent local authorities as nominated by their Leaders.  During the year no works 
and services were commissioned from companies in which Members had an interest. 

 
Details of income, expenditure and balance sheet balances are detailed below:  
 

 
 

 
Entities controlled or significantly influenced by the Authority Group 
 
Liverpool Growth Platform 

The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the private/education/third sector 
provide a minority of guarantors through election at the LEP Board.  The LCRCA does 
exercise control over the Growth Platform however the results have not been 
consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as at 31st March 2022 are 
£488k (£394k in 2020/21 and net surplus for the 2021/22 financial year is £488k (£11k 
deficit in 2020/21).  2020/21 figures have been updated to reflect the Liverpool Growth 
Platform audited accounts. 
 
LCRCA granted Liverpool Growth Platform a loan of £500k by agreement on 28 
October 2020.  This was a working capital float to maintain appropriate levels of 
liquidity as a result of delayed grant payments from other sources.  As the results of 
Liverpool Growth Platform are not consolidated this loan is recognised as a long term 
debtor in the single entity and the group financial statements. 
 

 
 

2020/21 2021/22
Total Total Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton St Helens Wirral

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
(105,932)  Income (109,565) (4,035) (11,087) (36,669) (20,519) (13,331) (23,924)

164,508  Expenditure 118,786 12,182 18,074 42,981 18,161 11,891 15,497

17  Debtors 46 46 0 0 0 0 0
(47,377)  Creditors (51,219) (4,070) (8,419) (29,629) (5,625) (2,080) (1,396)

1,095  Investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
(11,442)   Borrowings (9,153) 0 0 0 0 0 (9,153)

Liverpool City Region 
Authorities

2020/21 2021/22
Total Total
£000's £000's

(426) Income (131)
2,923 Expenditure 1,512

500 Investments 500

Liverpool Growth Platform

Page 344



 

77 

 

 

 

LCR Digital 

LCR Digital is a £30m joint venture, 50%-owned by the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, in partnership with Northwest-based ITS Technology Group, who 
will lead the project, working alongside construction partner NGE, who are managing 
the build and roll out of the network. 
 
LCR Digital will help make the Liverpool City Region the most digitally connected area 
in the UK and ultimately lead to a £1 billion boost to the local economy. Work has now 
begun on a 212km full-fibre, gigabit-capable network infrastructure, capable of 
delivering speeds of 1,000mbps and beyond, that will help position the City Region at 
the head of the next digital revolution. 
 
The net assets held as at  31st March 2022 are £6.361m with net losses of £1.635m. 
The  2021/22 figures have been consolidated into the LCRCA group accounts. 
LCRCA granted LCR Digital a loan of £5.267m during 2021/22 and made investment 
of £4.008m. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21                             
£000's

LCR Digital
2021/22                                  
£000's

0 Income (78)
0 Losses on Investment 827
0 Investments 3,102
0 Debtor - Loan 5,267
0 Debtor - Loan Interest 156

Page 345



 

78 

 

 

16. Property Plant and Equipment 
 

Movement on Balances 2021/22 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 

   
  

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2021 365,987 21,701 70,196 5,142 22,103 1,264 210,386 0 696,779
Additions 1,807 6,643 377 0 2,277 43 69,051 0 80,198
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 (58) 0 (155) 0 (213)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 67,594 0 (67,594) 0 0
As at 31 March 2022 367,794 28,344 70,573 5,142 91,917 1,308 211,688 0 776,766

As at 1 April 2021 95,590 617 2,500 1,182 7,713 2 0 0 107,603
Depreciation 10,422 750 1,946 197 1,901 1 0 0 15,218
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (23) 0 0 0 (23)
As at 31 March 2022 106,012 1,367 4,446 1,379 9,591 3 0 0 122,798

As at 31 March 2022 261,782 26,977 66,127 3,763 82,326 1,305 211,688 0 653,968
As at 31 March 2021 270,397 21,084 67,696 3,960 14,390 1,262 210,386 0 589,176

Depreciation and Impairment

Total

Net Book Value

Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

Held for 
Sale

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property

Surplus 
Assets

P
age 346



 

79 

 

 

 
 
Movement on Balances 2020/21  
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2020 362,771 18,361 69,498 5,142 18,121 1,192 181,462 0 656,547
Additions 3,216 3,340 698 0 1,972 72 31,291 0 40,589
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 2,278 0 (2,367) 0 (89)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 365,987 21,701 70,196 5,142 22,103 1,264 210,386 0 696,779

As at 1 April 2020 83,450 0 595 985 6,565 1 0 0 91,595
Depreciation 12,140 617 1,905 197 1,416 1 0 0 16,276
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 95,590 617 2,500 1,182 7,713 2 0 0 107,603

As at 31 March 2021 270,397 21,084 67,696 3,960 14,390 1,262 210,386 0 589,176
As at 31 March 2020 279,321 18,361 68,902 4,157 11,556 1,192 181,462 0 564,952

Surplus 
Assets

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

Held for 
Sale

Total

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

(Restated) 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 

Machinery

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property

P
age 347



 

80 

 

 

 
Depreciation 

 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

 
 Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and considered 

thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current maximum 
useful life is 72 years. 

 Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation process.  The 
maximum useful life in this category is 51 years. 

 Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on acquisition and 
considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current 
maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 Vessels useful lives are based on estimated remaining life provided by the 
valuer as part of the valuation process.  The maximum useful life in this 
category is 8 years. 

 
Revaluations 

 
The Authority has a valuation process which ensures that all property plant and 
equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.   

 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 
and equipment are: 

 
 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 

that none has been subsequently incorporated. 
 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 

restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 
 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 

be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 No environmental assessment of the property (including its site) and 
neighbouring properties has been provided to or by the valuer and the valuer 
is not instructed to arrange consultants to investigate any matters with regard 
to flooding, contamination or the presence of radon gas or other hazardous 
substances.   

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £365.987m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £27.245m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £210.386m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £93.161m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  

Page 348



 

81 

 

 

The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2021/22 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices which were provided by the external valuers.  These 
estimates did not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not 
been revalued in the 2021/22 financial year.  
 

 Capital Commitments 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2022/2023 and future 
years budgeted to cost £240.457m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2021 were 
£254.214m. 
 

 The major commitments are: 
 

 Rolling Stock - £76.606m 
 Headbolt Lane Gateway - £53.058m 
 Parkside Road - £23.800m 
 Festival Gardens - £16.630m 
 St Helens Southern Gateway - £8.738m 
 Glass Futures - £6.273m  

 
17. Intangible Assets 
 

 
 

Goodwill of £1.695m relates to the acquisition by Mersey Ferries Limited of The 
Beatles Story.  For impairment testing purposes, this goodwill has been allocated to 
the wholly owned subsidiary, which forms part of the Mersey Ferries Group.  This 
represents the lowest level within the LCRCA at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. 

 
 
 

 

Goodwill on 
Consolidation

Licences Total
Goodwill on 

Consolidation
Licences Total

£’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation:

Opening balance:

2,803 2,308 5,111 Gross carrying amount 2,803 3,384 6,187

(1,108) (1,047) (2,155) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,303) (2,411)

1,695 1,261 2,956 Opening net carrying amount 1,695 2,081 3,776

0 987 987 Additions 0 709 709

0 (256) (256) Amortisation 0 (337) (337)

0 89 89 Reclassification 0 0 0

0 0 0 Disposal 0 0 0

1,695 2,081 3,776 Net carrying amount at end of year 1,695 2,453 4,148

Comprising:

2,803 3,384 6,187 Gross carrying amount 2,803 4,093 6,896

(1,108) (1,303) (2,411) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,640) (2,748)

1,695 2,081 3,776 1,695 2,453 4,148

2020/21 2021/22

Page 349



 

82 

 

 

 
Merseytravel has performed its annual impairment test as at 31 March 2022.  The 
recoverable amount of The Beatles Story is determined on a value in use basis using  
cash flow projections based on historical financial outturns and consideration of the 
likely impact of COVID-19. 

 
Some sensitivity analysis was then applied to these assumptions resulting in little 
change to the original values. The resultant calculation showed the value of implied 
goodwill was consistent with that shown in the group balance sheet and no impairment 
was required for 2021/22. 
 

18. Heritage Assets 
 

  
 

The Group holds a number of heritage assets which are primarily statues and artworks 
as detailed in the above table. 

The assets are not depreciated as depreciation charges are not required on heritage 
assets which have indefinite lives.  An impairment review is undertaken when the asset 
has suffered physical deterioration or breakage, or where new doubts arise as to its 
authenticity. 
 

19. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
overleaf together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note. 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Statues of King George and Queen Mary 300 300
Day and Night sculpture 50 50
Obelisk at Kings Square 100 100
Art on the Network 194 194
Albert Dock monument 385 385
Bessie and Ken statues 69 69
Other heritage assets 63 63
Balance as at 31 March 1,161 1,161

Page 350



 

83 

 

 

 
 

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 
20. Long Term Debtors  
 

 
 

Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year.  
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22
Restated
2020/21

£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 453,934 425,157

Capital investment
PPE 80,198 40,590
Intangible assets 709 987
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 
Under Statute

160,504 184,209

Investments 4,008 0
Loan Expenditure 7,267 5,274

Sources of Finance
Government grants and other contributions
Direct Revenue Contributions (4,819) (5,788)
Sums aside from revenue reserves (4,173) (4,942)
Use of capital receipts (246) 0
Minimum Revenue Provision (2,283) (7,568)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 526,202 453,934

Explanation of movements in year:
Increase/(Decrease) in underlying need to 
borrow

72,268 28,777

Increase/(Decrease) in Capital Financing 
Requirement

72,268 28,777

(168,897) (183,985)

Restated
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
               37,635 Loans                43,648 

1,845 Other Debtors                  1,625 
34,972 Chrysalis                34,972 
74,452 Balance as at 31 March 80,245

Page 351



 

84 

 

 

21. Short Term Debtors 
 

 
 
22.  Short Term Creditors 
  

 
  
  
23.  Leases 
  

Authority as Lessee 
  

 
 
The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

 

 
 
 Authority as Lessor 
  

  
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

1,712 Trade Receivables 1,775
3,195 Prepayments 3,438

16,400 Other Receivable Amounts 25,066
21,307 Balance as at 31 March 30,279

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(5,793) Trade Payables (2,901)
(98,238) Other Payables (124,047)

(104,031) Balance as at 31 March (126,948)

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000
13,263 Not later than one year 11,540
20,961 Between one and five years 14,629
57,051 Over five years 53,376
91,275 Balance as at 31 March 79,545

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

13,490 Minimum lease payments 13,482
(10,646) Sublease payments receivable (11,020)

2,844 Total 2,462

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000
(10,962) Not later than one year (9,246)
(10,924) Between one and five years (4,070)
(2,294) Over five years (1,649)

(24,180) Balance as at 31 March (14,965)

Page 352



 

85 

 

 

24. Provisions 
 

 
 

  

 
   

i) Insurance Related Provision – this provision represents the value of the 
remaining liability for all self-insured claims occurring in 2021/22 and all prior 
policy years. 
 

ii) Grant related Provision - £10.270m this provision represents the grant which is 
awaiting payment once the final grant condition is met. This grant is expected 
to be paid during 2021/22 

 
iii) Contractual Provision – this provision is retained during the contractual defects 

period. 
 
iv) Capital Expenditure – this is a provision which is retained in relation to the 

possible clawback of ERDF grants. 
           
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As at 31 March 
2021

Expenditure 
charged to 
provision in 

year

(Increase) / 
decrease in 
provision

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Insurance Related Provision  (546) 25 70  (451)

Grant Related Provision 0 0  (10,270)  (10,270)
Contractual Provisions  (1,128) 0 0  (1,128)
Government initiatives  (200) 0 0  (200)
Capital Expenditure  (1,046) 0 0  (1,046)
Corporation Tax Provision 145   (74) 71

Total  (2,775) 25  (10,274)  (13,024)

 

As at 31 March 
2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

Short Term Provisions  (763)  (11,012)

Long Term Provisions  (2,012)  (2,012)
Total (2,775) (13,024)

Page 353



 

86 

 

 

  
25. Financial Instruments 
 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 

 
Please refer to Note 29 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 
Income and Expenses through the CIES 

 

 
 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at Amortised 
Cost:

          235,228 0 Investments            220,420               3,102 
18,112             74,452 Debtors 26,841 80,245
98,393 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents 68,774 0

351,733 74,452 Total Financial Assets 316,035 83,347

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,965) (323,612) Borrowing (15,791) (307,821)
(104,031) (6,000) Creditors (126,948) (5,700)

(120,996) (329,612) Total Financial Liabilities (142,739) (313,521)

Restated
31 March 2021

31 March 2022

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
11,986 0 Interest Expense 11,318 0

0 (2,536) Interest Income 0 (2,384)

11,986 (2,536)
Net (Income)/Expense for the 
Year

11,318 (2,384)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

72,216 54,592
26,177 14,182
98,393 68,774

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

Page 354



 

87 

 

 

 
Analysis of Loans Outstanding 
 

 
Loans Maturing 
 

 
 
 
Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

 
The Authority’s financial liabilities and financial assets are represented by loans, 
investments and long-term debtors which are carried on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost.  Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of 
the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instrument (Level 2 inputs) 
using the following assumptions: 
 
 For loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), premature repayment 

rates from the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value under the 
PWLB debt redemption procedures;    

 For non-PWLB loans fair value estimates have been provided using both PWLB 
redemption and new PWLB certainty rate loan discount rates. 

 For loans receivable, prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to 
provide the fair value; 

 No early repayment or impairment has been recognised; and 
 For highly liquid or cash deposits which can be settled on demand and for trade 

receivable or payable, fair value is taken to be the carrying amount or billed 
amount. 

 
The fair values of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet 
date are detailed below: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
 (148,480)  (140,033)
 (180,656)  (174,426)
 (11,441)  (9,153)

 (340,577)  (323,612)

PWLB Debt
EIB Debt
Wirral MBC (transferred debt)
Total Loans Outstanding

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

16,965 Maturing within 12 months (15,791)
15,739 Maturing within 1 -  2 years (15,423)
45,991 Maturing within 2 to 5 years (44,021)
52,085 Maturing within 5-10 years (47,904)

209,797 Maturing in more than 10 years (200,473)
340,577 Total Loans Outstanding (323,612)

Page 355



 

88 

 

 

 
 
IFRS 9 Review 
 
An impairment review has been completed for all loans and debtors in accordance with 
IFRS9 , these have been included with in the balance sheet figures.  LCRCA have 
made 3 new loans within the financial period  for total of £7.77m for which no 
impairment has been made. There is £947k estimated credit loss held within the 
balance sheet. 
 
Loans 
 

 
 
 
Debtors 
 

 
 
 

 Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
 The LCRCA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: - 




Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Financial Assets

0 0  Investment in Joint Venture        3,102        3,102 
235,228 235,260 Short term investments 220,420 219,810
98,393 98,393 Cash and cash equivalents 68,774 68,773

Financial Liabilities
 (148,480)  (221,068) PWLB Debt  (140,033) (194,283)
 (11,441)  (10,917) Wirral MBC  (9,153) (10,274)

 (180,656)  (160,944) EIB Debt  (174,426) (137,179)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22

£ 000's £ 000's
Opening Balance 39,927                                     76,032                                     
Loan made in year 36,750                                     7,767                                       
Loans Repaid in Year (645)  (1,808)
Closing Loan Value 76,032                                     81,991                                     

Expected Credit Loss  (70)  (570)

2020/21 2021/22

£000's £000's
Debtors 2,252                                       2,723                                       
Expected Credit Loss (470) (377)

Page 356



 

89 

 

 

 Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 
the LCRCA;

 Liquidity risk - the possibility that the LCRCA might not have funds available to 
meet its commitments to make payments; and 

 Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the LCRCA as a 
result of changes in such measures as interest rates. 

 
 The LCRCA’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by the Resources 
Directorate, under policies approved by the LCRCA in its Treasury Management 
Strategy.   
 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to the Authority’s customers.  The risk is minimised through the Treasury 
Management Strategy, which pays regard to the recognition and measurement of 
expected credit losses.  The Authority will recognise a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses, if applicable, on assets where cash flows are solely principal and interest 
(i.e. financial instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI). This does not apply 
where the counterparty is central government or another Local Authority.  
 
A credit loss review has been undertaken as above. 

 
Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated 
independently with a minimum score of P1 and A3 (Moody’s) and/or F1 and A (Fitch’s), 
with weightings of the total amounted deposited in the highest rated categories.  The 
Authority has a policy of spreading its surplus balances over several institutions. 
 
Liquidity risk 

 
As the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board, 
there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments.  
There is a future risk that the Authority will be bound to replenish a proportion of its 
borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates, however this risk is several 
decades in the future and will be significantly covered by Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) balances.  Details of the maturity of debt are given earlier in this note. 

  
 

Market Risk 
 

Interest rate risk: The Authority is exposed to marginal risk in terms of its exposure to 
interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  Borrowings are not 
carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the CIES or MIRS.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable 
on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the CIES or MIRS.  
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the MIRS. 

 
Price Risk: The Authority does not generally invest in equity shares, but the Group 
Accounts do reflect shareholdings in a number of subsidiaries. 

 
 

Page 357



 

90 

 

 

 
As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the Group is 
not in a position to limit its exposure to price movements by diversifying its portfolio. 

 
Foreign exchange risk:  The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities, denominated 
in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising from movements in 
exchange rates. 

 
In all cases, the carrying value of financial instruments is a reasonable approximation 
to fair value. 

 
 Hedging Instruments 
 

The Authority holds no financial instruments that could be classified as hedging 
instruments. 

 
 
26. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 

The Department for Transport provides an annual Special Rail Grant to Merseytravel 
in support of the Merseyrail Electrics Network. This funding is subsequently paid by 
Merseytravel to the operator of the network, Merseyrail Electrics 2002 Limited (MEL). 
  
The funding paid and to be paid in support of the Merseyrail Electrics Network is under 
review following internal assurance processes undertaken by the Department for 
Transport which has highlighted a computational error which has led to MEL invoking 
contractual mechanisms to seek resolution to a number of issues concerning funding.   
 
Merseyrail Electrics Limited (MEL) has issued arbitration proceedings against 
Merseytravel.  Merseytravel denies the claims made and has consequently issued 
counter claims against MEL.  Legal proceedings are being progressed and an 
anticipated hearing date established for 2023.  Due to the ongoing nature of this matter 
and the uncertainty of outcome, further disclosure or quantification could be prejudicial. 

 
 
27. Note to the Cashflow Statement 
 

Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

 
 

 
The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,487) Interest Received (2,462)
12,290 Interest Paid 11,318

Page 358



 

91 

 

 

 
 

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
items that are investing and financing activities: 
 

 
 

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

 
  

Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

 
 
 

28. CA Group Companies 
 
 Merseytravel 
 

The decisions of the Authority with respect to transport services across Merseyside 
are implemented by Merseytravel. The relationship between the Authority and the 
services provided by Merseytravel on behalf of the Authority are detailed in the 
narrative statement. Merseytravel’s activities are funded through capital and revenue 
grants from the Authority.  Details of material expenditure is detailed below: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

16,532 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 15,555

148,516
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, provisions and pension 
liability

54,691

15,025 (Increase)/decrease in debtors (10,023)
111 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 96

0
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on the 
provision of services

190

180,184 Total 60,509

2020/21
Restated

£’000 £’000
(13,372) Grants received for the financing of capital expenditure (44,253)
(13,372) Total (44,253)

2021/22

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(46,543)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

(79,051)

(18,525) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments 14,808
(26,292) Other (purchases)/receipts from investing activities 34,201
(91,360) Total (30,042)

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(16,910) Repayment of short and long term borrowing (16,965)
(16,910) Total (16,965)

Page 359



 

92 

 

 

 
 
 
Chrysalis 
 
In May 2017, the novation of the JESSICA Holding Funds from the HCA to the LCR 
CA and GMCA was completed.  The Urban Development Fund (UDF) covering the 
Liverpool City Region which has been novated to LCRCA is Chrysalis.  The £36m 
Chrysalis Fund finances property, regeneration and sustainability projects throughout 
the Liverpool City Region.  The novated sums have been reflected in the LCRCA’s 
single entity account through the CIES as grants and non specific grant income and 
reflected on the Balance Sheet as an earmarked reserve and a long term debtor with 
the UDF Chrysalis. 
 
On novation the CA became the limited partner with 100% shareholding in LCR 
Chrysalis Holdings (GP) Limited, the General Partner.  The principal activity of the 
company is to act as the General Partner for the limited partnership, LCR Chrysalis 
Holding Limited Partnership, whose principal activity is to oversee funds already 
committed into development finance projects across Merseyside to meet regeneration 
objectives.  On novation the funds became part of the CA’s Single Investment 
Framework to ensure the alignment of investments with the City Region’s growth plan.  
For the purposes of consolidation whilst LCRCA controls LCR Chrysalis Holdings (GP) 
Limited, the financial activity of this organisation is not deemed material and therefore 
not consolidated into the group accounts.  The partnership agreement in respect of 
LCR Chrysalis Holding Limited Partnership is such that the LCRCA does not exercise 
control over the partnership and therefore does not form part of the group. 
 

  
Liverpool City Region Urban Development Fund (LCR UDF) 

 
The LCR UDF is a £25m fund managed under the Strategic Investment Fund 
framework incorporated on 19th February 2019.  The Fund is backed by the 2014-2020 
ERDF England Operational Programme and is a new funding route to foster smart, 
sustainable and inclusive growth for the Liverpool City Region. 

 
The LCRCA has established a special purpose vehicle to deliver the LCR UDF, a 
separate legal entity fully owned by the LCRCA.  The special purpose vehicle is a 
limited partnership, LCR UDF Limited Partnership.  The two partners in the limited 
partnership are: 
 

 a private limited company incorporated by the LCRCA acting as the general 
partner LCR UDF (GP) Limited and; 

 the LCRCA, which is the limited partner in the partnership 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

94,034 Merseytravel Grant 91,646

14,099 Tunnels Operational Grant 15,233

1,189 Rolling Stock 204

73,252 Capital Grants REFCUS 111,063

2,091 General Expenditure 1,603

Expenditure

Page 360



 

93 

 

 

The activities and performance of the LCRCA limited partnership is overseen by the 
board of its General Partner.  The board is comprised of 3 directors, the LCRCA’s Chief  
 
Executive, Section 73 Officer and Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment. 
 
The GP Board is the ultimate decision maker having powers to approve investments 
and other matters in accordance with the Investment Strategy and considering the 
advice from relevant advisors. 

 
The funding agreement between the Secretary of State for Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and LCR UDF Limited Partnership is such that 
the LCRCA does not have exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with LCR UDF.  As a consequence, the LCRCA does not exercise control over the 
partnership and therefore the LCR UDF does not form part of the group. 
 
Mersey Tidal One Limited 
 
The company has never traded and has been dormant since its formation. 
 

  
The Growth Platform 

 
The Growth Platform was established on 9th May 2019 to help create jobs, build 
business, attract investment and to help young people in the Liverpool City Region.  
The LCRCA has majority ownership in the Holding company which is a company 
limited by guarantee.  The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the 
private/education/third sector provide a minority of guarantors through election at the 
LEP Board.  The LCRCA does exercise control over the Growth Platform however the 
results have not been consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as 
at 31st March 2022 are £488k (£394k in 2020/21 as per audited accounts) and net 
surplus for the 2021/22 financial year is £93k (£13k deficit in 2020/21 as per audited 
accounts). 

 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited 
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited was incorporated on 30th November 2020 and is 
a joint venture investment for the CA.  The CA holds 50% of the shareholdings and 
NGE Concessions SAS and ITS Technology Group Limited hold 25% each.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 361



 

94 

 

 

Merseytravel Group Companies 
 

 
 

Certain directors of Merseytravel are also directors of the above companies.  Whilst 
these individuals are paid a salary by Merseytravel, no additional remuneration is 
received in respect of these directorships. 

  
Under the relevant accounting standards all of the above fall to be classed as 
subsidiary undertakings and as such the financial performance of each should be 
consolidated into the group financial statements on an equity basis however as the 
financial performance of RTIG and Accrington Technologies is not considered material 
the financial performance has not been consolidated into the accounts. A summary of 
financial performance is detailed below: 
 
Accrington Technologies – during the last two financial years the company has not 
traded and has received no income and incurred no expenditure. As at 31 March 2022 
the company had net assets of £5k and reserves of £5k. 

 
Real Time Information Group (RTIG) - the disclosed profit after taxation for 2021/22 
was £10k (£12k in 2020/21). As at 31 March 2022 the company had net assets of £23k. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Name Parent Holding
Nature of 
Business

% Equity 
Interest

Mersey Ferries Ltd Merseytravel
Company 
limited by 
guarantee

Passenger 
transport

N/A

25 £1 ordinary 
shares

375  £1 5% 
non-

cumulative 
preference 

shares
Real Time 

Information Group 
Ltd

Merseytravel
1x £1 ordinary 

shares

Real Time 
Information 

systems
100%

Accrington 
Technologies Ltd

Merseytravel
500 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Smartcards 50.10%

The Beatles Story 
Ltd

Mersey 
Ferries Ltd

290,000 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Tourism 100%

Merseyside 
Passenger 

Transport Services 
Ltd

Merseytravel Leasing 100%

Page 362



 

95 

 

 

 
29. Prior year restatement of Sandon Loan 
 
In the prior year the Combined Authority gave £1.25m to a third party in relation to a capital project. This was treated as a capital grant and was 
included within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as SIF Payments to Partners. This agreement was subsequently 
reviewed by the finance department and it was determined that the £1.25m was actually a capital loan rather than a grant and therefore the 
prior year comparatives within the financial statements have been restated for this. 
  

Restatement of the Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MIRS Caption
General 

Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

General 
Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

General 
Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 
(CIES)

(16,003) (16,003) 0 (4,535) (20,538) 1,250 1,250 0 0 1,250 (14,753) (14,753) 0 (4,535) (19,288)

Revenue expenditure funded 
from capital under statute

185,459 185,459 (185,459) (185,459) 0 (1,250) (1,250) 1,250 1,250 0 184,209 184,209 (184,209) (184,209) 0

Total adjustments to revenue 
resources

24,461 24,461 (17,789) (24,461) 0 (1,250) (1,250) 1,250 1,250 0 23,211 23,211 (16,539) (23,211) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 
2020/21

1,412 (6,050) (2,488) (14,488) (20,538) 0 0 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,412 (6,050) (1,238) (13,238) (19,288)

Balance as at 31st March 
2021 7,365 227,888 120,081 48,199 276,087 0 0 1,250 1,250 1,250 7,365 227,888 121,331 49,449 277,337

Previously Reported balance for 31/03/2021 Restatement Restated balance 31/03/2021

Usable Reserves
£'000

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000

Usable Reserves
£'000

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000

Usable Reserves
£'000

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000

P
age 363



 

96 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Restatement of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CIES Caption
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross Income Net Spend
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

SIF Payments to Partners 185,682 (208,463) (22,781) (1,250) 1,250 0 184,432 (207,213) (22,781)
Net Cost of Service 571,762 (439,541) 132,221 (1,250) 1,250 0 570,512 (438,291) 132,221

Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income

(128,391) (1,250) (129,641)

(Surplus) or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

16,003 (1,250) 14,753

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure

20,538 (1,250) 19,288

Restated balance 31/03/2021
£'000

Previously Reported balance for 31/03/2021
£'000

Restatement
£'000

P
age 364



 

97 

 

 

Restatement of the Balance Sheet 
 

 
 
Restatement of the Cashflow Statement 
 

 
 

 
Restatement of Note 5 Unusable Reserves 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 10 Grants Credited to Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Balance Sheet Caption

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Long-term Debtors 73,202 1,250 74,452
Long-term Assets 667,315 1,250 668,565

Net Assets/(Liabilities) 276,087 1,250 277,337
Unusable Reserves 48,199 1,250 49,449

Total Reserves 276,087 1,250 277,337

Cashflow

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Net deficit on provision of 
services 

(16,003) 1,250 (14,753)

Adjjustments to net surplus on 
the provision of services for 

items which are investing and 
financing actvities

(12,122) (1,250) (13,372)

Unusable Reserves

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Capital Adjustment Account 120,081 1,250 121,331
Total 48,199 1,250 49,449

Grants Credited to Services

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

BEIS Local Growth Fund (87,798) 1,250 (86,548)
Total (385,622) 1,250 (384,372)

Page 365



 

98 

 

 

Restatement of Note 10 Grants Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 12 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 12 Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 

 
 
 
 
Restatement of Note 19 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 20 Long Term Debtors 
 

 

Grants Credited to Taxation and 
Non Specific Grant Income

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Capital Grants (12,122) (1,250) (13,372)
Total (128,391) (1,250) (129,641)

EFA

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Other Income and Expenditure (9,678) (116,218) (1,250) (1,250) (10,928) (117,468)
Surplus or deficit 9,953 16,003 (1,250) (1,250) 8,703 14,753

Previously Reported balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated balance 31/03/2021
£'000

Income and expenditure 
analysed by type

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Other services expenses 517,440 (1,250) 516,190
Total expenditure 593,055 (1,250) 591,805

(Surplus) or deficit on the 
Provision of Services

16,003 (1,250) 14,753

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Revenue Expenditure Funded 
from Capital Under Statute

185,459 (1,250) 184,209

Loan Expenditure 4,024 1,250 5,274

Long Term Debtors

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Loans 36,385 1,250 37,635
Balance as at 31 March 73,202 1,250 74,452

Page 366



 

99 

 

 

 
Restatement of Note 25 Financial Instruments 
 

 
 
 
 
Restatement of Note 24 Notes to the Cashflow Statement 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Instruments

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Debtors 73,202 1,250 74,452
Total Financial Assets 73,202 1,250 74,452

Adjjustments to net surplus on 
the provision of services for 

items which are investing and 
financing actvities

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Grants received for the financing 
of capital expenditure

(12,122) (1,250) (13,372)

Total (12,122) (1,250) (13,372)

Page 367



 
 
 

100 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LCRCA SINGLE ENTITY ACCOUNTS 

 

 

Page 368



 
 
 

101 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the 
movements in year of the Authority’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices 
and the statutory adjustments required to return the amounts chargeable to the General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 

 
*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

General 
Fund 

Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2021 2,734 166,139 168,873 333 (172,790) (7,345) (218) (241) (180,261) (11,388)

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (65,535) 0 (65,535) 0 0 1,838 0 0 1,838 (63,697)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 2,455 0 2,455 0 0 (2,455) 0 0 (2,455) 0
Holiday pay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 10,380 0 10,380 0 (10,380) 0 0 0 (10,380) 0
Net gain or loss on sale of non-current assets (56) 246 190 0 (190) 0 0 0 (190) 0
Difference in precept income 51 0 51 0 0 0 0 (51) (51) 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 227,705 0 227,705 0 (227,705) 0 0 0 (227,705) 0
Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (158,479) 0 (158,479) 0 158,479 0 0 0 158,479 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 82,056 246 82,302 0 (79,796) (2,455) 0 (51) (82,302) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (2,283) 0 (2,283) 0 2,283 0 0 0 2,283 0
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (4,819) 0 (4,819) 0 4,819 0 0 0 4,819 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (7,102) 0 (7,102) 0 7,102 0 0 0 7,102 0

Adjustments to capital resources
Capital Receipts 0 1,588 1,588 0 (1,588) 0 0 0 (1,588) 0
Use of capital receipts to finance capital expenditure 0 (246) (246) 0 246 0 0 0 246 0
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 1,342 1,342 (6) (1,336) 0 0 0 (1,342) 0

Transfer between reserves (5,039) 870 (4,169) 0 4,169 0 0 0 4,169 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2021/22 4,380 2,458 6,838 (6) (69,861) (617) 0 (51) (70,535) (63,697)

Balance as at 31st March 2022 7,114 168,597 175,712 327 (242,651) (7,962) (218) (292) (250,796) (75,084)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 369



 
 
 

102 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

2020/21 Restated  

 

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 
 
Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 

P
age 370



 
 
 

103 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount 
to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The 
taxation position is shown in the MiRS.   
 

 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect the 
new structure. Also the 20/21 year has been restated for the inclusion of the Halton differential levy.  Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a further restatement of 
a loan in the prior year. 

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross Income Net Spend
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

183,589  (26,591) 156,998 Place 190,934  (65,742) 125,192

63,145  (59,633) 3,512 Investment & Delivery 67,801  (63,915) 3,886

4,878  (442) 4,436 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 5,997  (1,083) 4,914

2,881  (302) 2,579 Corporate Services 3,384  (627) 2,757

2,405  (160) 2,245 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,842  (515) 2,327

5,290  (5,294)  (4) Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,914  (5,200) 1,714

197,477  (220,257)  (22,780) SIF Payments to Partners 222,857  (183,081) 39,776

459,665  (312,679) 146,986 Net Cost of Service 500,729  (320,163) 180,566

38 Other Operating Expenditure 47

9,602 Financing and Investment Income 9,239 5

 (116,914) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  (124,317) 6

39,712 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 65,535  

1,262
Remeasurement Gains/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 

Liabilities
 (1,838)

1,262 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
 (1,838)

40,974 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 63,697

 

Notes

2021/222020/21 Restated

P
age 371



 
 
 

104 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Authority.  The net assets/(liabilities) of the Authority (assets less liabilities) 
are matched by the reserves held by the Authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Authority may 
use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those 
that the Authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves 
that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments 
between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 372



 
 
 

105 

 

 

 

 
 
Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 

               

Katherine Fairclough     John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Chief Executive     Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022      8 July 2022 
 
 
 

 

Restated 31 
March 2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

268,473 Property, Plant and Equipment 261,186 14

450 Heritage Assets 450

3 Intangible Assets 3

0 Investments in Joint Ventures 4,008 21

77,021 Long-term Debtors 82,627 16

345,947 Long-term Assets 348,274

235,228 Short-term Investments 220,420 21

82 Inventories 26

13,328 Short-term Debtors 17,663 17

98,360 Cash and Cash Equivalents 68,653 21

346,998 Current Assets 306,762

(16,965) Short-term Borrowing (15,791) 21

(168,333) Short-term Creditors (184,946) 18

(200) Provisions (10,469) 19

(180,832) Grant Receipts in Advance (196,385) 6

(366,330) Current Liabilities (407,591)

(1,046) Long-term Provisions (1,046) 19

(323,612) Long-term Borrowing (307,821) 21

(7,345) Pension Liability (7,962) 7

(6,000) Other Long-term Liabilities (5,700) 21

(338,003) Long-term Liabilities (322,529)

(11,388) Net Assets/(Liabilities) (75,084)

168,873 Usable Reserves 175,712 4

(180,261) Unusable Reserves (250,796) 3

(11,388) Total Reserves (75,084)

Note

Page 373



 
 
 

106 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 

 
 
Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Restated
2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(39,712) Net deficit on provision of services (65,535)

156,826
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

51,270 24

(1,339)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(246)

115,775 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities (14,511)

(55,070) Investing activities 1,770 24

(16,910) Financing activities (16,965) 24

43,795
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(29,706)

54,564 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 98,359 21

98,359 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 68,653

Note

Page 374



 
 
 

107 

 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1.  Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting policies as applied to the single entity are consistent with those applied 
at the group level. Full accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 of the group accounts 
pages 44-58. 
 

2. Changes Significant Judgments, Estimates and Uncertainties and Accounting 
Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

 
Please refer to notes 2 - 4 in the group accounts pages 58-59. 
 

3. Unusable Reserves 
 

The movements in the unusable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

 

 
 
Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
  
Revaluation Reserve 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 

Restated 
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
333 Revaluation Reserve 327

(172,790) Capital Adjustment Account (242,651)
(7,345) Pension Reserve (7,962)

(218) Accumulated Absences (218)
(241) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (292)

(180,261) Total (250,796)

Page 375



 
 
 

108 

 

 

statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 
the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The 
account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs 
of acquisition, construction, and enhancement.  The account also contains revaluation 
gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

  
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority’s accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to 
reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set 
aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to 
be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes employer’s contributions to 
pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  
The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore represents a substantial shortfall 
in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority 
has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will 
have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities. 

 

Page 376



 
 
 

109 

 

 

4. Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure 
plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2021/22. 
 
 

 
 

 

Balance at 
1st April 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers   
In    

2020/21

Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers 
Out 

202/22

Transfers    
In    

2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

General Fund (a) 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,381 7,115
Total General Fund Reserves 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,381 7,115
Infrastructure Reserve (b) 70,093 (9,034) 0 61,059 (4,169) 5,243 62,133
Capital Reserve (c) 24 0 0 24 0 0 24
Rail Financing Reserve (d) 40,893 (1,189) 0 39,704 (204) 0 39,500
Restructuring Reserve (e) 1,286 0 0 1,286 0 0 1,286
Grant/Contributions Unapplied 
Reserve (f)

14,273 0 0 14,273 0 0 14,273

Tunnels Reserve and Renewals 
Fund (g)

5,411 0 0 5,411 0 0 5,411

Other Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Rent Review Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Chrysalis (h) 34,972 0 0 34,972 0 0 34,972
Capital Receipts (i) 5,721 0 3,689 9,410 (246) 1,834 10,998
Oher Earmarked Reserves 172,673  (10,223) 3,689 166,139  (4,619) 7,077 168,597
Total 175,407  (10,223) 3,689 168,873  (4,619) 11,458 175,712

P
age 377



 
 
 

110 

 

 

(a) The general fund is general balances held to protect the LCRCA’s financial 
position from unforeseen events. 

(b) The infrastructure reserve has been created to support the strategic decisions 
of the LCRCA. 

(c) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(d) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 

rolling stock fleet. 
(e) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 

implications of service transformation programmes. 
(f) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that have 

been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(g) The tunnels reserve and renewals fund is used to support the tunnel’s capital 
programme.  It is the LCRCA’s policy that the tunnels reserve and renewals 
fund shall not be less than £2.5m.  In the event that funds fall below the £2.5m 
threshold, budgetary provision in the following year will be made to restore the 
level to £2.5m.   

(h) The Chrysalis reserve exists to earmark the funds that have been novated to 
the CA from the HCA/ EIB for use in accordance with the original terms of use. 

(i) The capital receipts reserve holds the receipts from the sales of capital assets 
and the repayment of loans provided to third parties for borrowing for capital 
purposes.  The capital receipts reserve may only be utilised for capital 
purposes. 

 
5. Financing and Investment Income 
 

  
  
  
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

305 Interest on Pension Liabilities 427
(210) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (280)

11,985 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,318
200 Expected Credit Loss 371

(2,678) Investment Income (2,597)
9,602 Total 9,239

Page 378



 
 
 

111 

 

 

6. Grant Income 
 

The following grants and contributions have been credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement during the period.  
 

 
 

Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 

 
 
 

The 20/21 comparator has been restated for the inclusion of the Halton differential 
levy.  Please also refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior 
year. 

 
 

Restated 
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
(47,354) DfT Transport Grants (37,743)

(113) DfT Cycling and Walking 0
(86,548) BEIS Local Growth Fund 0

0 Growing Places Fund (624)
(14,733) BEIS -Gain Share (40,984)
(6,969) Other Grants and Contributions (6,362)

(181) Brexit Readiness 0
(11,462) ERDF & ESF (7,652)
(17,323) Transforming Cities (30,010)
(10,346) Brownfield Fund (5,058)
(2,593) Getting Building Fund (23,407)

(27,968) Additional Restrictions Grant (25,201)
(102) Planning Delivery Fund (103)

(51,241) Adult Education (55,936)
(944) Households into Work (1,295)

(1,880) Homelessness (2,885)
0 Low Carbon (40,251)

(279,757) Total (277,511)

Credited to Services

2020/21
Restated

£’000 £’000
(97,404) Transport Levy (97,404)

(3,200) Halton Differential Levy (3,200)
(7,619) Mayoral Precept (7,595)
(1,000) Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000)
(4,134) Gainshare Funding (4,020)
(2,219) MHCLG Sales, Fees  & Charges Scheme 0
(1,338) Capital Grants (11,098)

(116,914) Total (124,317)

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income
2021/22

Page 379



 
 
 

112 

 

 

            
  

The Authority has received a number of grants and contributions that have conditions 
attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will only be 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once all conditions 
are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 
 

 
  
7. Pensions 

 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although 
these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Combined 
Authority has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose 
them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  The Combined Authority 
participates in Merseyside Pension Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this 
is a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that the Combined Authority 
and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance 
the pensions liabilities with investment assets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000

(34,104) Gain Share (14,022)
(197) ERDF (251)
(180) ESF (171)

(16,278) DfT (27,264)
(796) Homelessness Grant (1,532)
(325) MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant (222)
(275) Households into Work (275)

(53,661) Low Carbon (57,035)
(11,598) Growing Places (10,974)
(30,533) Transforming Cities (54,337)
(10,482) Getting Building Fund (75)
(17,084) Additional Restrictions Grant (7,277)

(4,594) Adult Education Funding 0
(273) EU Exit Preparation Fund (273)

0 Brownfield Land Fund (17,942)
0 Life Time Skills Funding (2,366)
0 Community Renewal Fund (592)

(453) Miscellaneous (1,777)
(180,833) Total (196,385)

Page 380



 
 
 

113 

 

 

 
 Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 
 
 The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 

 

  
 
 The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 

adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation.  
 

 
 
Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

 
 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Combined Authority’s 

obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

  
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
2,347 Current service cost 3,531

Other Operating Expenditure
38 Administration expenses 47

Financing and Investments Income
95 Net interest expense 147

2,480 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 3,725

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(2,480)
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(3,725)

1,025 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 1,270

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(18,963) Benefit obligation at end of the period (23,095)

11,618 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 15,133
(7,345) Deficit as at 31 March (7,962)

Page 381



 
 
 

114 

 

 

 
Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 

  

 
  

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

 
            
  
 

  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

8,173 Balance brought forward 31 March 11,618
210 Interest on plan assets 280

1,375 Remeasurement 1,071
(38) Administration expenses (47)

1,025 Employers contributions 1,270
578 Members contributions 708
295 Benefits/ transfers paid 233

11,618 Balance carried forward 1 April 15,133

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(12,801) Balance brought forward 31 March (18,963)
(2,347) Current service cost (3,531)

(305) Interest on pension liabilities (427)
(578) Member contribution (708)

(2,637) Remeasurement (liabilities) 767
(295) Benefits/ transfers paid (233)

(18,963) Balance carried forward 1 April (23,095)

Page 382



 
 
 

115 

 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
        

 

 
 
 
 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 
 Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 

method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below: 

 

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities

1,739 267 2,006 17 UK 2,259 254 2,513 17

2,760 1,259 4,019 35 Global 3,377 1,614 4,991 32

Bonds

140 0 140 1 UK Government 160 0 160 1

382 0 382 3 UK Corporate 447 0 447 3

917 0 917 8 UK Index Linked 1,319 0 1,319 8

63 0 63 0 Overseas Corporate 76 0 76 1

-40 0 -40 0 Derivative Contracts 0 -51 -51 0

Property

0 533 533 5 UK Direct Property 0 810 810 5

22 207 229 2 UK Managed Property 17 257 274 2

0 273 273 2 Global Managed Property 0 374 374 2

Private Equity

0 204 204 2 UK 0 410 410 3

0 637 637 5 Global 2 941 943 6

Cash

0 0 0 0 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0

280 0 280 2 Cash Accounts 268 0 268 2

Other

18 46 64 1 Hedge Funds UK 22 62 84 1

0 457 457 4 Hedge Funds Global 0 556 556 4

17 441 458 4 Infrastructure UK 0 673 673 4

0 344 344 3 Infrastructure Global 0 452 452 3

5 206 211 2 Opportunities UK 0 283 283 2

18 423 441 4 Opportunities Global 25 526 551 4

6,321 5,297 11,618 100 7,972 7,161 15,133 100

2020/21 2021/22

% of 
total

% of 
total

Page 383



 
 
 

116 

 

 

  
  

A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
 

Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
 The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 

the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  

Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 2.70% 3.20%

Rate of increase in salaries 4.20% 4.70%

Rate of increase in pensions 2.80% 3.30%
Discount Rate 2.20% 2.80%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' 
time

22.6 22.4

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' 
time

26.0 25.9

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 21.0 20.9
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.1 24.0

2020/21 2021/22

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% 
change in 

21/22 
investment 

returns

-1% change 
in 21/22 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Liabilities (23,095) (22,546) (23,658) (23,210) (23,744) (23,095) (23,095)
Assets 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,295 14,971
Surplus/ (Deficit) (7,962) (7,413) (8,525) (8,077) (8,611) (7,800) (8,124)
Projected service cost next 
year

3,184 3,085 3,284 3,184 3,294 3,184 3,184

Projected net interest cost for 
next year

206 197 221 209 224 201 210

Page 384



 
 
 

117 

 

 

The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 
establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  

 
The Authority anticipates making pension contribution payments of £1,232k in 
2022/23.  

 

Page 385



 
 
 

118 

 

 

8. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority in comparison to those resources 
consumed or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how the expenditure is allocated between Services. 
Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 

 
 
  

  
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services across Directorates.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators 
have been restated to reflect the new structure.  Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a further restatement of a loan in the prior year.

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

101,272 55,726 156,998 Place 57,835 67,357 125,192
2,904 608 3,512 Investment & Delivery 2,646 1,240 3,886

4,114 322 4,436 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 4,454 460 4,914
2,506 73 2,579 Corporate Services 2,700 57 2,757

1,880 366 2,245 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,129 198 2,327
(210) 206 (4) Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 1,539 175 1,714

267 (23,047) (22,780) SIF Payments to Partners 13,478 26,298 39,776

112,734 34,253 146,986 Net Cost of Services 84,781 95,786 180,566
(106,200) (1,074) (107,274) Other Income and Expenditure (91,619)  (23,412) (115,031)

6,534 33,179 39,712 Surplus or deficit (6,839) 72,373 65,535

(175,407) Opening Reserves Balance at 1 April (168,873)
6,534 Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year (6,839)

(168,873) Closing Reserves at 31 March (175,712)

Restated 2020/21 £'000 2021/22 £'000

P
age 386



 
 
 

119 

 

 

Adjustments in Respect of 2021/22   
 

 
 

Adjustments in Respect of 2020/21 Restated 
 

 

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for 
the Pensions 
Adjustments

Other Differences
Total 

Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Place 67,282 76 0 67,357

Investment & Delivery (56) 1,296 0 1,240
Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 460 0 460

Corporate Services 0 57 0 57

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 198 0 198

Corporate Management & 
Corporate Costs

0 175 0 175

SIF Payments to Partners 26,298 0 0 26,298

Net Cost of Services 93,524 2,261 0 95,785
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

(23,657) 194 51 (23,412)

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

69,868 2,455 51 72,373

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for 
the Pensions 
Adjustments

Other Differences
Total 

Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Place 55,760 (34) 0 55,726

Investment & Delivery 0 608 0 608

Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 322 0 322

Corporate Services 0 73 0 73

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 366 0 366

Corporate Management & 
Corporate Costs

0 (12) 218 206

SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)

Net Cost of Services 32,713 1,322 218 34,253
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

(1,438) 133 231 (1,074)

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

31,275 1,455 449 33,179

Page 387



 
 
 

120 

 

 

 
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment 
of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect the 
new structure. 

 
Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts. 

 
Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 
 

 
 
 
2020/21 Comparator have been restated to take account of a loan which was paid out, 
previously treated as a grant and the Halton differential levy. Please refer to Note 25 
for more information relating to this. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Restated
2020/21

£’000 £'000
Expenditure

13,659 Employee benefits expenses 17,181
436,488 Other services expenses 475,138
10,060 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 10,380
11,985 Interest payments 11,318

472,192 Total expenditure 514,017

Income
(33,131) Fees, charges and other service income (45,870)
(2,678) Interest and investment income (2,597)

(396,671) Government grants and contributions (400,015)
(432,480) Total income (448,481)

39,712 (Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of Services 65,535

2021/22

Page 388



 
 
 

121 

 

 

 
 
9. Mayoral Costs  
 

Included on the face of the CIES are the costs associated with the operation of the 
Mayor’s Office during 2021/22.  The table below provides a further breakdown of 
these costs. 

  

   
 
10. Audit Fees 
 

The table below discloses the fees paid to the Authority’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work.   
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

93 Mayoral Allowance 89
479 Mayoral Office & Political Support Staffing Costs 279
10 Non Staff Cost 22

3,473 Net spend on Mayoral Priorities 2,798
4,055 Total 3,188

2020/21  2021/22
£’000  £’000

45 Audit of statutory accounts 40
45 Total 40

Page 389



 
 
 

122 

 

 

 
11. Officers’ Remuneration 
 
 Senior Officers’ Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the senior leadership team of the 
LCRCA.  
 

 
 

i) The Chief Executive & Director General post provided services for both Merseytravel 
and the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  The Chief Executive & Director 
General was formally employed by Merseytravel, and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority is recharged 50% of his salary and other remuneration. The post 
holder resigned 30th September 2021 .  The Chief Executive post was realigned solely 
to LCRCA, and Director General responsibilities were allocated to the newly created 
Executive Director Place post. 

 
ii) The Chief Executive post is formally employed by LCRCA and the Director General 

remit has been removed. 
 

iii) Executive Director Place post combines previous Director of Integrated Transport and 
Director General responsibilities. This post is formally employed by Merseytravel and 
25% of salaries and other remuneration is recharged to LCRCA. 

 
iv) The Executive Director of Corporate Services is formally employed by LCRCA and 

Merseytravel is recharged 50% of his salary and other remuneration. 

Salary
Employers Pension 

Contribution Total Remuneration
£’000 £’000 £’000

2021/22 53 9 62

2020/21 102 17 119

2021/22 138 19 157

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 6 1 7

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 65 9 74

2020/21 64 9 73

2021/22 105 14 119

2020/21 103 14 117

2021/22 51 8 60

2020/21 67 11 78

2021/22 41 5 46

2020/21 163 22 186

2021/22 77 0 77

2020/21 102 0 102

2021/22 38 0 38

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 122 17 139

2020/21 87 14 101

Monitoring Officer 

Executive Director of Corporate 
Development and Delivery (v)

Director of Commercial Development & 
Investment (vi)                                 
Resigned 25th June 2021

Interim Director of Strategic 
Commissioning and Delivery (vii)    
Realigned 29th November 2021 

Executive Director of Investment and 
Delivery (viii)                                              
Appointed 29th November 2021

Executive Director of Policy, Strategy & 
Government Relations 

Executive Director  Corporate Services(iv)

  

Chief Executive & Director General (i)     
Resigned 30th Septemebr 2021

Chief Executive  (ii)                   
Appointed 28th June 2021

Executive Director Place and Director 
General (iii)                                      
Appointed 1st February 2022.

Page 390



 
 
 

123 

 

 

 
v) The Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery post provides services 

for both Merseytravel and Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and as such the 
salary is split 50/50 across both entities.  

 
vi) Director of Commercial Development and Investment resigned 25th June 2021. 

 
vii) Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning and Delivery appointed 16th November 

2020, this post was removed 29th November 2021 see viii. 
 

viii) Newly created post Executive Director of Investment and Delivery appointed 29th 
November 2021. This post is combines responsibilities of Director of Strategic 
Commissioning and Delivery post and Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment post. 

 
Employee Remuneration 

 
The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed below. For the purpose of this note, remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’s pension 
contributions.  
 

 
 
Figures for 2020/21 have been restated to reflect changes to banding sections. 
 
The Corporate Services function of the CA which comprises Legal, Procurement, 
Finance, Internal Audit and PMO, are services provided to both Merseytravel and the 

Remuneration Range Restated 2020/21 2021/22
£50,000 to £54,999 8 19
£55,000 to £59,999 5 3
£60,000 to £64,999 5 6
£65,000 to £69,999 2 5
£70,000 to £74,999 5 3
£75,000 to £79,999 0 3
£80,000 to £84,999 1 1
£85,000 to £89,999 6 1
£90,000 to £94,999 0 3
£95,000 to £99,999 0 1
£100,000 to £104,999 0 1
£105,000 to £109,999 0 0
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £119,999 0 0

£120,000 to £124,999 0 0
£125,000 to £129,999 0 0
£130,000 to £134,999 0 0
£135,000 to £139,999 0 1
£140,000 to £144,999 0 0

Total 33 47

Page 391



 
 
 

124 

 

 

CA. The cost of these services is currently budgeted for within Merseytravel and 
therefore staff are reflected within the Merseytravel accounts remuneration note. An 
appropriate proportion of these costs are recharged into the CA to reflect the costs 
associated with this function. 
 

12. Related Party Transactions 
 

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies 
or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled or 
influenced by the Authority. 

 
A comprehensive disclosure in respect of the LCRCA is included within the Authority 
Group accounts.  In the spirit of streamlining the accounts and avoiding repetition the 
detail is not presented here and readers of the accounts are referred to in note 15 of 
the group accounts.   

 
From a single entity perspective, the most significant related party for the LCRCA is 
Merseytravel. Details of the material expenditure with Merseytravel is included within 
note 28, CA Group Companies of the Authority Group accounts. 

  
13. Mersey Tunnels 
 

Operation of the Mersey Tunnels has been delegated by the Authority to Merseytravel. 
To meet the cost of operating the tunnels, Merseytravel is provided with a grant from 
the Authority which is in turn funded from tunnel tolls income. 

 
The Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 permits any operating surplus to be utilised by the 
Authority to achieve public transport policies in its local transport plan.  £5.243m on 
2021/22 was transferred into the transport infrastructure reserve and £4.169m was 
utilised to support transport capital projects in year. 

 
During the year there was no call on the Tunnels Reserve and Renewals Fund to 
support the Tunnels capital programme. The balance on the reserve as at 31 March 
2022 was £5.4m. 

Page 392



 
 
 

125 

 

 

14. Property Plant and Equipment 

 Movement on Balances 2021/22 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Infrastructure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Fixtures 
&Fittings  

Leasehold 
Property

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Surplus 
Assets

Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2021 326,886 1,900 5,142 6,918 52 2,568 343,465

Additions 1,263 1 0 1,950 0 70 3,284

Disposals 0 0 0 (58) 0 (155) (213)

As at 31 March 2022 328,149 1,901 5,142 8,810 52 2,483 346,536

As at 1 April 2021 71,663 46 1,182 2,099 2 0 74,991

Depreciation 9,316 57 197 810 1 0 10,381

Disposals 0 0 0 (23) 0 0 (23)

As at 31 March 2022 80,979 103 1,379 2,886 3 0 85,350

As at 31 March 2022 247,170 1,798 3,763 5,924 49 2,483 261,186

As at 31 March 2021 255,223 1,854 3,960 4,819 50 2,568 268,473

Cost or valuation

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

P
age 393



 
 
 

126 

 

 

 

 Movement on Balances 2020/21 
 

 Infrastructure 
Assets 

Freehold 
Property 

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property  

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost or valuation 

As at 1 April 2020 324,332 1,605 5,142 5,707 52 651 337,489 

Additions 2,554 295 0 1,210 0 1,917 5,976 

As at 31 March 2021 326,886 1,900 5,142 6,918 52 2,568 343,465 

Depreciation and Impairment 

As at 1 April 2020 62,414 0 985 1,531 1 0 64,931 

Depreciation 9,248 46 197 568 1 0 10,060 

As at 31 March 2021 71,663 46 1,182 2,099 2 0 74,991 

Net Book Value 

As at 31 March 2021 255,223 1,854 3,960 4,819 50 2,568 268,473 

As at 31 March 2020 261,917 1,605 4,157 4,176 51 651 272,557 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 394



 
 
 

127 

 

 

Depreciation 
 

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

 
 Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and considered 

thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current maximum 
useful life is 72 years. 

 Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation process.  The 
maximum useful life in this category is 28 years.  

 Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on acquisition and 
considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current 
maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 
 Revaluations 
 

The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all property plant and 
equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 
and equipment are: 

 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 
that none has been subsequently incorporated. 

 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 
restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 

 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 
be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 That the land and properties are not contaminated nor adversely affected by 
radon. 

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £328.149m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £13.952m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £2.483m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £1.953m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  
The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2021/22 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices provided by the external valuer.  These estimates did 
not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not been revalued 
in the 2021/22 financial year.  
 
 

Page 395



 
 
 

128 

 

 

Capital Commitments 
 

As at 31 March 2022, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2022/23 and future 
years budgeted to cost £164.721m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2021 were 
£92.530m. 

 
 The major commitments are: 
 

 Headbolt Lane Gateway - £53.058m  
 Parkside Road - £23.800m 
 Festival Gardens - £16.630m 
 St Helens Southern Gateway - £8.738m 
 Glass Futures - £6.273m  

  
15.  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below 
together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Authority that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note.  

  
Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 

 

2021/22
Restated 
2020/21

£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 450,296 421,519

Capital investment  
PPE 3,284 5,976
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 227,705 209,820
Investments 4,008 0
Loan Expenditure 7,267 5,274

Sources of Finance  
Government grants and other contributions (158,479) (174,097)
Direct revenue contributions (4,819) (5,788)
Minimum Revenue Provision (2,283) (7,568)
Used of capital receipts (246) 0
Use of Reserves (4,169) (4,840)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 522,564 450,296

Explanation of movements in year:  
Increase/(decrease)  in underlying need to borrow 72,268 28,777
Increase/(decrease)  in Capital Financing Requirement 72,268 28,777

Page 396



 
 
 

129 

 

 

16.  Long Term Debtors 
 

  
 

Please refer to Note 25 for information relating to a restatement in the prior year. 
 
The loan made to Merseytravel to fund the acquisition of the Beatles Story is repayable 
in annual instalments and will expire in 2032/33.  Principal repayments in 2021/22 were 
£178k (£170k 2020/21).  The loan is extinguished on consolidation into the group 
position. The 2020/21 balance has been restated to reflect an additional loan, please 
see Note 25. 

 
17. Short Term Debtors 
 

  
   
18. Short Term Creditors 
 

  
 

LCRCA held and invested £86.194m 2021/22  (£90.728m 2020/21) on behalf of the 
Merseytravel Group.  This is included within the analysis above in other payables and 
is further disclosed in Note 21. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Restated 
2020/21

2021/22

£’000 £’000
2,569 Loan to Merseytravel for acquisition of the Beatles Story 2,382

0 LCR Digital 5,267
34,972 Chrysalis       34,972 
39,480 Other Debtors 40,006
77,021 Balance as at 31 March 82,627

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

177 Trade Receivables 490
175 Prepayments 587

12,976 Other 16,586
13,328 Balance as at 31 March 17,663

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(976) Trade Payables (801)
(167,357) Other Payables (184,145)
(168,333) Balance as at 31 March (184,946)

Page 397



 
 
 

130 

 

 

19. Provisions 

 

The provisions held by the Authority are described below: 

i. Grant Provision - Liverpool Festival Gardens this provision represents the grant 
which is awaiting payment once the final grant condition is met. This is 
expected to be paid during 2022/23. 

ii. Capital Expenditure – this is a provision which is retained in relation to the 
possible clawback of ERDF grants. 

iii. Government Initiatives provision -  relates to Low Carbon credits which may be 
repayable. 

20. Leases 
 
 Authority as Lessee 
 

  
 

The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

As at 31 
March 2021

Charge to 
provision in 

year

Increase/ 
(decrease) in 

provision

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Grant Provision 0 0 (10,270) (10,270)

Contractual Provisions  (136) 0 136 0
Government Initiatives  (200) 0 0 (200)
Capital Expenditure  (909) 0  (136) (1,046)
Total  (1,245) (0)  (10,270) (11,516)

As at 31 
March 2021

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000
Short Term Provisions  (200)  (10,470)
Long Term Provisions  (1,046)  (1,046)
Total  (1,246)  (11,516)

 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

3,566 Not later than one year 3,558
14,263 Between one and five years 14,234
57,051 Over five years 53,376
74,880 Total 71,168

Page 398



 
 
 

131 

 

 

 

Authority as Lessor 
 

 
 
 

21.  Financial Instruments 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 
2020/21 figures have been restated to reflect a loan to Sandon that was previously 
treated as a grant, please see Note 25. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

3,566 Minimum lease payments 3,558
(722) Sublease payments receivable (1,096)
2,844 Total 2,462

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,119) Not later than one year  (1,119)
(3,691) Between one and five years  (3,103)
(1,654) Over five years  (1,124)
(6,464) Total  (5,346)

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost:

           235,228 0 Investments            220,420 4,008
13,153              77,021 Debtors              17,077 82,627
98,360 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents              68,653 0

346,741 77,021 Total Financial Assets 306,150 86,635

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,965) (323,612) Borrowing (15,791) (307,821)

(90,728) 0
Amounts due to Merseytravel 
Group

(86,194) 0

(77,605) (6,000) Creditors (98,752) (5,700)

(185,298) (329,612) Total Financial Liabilities (200,737) (313,521)

Restated 31 March 2021 31 March 2022

Page 399



 
 
 

132 

 

 

Income and Expense through the CIES 
 

 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
 

 
 

Note 25 to the group accounts provides a detailed analysis of loans outstanding and 
the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

 
 
22. Long Term Liabilities  

 

 
  
 
 

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
11,985 0 Interest Expense 11,318 0

0 (2,536) Interest Income 0 (2,462)

11,985 (2,536)
Net (Income)/Expense for 

the Year
11,318 (2,462)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

72,183 54,471

26,177 14,182
98,360 68,653

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

Carrying 
Value

Fair Value
Carrying 

Value
Fair Value

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Financial Assets

235,228 235,260 Short term investments 220,420 219,810
98,360 98,360 Cash and cash equivalents 68,653 68,652

Financial Liabilities
 (148,480)  (221,068) PWLB Debt  (140,033)  (194,283)
 (11,442)  (10,917) Wirral MBC  (9,153)  (10,274)

 (180,656)  (160,944) EIB Debt  (174,426)  (137,179)
 (90,728)  (90,728) Amounts due to Merseytravel  (83,658)  (83,658)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(6,000) Lease Incentive (5,700)
(6,000) Total (5,700)

Page 400



 
 
 

133 

 

 

23. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The Authority has no contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
24. Note to the Cashflow Statement 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 
 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
  

  
 

The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements and investing activities which are reported in the following 
notes: 

 

  
 

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

 
 

Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,133) Interest Received (2,462)
11,985 Interest Paid 11,318

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

10,060 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 10,381

150,909
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, provisions and 
pension liability

44,592

(4,205) (Increase)/decrease in debtors (3,949)
62 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 56

0
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on 
the provision of services

190

156,826 Total 51,270

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(5,976)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

 (3,284)

(18,525) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments 10,800

(30,569) Other receipts/payments from investing activities  (5,746)
(55,070) Total 1,770

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

0 Cash receipt of long term borrowing 0
(16,910) Repayment of short and long term borrowing  (16,965)
(16,910) Total (16,965)

Page 401



 
 
 

134 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 01 April 2021
Cash receipt 
of long term 
borrowing

Repayment of 
borrowing

31 March 2022

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
PWLB Debt (148,480) 0 8,447 (140,033)
EIB Debt (180,656) 0 6,230 (174,426)
Wirral MBC (transferred debt) (11,441) 0 2,288 (9,153)
Total liabilities from financing activities (340,577) 0 16,965 (323,612)

 01 April 2020
Cash receipt 
of long term 
borrowing

Repayment of 
borrowing

31 March 2021

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
PWLB Debt (156,872) 0 8,392 (148,480)
EIB Debt (186,885) 0 6,229 (180,656)
Wirral MBC (transferred debt) (13,730) 0 2,289 (11,441)
Total liabilities from financing activities (357,487) 0 16,910 (340,577)

Page 402



 
 
 

135 

 

 

 
25. Prior Year Restatement of Sandon Loan 
 

In the prior year the Combined Authority gave £1.25m to a third party in relation to a capital project. This was treated as a capital grant 
and was included within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as SIF Payments to Partners. This agreement was 
subsequently reviewed by the finance department and it was determined that the £1.25m was actually a capital loan rather than a grant 
and therefore the prior year comparatives within the financial statements have been restated for this. 

 
 Restatement of the Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MIRS Caption
General 

Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

General 
Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

General 
Fund

Total 
Usable 

Reserves

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 
(CIES)

(40,962) (40,962) 0 (1,262) (42,224) 1,250 1,250 0 0 1,250 (39,712) (39,712) 0 (1,262) (40,974)

Revenue expenditure funded 
from capital under statute

211,070 211,070 (211,070) (211,070) 0 (1,250) (1,250) 1,250 1,250 0 209,820 209,820 (209,820) (209,820) 0

Total adjustments to revenue 
resources

48,936 48,936 (47,032) (48,936) 0 (1,250) (1,250) 1,250 1,250 0 47,686 47,686 (45,782) (47,686) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 
2020/21

0 (6,534) (32,518) (35,690) (42,224) 0 0 1,250 1,250 1,250 0 (6,534) (31,268) (34,440) (40,974)

Balance as at 31st March 
2021 2,734 168,873 (174,040) (181,511) (12,638) 0 0 1,250 1,250 1,250 2,734 168,873 (172,790) (180,261) (11,388)

Restated balance 31/03/2021

Usable Reserves
£'000

Usable Reserves
£'000

Usable Reserves
£'000

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000

Previously Reported balance for 31/03/2021

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000

Restatement

Unusable Reserves
£'000

Total 
Reserves

£'000P
age 403



 
 
 

136 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Restatement of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

 
 
 
 

CIES Caption
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross Income Net Spend
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

SIF Payments to Partners 198,727 (221,507) (22,780) (1,250) 1,250 0 197,477 (220,257) (22,780)
Net Cost of Service 457,714 (313,928) 143,786 (1,250) 1,250 0 456,464 (312,678) 143,786

Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income

(112,464) (1,250) (113,714)

(Surplus) or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

40,962 (1,250) 39,712

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure

42,224 (1,250) 40,974

Restated balance 31/03/2021
£'000

Restatement
£'000

Previously Reported balance for 31/03/2021
£'000

P
age 404



 
 
 

137 

 

 

Restatement of the Balance Sheet 
 

 
 

Restatement of the Cashflow Statement 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 3 Unusable Reserves 
 

 
 

Restatement of Note 6 Grants Credited to Services 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 6 Grants Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income 
 

 

Balance Sheet Caption

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Long-term Debtors 75,771 1,250 77,021
Long-term Assets 344,697 1,250 345,947

Net Assets/(Liabilities) (12,638) 1,250 (11,388)
Unusable Reserves (181,511) 1,250 (180,261)

Total Reserves (12,638) 1,250 (11,388)

Cashflow

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Net deficit on provision of 
services 

(40,962) 1,250 (39,712)

Adjustments to net surplus on 
the provision of services for 

items which are investing and 
financing activities

(89) (1,250) (1,339)

Unusable Reserves

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Capital Adjustment Account (174,040) 1,250 (172,790)
Total (181,511) 1,250 (180,261)

Grants Credited to Services

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

BEIS Local Growth Fund (87,798) 1,250 (86,548)
Total (281,007) 1,250 (279,757)

Grants Credited to Taxation and 
Non Specific Grant Income

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Capital Grants (88) (1,250) (1,338)
Total (112,464) (1,250) (113,714)

Page 405



 
 
 

138 

 

 

 
 
Restatement of Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 8 Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 15 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

 
 
Restatement of Note 16 Long Term Debtors 
 

 
 

Restatement of Note 21 Financial Instruments 
 

 
 

EFA

Adjustments 
between funding 
and accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Adjustments 
between funding 
and accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Adjustments 
between funding 
and accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Other Income and Expenditure 176 (102,824) (1,250) (1,250) (1,074) (104,074)
Surplus or deficit 34,429 40,962 (1,250) (1,250) 33,179 39,712

Previously Reported balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated balance 31/03/2021
£'000

Income and expenditure 
analysed by type

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Other services expenses 434,538 (1,250) 433,288
Total expenditure 470,242 (1,250) 468,992

(Surplus) or deficit on the 
Provision of Services

40,962 (1,250) 39,712

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Revenue Expenditure Funded 
from Capital Under Statute

211,070 (1,250) 209,820

Loan Expenditure 4,024 1,250 5,274

Long Term Debtors

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Other Debtors 38,230 1,250 39,480
Balance as at 31 March 75,771 1,250 77,021

Financial Instruments

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Debtors 75,771 1,250 77,021
Total Financial Assets 75,771 1,250 77,021

Page 406



 
 
 

139 

 

 

 
Restatement of Note 24 Notes to the Cashflow Statement 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Net cash flow from Operating 
Activities

Previously 
Reported 

balance for 
31/03/2021

£'000

Restatement
£'000

Restated 
balance 

31/03/2021
£'000

Adjustments to net surplus on 
the provision of services for 

items which are investing and 
financing activities

(89) (1,250) (1,339)

Total (89) (1,250) (1,339)

Page 407



 
 
 

140 

 

 

 GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 

 
Accounting Policies 
Those specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied that specify how the 
effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Accruals 
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not 
as money is received or paid. 
 
Agent/Agency 
Where the organisation is acting as an intermediary, as opposed to on its own behalf. 
 
Amortisation 
The accounting technique of recognising a cost or item of income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement or the Movement in Reserves Statement over a period of 
years rather than when the initial payment is made. 
Its purpose is to charge/credit the cost/income over the accounting periods that gain benefit 
for the respective item. 
The technique is supported by relevant accounting policies and practices. 
 
Amortised Cost 
A method of determining the Balance Sheet carrying amount and periodic charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of a financial instrument based on the 
expected cash flows of that instrument. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of a non-current asset or capital advances 
and loans to other individuals or other third parties. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
Introduced as a result of the Prudential Framework for Capital Accounting and measures the 
underlying need of the organisation to borrow for expenditure of a capital nature. 
 
Capital Receipts 
The proceeds from the sale of capital assets or repayment of capital advances. 
 
Carrying Amount 
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
Short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant changes in value. 
 
Cash Flows 
Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 408



 
 
 

141 

 

 

Community Assets 
Assets that the Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life 
and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  Examples include parks and public open 
spaces. 
 
Contingent Asset 
An asset arising from past events where its existence can only be confirmed by one or more 
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the organisation. 
 
Contingent Liability 
A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only 
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events.  Where a 
material loss can be estimated with reasonable accuracy a contingent liability is accrued in 
the financial statements.  If, however, a loss cannot be accurately estimated or the event is 
not considered sufficiently certain, it will be disclosed in a note to the balance sheet. 
 
Creditors 
Financial liabilities arising from the contractual obligation to pay cash in the future for goods 
or services or other benefits that have been received or supplied. 
 
Credit Risk 
The possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to meet their contractual 
obligations, causing a loss to the other party. 
 
Current Replacement Cost 
The cost the organisation would incur to acquire the asset on the reporting date. 
 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
The increase in the present value of liabilities resulting from employee service in the period. 
 
Curtailment (Pensions) 
An event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or reduces 
for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service.  
Curtailments include: 
 
(i)  termination of employees services earlier than expected, for example as a result of 

closing or discontinuing a segment of a business; and 
(ii)  termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit plan so that some or 

all future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify 
only for reduced benefits. 

 
Debtors 
Financial assets arising from the obligation to a future cash receipt for goods or services or 
other benefits that have been delivered or provided. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan 
A pension or other retirement benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  Usually, the 
plan rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are 
not directly related to the investments of the plan.  The plan may be funded or un-funded 
(including notionally funded). 
 
 
 

Page 409



 
 
 

142 

 

 

Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
A method of valuation which provides the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern 
equivalent less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence. 
 
Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful life of a non-
current asset over its useful economic life. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to 
award and which are awarded under the organisation's discretionary powers. 
 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion assuming that 
the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the property and disregarding potential 
alternative uses and any other characteristics that would cause its market value to differ from 
that needed to replace the remaining service potential at least cost. 
 
Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm's length 
transaction, less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the 
asset. 
 
Financial Instrument 
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another.  The term covers both financial assets and financial liabilities and 
includes both the most straightforward financial assets such as trade receivables (debtors) 
and trade payables (creditors) and the most complex ones such as derivatives. 
 
Typical financial instruments are:- 
 
(i) Liabilities 

 Trade payables 
 Borrowings 
 Financial Guarantees 

(ii) Assets 
 Bank deposits 
 Trade receivables 
 Loans receivable 
 Investments 

 
Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current 
asset to the lessee, with the asset then recognised the lessee’s Balance Sheet. 
 
Financing Activities 
Activities that result in changes to the size and composition of the principal, received from or 
repaid to external providers of finance. 
 
 
 

Page 410



 
 
 

143 

 

 

Going Concern 
An assumption that the functions of the Authority will continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
Assistance in the form of cash or transfers of resources to an Authority in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operation of activities of the Authority. 
 
Heritage Assets 
The Heritage Assets are assets that are held by the organisation principally for their 
contribution to knowledge, understanding and appreciation of the Authority’s history and/or 
culture. 
 
Historical Cost 
Deemed to be the carrying amount of an asset as at 1 April 2007 or at the date of acquisition, 
whichever date is the later, and adjusted for subsequent depreciation or impairment (if 
applicable). 
 
IAS19 
This International Accounting Standard (IAS) is based on the principle that an organisation 
should account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even if the actual 
giving will be many years into the future. 
 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
A class of non-current assets that are inalienable.  Examples of infrastructure assets are 
bridges, roads and footpaths. 
 
Intangible Fixed Asset 
"Non-financial" fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and are 
controlled by the organisation through custody or legal rights e.g. software licences. 
 
Interest on Plan Assets (Pensions) 
The annual investment return on the fund assets based on an average of the expected long-
term return. 
 
Interest on Plan Liabilities (Pensions) 
The expected increase during the period in the present value of liabilities as the benefits move 
one year closer to being paid. 
 
Inventories 
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use or resale. 
 
Investing Activities 
The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash 
equivalents. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The possibility that one party will be unable to raise funds to meet its commitments associated 
with financial instruments. 
 

Page 411



 
 
 

144 

 

 

Market Risk 
The possibility that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, etc. 
 
Market Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 
 
Material/Materiality 
Omissions or mis-statements are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence 
the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements.  
Materiality depends on the size of the omission or mis-statement judged in the surrounding 
circumstances.  The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both, could be the 
determining factor. 
 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost or 
current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of 
non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 
 
Non-Current Assets 
Assets that yield benefits to the Authority and the services it provides for a period of more than 
one year. 
 
Non-Operational Assets 
Non-current assets held by an Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the 
delivery of services, or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority. 
 
Operating Activities 
Activities of the Authority that are not investing or financing activities. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-
current asset to the lessee.  The asset is recognised on the lessor’s Balance Sheet.  
Expenditure financed by operating leasing does not count against capital allocations. 
 
Past Service Cost/Gain (Pensions) 
The increase or reduction in the present value of liabilities arising from decisions in the period 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier periods. 
 
Plan Liabilities (Or Plan Defined Benefit Obligations) 
The liabilities of a defined benefit plan for outgoings due after the valuation date.  Plan liabilities 
measured using the projected unit credit method reflect the benefits that the employer is 
committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
 
Price Risk 
The risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. 
 

Page 412



 
 
 

145 

 

 

Projected Unit Credit (Actuarial Cost) Method 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the plan’s liabilities make allowance for 
projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the 
plan liabilities at the valuation date relate to:- 
 
(i)  the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased 

to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their 
dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and 

(ii)  the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested 
rights or not.  Guidance on the method is given in the Guidance Note GN26 issued by the 
Faculty and Institute of Actuaries.  Under this method, the current service cost will increase as 
members of the plan approach retirement. 
 
Provisions 
A liability of uncertain timing or amount. 
 
REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Financed From Capital Under Statute) 
Expenditure that is classified as revenue in accordance with proper accounting practices, but 
which statute determines may be financed by Capital sources of funding. 
 
Related Parties 
Related parties are those individuals and entities that the Council either has the potential to 
influence or control (or be influenced or controlled by).  Related include central government, 
other bodies, its members and its chief officers. 
 
Related Party Transaction 
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services 
by, to or for a related party irrespective of whether a charge is made.  Related party 
transactions include the provision of services to a related party. 
 
The materiality of related party transactions should be judged not only in terms of their 
significance to the Authority, but also in relation to its related party. 
 
Re-Measurement (Pensions) 
The changes in estimated assets and liabilities, assessed by the actuary and arising because: 
 
(i)  events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 

(experience gains and losses); or 
(ii)  the actuarial assumptions have changed. 
 
Remuneration 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the disclosure of amounts paid to Officers 
and define remuneration as:- 
 
‘……..all amounts paid to or receivable by a person, and includes sums due by way of expense 
allowance (so far as those sums are chargeable to United Kingdom income tax), and the 
estimated money value of any other benefits received by an employee otherwise than in cash.’ 
 
 
 
 

Page 413



 
 
 

146 

 

 

Retirement Benefits 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by 
employees that are payable after the completion of employment.  Retirement benefits do not 
include termination benefits payable as a result of either:- 
 
(i)  an employer's decision to terminate an employee's employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, 

because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees. 
 
Revenue Expenditure 
This is money spent on the day-to-day running costs of providing services and includes 
salaries, goods and services. 
 
It is usually of a constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset. 
 
Senior Employees 
Senior employees are defined under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, however 
within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority this is deemed to be the Statutory Post 
holders and Directors. 
 
Settlement (Pensions) 
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a pension 
obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligation and the assets used to 
affect the settlement.  Settlement includes the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating 
to a group of employees leaving the Authority's scheme. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Amounts payable as a result of either: 
 
(i)  an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 
 
Useful Life 
The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of a non-current asset. 

 

 

N TO THE ACCOUNTS 

Page 414


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	6 Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review 2021-22
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review 2021-22
	Enc. 2 for Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review 2021-22

	7 Government Response - Local Government Ethical Standards
	Appendix 1 - Government’s response to the CSPL review of Local Government Ethical Standards

	8 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22
	Enc. 1 for Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021-22

	9 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 2 for Internal Audit Update
	Executive summary
	Identifying the impact of internal audit
	How internal audit is making an impact
	The potential for internal audit 
	What is holding internal audit back? 
	Appendix A: The framework for internal audit impact
	Appendix B: Maximising the impact of internal audit
	Appendix C: References and literature considered in our research
	Appendix D: Research methodology



	10 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 3 for Risk Management Update
	RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE

	Enc. 4 for Risk Management Update
	Corporate Risk Register 2022-23��July 2022
	Corporate Risks
	Risk 1: Accountability- There is risk that the Combined Authority does not develop and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and responsibilities��Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery�� 
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14


	11 Combined Authority Audit Strategy Memorandum
	Enc. 1 for Combined Authority Audit Strategy Memorandum
	Slide Number 1
	Contents
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35


	12 Combined Authority Draft Statement of Accounts
	Enc. 1 for Combined Authority Draft Statement of Accounts


	Next button 3: 
	Page 2: 

	Previous 3: 
	Page 2: 

	Home 3: 
	Page 2: 

	Next button 2: 
	Page 3: 

	Previous 2: 
	Page 3: 

	Home 2: 
	Page 3: 

	Next button 4: 
	Page 4: 

	Previous 4: 
	Page 4: 

	Home 4: 
	Page 4: 

	Next button 5: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 26: 

	Previous 5: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 26: 

	Home 5: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 26: 

	Next button: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 

	Previous: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 

	Home: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 



